Janeiro de 2013

Universidade de Lisboa

Faculdade de Medicina de Lisboa



Mechanisms of Tolerance Induction to Foreign

Proteins

Ana Água-Doce

Luís Graça

Ramo: Ciências Biomédicas

Especialidade: Imunologia

Todas as afirmações efectuadas no presente documento são da exclusiva responsabilidade do seu autor, não cabendo qualquer responsabilidade à Faculdade de Medicina de Lisboa pelos conteúdos nele apresentados.

FCT Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia MINISTÉRIO DA EDUCAÇÃO E CIÊNCIA

This work was supported by FCT with the fellowship SFRH / BD / 49093 / 2008

A impressão desta dissertação foi aprovada pelo Conselho Científico da Faculdade de Medicina de Lisboa em reunião de 29 de Abril de 2013.

To both my grandmothers,

Manuela and Palmira

"...Sádico, às vezes é trágico, Mágico..."

Expensive Soul,

Contents

Acknowledgements3
Abbreviation List7
Sumário11
Abstract15
Introduction19
Induction of regulatory T cells26
Regulatory T cells and IL-1028
Different subsets of regulatory T cells29
Influencing regulatory T cells in allergy34
Induction of Dominant Tolerance Using Monoclonal Antibodies36
Induction of tolerance in allergic respiratory disorders with
MAb39
Induction of transplantation tolerance with MAb43
Induction of Tolerance With MAb in Autoimmunity47
Tolerance vs. Immunosuppression54
The Antigen Specificity of the Tolerant State54
Dominant Tolerance55
Aims of the Thesis59
Results63
Prevention of house dust mite induced allergic airways disease
in mice through immune tolerance65
Introduction65
Materials and Methods67
Results69
Discussion79
Supplementary Figures83

Adjuvant facilitates anti-CD4 mediated immune tolerance to
recombinant factor VIII in haemophilia by a Foxp3-
independent mechanism that relies on IL-10
Introduction
Materials and methods 88
Results
Discussion 106
Supplementary Figures111
Induction of Foxp3-independent dominant transplantation tolerance - Boosting immune tolerance by activation of complementary regulatory mechanisms
Introduction113
Materials and methods 115
Results 118
Discussion 133
Supplementary Figures136
Discussion 139
References 151
Annexes 185
List of Publications during the thesis 187

Acknowledgements

Writing the acknowledgements was harder than what I thought. Don't take me wrong, I'm not ungrateful, but to the contrary it is hard to convey everyone and everything that was important for me to be where I am now. Sometimes the right word at the right time, sometimes the right push, sometimes the right joy, sometimes the right criticism and perhaps... there was a right hug.

So let's start this story from the beginning, I want to thank Lurdes Duarte and Bruno Douradinha for being the friends that I needed and giving me the right push at the right time and giving me so much support in joining Luis Graça's group.

So thank you Luis Graça for having faith in me and seeing my potential, accepting me in your laboratory just when it was an embryo-lab. Thank you for pushing me further and for all you character building tasks. And most of all for being more than a supervisor for also being a friend.

Back then when UNICEL started we were few but very happy and energetic people. We created bonds that will last a life time, and I will sure never forget any of you.

Joana Duarte I thank you for our punk fun at the lab doing experiments, bursting with ideas, going to congresses without registration (bad girls!) and with registration. For so many moments that built a profound friendship. Marta Caridade, we have done great experiments together! You have had the patience to ear my rants about the destinies and mind boggles of the anti-CD4. We have laughed, create and ruin everything after 16h of work and still had fun.

Vanessa Oliveira: when I grow up I want to be like you. You are so accomplished, intelligent, fair, with the most marvelous sense of humor and best of all, you think of controls like no one else. I truly admire you.

Marta Monterio, I'll say nothing short of you: you have taught me some of the most valuable lessons in life.

Alexandre Costa, thank you for having alleviated me from my toomany-tasks, for all the lifts, for all the fun chats, for always being in a good mood and for being silly enough to put up with me.

Silvia Almeida, although you have joined UNICEL recently we have known each other for a long time; I want to thank you for being so caring, helpful, competent and fun to work with.

Raquel Oliveira you are also new to UNICEL but you have already become an important member and I thank you for your friendship and the "Biochemistry moments" (that also include Vanessa and Silvia).

...And of course, even though she is not at UNICEL anymore, and is having the time of her life without me... Catarina Almeida, I thank you and elect you miss sunshine!

And the rest of the people at UNICEL, we work as a team.

Having said my thanks to the laboratory that received and housed me for all these years, I want to thank people in the Institute who contributed in different ways making my life everyday more successful than stressful.

My thesis committee: Ana Espada Sousa, thank you for your criticism at the right time, Afonso Almeida you know so much, Iris Caramalho you know too much, and you are so loving and caring and sweet and I admire you so much.

People at the animal facility: Joana Marques, Dolores Bonaparte, Iolanda Moreira and Carlos Silva; you people are the best, you have accommodated all my requests, found solutions to some of my problems, helped in so many ways... thank you.

Maria Soares and the cytometry unit: I hope I haven't given you much troubles and I have to say that I always enjoyed my FACS experience and I never had complains (not even from the CANTO).

Ruy M. Ribeiro, and Bruno Silva-Santos for helpful advice.

Andreia Carneiro, a shower of "thank you" for you. If people only appreciated more on how precious it is to have some to deal with the bureaucracy for them (and Spanish dealers...).

This list is getting long, but I also feel the need to thank people outside Instituto de Medicina Molecular who have been collaborators and insightful critics:

People at Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, Rosa Maria, Jocelyne Demengeot, Lisa Bergman. People around the world: Juan J. Lafaille, Maria A. Curotto de Lafaille, Patrick G. Holt and Phillip Stumbles for suggestions, Herman Waldmann for providing reagents and suggestions, and Graham R. Zosky for help with the lung physiology experiments. David Lillycrap for advice and providing HemA mice.

A special place for José Faro: you have taught me not to think outside of the box, but altogether in another box!

And lastly but not least Margarida Carneiro... what can I say... you are a great friend and a great scientist. And I love our rendezvous! I'm all for the retro-chic-science... so fashionable.

Enough about thanking to people related to science, there are some people who just helped you to be who you are:

My thanks and love to my dear mother and father, you have shown the pride and joy you have in me through all the support over the years. I could thank you for my good genes but I'll leave that to my grandmother Palmira, who I take after the most. And my grandmother Manuela who was the most supportive and eager to see my achievements and accomplishments.

My family of choice, Álvaro Cardoso, my friend, my companion of life. You are so skeptic of scientists yet you make me talk about science all the time!

And finally, thank you to all the subjects in these studies.

Abbreviation List

4-1BB	CD137
Ag	Antigen
AHR	Airway Hyper Reactivity
AICD	Activation Induced Cell Death
Alum	Aluminum hidroxide
AOD	Autoimmune Ovary Disease
APC	Antigen presenting cell
B6.IL-10	IL-10 deficient C57BI/6 mice
BAL	Broncho Alveolar Lavage
Bcl	B-cell Lymphoma
BM	Bone Marrow
CCR	Chemokine Receptor
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CFA	Complete Freund's Adjuvant
CIA	Collagen Induced Arthritis
CNS	Central Nervous System
CpG	Cytosine Guanine Dinucleotide
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-cell Associated Antigen
cTEC	Cortical Thymic Epithelial Cell
CXCR	Chemokine Receptors
DC	Dendritic Cell
DN	Double Negative CD4 CD8 cell
DP	Double Positive CD4 CD8 cell
DO11.10	OVA specific Balb/c mice
DST	Donor- Specific Transfusion
EAE	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis
EAM	Experimental Autoimmune Myelitis
EAU	Experimental Autoimmune Uveoretinitis
ELISA	Enzime Linked Immuno Assay

Fab	Antigen-Binding Fragment
FcξR	FcR (Fragment, crystallizable) Receptor
Foxp3	Forkhead box P3
FVIII	Coagulation Factor VIII
GATA3	Trans-acting T-cell-specific Transcription factor
GC	Germinal Center
GITR	Glucocorticoid Induced TNF Related protein
HA	Hemaglutinin
HDM	House Dust Mite
HemA	Hemophilic
hFIX	Recombinant Human Factor VIX
hFVIII	Recombinant Human Factor VIII
i.m.	Intra muscular
i.n.	Intra nasal
i.p.	Intra peritoneal
i.v.	Intra venous
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
ICAM	Intercellular Adhesion Molecules
ICOS	Inducible T-cell Costimulator
IFA	Incomplete Freund's Adjuvant
IFNy	Interferon y
lg	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
ILC	Innate Lymphoid Cells
iNKT	Induced NKT
ITI	Immune Tolerance Induction
iTreg	Induced Treg
K/BxN	G6PI transgenic TCR mice
LCVM	Lymphocytic Choriomeningitis Virus
LFA	Lymphocyte Function-Associated Antigen
LFOT	Low Frequency Forced-Oscillation Technique
LN	Lymph Node
MAb	Monoclonal Antibody
MBP	Myelin Basic Protein

MCh	Metacholine
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MLN	Mediastinal Lymph Nodes
MRL/lpr	Transgenic mice Defective in Fas mediated apoptosis
MS	Multiple Sclerosis
mTEC	Medullary Thymic Epithelial Cell
NFAT	Nuclear Factor Of Activated T-Cells
NKT	Natural Killer T-cell
NOD	Non Obese Diabetic
nTreg	Natural Treg
OIT	Oral Immuno Therapy
OT II	OVA specific C57BI/6 mice
OVA	Ovalbumin
OX40	CD134
PBS	Phosphate Buffer Solution
PLP	Proteolipid Protein
PR8	Murine Influenza
RA	Rheumatoid Arthritis
Rag	Recombination Activating Gene
Raw	Airway Resistance Ag – Antigen
RORy	RAR-related Orphan Receptor Gamma
Runx1	Runt-related Transcription Factor 1
S.c.	Sub cutaneous
SCIT	Subcutaneous Immunotherapy
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
SIT	Allergen Specific Immunotherapy
SKG	Mice with a mutation in the Zap-70
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
SLIT	Sub-lingual Immunotherapy
SP	Spleen
SPF	Specific Pathogen Free
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
T/R	Rag deficient MBP specific TCR transgenic mice

TACI	Tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 13B, also known as
	TNFRSF13B
T-bet	T-box Transcription Factor
T-Bmc	Transgenic mice with a T cell receptor specific for OVA and a B cell
	receptor specific for HA
TCR	T-Cell Receptor
Tfh	Follicular T helper Cell
TFR	Follicular T regulatory Cell
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor Beta
Th	T Helper Cell
TIM	T-Cell and mucin domain containing molecule
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor
Treg	Regulatory T Cell
TSLP	Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin
Wk	Week
ZAP-70	Zeta-chain-associated protein kinase 70
β-LG	β-Lactoglobulin

Sumário

Várias doencas causadas pelo sistema imunitário, como doencas autoimunes, alergias ou rejeição de transplantes, são causadas por uma resposta inadequada a alguns antigénios. Uma possível forma de tratar estas doenças consiste na indução de tolerância específica e robusta. A tolerância imunitária é definida como a ausência de resposta por parte do sistema imunitário a um dado antigénio, mantendo-se competente para responder a antigénios distintos. Existem vários mecanismos que asseguram tolerância imunitária a antigénios do próprio e vários antigénios ambientais, tais como a seleccão negativa no timo de linfócitos autorreactivos juntamente com o desenvolvimento de células T reguladoras suprimem autorreactividade: (Treg) que locais imunoprivilegiados como a placenta; citoquinas imunorreguladoras como a IL-10; e o controlo na periferia de linfócitos maturos através de apoptose, anergia, competição e diferenciação de diferentes populações celulares reguladoras. Nos últimos vinte anos tem sido dada muita ênfase a uma população de células T reguladoras caracterizada pela elevada expressão de CD25 (a cadeia alfa do receptor de IL-2) e de Foxp3 (um factor de transcrição). Com a aquisição de informação sobre as Tregs, os imunologistas têm tido a capacidade de desenvolver novas estratégias para diferenciar e expandir esta população celular, sendo inclusivamente utilizadas Tregs como terapia celular em ensaios clínicos.

Uma forma eficaz de induzir tolerância imunitária em modelos animais consiste na utilização de anticorpos monoclonais (MAbs), dirigidos a

moléculas envolvidas na activação de linfócitos. Vários estudos em modelos animais de patologias do sistema imunitário demonstram a eficácia destes MAbs na indução de uma tolerância robusta a longo prazo. O anti-CD4 não depletante, em particular, é bastante eficaz na indução de tolerância imunitária em transplantação e autoimunidade induzindo uma população de Tregs.

No trabalho descrito nesta tese demonstrámos que o anti-CD4 não depletante é capaz de induzir tolerância num modelo animal de asma alérgica, que é uma patologia dependente de uma resposta imunitária do tipo Th2. O bloqueio do CD4 concomitante com a exposição ao alergénio leva à indução de um estado de tolerância específica para esse antigénio, mantendo-se a competência do sistema imunitário para responder a outros antigénios diferentes. Com base nestes resultados, onde para a indução de tolerância utilizámos antigénios administrados juntamente com um adjuvante (alum), decidimos estudar a inducão de tolerância a outras proteínas. Com efeito, estudos prévios mostraram ser particularmente difícil induzir tolerância a factor VIII (FVIII) em modelos animais de hemofilia, utilizando anti-CD4 ou outros anticorpos indutores de tolerância. Decidimos reavaliar a inducão de tolerância a FVIII em hemofilia com base na hipótese que um adjuvante poderia facilitar esse processo. Com efeito verificámos que a administração de FVIII com alum permite a obtenção de tolerância robusta ao factor de coagulação com anti-CD4. Estes resultados poderão parecer contra-intuitivos pois os adjuvantes são conhecidos pela sua capacidade de potenciar respostas imunitárias e não de as inibir. No entanto é provável que para indução terapêutica de tolerância seja necessário que o antigénio a tolerar seja apresentado de forma eficaz à maioria de células T efectoras específicas durante o período

em que o anti-CD4 se mantém em níveis terapêuticos. Um adjuvante poderá assim facilitar a apresentação de antigénios pelas células dendríticas durante este período. Esta hipótese será avaliada em experiências futuras.

Finalmente, procurámos identificar os mecanismos celulares e moleculares associados à indução de tolerância imunitária a proteínas em adjuvante. Como está descrito na literatura que o anti-CD4 promove, em transplantação e autoimunidade, a diferenciação de Tregs Foxp3⁺, assumimos que o mesmo mecanismo estaria envolvido na indução de tolerância a proteínas em alum. Contudo, verificámos ser possível indução de tolerância depende de IL-10, pois não é possível induzir tolerância em animais na ausência desta citoquina. Para além deste mecanismo de tolerância dominante dependente de IL-10 também está envolvido um componente recessivo, que depende da anergia e apoptose de células efectoras específicas

É possível que a combinação de estratégias que promovem mecanismos indutores de tolerância independentes de Foxp3 e outras estratégias que promovam tolerância mediada por Treg possam ser explorados de um modo sinergético para alcançar um estado de tolerância mais robusto e em situações mais estringentes.

Abstract

Several immune mediated diseases, such as autoimmunity and allergy or transplant rejection are consequence of inappropriate immune responses towards specific antigens. The therapeutic induction of robust immune tolerance has, therefore been considered the Holy Grail of immunology since the pioneering work of Medawar and colleagues who have demonstrated the feasibility of tolerance induction. Immune tolerance is defined as the unresponsive state to a set of antigens by an immune system that remains immune competent to respond to unrelated antigens. A wealth of mechanisms has evolved to achieve immune tolerance to self as well as many environmental antigens. These mechanisms include negative selection in the thymus together with the production of regulatory T cells dedicated to the prevention of auto reactivity; cytokines like IL-10; immune privileged sites; and peripheral control of effector T cells by apoptosis, anergy, competition, and differentiation of several types of regulatory immune cells. In the last twenty years much emphasis has been given to a powerful regulatory T (Treg) cell population initially characterized by the high expression of CD25 (the alpha chain of the IL-2R), that express the transcription factor Foxp3. Over the years a significant amount of information on Tregs has been acquired which empowered the immunologists to devise new strategies to differentiate and expand these cells and ultimately to use them as cellular therapies.

Abstract

One strategy known to induce immune tolerance takes advantage of biological agents such as monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) that can specifically target certain molecules modulating immune responses. Several studies in different animal models of immune disorders have shown the efficacy of MAbs at inducing long term specific immune tolerance. Non depleting anti-CD4 MAb has been shown able to induce immune tolerance in transplantation and autoimmunity by inducing a specific Treg population.

In the work presented in this thesis we have shown that non depleting anti-CD4 can induce robust tolerance to soluble antigens in a mouse model of allergic asthma – a Th2-driven pathology. CD4-blockade at the time of allergen exposure can lead to antigen-specific tolerance therefore sparing the immune response to other antigens.

Based on these findings, where the allergen is administered together with an adjuvant, we revisited immune tolerance to therapeutic proteins using a mouse model of hemophilia. It had been reported that tolerance induced with MAbs (such as anti-CD4) was difficult to induce to proteins like factor VIII. We hypothesized that an adjuvant, such as alum, that in the animal models of allergy allows tolerance induction to model antigens and allergens, may be useful to facilitate tolerance to FVIII. We confirmed that indeed tolerance induction to FVIII can be induced when alum is used as an adjuvant – a counter-intuitive finding given the tendency of adjuvants to boost, rather than inhibit, immune responses. We believe that for proper tolerization of antigen-specific cells it is essential to have adequate antigen presentation. Therefore an adjuvant can facilitate the process. This hypothesis will be addressed in future studies.

Finally, we investigated the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying the induction of tolerance to proteins using non-depleting anti-CD4. We anticipated that induction of Foxp3+ T cells would be a major mechanism given prior studies that have clearly established induced Foxp3⁺ Tregs in tolerance induction in transplantation and autoimmunity. However, we found that tolerance to proteins in alum could be induced in Foxp3-deficient mice, but not in the absence of IL-10. In addition to the dominant tolerance mechanism IL-10-dependent we found evidence for a recessive mechanism based on the activation-cell death and anergy of antigen-specific cells following activation under the cover of anti-CD4.

We believe it may be possible to take advantage of both Foxp3independent and Foxp3-dependent mechanisms to achieve a more robust state of immune tolerance.

Introduction

For many decades self/non-self discrimination by the immune system was assumed to be a consequence of clonal selection of effector T cells. Although the concept of *horror autotoxicus* was postulated by Ehrlich over a century ago, the first model proposing the elimination of selfreactive T cells during thymic development was only proposed in 1959 [1]. This clonal selection theory is still regarded as the major mechanism underlying central tolerance: the events in the thymus during early T cell differentiation that lead to the deletion of potentially self-reactive T cells.

In the thymus cortex CD4⁺CD8⁺ (DP) cells originating from CD4⁻CD8⁻ (DN) T cell precursors [2] establish their first ligations with MHC molecules. Failure to engage an MHC within 3 to 4 days results in death for these T cell precursors [3]. This event is called "death by neglect" and eliminates around 95% of these cells as they fail to receive essential survival signals [3]. The remaining 5% cells survive by engaging the MHC of cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTECs) loaded with intracellular protein fragments [4] thus receiving a survival signal that allows positive selection [5]. Defects in the ZAP-70 signaling can alter the T cell repertoire and favor autoimmunity by allowing the survival of autoreactive cells that would otherwise be deleted [6-8]. Upon positive selection T cells become single positive for CD4 or CD8 [9] and in the medulla suffer further refinement of their specificity by engaging MHC molecules on medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) and dendritic cells in a process called negative selection [10]. In the medulla mTECs expressing high levels of both CD80 and MHC class II are also positive for Aire [11]. Aire directs expression of self-antigens within the thymus preventing autoimmunity by negative selection of cognate T cells [12, 13] in a dose dependent fashion [14].

However clonal selection does not explain the entire scope of immune tolerance. It became apparent that dominant cellular immune regulatory mechanisms, exerted by T cells, have a critical role in suppressing autoimmune targeting by peripheral T cells [15]. This issue has been controversial until a definite characterization of the phenotypic and functional characteristics of this population of T cells dedicated to tolerance maintenance was established [16]. Environmental cytokines and co-stimulatory factors may favor a functionally unique differentiation program for T cells that experience strong TCR signaling leading to a selection by agonist interaction of Treg cells with a repertoire skewed towards self-reactivity [17]. In the thymic development of natural Tregs (nTreg) CD28 plays a key role, as deficiency in CD28 or its ligands B7-1/B7-2 lead to decreased thymic nTreg cells [18-20]. CD28 signaling is provided by thymic APCs [21] which might suggest that specialized APCs can be responsible for the different T cell populations selected by agonist. Downstream of CD27/B7 pathway, c-Rel a member of the NFkB family is a crucial factor for nTreg development in the thymus [22]. Mice deficient in c-Rel have shown a reduction in Foxp3⁺CD4SP cells in the thymus and in the periphery [23], while NF-kB1 had no effect [23]. In addition to costimulation, cytokine signaling is also of major importance, especially IL-2. Nevertheless IL-2 might have a redundant effect with other common ychain cytokines like IL-15 as the lack of IL-2 is less significant in reducing nTregs than the lack of its receptor IL-2Rβ [24-26]. Thymic Treg development appears to follow a two-step instructive model: TCR engagement leads to upregulation of CD25 (IL-2R α) and other components of the proximal IL-2 signaling pathway and, subsequently, to IL-2dependent expression of Foxp3 [27]. Curiously STAT5 constitutive expression deflects thymocytes normally destined to become naive T cells

into the Treg cell lineage [28] which further supports the crucial role of IL-2 in nTreg development.

Treg cells are characterized by expression of the forkhead-family transcription factor Foxp3, whose function is indispensable for their development, maintenance and function [29]. Nr4a triple KO mice to show that Nr4a receptors have redundant yet crucial roles in thymic Treg cell development [30] acting as effectors of thymic CD4+ T cell fate by 'translating' the strength of TCR signaling [30]. Epigenetic studies show that nTregs have a stable Foxp3 expression due to the demethylation of CpG motif in the Foxp3 locus [31].

While central tolerance ensures that most T cell that exit to the periphery do not recognize self-antigens, peripheral tolerance ensures a cellular mechanism, mediated by regulatory cells, that self-antigens effector T cells that eventually escape to the periphery recognizing are suppressed and do not lead to autoimmune pathology.



Figure 1. The reactivity of the TCR for self-MHC ligands defines the outcome of the DP T cells. Cells with no ability to react with thymic ligands will die by neglect. Those with low affinity are positively selected and become CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells. Those with too high affinity undergo clonal deletion to preserve self-tolerance. Those cells that receive intermediate TCR signaling in the thymus suffer an agonist selection and acquire a special phenotype with distinct function.

Recently it is becoming apparent that the importance of dominant regulation goes beyond the discrimination of self and non-self: it also discriminates between harmful and innocuous. In fact, cellular mechanisms, as detailed below, persistently patrol the organism preventing the onset of inflammation, namely allergic inflammation. The biological significance of this active tolerance-imposing mechanism is well demonstrated by the severity of the allergic and autoimmune syndrome that arises in individuals that lack this ability to tolerate self and harmless antigens. Indeed, the organism is constantly exposed to non-pathogenic antigens that, in healthy individuals, are tolerated. It is, however, common (and becoming increasingly frequent) that an overzealous immune system will activate and develop effector responses to such harmless antigens developing allergy and other inflammatory diseases. Over the last decades allergic diseases, including allergic asthma, atopic dermatitis and food allergy, have become a major health problem in developed countries [32]. Despite the advances in the understanding of the pathophysiology of allergy and in its clinical management, allergic pathology remains a significant burden on the quality of life and economy of western society. Several strategies have been devised to overcome the pathological immune response by inducing immune tolerance.

A major cellular mechanism in maintaining immune tolerance is the population of natural (or thymic derived) Foxp3⁺ Treg cells [33, 34]. Indeed these have been clearly implicated as potent inducers of a nonresponsive state in several immune mediated pathologies like autoimmunity, transplantation, graft-versus-host disease, and allergy [35-39]. It has been shown, in allergy, that regulatory T cells can be transferred conferring specific tolerance to subsequent challenges with the allergen [40, 41]. In addition, depletion of the regulatory T cells can have a detrimental effect in allergic airway hyperreactivity [42]. Importantly Foxp3-deficiency, in mice and human beings, leads to a severe immune deregulation syndrome characterized by allergic and autoimmune manifestations that are rapidly fatal [43]. In addition to the important role of natural Foxp3⁺ Treg cells (nTreg) in preventing autoimmunity, it has become established that Foxp3 expression can be peripherally induced following T cell activation in presence of TGF- β [44]. These peripherally induced Treg cells (iTreg) are believed to be important for tolerance induction to non-self-antigens, including allergens [44].

Induction of regulatory T cells

The study of peripheral induction of Treg cells was greatly facilitated with the use of *Rag*-insufficient TCR-transgenic mice, with the TCR specific for a non-self antigen. In these mice nTregs cannot be formed in the thymus due to the absence of a selecting thymic antigen. In 2003 it was shown that conventional T cells can be converted into iTreg in vitro when activated in presence of TGF- β [45]. In addition those iTreg cells were fully capable of controlling airway hyper reactivity (AHR) in previously sensitized mice [45-49]. It was subsequently found that reducing or blocking the available amount of TGF-B exacerbates AHR [50, 51], while the local delivery of this cytokine or adoptive transfer of T cells engineered to express latent TGF-β rescue mice from antigen sensitization and therefore prevent AHR[52, 53]. Interestingly, sub-optimal TCR signaling together with TGF- β greatly enhances iTreg conversion [54], which is in agreement with in vivo data showing that repeated low doses of allergen exposure promotes the emergence of $Foxp3^+$ iTregs expressing TGF- β on the membrane[55]. Under sub-optimal TCR stimulation, obtained with a lowdose of plate bound anti-CD3 or with DCs pulsed with a low dose of agonist peptide, as well as, with down-modulation of the TCR with non-depleting anti-CD4, promotes iTreg conversion in the absence of exogenous TGF- β [56]. Under those conditions Foxp3 expression still requires TGF- β , but the T cells can produce TGF- β , and benefit from the presence of this cytokine for conversion to Treg [56].

In addition to the importance of TGF- β for iTreg conversion, some studies showed that TGF- β can directly inhibit GATA3 expression thus impairing Th2 differentiation [57-59]. Because the Th2 response is impaired, the production of IL-4 is diminished, and this has a direct impact on B cell class switch preventing IgE and favoring IgA production [60].

It is also becoming apparent that the environment influences the outcome of T cell activation, and the decision to induce Foxp3 and regulatory properties. Several reports have shown that the mucosal surfaces have a role in establishing an iTreg population: alveolar epithelial cells have been reported to participate in iTreg induction in a mechanism dependent of MHC class II expression and TGF- β [61]. Both alveolar and gut epithelia have been shown to depend on retinoic acid together with TGF- β to induce tolerance [62, 63]. It was also found that retinoic acid in the presence of TGF- β impaired STAT6 binding to the Foxp3 promoter therefore enhancing histone acetylation and reverting the repressive the effect of IL-4 on the Foxp3 promoter[64].

Despite the critical role of TGF- β in iTreg induction and henceforth tolerance, this cytokine can also have some adverse effects since it is instrumental in the differentiation of Th17 and Th9 together with IL-6 and IL-4, respectively [65, 66]. Note that although Treg cells can prevent allergic autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a disease promoted by Th17 cells, mice with T cells with a dominant negative receptor for TGF- β 1 do not develop EAE as Th17 cells are not induced [67]. Moreover, TGF- β has also been implicated in tissue remodeling, by induction of collagen expression in fibroblasts, as well as goblet cell proliferation and mucus production [68].

Regulatory T cells and IL-10

Although TGF- β is the major known driver of iTreg differentiation, IL-10 has been shown to be another key player that has been vastly described in protection from allergic diseases [69].

Studies with bee venom specific immunotherapy have shown that tolerance to the allergen can be induced in a process that is IL-10-mediated [70]. In addition, respiratory exposure tolerance induction to OVA relied on antigen specific CD4⁺regulatory cells that produced IL-10 [71]. Tolerance was transferrable and abrogated when IL-10 or ICOS ligand was blocked. Interestingly, those regulatory cells shared some features with effector Th2 cells: both populations expressed IL-4 and IL-10 although in different amounts. While the regulatory cells primarily release IL-10, the effectors rely on IL-4 as the main cytokine. It has been suggested that different types of effector cells, including Th2, produce IL-10 at the end of the immune response in a mechanism that is important in limiting their inflammatory behavior [72]. IL-10 producing T cells have been described able to control the late response in allergic asthma by reducing neutrophilia [73]. It has been suggested that Foxp3-negative IL-10 producing T cells, can be induced following activation in presence of IL 10, and constitute a population of regulatory cells different from Foxp3+ Tregs that are named TR1 [74, 75]. TR1 cells have been identified in mice and humans, and there are currently clinical trials [39, 76]. There are several other lines of evidence demonstrating the crucial role of IL-10 in the prevention of airway inflammation: IL-10-deficient mice have an exacerbated allergic airways response with high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-5 and IFN-y in the BAL [77]. Furthermore, intranasal administration of rmIL-10, concurrently with OVA, inhibited both airway neutrophilia and eosinophilia [78]. It was also shown that allergen-specific CD4⁺CD25⁺ Tregs can suppress allergic airway disease in vivo through an IL-10-dependent mechanism [48]. In this study, adoptive transfer of Treg cells reduced AHR, Th2 and eosinophil recruitment into the airways, and secretion of Th2-type cytokines. The effect was IL-10 mediated, since neutralizing anti–IL-10R abrogated suppression. In addition, these effects were independent of IL-10 production by the CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory cells themselves [48].

Unlike TGF- β , IL-10 does not directly influence B cell class switch [79]. However it is possible that indirectly, by inhibiting the inflammatory response, IL-10 shapes the humoral outcome. Indeed, it was proposed that IL-10 may favor the ratio of IgG4/IgE ratio [80]. In fact immunotherapy studies show that Th2 responses can be suppressed by IL-10 secreting regulatory cells accompanied by an increase of circulating IgG4 [81, 82].

Different subsets of regulatory T cells

Foxp3⁺ Treg cells, despite an apparent phenotypic uniformity and immunosuppressive function, can have different subtypes with distinct genetic signatures. The first major division was identified between nTreg and iTreg, where the first are enriched in Helios, a transcription factor that is primarily expressed in T-lineage cells and early precursors [83, 84]. While nTreg cells have epigenetic mechanisms that stabilize Foxp3 expression allowing them to be a stable differentiated cell lineage, TGF- β induced Tregs lack those mechanisms having incomplete demethylation of the Foxp3 gene [31]. Therefore, although iTreg cells have high levels of Foxp3, the expression of Foxp3 is less stable [31, 85, 86]. In addition, conserved non-coding DNA sequence (CNS) elements at the Foxp3 locus encode information defining the size, composition and stability of the Treg cell population [87]. CNS3, which binds c-Rel, has a drastic effect on the frequency of Treg cells generated in the thymus. Contrary to CNS3, CNS1 has no effect on thymic generation of Treg cells but is essential for induction of iTregs [87]. CNS1 contains a TGF-B-NFAT response element, so these results could represent the requirement of TGF- β and NFAT for Treg induction in the periphery [87-89]. Although CNS2-deficient T cells can acquire Foxp3 expression, they fail to maintain Foxp3 expression on their progeny due to the failure on recruitment of Foxp3-Runx1-Cbf-B complexes to CNS2 after demethylation of the CNS2 CpG island [87, 90]. Interestingly CNS1 deficient mice had no lymphoproliferative disorder. However, it can be argued that these animals kept in clean facilities have a minimal exposure to foreign antigens and thus nTreg may be sufficient to maintain homeostasis in such conditions. In effector T cells, GATA-3 is a hallmark of the Th2 cells, but Treg cells can also express GATA-3, that binds both to the Th2 cell locus and to the CNS2 of Foxp3 locus [91]. In fact, there is a dramatic increase of GATA-3 binding to CNS2 compared to conventional T cells, suggesting that GATA-3 regulates CNS2 activity in Treg cells [91].

There is strong evidence that the CCR7-dependent continuous migration of DC from the lung to its draining LNs is required for the transport of inhaled Ag and thereby for the proper composition of APCs in the LN. These processes are essential to induce peripheral tolerance of T cells [92]. The co-stimulation with ICOS, crucial for regulatory phenotype polarization in allergy[93], promotes the down-regulation of CCR7 and CD62L after activation, leading to a reduced return of activated CD4 T cells to the lymph nodes and a more efficient entry into the lungs[94]. Regulatory T cells express CCR4 and CD103 induced by antigen-driven activation in the lymph nodes. In addition, the accumulation of Tregs in the
skin and lung airways is impaired in the absence of CCR4 expression [95]. Mice without CCR4 in the Treg compartment develop lymphocytic infiltration and severe inflammatory disease in the skin and lungs [95]. Some studies suggest that CCR4 has a prominent role in effector Th2 homing [96]. Despite their differences it seems both regulatory and effector T cells share the response to homing factors [97, 98].

But GATA-3 is not the only transcription factor characteristic of effector T cell responses that can be expressed by Foxp3⁺ Treg cells. Under the influence of IFN- γ , Foxp3⁺ Treg cells can express the Th1-defining transcription factor T-bet [99]. T-bet expression by Foxp3⁺ Treg cells induces the expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR3, necessary for these Treg cells to accumulate at the site of type-1 inflammation. T-bet expression was thus required for the homeostasis and function of Treg cells during type-1 inflammation [99].

It is likely that the regulation of different types of immune response require the participation of specialized subsets of regulatory cells. This way, iTreg cells induced in an environment favorable to Th1 or Th2 type of immune responses, require the appropriate chemokine receptors to give them access to the same locations as effector T cells (Figure 2).

Th17 cells that have been implicated in autoimmunity and allergy share with iTreg cells the need for TGF-β to differentiate [100]. The decision of antigen-stimulated cells to differentiate into either Th17 or iTreg depends on the cytokine balance of IL-6, IL-21 and IL-23 that relieve Foxp3-mediated inhibition of RORγt [101]. These results indicate that Foxp3 and RORγt are transcription factors that antagonize each other in the lineage differentiation.



Figure 2. Differentiation of effector and regulatory T cells under the influence of different cytokines.

Different types of immune responses carry different cytokine microenvironments that can influence both effector and regulatory T cell differentiation. Like the effector T cells, regulatory T cells can also display different molecules on their surface that will allow them to migrate to the inflammation site. Although this seems to be a feature mostly associated with iTregs, the Tfregs, whose precursors are nTregs, also change their chemokine receptor profile in order to enter the follicles and exert their regulatory functions.

Another subset of T cells, the follicular T helper cells (Tfh), is mostly spatially confined to secondary lymphoid organs, more precisely to the B cell follicles [102]. Tfh cells express high levels of the transcription factor Bcl-6, that impairs the expression and function of other transcription factors specific for other CD4 subsets: Tbet, GATA3, and RORyt, thereby regulating cytokine production by Tfh cells [103, 104]. Tfh cells differentiate under the influence of ICOS: ICOSL and IL-21 but independently of any other cytokine [105]. In addition, the characteristic anatomical distribution of Tfh cells is dependent of CXCR5 that endows access to the B cell follicle [102, 106, 107]. It has been recently found that also this subset of effector T cells has a specialized regulatory counterpart [98, 108, 109]. It was found that Foxp3+ Treg cells can be found within the B cell follicle [110], sharing many characteristics of Tfh and Treg cells [98, 108, 109]. Importantly,

Bcl-6 can be co-expressed with Foxp3 as it seems Foxp3 expression is not inhibited by Bcl-6. These follicular regulatory T cells (Tfr) are immune-suppressive and can control de magnitude of the germinal center response [98, 108, 109]. In addition, they exhibit a CTLA4^{hi}GITR^{hi}IL-10^{hi} phenotype that is characteristic of activated Tregs [98, 108, 109]. However, the Tfr origin is quite distinct from the other induced Treg cells previously described. Tfr cells do not derive from the commitment of conventional CD4 T cells, but result from acquisition of "follicular" characteristics (namely Bcl-6 expression) by natural Foxp3+ Treg cells[98, 108, 109]. In fact sorted Tfh cells exposed to optimal conditions to induce Foxp3 expression in conventional T cells (including TGF- β) resist conversion to Tfr [108] . Given the importance of the germinal center response for allergy, it is likely that Tfr cells can play an important role in regulating IgE production.

Besides conventional T cells, also natural killer T (NKT) cells are important players in defining the outcome of immune responses. Notably, invariant NKT (iNKT) cells were found able to help B cell differentiation, germinal-center formation, affinity maturation and immunoglobulin response that was uniquely dependent on iNKT cell–derived IL-21, although the GCs maintain a small size throughout the reaction [111, 112]. This contribution of iNKT cells for humoral responses can be added to their ability to contribute to allergic airways diseases by producing IL-4 and IL-13 [113, 114], or IL-17[115, 116]. But iNKT cells can also have a regulatory role, namely in preventing

EAE following administration of its TCR agonist [117, 118]. We and other recently described that activation of murine or human iNKT cells in presence of TGF- β induces Foxp3 expression and acquisition of suppressive function [117, 119].

Influencing regulatory T cells in allergy

The understanding of the mechanisms involved in regulatory T cells generation and function may lead to novel strategies to restore immune tolerance where it has been lost. As TGF- β and IL-10 play a crucial role in tolerance induction, several studies on immune tolerance induction took advantage of environments rich in those anti-inflammatory cytokines. To our advantage the mucosa itself is an anatomical location rich in these immune mediators [120].

Airborne antigens can be transferred from the mother to the newborn through milk [121]. Breastfeeding-induced tolerance was found to be mediated by induced Foxp3⁺ Treg cells and dependent on TGF- β [121]. On the other hand it has been proposed that metallo-matrix proteases, derived from commensal bacteria in the gut, can facilitate the conversion of latent TGF- β to its active form, thus favoring iTreg differentiation [122]. In addition, CD103⁺ dendritic cells in the mucosa-

draining lymph nodes have been shown effective in promoting conversion of iTregs in the gut, mediated by TGF- β and the synthesis of retinoic acid, a powerful inducer of Foxp3 expression [62, 123, 124]. Furthermore, vitamin D receptor deficient mice were associated with a reduction in tolerogenic CD103⁺ dendritic cells favoring the development of effector type T cells [125]. Vitamin D3 can be used to induce human and mouse naive CD4⁺ T cells to differentiate *in vitro* into regulatory cells that produced only IL-10, but no IL-5 and IFN- γ , and furthermore retain strong proliferative capacity [126]. Several other studies put vitamin D3 in relevance as acting directly on T cells to induce IL-10⁺ regulatory cells and also influencing levels of TGF- β [127-129]. These data suggest that the mucosa, in particular the gut, has several mechanisms that can favor immune tolerance. Sublingual immunotherapy (SLIT) and oral immunotherapy (OIT) are becoming more relevant as effective tolerance-inducing strategies to treat inhalant as well as food allergies [130].

Allergen specific immunotherapy (SIT) which comprehends of SLIT, OIT and subcutaneous immunotherapy (SCIT) has been in clinical use for around 100 years [131] and consists on the administration of increasing doses of an allergen [132]. It has been shown that both Foxp3⁺ and IL-10 positive regulatory T cells can be induced during the course of SIT protocols [133, 134]. Furthermore, allergen-specific TR1 cells, in healthy individuals, have been suggested to play a key role in preventing pathologic responses [82, 131, 135]. While the presence of IL-10 leads B cells to produce IgG4 in detriment of IgE [136, 137], TGF- β drives B cells to switch to IgA production [135]. Another approach to direct the organism towards a tolerant state arises from the results that suggest that reduced TCR stimulation favors the induction of a regulatory phenotype on the T cells [56, 138, 139]. Blockade of molecules involved in the immune synapse

Introduction

has been suggested as an approach to achieve suboptimal TCR activation [56, 139]. Blockade of CD4 was shown a robust approach to achieve Tregmediated dominant tolerance in transplantation [140-142]. The realization that active regulatory mechanisms, such as the ones mediated by Treg cells, can prevent pathological immune responses to harmless antigens is changing the way immunotherapy is perceived. In very diverse fields of immunology, ranging from cancer immunotherapy to autoimmunity and allergy, regulatory mechanisms need to be considered when therapeutic interventions are designed to boost or dampen the immune response. The realization that different subsets of regulatory T cells exist may offer the possibility to fine tune such interventions in order to achieve optimal therapeutic benefit with limited immunosuppressive consequences in unrelated immune responses.

At a time when therapeutic interventions rely increasingly in potentially immunogenic drugs – such as recombinant proteins to correct genetic diseases or monoclonal antibodies, where even the human antibodies can be immunogenic due to their unique idiotypes [143, 144], the issue of tolerance induction to non-self antigens will not be restricted to allergy and transplantation, but a growing concern for drug efficacy.

Induction of Dominant Tolerance Using Monoclonal Antibodies

Ever since the description of classical transplantation tolerance by Medawar and colleagues [145], the attainment of clinical transplantation tolerance has been considered the "Holy Grail" of immunology. Two decades have passed since the initial demonstration that long-term transplantation tolerance can be induced following a brief treatment with monoclonal antibodies (MAb)[146-148] and that tolerogenic anti-CD4 MAb can be used to treat EAE [149]. However, the mechanisms by which tolerance is induced and maintained are not yet fully understood. In recent years it has become clear that antibody induced transplantation tolerance leads to both deletion of some alloreactive clones and regulatory T cells cell expansion [38, 150].

In the first examples of peripheral tolerance induced with MAb, depleting anti-CD4 MAb was used to induce tolerance in mice to foreign immunoglobulins [146, 147]. It was soon demonstrated that depletion of CD4+ T cells was not required for tolerance induction, as similar results were obtained using Fab'2 fragments [151, 152], non-depleting isotypes [153]or non-depleting doses of synergistic pairs of anti-CD4 MAb [154]. In other studies a brief treatment with anti-CD4 MAb was also shown to lead to long-term acceptance of skin grafts differing in multiple minor antigens [153], even in pressensitized recipients [155]. The same results were also demonstrated for heart grafts across major histocompatibility complex (MHC) barriers [156, 157] or concordant xenografts [156]. The treated animals accepted the transplanted tissues indefinitely without the need for immunosuppression, and remained fully competent to reject unrelated (third-party) grafts. Clearly the antibody treatment had rendered them tolerant to antigens belonging to the transplanted tissue (see Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Induction of transplantation tolerance with monoclonal antibody (MAb). Mice transplanted under the cover of tolerogenic MAb accept skin grafts indefinitely. To demonstrate that mice are indeed tolerant, one can simultaneously transplant a new graft of the tolerized type and graft an unrelated third-party donor, showing that tolerant mice remain fully competent to reject latter.

Following these studies, it became clear that MAb, other than anti-CD4, could be used to impose peripheral transplantation tolerance (see Table 2). Tolerance induced with MAb, such as CD4 or CD154 (CD40-Ligand), is dependent on Treg cells both CD4⁺CD25⁺ and CD4⁺CD25⁻ [158]. These Treg cells can be demonstrated both within lymphoid tissue and infiltrating the tolerated transplant [159]. The dominant tolerance state, maintained by the Treg cells, allows the immune system to resist the adoptive transfer of non-tolerant lymphocytes without tolerance break down [153, 160]. In addition, adoptively transferred non-tolerant lymphocytes are rendered tolerant and regulatory when allowed to coexist with the initial cohort of Treg cells—a process usually referred to as infectious tolerance [142, 161, 162]. The dominant tolerance state can be extended through linked suppression to additional antigens, if those new antigens are provided genetically linked with the tolerated ones within a new transplant [141, 161, 163, 164].

In addition to tolerogenic antibodies, several experimental procedures may be used to facilitate tolerance induction.

Such is the case with the administration of donor bone marrow (BM), or donor blood (donor- specific transfusion [DST]). The elimination of cell populations that may create an obstacle to graft survival with weak

tolerogenic antibodies is also commonly used. Such is the case for CD154 tolerogenic antibodies, able to induce dominant tolerance within the CD4+ T cells, but when used alone cannot prevent skin graft rejection mediated by CD8+ T cells [164, 165]. As a consequence, CD8 depletion is often used when the tolerogenic properties of CD154 MAb are studied.

Tolerogenic MAbs have been also used to reprogram the immune system in animal models of autoimmune diseases [166]. However, it has been more difficult to confirm that the tolerant state, so induced, is dominant and mediated by Treg cells than in the context of transplantation, as experiments with third-party antigens are harder to conduct. Nevertheless, the characterization of the phenotype of the dominant Treg population in maintaining self-tolerance as being CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ has permitted the confirmation that tolerogenic MAbs, such as the ones directed toward CD3, can prevent autoimmunity by eliciting Treg cells that maintain the tolerant state in a dominant manner [167]. As a consequence, it appears that MAbs, known to be able to induce dominant transplantation tolerance, may also restore dominant selftolerance in autoimmunity.

Induction of tolerance in allergic respiratory disorders with MAb.

The advances in the knowledge about the allergic disease have empowered researchers to pursue new therapies within the immunomodulatory agents. The complicated network of cells and molecules involved in the Th2 response has given several opportunities that are being explored towards the treatment of diseases such as allergic asthma [168, 169].



Figure 3. The complex network of the allergic airway sensitization. The antigen recognized by the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) induces the tissue to release cytokines that promote not only dendritic cell (DC) maturation but also T cell differentiation from nuocites (ILC) [170] and recruitment of innate immune cells like mast cells and basophils. The Th2 cell will later recruit more innate cells like the eosinophils by the release of IL-5, and promote B cell differentiation into a plasma cell that releases immunoglobulins that potentiate and perpetuate the disease. IgE and IgG₁ can bind and activate mast cells and basophils by means of the Fc ξ RI [171-173] triggering the release of histamine that can affect several cell types in immune and non-immune systems [174].

Most strategies rely on either blockade of cytokines or blockade of co-activators and co-stimulators molecules (see table 1). The majority of the research developed has had positive results and is now in clinical trials [169]. There is little evidence however in the literature on how these therapies affect the regulatory T cell population. The IL2:Anti-IL-2 MAb is described to promote an IL-10 secreting $Foxp3^+$ T cell population that effectively induces tolerance in allergic airway disease [175]. We recently shown that a non-depleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody can induce in mice robust, antigen-specific tolerance to house dust mite, even in presensitized animals [46]. In addition, a similar strategy was effective to prevent peanut-induced anaphylaxis in mice [176]. Co-stimulation blockade was also shown to be effective in preventing allergic sensitization in mice. Regarding the different modalities for co-stimulation blockade, on one hand CTLA4Ig was shown able to greatly reduce the secretion of IL-4 but not enough to impair Th2 response [177]. On the other hand, treatment with OX40L-blocking MAbs inhibited to some extent allergic immune responses induced by TSLP in the lung and skin, preventing Th2 inflammatory cell infiltration, cytokine secretion and IgE production in mice and nonhuman primate models of asthma [178]. [179]. Based on previous studies of tolerance induction to alloantigens following co-stimulation blockade, it is likely the mechanism also relies on Treg cells [162, 180].

Antibody Target	Effect	Reference
IL-2:anti-IL2	Prophylactic and tolerogenic	[175]
IL-4	Is prophylactic in AHR but no effect in eosinophilia	[181, 182]
IL-5	Anti-inflammatory	[182, 183]
IL-13	Prevents progression in established disease	[184, 185]
IL-25	Prophylactic and anti-inflammatory	[186]
IL-33	Anti-inflammatory	[187]
TSLP	Anti-inflammatory	[188]
LFA-1	Prophylactic	[189, 190]
CD4	Prophylactic and prevents progression of established disease	[46]
CD23	Anti-inflammatory	[191, 192]
OX40L	Prophylactic	[178]
CD40	Has a prophylactic role when administered together	
	with CTLA4Ig	[179]
CTLA4Ig	Together with anti-CD40L is prophylactic	[177]
CD147	Anti-inflammatory	[193]
CCR3	Ablate eosinophilia in established AHR	[194]
TIM-1	Anti-inflammatory	[195]
TIM-3	Prophylactic	[196]
TNF	Prophylactic	[197]
4-1BB/4-1BBL	Prophylactic and anti-inflammatory	[198-200]
lgE	Prophylactic	[201, 202]
TACI-lg	Prophylactic	[203]

Table 1. Immunomodulatory MAbs used in allergic pathologies

Nevertheless blockade of cytokines is more effective in the prevention of Th2 inflammation rather than the induction of Treg cells. Apart from the IL2: Anti-IL-2 none of the other studies targeting cytokines shows an effect on regulatory populations. In these cases it is important to take into account that the blocking antibody is present at the time of inflammation thus removing an important intervenient of the inflammatory process. IL-33 is not directly involved in the inflammatory process but rather on the very early process of sensitization[204, 205] orchestrating innate and adaptive immunity in a unique fashion via

basophils, mast cells, eosinophils, innate lymphoid cells, NK and NKT cells, nuocytes, Th2 lymphocytes and a CD34⁺ precursor cell population[204]. It would be interesting to see if the anti-IL33 is able to induce a regulatory population, perhaps through a modulatory effect on the DCs. Some immune modulators like the anti-TIM-3 and anti-4-1BBL show a remarking increase in the levels of IFNy [196, 199] suggesting a Th1 deviation [196] as the mechanism of regulation of a Th2 response.

Induction of transplantation tolerance with MAb.

Most animal studies have been performed in mice, although rats and nonhuman primates have been tolerized to foreign antigens and transplants with MAb. Transplant rejection or tolerance does not depend exclusively on the degree of mismatch between host and donor. Different strains of mice exhibit distinct behavior concerning the capacity to reject or become tolerant to transplants [206, 207], which may be further modulated upon exposure to infectious microorganisms. Active viral infection, with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCVM), at the time of tolerance induction with costimulation blockade and DST can prevent the effectiveness of the tolerization treatment leading to graft rejection [208-210]. However, this effect seems to be virus-specific, with some viral infections (e.g. murine cytomegalovirus and vaccinia virus) not leading to graft rejection [209]. A persistent viral infection with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus clone 13 can also prevent the establishment of transplantation tolerance with a costimulation blockade-based regimen, and the antibody treatment can prevent an effective antiviral immune response [210]. Furthermore, the persistence of memory T cells elicited by

prior exposure to infectious agents has been reported as a barrier to the induction of transplantation tolerance, even in the absence of concomitant infection [211]. This phenomenon is generally known as heterologous immunity. An explanation for these findings may be the cross-reactivity between viral and transplantation antigens [209, 212]. However, these obstacles do not seem to be complete. With coreceptor blockade, instead of costimulation blockade, it has been possible to induce tolerance to allografts in mice or rats previously primed to donor antigens [155, 157]. In addition, infection of tolerized mice (with anti-CD4+ DST) with murine influenza PR8, at d 7 following heart transplantation, did not lead to impaired antiviral responses or to graft rejection [213].

Table 2. Therapeutic MAb Used to Induce Transplantation

IUICIAIILE

Antibody Target	Transplantation	Reference
CD2	Delayed rejection of islet allografts and xenografts	[214]
CD3	Tolerance to hearts allografts	[215]
CD3+CD2	Long term acceptance to heart grafts	[216]
CD4	Tolerance to antigens	[153, 217]
CD4+CD8	Tolerance to minor mismatched skin, MHC-mismatched and	[153, 161]
	xenogeneic heart grafts	
CD4+CD8+CD154	Tolerance to MHC-mismatched skin	[141]
CTLA4-Ig	Xenogeneic pancreatic islets	[218]
CD45RB	Long term survival of MHC mismatched islets and kidney	[219, 220]
	transplants	
CD45RB+CD154	Long term survival of MHC-mismatched skin	[221]
CD134(OX40L)	Long term survival of minor mismatched heart allografts	[222]
CD134L+CTLA4-lg	Long term acceptance of MHC-mismatched hearts grafts	[223]
CD154	MHC-mismatched pancreatic islets	[224]
CD145+CD8dep	Tolerance to minor mismatched skin	[162, 164]
CD154+CTLA4-Ig	Long term acceptance of MHC mismatched skin	[225, 226]
LFA-1	Tolerance to soluble antigens	[152]
LFA1+ICAM-1	Long term acceptance of MHC-mismatched hearts grafts	[227]
IL-2+IL-15 lg	Long term acceptance of MHC-mismatched islets in diabetic	[228]
	NOD mice	

In general, the hierarchy of strains, from the easiest to tolerize to the most difficult, is as follows: C3H, CBA/Ca, DBA/2, BALB/c, and C57BI/6. Apparently, these properties are not primarily due to the MHC molecules present in each strain. For instance, B10.BR mice, expressing identical MHC molecules to CBA/CA mice, are as difficult to tolerize as C57BI/6 with whom they share only minor antigens[206]. The genetic basis of strain variability is still unknown.

Several studies have used T-cell receptor (TCR) transgenic animals, where all T cells share the same TCR. Even in these mice, it has been possible to use MAb, such as non-depleting CD4 or CD154, to induce a state of dominant tolerance where the de novo peripheral generation of Treg cells can be demonstrated [217]. It should be noted that prior to tolerization, these TCR-transgenic animals have no demonstrable CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ Treg cells.

The capacity to accept a transplant also depends on the graft itself. In general, the greater the genetic disparity between donor and recipient, the more difficult it becomes to prevent rejection. The donor strain itself may also contribute to different outcomes in terms of tolerance. For example, BALB/c grafts are harder to tolerize than C57Bl/6 grafts in CBA/Ca recipients [141, 229]. In addition, different organs have been shown to have distinct requirements for succumbing to tolerance induction [230, 231]. Vascularized grafts are, in general, more easily accepted than nonvascularized grafts, such as skin. Acceptance of the liver is relatively easy to achieve, with many different liver allografts being spontaneously accepted by permissive strains without any treatment [232]. Kidney allografts are also occasionally spontaneously accepted in rodents, although not as consistently as liver [231]. In contrast, pancreatic islets and heart allografts are usually rejected in the absence of therapeutic intervention. It should be

Introduction

noted that in diabetic animals, such as non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice, it is more difficult to induce tolerance to islet allografts presumably because a primed autoimmune response must be overcome in addition to the allogeneic barrier [228, 233]. The rejection of small intestine seems to be more vigorous than the above mentioned organs [231, 234]. However, skin grafts are even more difficult to tolerize as some treatments, capable of preventing rejection of heart allografts, are ineffective in inducing longterm survival of skin allografts[235-238]. It is known that both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells can contribute to skin graft rejection, with each population capable of rejecting grafts independently [217].

Several antibodies and fusion proteins have been shown to be effective at inducing dominant transplantation tolerance, either on their own or in combination (see Table 2). It is interesting to note that virtually all MAb able to induce peripheral tolerance, target molecules involved in the formation of the immune synapse: the coreceptor molecules CD3, CD4, and CD8 [153, 216]; CD45RB [219]; the costimulatory molecules CD154 and CD28 [218, 224, 226]; and the adhesion molecules leukocyte functionassociated antigen 1 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 [152, 227]. It is thus possible that tolerance induction requires T-cell activation under suboptimal conditions, i.e., in the presence of reagents that interfere with efficient T-cell activation, although this does not extend to conventional immunosuppressive agents [139]. It has been reported that successful induction of dominant tolerance following coreceptor blockade leads to expansion of Treg cells [162], and elimination of alloreactive cells through activation-induced cell [225, death 239]. Some conventional immunosuppressive drugs, such as corticosteroids and calcineurin inhibitors like cyclosporine-A and tacrolimus, by preventing T-cell activation and activation-induced cell death can abrogate the induction of dominant tolerance [225, 239-241]. The use of donor BM to induce tolerance by deletion of alloreactive clones does not seem to be affected by those drugs [211]. Other immunosuppressive drugs, such as rapamycin or mycophenolate mofetil, do not seem to prevent tolerance induction and may be useful in addition to the tolerogenic MAb [225, 241]. The impact of the novel immunosuppressant FTY720, which induces a reversible sequestration of T cells in secondary lymphoid organs, in tolerance induction has not been established [242]. Given that Treg cells can be found in tolerated allografts[159], it will be important to assess whether the impact on T-cell migration may prevent the onset of dominant tolerance.

Induction of Tolerance With MAb in Autoimmunity

The use of MAb to restore the state of dominant regulation has been tested in several animal models of autoimmune and immuneinflammatory dis-ease. Some of the most common examples are listed in Table 3. Such animal models can be divided into three broad categories: (1) animals developing the dis-ease spontaneously, (2) animals where the disease is induced experimentally, and (3) TCR-transgenic animals where most or all the T cells are specific for a self-antigen. It should be noted that some animals, initially described as developing an autoimmune disease spontaneously, were later found to develop the disease following an environmental challenge. This is the case for SKG mice, carrying a mutation of the ZAP-70 gene, that develop chronic autoimmune arthritis with features closely resembling rheumatoid arthritis (RA) [7]. In spite of initial reports suggesting that autoimmune arthritis was spontaneous, it was recently shown that the disease is triggered by Dectin-1 agonists such as

Introduction

zymosan [243]. It is also important to note that the immune systems of most animals used in animal models of autoimmune disease behave as lymphopenic [244]. Lymphopenia is a common feature in animal models of autoimmunity, appearing to be associated with the breakdown of tolerance [244]. In transplantation experiments it was shown that T-cell depletion in advance of treatment with costimulation blockade + DST constituted a barrier for tolerance induction [223]. Apparently, this effect is because of the acquisition of functional memory T cells [245]. It remains to be established whether tolerizing regimens, successful in inducing tolerance in pressensitized recipients [155, 157], will remain effective when used with lymphopenic animals.

Some of the most common animal models of autoimmune pathology are as follows:

Autoimmune diabetes: NOD mice spontaneously develop insulindependent diabetes and are a model of type I diabetes mellitus. Disease in these animals, as in humans, appears to be of autoimmune etiology that is heavily influenced by both genetics and environment [221, 246]. The similarity between diabetes in the NOD mice and humans is extensive, including the influence of sex on the incidence of disease: whereas about 80% of female mice at 6 months of age are diabetic, only 20% of males develop the disease [247]. BB rats also develop autoimmune diabetes spontaneously but, as in humans, the disease incidence is similar in both sexes and not affected by gonadectomy or androgen administration [248]. The immune system of these rats is severely lymphopenic. Another rat model of diabetes is the LEW.1WR1 rat (RT1^{u/u/a}) where the disease occurs spontaneously with a cumulative frequency of approximately 2% at a median age of 59 d. Both sexes are affected, and islets of acutely diabetic rats are devoid of β cells whereas α and δ cell populations are spared [249].

	Associated human disease	Reference
Mouse models		
Spontaneous		
NOD	Type 1 diabetes	[221]
NZBXNZW	SLE	[250]
MRL/lpr	SLE	[251]
K/BXN	RA	[225, 252]
T/R ⁻ (TCR transgenic to MBP)	MS	[253]
Induced		
DBA/1+Type II collagen in IFA	RA	[254-256]
SKG+Dectin-1 agonists	RA	[7, 243]
BALB/c + Spinal cord homogenate in CFA	MS	[257]
SJL + PLP in CFA	MS	[258]
SLJ + Thyroglobulin in CFA	Autoimmune Thyroiditis	[259]
Rat models		
Spontaneous		
BB/wor	Type 1 diabetes	[260]
Komeda diabetes-prone (KDP)	Type 1 diabetes	[261]
Lewis (LEW.1AR1/Ztm)	Type 1 diabetes	[262]
Induced		
Lewis + retinal pigment epithelium-	Autoimmune uveitis	[263]
specific 65-kDa protein peptides		
Lewis + MBP in CFA	MS	[264]
Wistar + MBP in CFA	MS	[231]
Wistar + testis homogenate	Autoimmune orchitis	[265]

Table 3. Animal Models of	Autoimmune Diseases
---------------------------	---------------------

CFA, Complete Freund's Adjuvant; IBD, Inflammatory Bowel Disease; IFA, Incomplete Freund's Adjuvant; MBP, Myelin Basic Protein; MS, Multiple Sclerosis; RA, Rheumatoid Arthritis; SLE, Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

RA: the most commonly used animal models of autoimmune arthritis are mice and rats in which the disease is induced with type II collagen and incomplete Freund's adjuvant [254-256]. In these cases, the disease usually affects larger joints of the limbs and is self-limited. K/BxN mice spontaneously develop a progressive joint-specific autoimmune disease between 3 and 5 wk of age. Pathology of disease in K/BxN mice is

Introduction

similar to human RA, with pannus formation, synovial hyperplasia, increased synovial fluid volume, and chaotic remodeling of cartilage and bone in the distal joints in the later stages [225, 252]. SKG mice, harboring T cells more resistant to TCR stimulation, also develop chronic autoimmune arthritis. Although disease in K/BxN mice is mediated by antibodies and can be adoptively transferred to healthy recipients by transferring the serum, in SKG mice arthritogenic T cells are sufficient to cause the disease as their adoptive transfer into lymphocyte-deficient hosts triggers autoimmune arthritis [7].

Multiple sclerosis: EAE is characterized by T cell-mediated destruction of the myelin sheath in the central nervous system. Myelin basic protein, myelin/oligo-dendrocyte glycoprotein, and proteolipid apoproteins when administered with adjuvant to mice or rats can induce autoreactive T cells that cause the disease [258, 266, 267]. The same outcome has been reported following the administration of syngeneic mouse spinal cord homogenate in complete Freund's adjuvant [257]. TCR transgenic mice in the RAG/- background, in which all T cells express a TCR directed to a myelin protein, spontaneously develop EAE with 100% incidence at 8 months [253, 268]. Interestingly, the disease is abrogated by the presence of additional CD4+ T cells from wild-type syngeneic mice [269, 270].

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE): MRL/lpr mice spontaneously develop a disease similar to SLE, because of defective apoptosis of activated B cells as the mice are deficient in Fas/FasL [250]. Other mouse strains, such as the NZB x NZW and the BXSB, also develop a SLE-like syndrome that appears to be influenced by multiple genes [250].

Several MAb have been tested for the treatment of autoimmune dis-eases. In many cases such MAb do not aim to restore tolerance but

rather to control the inflammatory process (such as the anti-tumor necrosis factor a or the anti-interleukin-1 MAb)[271], or induce immunosuppression by elimination of pathogenic lymphocyte populations (such as T-cell depletion with CAMPATH or B-cell depletion with anti-CD20) [272, 273]. However, tolerogenic MAb have also been reported to have a beneficial effect on the prevention or treatment of autoimmune pathology, although in many cases the true re-establishment of dominant self-tolerance based on T-cell regulation remains to be confirmed (see Table 4).

CD3: therapy with nonmitogenic CD3 MAb has been shown to prevent and revert type 1 diabetes in NOD mice and in virus-induced autoimmune diabetes [274-276]. Different from most other tolerogenic MAb, anti-CD3 seems to be more effective if used after the onset of disease, apparently because activated T cells are the main targets of this treatment [275]. In autoimmune arthritis the use of this anti-body was not shown to be as effective as in type 1 diabetes, but in both systems, treatment causes a reduction in serum interferon-y and an increase in interleukin-4, interpreted as deviation to a Th2 response [277]. Anti-CD3 MAb were also shown to lead to an increase in Treg cells able to suppress diabetogenic T cells and maintain a state of dominant tolerance [167, 278].

CD4: following initial reports showing a beneficial effect of anti-CD4 on the treatment of EAE in rats [149], it has been shown prevent the onset of diabetes in NOD mice, as well as preventing pancreatic islet damage in recently established disease, with the animals tolerating islet trans-plants from prediabetic syngeneic donors or even islet allografts [208, 279-282]. The same MAb have also been shown to prevent the onset of experimental autoimmune arthritis as well as to ameliorate overt arthritis [283-285]. Several other MAb, such as the ones targeting CD154, CTLA4-Ig, and CD134L, have been shown effective in preventing or treating several experimental autoimmune diseases (see Table 4).

MAb	Animal/disease	Outcome	Reference
CD2	Lewis rats (EAM)	Prevents onset	[286]
	Lewis rats (EAE)	Prevents onset	[287]
	BB/wor rats (type 1 diabetes)	Prevents onset	[260]
CD3	NOD mouse (type 1 diabetes)	Ameliorates established disease	[167, 274-276]
	DBA/1 mouse (CIA)	Delayed onset with reduced severity	[277]
CD4	NOD mouse (type 1 diabetes) NZB/NZW mouse (murine SLE)	Prevents onset	[208, 279-281]
		Ameliorates established disease	[288]
	DBA/1 mouse (CIA)	Prevents onset and ameliorates established disease	[289, 290]
CD30L	NOD mouse	Prevents onset	[291]
OX40L	SJL mouse (EAE)	Ameliorates established disease	[258]
	C.B-17 SCID (IBD)	Ameliorates established disease	[292]
CTLA4-Ig	BALB/c mouse (EAE)	Ameliorates established disease	[257]
	NZB/NZW mouse (murine SLE) BXSB mouse (SLE)	Prevents onset	[293-296]
		Delayed onset with reduced severity	[297]
CD154	Marmoset monkey (EAE)	Prevents onset	[298]

Table
4. Targets
of
Therapeutic
MAb
in
Experimental

Autoimmune Diseases
Autoimmune Diseasese

	B6/A (C57BL/6XA/J)	Prevents onset	[299]
	(AOD) B10.BR mouse (EAU)	Ameliorates established disease	[300]
	SJL mouse (EAT)	Less severity	[259]
	NZB/NZW mouse (murine SLE)	Prevents onset	[292, 301-303]
CD40	Marmoset monkey (EAE)	Prevents onset	[304]
CD137	DBA/1 mouse (CIA)	Prevents onset	[305]
	NZB/NZW mouse (murine SLE)	Ameliorates established disease	[306]
	C.B-17 SCID (IBD)	Ameliorates established disease	[307, 308]
	C57BL/6 (EAE)	Ameliorates established disease	[267]
LFA-1	NOD mouse (type 1 diabetes)	Prevents onset	[309]

EAE, Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis; EAM, Experimental Autoimmune Myelitis; AOD, Autoimmune Ovary Disease; CIA, Collagen Induced Arthritis; EAU, Experimental Autoimmune Uveoretinitis; IBD, Inflammatory Bowel Disease; MS, Multiple Sclerosis; SLE, Systemic Lupus Erythematosus.

MAb have been used either to prevent the onset of experimental autoimmune diseases, or to treat overt autoimmunity. It is usually assumed that newly formed T cells exported from the thymus create an obstacle for dominant tolerance maintenance. In some stringent experimental systems, the use of thymectomized animals can facilitate maintenance of the tolerant state [221]. Dominant tolerance, however, has been induced in either euthymic or thymectomized animals in many including stringent experimental systems, MHC-mismatched skin transplantation [141]. The presence of the thymus is required for the induction of tolerance based on mixed-chimerism, where thymic deletion of alloreactive clones occurs [310]. For the prevention of autoimmunity, animals are often treated from the neonatal period [299]. In some experiments, anti-CD3 MAb have been shown to be successful in treating

overt diabetes in NOD mice, restoring a state of dominant tolerance mediated by Treg cells [274, 275]:

Tolerance vs. Immunosuppression

Long-term allograft survival following MAb treatment does not prove dominant tolerance has been successfully induced. To demonstrate tolerance, it is necessary to confirm that the immune system is fully competent to mount a response against antigens other than the tolerated ones. Usually, a simultaneous transplant of tolerated-type and unrelated third-party grafts is used, to confirm that tolerant animals remain able to reject specifically the third-party transplant (see Fig. 4).

The Antigen Specificity of the Tolerant State

The putative antigen-specificity of the tolerant state is frequently demonstrated simply by grafting a third-party and a tolerated type transplant, and observing that only third-party grafts are rejected. However, given the possible differences in the "rejectability" of the different types of grafts (see Subheading 2.1.), such results should be approached with caution [38]. Ideally, these studies should be performed in crisscross experiments: mice should be tolerized, in independent experiments, to transplants of different types. Then both groups should be tested for capacity to reject the appropriate third-party grafts (see Fig. 4).



Figure 4. Crisscross experiment to demonstrate antigen specific tolerance. To account for possible strain variations in tissue "rejectability", tolerance can be assessed in mice tolerized to two different strains. The antigen specificity of the tolerant state will determine that animals from both groups reject grafts from the third-party strain. The same sort of experiment can be used to test the antigen specificity of putative regulatory T cell populations following their adoptive transfer into lymphocyte-defined animals.

Alternatively linked suppression can be used as an exquisite and straightforward assay for both specificity and the dominant nature of tolerance (see below).

Dominant Tolerance

A direct way to assess the dominant tolerance status of an animal is through the infusion of T cells with the capacity to reject the graft. In such a challenge, T cells obtained from the spleens of naïve animals can be used [153, 160]. If the transfused cells are allowed to coexist with the tolerant ones for 6 wk, it becomes possible to demonstrate that they themselves have been rendered tolerant by ablating the initial population of T cells with depleting MAb directed to a specific marker [142, 162]. This

Introduction

recruitment of T cells toward a regulatory function is generally known as infectious tolerance.

Instead of using T cells from naïve wild-type animals, it is possible to transfuse TCR-transgenic T-cells specific for the tolerized alloantigens [267]. This experimental setting allows the study of dominant tolerance effects on the cells being subjected to active regulation [267].

An alternative strategy to demonstrate dominant tolerance is to deplete putative populations of Treg cells, such as CD4+ or CD25+ T cells, unleashing aggressive cells to mediate rejection. It should be noted, however, that tolerizing treatments are often associated with a partial deletion of the alloreactive clones [225, 239]. In addition, besides the major populations of Treg cells (identified as CD4+CD25+ and CD4+CD25) other minor populations of Treg cells may persist. This seems to be the case for CD8+ or double negative (CD4 CD8) Treg cells [231, 311] in the light of which, it is not surprising that, in some cases, ablation of the major Treg cell populations—such as the CD4+ or the CD25+ cells—does not lead to the rejection of tolerized allografts.

Linked suppression has been used as an efficient assay for confirmation of both antigen-specificity of tolerized animals and for the dominant state of tolerance [141, 312]. These experiments are based on the observation that, once dominant tolerance has been established to a set of antigens present in an allograft, new transplants with cells simultaneously expressing tolerated antigens and third-party antigens are not rejected (see Fig. 5) [163]. These data have been interpreted as evidence that Treg cells specific for the tolerated antigens actively suppress the aggressive cells directed to the "linked" third-party antigens. With time, those aggressive clones will themselves become tolerized, because animals start to accept transplants with the third-party antigens in the absence of the tolerated ones. It should be noted that third-party grafts, where the tolerated set of antigens is absent, are readily rejected in control animals. Linked suppression has been demonstrated in situations where tolerance is induced with coreceptor blockade, costimulation blockade or a combination of the two [141, 163, 164].



Figure 5. Linked suppression. Animals tolerized to skin grafts of type A accept skin grafts from (AXB) F1 donors, where third part B antigens are endogenous to cells that also express A antigens (top row). However, B type grafts are readily rejected, even if a concomitant tolerated A type graft is given (bottom row). Furthermore, the animals that accept the (AXB) F1 grafts with the "linked" antigens become tolerant to grafts of the third party B type.

Although MAb have been successful in inducing dominant tolerance in animal models of allergy, transplantation and autoimmune diseases, it will be important to investigate whether similar strategies can in different contexts give rise to different outcomes in specific regulatory populations. These experimental systems have been useful in understanding the biology of Treg cells and the suppressive mechanisms maintaining dominant tolerance. But besides such important contributions toward the basic understanding of the immune system and its regulation, there is a potential for clinical application of tolerogenic MAb. Besides the above immune disorders the use of MAb as immune modulators is now

being adopted, in the context of inhibitor generation in protein substitution therapies. Recent observations have shown that MAb equivalent to the ones used in murine studies can be successfully used to induce tolerance in primates [217, 240, 313]. Furthermore, a recent clinical trial has shown a beneficial effect of tolerogenic CD3 MAb in autoimmune diabetes [314]. There are, therefore, reasons for optimism concerning the clinical use of tolerogenic antibodies in human immune pathology.

Aims of the Thesis

Over the years several strategies have been developed to induce immune tolerance in a range of immune pathologies. One reagent that has proven effective in inducing long-term tolerance in transplantation and autoimmunity is a non-depleting isotype of anti-CD4 MAb. However, the induction of immune tolerance with anti-CD4 has been shown easier to achieve to alloantigens in transplants than to single proteins, such as FVIII in mouse models of hemophilia. These observations can be considered surprising given the greater "mismatch" in models of transplantation compared to hemophilia.

The current thesis addresses the issue of tolerance induction to proteins, such as allergens or FVIII. We assessed how adjuvants can play a role in facilitating tolerance induction and, finally, what are the different mechanisms leading to tolerance to the same foreign antigens when they are delivered as part of a transplanted tissue or as a protein in alum.

As a consequence, the first chapter of the results describes a variety of experiments that were designed to demonstrate whether it is possible to induce tolerance to allergens (house dust mite) or a model antigen (OVA) in a mouse model of allergic asthma. We found that CD4 blockade is remarkably effective in inducing long term tolerance to those antigens, while the immune system remains fully competent to respond to unrelated antigens and inclusively to develop allergic airways disease to those unrelated antigens. The second chapter of the results assessed whether an adjuvant (alum) can be used to facilitate the induction of immune tolerance to FVIII in a mouse model of hemophilia. We found that indeed alum can facilitate tolerance, even in mice that have been primed in advance of tolerance induction.

Finally, the third chapter of the results describes experiments where we investigated the mechanisms underlying the induction of tolerance to foreign proteins in alum, and how those mechanisms differ from tolerance induced to the same antigens when they are presented within transplanted tissue. We found that tolerance to proteins in alum is mediated by recessive mechanisms based on the apoptosis and anergy of effector cells, together with dominant mechanisms that are Foxp3independent and IL-10-dependent.

The use of monoclonal antibodies to neutralize key molecules involved in the differentiation of inflammatory cells and to neutralize cytokines and other molecules involved in the inflammatory process is becoming exceptionally popular. There is a wealth of such components in clinical trials and some already in clinical use. Although promising anti-CD4 hasn't yet been fully availed by the scientific and clinical community. Targeting a key molecule in the activation of the helper T cell this tolerogenic agent can influence the effector and regulator populations tipping the balance of the immune system towards a specific, robust tolerance.

It is the purpose of this work to demonstrate the effectiveness of anti-CD4 in inducting tolerance in Th2 biased immune disorders while sparing the system to respond to unrelated antigens. We also aim to show that primed cells are still susceptible to the tolerizing effect of CD4 blockade. In transplantation and autoimmunity CD4 is described to induce putative Tregs nevertheless other mechanisms have come forward and we hope to demonstrate that in soluble protein tolerance induction the mechanism has a recessive and dominant component independent of Foxp3⁺ Tregs. We also hope to understand if adjuvants can have a beneficial role in potentiating the tolerogenic effect of the anti-CD4 MAb.

Lastly and taking together the objectives stated above it seems pressing to evaluate if inducing tolerance in a Foxp3⁺ Treg independent fashion can be combined with the Foxp3⁺ Treg dependent mechanism to boost tolerance induction.

Results

Prevention of house dust mite induced allergic airways disease in mice through immune tolerance

Introduction

The control of deleterious immune responses causing diseases, such as allergy, autoimmunity and transplant rejection, has been one of the main objectives of immunologists. Moreover, the global prevalence of this type of diseases has been steadily increasing.

Several strategies have been recently described to induce tolerance to allergens thus preventing allergic airways disease [81, 315-317]. In brief, they can rely on the induction of dendritic cell (DC) populations or regulatory T cells (Treg) able to control pathologic T cell clones, in a process where IL-10 and TGF- β can participate [47, 121, 315, 318-321]. In addition, disease prevention may be achieved by skewing the immune response from a Th2 to a Th1 phenotype [196].

In fact, the realization of the critical importance of T cells in the pathogenesis of allergic airways disease was well demonstrated by studies where anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) causing the depletion of this T cell subset could prevent the disease in mice [322]. Such pre-clinical studies with CD4 T cell depletion provided the rationale for clinical trials with depleting anti-CD4 MAbs where the short-term benefit observed was probably associated with transient immune suppression [323]. As a

consequence, the interest has shifted towards MAbs capable of blocking molecular interactions but without leading to direct cell lysis.

Some reports have shown prevention of allergic airways disease following the blockade of T cell co-stimulatory or co-receptor molecules with non-depleting MAbs, but it remains unclear whether long-term antigen-specific tolerance is achieved or what are the mechanisms involved [178, 179, 324, 325]. We now describe CD4 blockade at the time of exposure with a model antigen, ovalbumin (OVA), or a clinically relevant allergen, house dust mite (HDM), can induce antigen-specific tolerance and protection from allergic airways disease. The mechanism leading to antigen-specific tolerance without affecting protective immune responses (including Th2-type responses) to additional antigens is independent of a switch between a Th2-type and Th1-type immune response. Since CD4 blockade is achieved with a non-depleting MAb, T cells not activated by the antigen remain unaffected to mount protective immune responses towards unrelated antigens at a later time.

Tolerance induction by CD4 blockade is robust enough to be effective in pre-sensitized animals and even in animals where AHR was previously established. The tolerant mice show protection from allergic manifestations elicited by intranasal exposure to the antigen: they do not develop airways eosinophilia, goblet cell hyperplasia, production of Th2 cytokines in the lung, production of antigen-specific IgE or IgG1, and, importantly, do not develop airway hyperreactivity (AHR) in response to inhaled methacholine (MCh).
Materials and Methods

Experimental animals

BALB/c mice were bred and maintained under specific pathogen-free facilities. Animals were sensitized, at the times described in the text, by i.p. injection of 20 μ g in 2.0 mg of endotoxin-free aluminum hydroxide (Alugel-S, Serva, Heidelberg, Germany) of OVA or β -LG (Sigma, St Louis, USA) previously run through a DetoxyGel column (Pierce, Rockford, USA), or HDM extract (Greer, Lenoir, USA). In all experiments animals were age and sex matched.

Ethics Statement

All experiments involving animals were approved by Direcção Geral Veterinaria (approval 018831). Mice were bred and maintained under specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions.

Antibodies and reagents

Non-depleting anti-CD4 (YTS177) [153] and the isotype control (YKIX302) MAbs were produced in our laboratory using Integra CL1000 flasks (IBS, Chur, Switzerland), and purified from culture supernatants by 50% ammonium sulfate precipitation, dialyzed against PBS, and the purity checked by native and SDS gel electrophoresis. The hybridomas were generously provided by Professor Herman Waldmann (Oxford, UK).

Bronchoalveolar Lavage (BAL)

Airways were washed through the trachea with 3 ml of cold PBS 1% BSA (Sigma). The BAL was centrifuged, ressuspended in PBS, and the cells

counted with a hemocytometer. Differential cell counts were performed on cytospin samples stained with Giemsa-Wright (Sigma). At least 200 cells from each sample were counted, using blinded slides, to determine the relative frequency of each cell type. In addition, in some experiments eosinophilia was independently confirmed by flow cytometry using GR-1 (eBiosciences, San Diego, CA, USA), CCR3 (BD Pharmingen, San Diego, USA), and MHC-class II MAbs (produced in-house), with eosinophils identified based on the SSC/FSC profile and as the GR1^{int}MHCclass II⁻CCR3⁺ cells [326].

Quantification of immunoglobulins and cytokines

Serum titers of OVA-specific IgG1, IgG2a, and IgE were measured by ELISA using the following: IgG1 and IgG2a (SouthernBiotech, Birmingham, USA) with anti-OVA IgG1 standard from Serotec, Oxford, UK; IgE (BD-Pharmingen) with anti-OVA IgE standard from Abcam (Cambridge, UK). Cytokine titers were determined in fresh BAL and lung homogenates. Cytokine ELISAs were performed using the following kits: IL-4, IL-5 (BD-Pharmingen).

Histology

Lungs were perfused with 4% formalin solution (Sigma), collected and sectioned. Staining was performed using hematoxilin/eosin, and periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) stain. Photographs were taken using a Leica DM2500 microscope and a Leica DFC420 camera.

Respiratory mechanics and methacholine responsiveness

Airway responsiveness was determined 24 hours after last intranasal OVA challenge. Changes in the respiratory input impedance (Zrs) were

measured using a modification of the low frequency forced-oscillation technique (LFOT) in mice anesthetized with 10 μ l/g of xylazine (2 mg/ml, Ronpum, Bayer, Germany) and ketamine (40 mg/ml, Merial, Lyon, France), tracheotomized and ventilated (FlexiVent, SciReq, Montreal, Canada). Mice were hyperventilated at 450 breaths/min and Zrs was measured during periods of apnea using a 16 s signal containing 19 prime sinusoidal frequencies as described elsewhere [327]. Calculation of airway resistance (R_{aw}), tissue damping (G) and tissue elastance (H) is obtained from the Zrs spectrum using FlexiVent software (SciReq). AHR was measured by exposure to an aerosol containing increasing doses of MCh (Sigma), following a baseline measurement after the delivery of a saline aerosol.

Statistical analysis

Statistical significance was determined using the two-tailed non-parametric Mann-Whitney test and *P* values <0.05 were deemed significant (*, *P*<0.05; **, *P*<0.01; ***, *P*<0.001).

Results

Co-receptor blockade with non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb prevents allergic sensitization in mice

Using a well established murine model of allergic airways disease we sought to determine if non-depleting MAbs targeting the T cell co-receptor

molecule CD4 were effective in preventing allergic sensitization with HDM or a model antigen (OVA).

BALB/c mice were sensitized with two i.p. injections of OVA-alum or HDM-alum on days 1 and 14, and challenged with 50 μ g OVA or HDM i.n. on days 20, 21 and 22 (Figure 1A). Experimental groups were treated with 1 mg i.p. of anti-CD4 or an isotype control on the days before and after each immunization, and sacrificed 24 hours following the last intranasal challenge.

Mice treated with anti-CD4 had a marked reduction in BAL eosinophils when compared with sensitized animals, to levels similar to naïve animals or animals sensitized in the absence of the antigen (Figure 1B, and Figure S1). The absence of goblet cell hyperplasia and inflammatory infiltrate in the airways of anti-CD4 treated mice was confirmed by histology (Figure 1C). Furthermore, anti-CD4 treatment prevented effective generation of Th2-driven OVA- and HDM-specific IgG1 and IgE (Figure 1D). We could not detect Th1-driven antigen-specific IgG2a in any animal (not shown). Animals treated with anti-CD4 showed a marked reduction of IL-4 and IL-5 in lung homogenates to levels similar to naive animals (Figure 1E). Importantly, we found no evidence for Th1 or Th17 deviation (as inferred by levels of IFNγ or IL-17), nor increased levels of the immune-regulatory cytokine IL-10 (not shown). Cytokines in BAL were similar to lung homogenates (not shown).

To study the functional impact of the treatment we assessed AHR in response to increasing doses of inhaled MCh. Our data show that anti-CD4 treatment prevented AHR (Figure 1F and Figure S2).



Figure 1. Prevention of allergic sensitization with anti-CD4 MAb. (A) Female BALB/c mice were sensitized with 20 μ g OVA-alum or 50 μ g HDM-Alum i.p. and challenged with 50 μ g OVA or HDM in saline i.n. on the indicated days. Some animals were treated with 1 mg anti-CD4 or an isotype control i.p. as shown. Naive mice, not subjected to any intervention, were also studied as a control group. (B) Cellular composition of the BAL. Animals treated with anti-CD4 have less eosinophils in the BAL (n=6, *** P<0.001). (C) Histological sections of lung tissue were stained with haematoxylin/eosin and PAS (inset). Anti-CD4-treated mice have reduced inflammatory infiltrate and goblet cell hyperplasia, to levels similar to naive controls. Bars represent 10 μ m (2.5 μ m in the inset). (D) Quantification of serum OVA- and HDM-specific IgG1 and IgE. Anti-CD4 MAb treated mice show a significant reduction of the Th2-driven immunoglobulins (n=6, *** P<0.001 and ** P<0.01 as indicated). (E) The Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-5 were down to basal levels in lung homogenates of anti-CD4 treated mice (n=6, * P<0.05 and *** P<0.001). (F) Invasive measurement of respiratory mechanics shows that animals treated with anti-CD4 MAbs had reduced airway resistance to increasing doses of inhaled MCh, when compared with sensitized control animals (n=8). Data (B-F) are representative of at least three independent experiments.

The tolerance state is maintained following clearance of the MAb

We then studied whether tolerance induction with non-depleting anti-CD4 would protect the animals from subsequent exposure to the same antigens, at a time the therapeutic MAb had been cleared. For this purpose treated mice with anti-CD4 at the time of initial sensitization with OVA or HDM, and the same mice were again immunized with the same antigens 50 days following the initial treatment (Figure 2A).

Sensitization with OVA-alum or HDM-alum did not lead to airways eosinophilia in mice previously exposed to the same antigens under the cover of non-depleting anti-CD4 (Figure 2B and Figure S1). Furthermore, the treated mice also failed to produce antigen-specific IgG1 and IgE to OVA-alum and HDM-alum (Figure 2C). And importantly, AHR to increased concentrations of inhaled MCh was also absent in anti-CD4 treated mice (Figure 2D and Figure S2).

We could therefore conclude that a short course of anti-CD4 was leading to long-term effects. Although the MAb we used (clone YTS177) is known to have a non-depleting isotype [153], and we confirmed anti-CD4 treatment was not directly leading to T cell lysis (not shown), we had to confirm the treated mice remained immune competent.



Figure 2. Tolerized mice resist subsequent sensitization and challenge. (A) BALB/c mice were initially sensitized with OVA or HDM under the cover of anti-CD4 as described in Figure 1. Those mice were sensitized with the same antigens on days 50 and 64, and subsequently challenged i.n. (B) Animals treated with anti-CD4 were protected from BAL eosinophilia (n=6, ** P<0.01 for OVA; * P<0.05 for HDM). (C) CD4-blockade prevented production of IgG1 and IgE in subsequent sensitizations (n=6, *** P<0.001 and ** P<0.01 as indicated). (D) Tolerance to OVA or HDM prevented AHR to inhaled MCh (n=6). Data are representative of three independent experiments

Tolerant mice remain immunocompetent

In order to study the antigen-specificity of tolerance induction, we used a second unrelated antigen: β -lactoglobulin (β -LG). We compared immune responses to OVA and β -LG, since these are two defined antigens with similar characteristics, while HDM is a complex protein extract containing many distinct antigens.

BALB/c mice were treated with non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb together with OVA-alum (tOVA) or β -LG-alum (t β -LG) in order to establish immune tolerance to those antigens (Figure 3A). At day 50 the animals were immunized with the same antigen used at the time of tolerization (day 0) or with the second unrelated antigen. All mice were subsequently challenged i.n. with the same antigen used at day 50. All animals remained protected from mounting airways inflammation in response to the antigen used for tolerization, but fully competent to undergo a Th2 response to the second antigen leading to airways eosinophilia, production of IgE and IgG1, and AHR (Figure 3B-D and Figure S2). These results suggest that CD4blockade affects specifically the T cells that are being activated at the time of treatment, and sparing non-activated cells, thus leading to antigen specific tolerance where immune responses against different antigens are not suppressed.



Figure 3. Mice treated with anti-CD4 are competent to respond to unrelated antigens. (A) Mice initially tolerized to OVA or β -LG (as described in previous figures) were sensitized i.p. with a different antigen at days 50 and 64, and challenged i.n. with the same antigen used at day 50. (B) Only animals tolerized to the same antigen used for sensitization at day 50 were protected from BAL eosinophilia (n=6, *** P<0.001). (C) Tolerance induction to OVA did not prevent subsequent production of β -LG-driven IgE or IgG1, conversely, tolerance to β -LG did not hamper the generation of OVA-specific IgG1 or IgE (n=6, *** P<0.001). (D) AHR in response to MCh was observed in animals tolerized to an antigen different from the one used for subsequent sensitization (tOVA > β -LG and t β -LG >OVA) (n=8, * P<0.05 at 10 mg/ml MCh). Data are representative of two independent experiments.

Tolerance can be achieved in sensitized mice.

To assess whether tolerance can be induced in pre-sensitized mice, BALB/c mice sensitized with OVA or HDM were treated with the same antigen under the cover of anti-CD4 50 days following initial sensitization (Figure 4A). For consistency with previous experiments we maintained the tolerance-inducing regime as two administrations of antigen-alum + anti-CD4 two weeks apart.

We found, both OVA- and HDM-sensitized mice treated with anti-CD4 were prevented from AHR, maintaining normal airway response to

increased concentrations of inhaled MCh (Figure 4B and Figure S2). We confirmed the efficient sensitization of all groups of immunized animals by the presence of antigen-specific IgG1 and IgE antibodies in sera (not shown), although the mice had not been exposed to prior airway inflammation. As a consequence, the protection from AHR is effective in spite of high titers of antigen-specific immunoglobulins – possibly representing an impact on the late-phase response, and dissociation between high IgE and AHR.



Figure 4. Tolerogenic effect of anti-CD4 treatment is antigen-specific and effective in sensitized animals. (A) BALB/c mice sensitized with OVA-alum or HDM-alum were tolerized to the same antigens on days 50 and 64, and challenged i.n. with the same antigens. (B) Sensitized mice subsequently treated with OVA or HDM under the cover of anti-CD4 showed protection from AHR (n=8 for OVA, n=6 to HDM). Data are representative of two independent experiments. (C) Mice were initially sensitized with OVA-alum or β -LG-alum, and tolerized to the same or a different antigen on days 50 and 64. All mice were challenged i.n. with the same antigen used for initial sensitization. (D) Mice treated with a different antigen together with anti-CD4 did not show reduced BAL eosinophilia (OVA >t β -LG and β -LG >tOVA) while treatment with anti-CD4 and the same antigen used for sensitization showed a significant reduction of BAL eosinophilia (OVA>tOVA and β -LG >t β -LG; n=6, *** P<0.001). Data are representative of two independent experiments.

We then assessed whether tolerance induction in pre-sensitized mice remained antigen-specific. BALB/c mice sensitized with OVA-alum or β -LG-

alum were treated with anti-CD4 MAb, 50 days following the initial intervention, in the presence of either the initial (OVA or β -LG) or a different antigen (β -LG or OVA, respectively; Figure 4C). Sensitized mice were protected from airway eosinophilia when treated with anti-CD4 in the presence of the same antigen used for sensitization (OVA >tOVA and β -LG >t β -LG, Figure 4D). The protective effect was, therefore, not due to the persistence of the therapeutic antibody in circulation at the time of intranasal exposure to the antigen since mice immunized with a different antigens not present during anti-CD4 treatment (and therefore with equivalent doses of circulating anti-CD4 at the time of challenge) were not protected (OVA >t β -LG and β -LG >tOVA). The observation that animals receiving the antibody treatment together with a different antigen than used for immunization develop inflammatory changes similar to untreated control animals, or animals exposed to alum in the absence of the antigen (Figure S1), are consistent with the antigen-specificity of the tolerance state described above.

Mice exposed to allergic airways disease can be protected from AHR following anti-CD4 treatment.

However, it is understood that the onset of inflammation in the airways becomes a significant hurdle for immune modulation leading to tolerance. Therefore, we investigated whether mice sensitized to OVA or HDM and exposed to the antigen i.n. could benefit from subsequent anti-CD4 treatment (Figure 5A). A single i.n. challenge with antigen in sensitized mice was sufficient to induce AHR (Figure S3).

We found that administration of HDM under the cover of nondepleting anti-CD4 30 days following induction of allergic airways disease was effective in preventing AHR following subsequent challenge with the same antigen (Figure 5B). We repeated the same studies with OVA with similar results (Figure 5B and Figure S2).



Figure 5. Protection from AHR in animals previously exposed to airways inflammation. (A) Balb/c mice sensitized and challenged i.n. with HDM-alum or OVA-alum were tolerized to the same antigens on days 50 and 64, and challenged i.n. with the same antigens. (B) The animals treated with HDM or OVA under the cover of anti-CD4 were protected from AHR in response to inhaled MCh (n=6, ** P<0.01 or *** P<0.001 as indicated). Data are representative of two independent experiments

Discussion

Our data shows that CD4 blockade is effective in inducing antigenspecific tolerance to a clinically relevant allergen (HDM), thus preventing the manifestations of allergic airways disease following intranasal allergen challenge: Th2 and eosinophilic infiltrate of the airways, goblet cell hyperplasia, and AHR. The tolerogenic treatment is not only effective in preventing the disease in naive animals, but also confers considerable protection to mice previously sensitized with the allergen. Although in different experiments we tested mice with different ages, we could not find an age-related difference in their response to induction of allergic airways disease (Figure S4).

It should be noted that the use of tolerogenic MAbs in transplantation, with the same objective of preventing an inflammatory response to nonself antigens, have resulted in a different outcome from what we have observed. In transplantation, tolerance induction in sensitized animals has been difficult to achieve, except when both anti-CD4 and anti-CD8 MAbs are combined [155], with anti-CD8 MAbs probably required to control precommitted effector T cells. Co-stimulation blockade with anti-CD40L has also been reported as less effective than anti-CD4, requiring depletion of CD8⁺ T cells even in non-sensitized animals [164, 165]. The obstacle created by sensitization in relation to tolerance induction is also evidenced by reports showing that heterologous immunity reduces the effectiveness of tolerogenic protocols in transplantation [211]. Our data shows that the anti-CD4 antibody treatment can also be beneficial to already sensitized animals. This may be due to the fact that the T effector cell frequency is significantly lower for allergens than for alloantigens and that the response to allergens is predominantly restricted to the CD4⁺ compartment. It is likely that such different outcome observed in transplantation versus allergy may be due to the induction of different tolerogenic mechanisms. In fact our preliminary data suggests that Foxp3⁺ Treg cells may play a more important role in transplantation tolerance than in tolerance induced to allergens – something that still requires further elucidation.

Our data also suggests it is likely that in sensitized mice the antibody treatment has an impact exclusively on the late response (mediated by Th2 and NKT cells), without preventing the early response mediated by mast cell degranulation in response to their surface IgE cross-linking, as the allergen-specific IgG1 and IgE titers remain high in treated mice. But even without targeting early mast cell degranulation, the MAb treatment is likely to lead to a putative long-term benefit given the importance of the Th2-mediated response for the persistence of the inflammatory changes associated with airways remodeling and chronic manifestations of the disease [317]. This issue will require confirmation in chronic models of disease.

The antigen-specificity of Treg cell-mediated tolerance has been a controversial issue [38, 141]. We show that effective tolerance induction requires the presence of the appropriate antigen at the time of CD4 blockade leading to antigen-specific tolerance. In these experiments we waited 50 days following initial sensitization to minimize the amount of antigen still present in the animal at the time of the tolerogenic treatment. These data also established that MAbs administered at day 50 (Figure 3) were not contributing significantly to the prevention of the disease by being in circulation at the time of intranasal challenge, since no beneficial effect is observed in animals treated with the same antibody dose together

with an irrelevant antigen. Importantly, most previous studies addressing the putative tolerance-inducing potential of monoclonal antibodies, namely anti-CD4 [325], did not address the antigen-specificity of the phenomenon or the immune competence of treated mice.

Several MAbs have been recently used as immune modulators in a wide range of diseases, including allergy [328]. Anti-CD4 MAbs have been evaluated both in pre-clinical non-human primate models of transplantation and autoimmunity, as well as in clinical studies [323, 329, 330]. Their therapeutic effectiveness was modest, short-term, and likely to be a consequence of transient immunosuppression and not tolerance. With hindsight those unimpressive results are not surprising due to technical details related with dosing and the MAb characteristics. The clinical trials have used mouse or chimeric MAb that elicited immune responses leading to their rapid clearance [331]. In addition, most of those studies, including a clinical trial in human asthma (with the depleting anti-CD4 MAb keliximab) [323], did not take advantage of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAbs. Therefore, and as a consequence of the adverse side effects associated with depleting reagents, it was not possible to attain a neutralizing dose of anti-CD4 know to be the most effective for tolerance induction. At this time, particularly given the promising results with nondepleting anti-CD3 in early onset diabetes patients [314], the past experience of anti-CD4 in human patients should be reassessed in face of current knowledge. On this note, a new non-depleting and lessimmunogenic humanized anti-CD4 MAb has been recently engineered, and its safety evaluated in human volunteers [332].

Our results suggest the specific targeting of CD4 T cells in allergic airways disease can have a potent effect in achieving long-term protection

from subsequent inflammatory changes induced by the same antigens. It remains to be established whether similar effects can be achieved in chronic allergic airways disease.

Supplementary Figures



Supplementary Figure 1. Prevention of allergic sensitization with anti-CD4 MAbs. Female BALB/c mice were sensitized with 20 μ g OVA-alum i.p. and challenged with 50 μ g OVA in saline i.n. on the indicated days. Some animals were treated with 1 mg anti-CD4 or an isotype control i.p. as shown. Naive mice, not subjected to any intervention, were also studied as a control group and compared with mice injected with adjuvant in the absence of antigen at the time of sensitization. (A) Cellular composition of the BAL of mice treated with anti-CD4 at the time of initial sensitization, but subjected to additional sensitization at a subsequent time. (C) Cellular composition of the BAL of sensitized mice treated with anti-CD4.

Data related to figure 1



Supplementary Figure 2. Invasive measurement of respiratory mechanics. Data showing the impact of anti-CD4 treatment in tissue elastance and tissue

Data showing the impact of anti-CD4 treatment in tissue elastance and tissue damping in response to increasing doses of inhaled MCh. These graphs complement the data on airway resistance represented in the main figures 1 to 5.



Supplementary Figure 3. Induction of AHR following i.n. exposure to the antigen. Female BALB/c mice were sensitized with two shots of 20 µg OVA-alum i.p. 14 days apart, and challenged with 50 µg OVA in saline i.n. for three consecutive days (day 20-22), or just on day 20. Invasive measurement of respiratory mechanics was performed on the following day in presence of increasing doses of inhaled Mch. Both groups of mice, subjected to a single or three challenges with i.n. antigen, displayed similar levels of AHR (n=6, ** P<0.01, *** P<0.001).



Supplementary Figure 4. Allergic airways disease in mice with different age. Female BALB/c mice were sensitized with 20 μ g OVA-alum i.p. and challenged with 50 μ g OVA in saline i.n. as indicated in Figure 1. Some animals were treated with 1 mg anti-CD4 or an isotype control i.p. at the time of sensitization. Mice with 11 or 20 weeks of age were used. No significant differences between mice of different ages.

Adjuvant facilitates anti-CD4 mediated immune tolerance to recombinant factor VIII in haemophilia by a Foxp3-independent mechanism that relies on IL-10

Introduction

For many patients with severe hemophilia, replacement therapy with recombinant clotting factors represents an immune challenge with nonself proteins thus resulting in an immune response. As a consequence, immunoglobulins targeting infused clotting factors can lead to their inhibition (those immunoglobulins are termed inhibitors)[333]. Several approaches for immune tolerance induction (ITI), leading to the control of the production of clotting factor inhibitors, are currently used in hemophilia patients[334]. However, the success of ITI is not absolute and currently, at a time when viral contaminants in therapeutic products are a problem of the past, inhibitors became a major complication for hemophilia treatment. This has led to an increasing interest in developing new protocols for the induction of tolerance to therapeutically administered clotting factors[335]. Recent clinical trials have explored the putative higher tolerogenicity of factor VIII (FVIII) coupled with von Willebrand Factor (vWF), or B cell depletion with an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (MAb) rituximab[336, 337]. The outcome of those trials has shown, at the most, a modest improvement in ITI efficacy. Consequently, those ITI approaches were not generally adopted and the development of better strategies for ITI remains an unmet medical need[338].

In recent years several strategies have been developed to promote towards alloantigens. Several immune tolerance studies have demonstrated that non-depleting monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) targeting T cell surface molecules are effective in achieving immune tolerance in transplantation and autoimmunity[148, 339]. There is, however, a contrast between the efficacy in achieving long-term tolerance with MAbs such as CD4 or CD40L administered at the time of transplantation in pre-clinical studies[140, 141, 340], with a transient effect observed when the same reagents are used to induce tolerance to human recombinant factor VIII (hFVIII) or factor IX (hFIX) in mice[341, 342]. Remarkably, when the recombinant clotting factors are expressed in tissues, for instance following viral transduction, tolerance induction appears to be easier to achieve[343].

These observations prompted us to investigate whether the difference between both outcomes is a consequence of differences in the way the antigen is presented to T cells for tolerance induction. It is plausible that efficient imposition of tolerance *in vivo*, would require an impact on a large proportion of the antigen-specific T cells, or stronger co-stimulation, something that can only be achieved in the presence of inflammation (namely in transplantation or viral transduction) or when an adjuvant is used.

We found that the most clinically relevant adjuvant – aluminium hydroxide (alum) – facilitates the induction of tolerance to hFVIII in mice. Surprisingly, the mechanism underlying tolerance induction appears to be different from antibody-induced transplantation tolerance: while non-depleting anti-CD4 induces Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells that are indispensable for transplantation tolerance, we were able to induce tolerance to foreign

proteins in Foxp3-deficient mice. On the contrary, tolerance induction is critically dependent of IL-10, as it cannot be established in $IL-10^{-/-}$ mice.

Adjuvants can therefore have two opposing roles: they can contribute to boost immune responses and to overcome natural tolerance, but they can be instrumental in facilitating therapeutically induced tolerance when in presence of appropriate tolerance-inducing reagents.

Materials and methods

Animals. BALB/c, C57BI/6, B6.IL-10^{-/-}, B6.Rag2^{-/-}, and DO11.10.Rag2^{-/-}, mice were bred and maintained under specific pathogen-free (SPF) facilities at the Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência. Hemophilia-A mice (HemA) with a targeted disruption of exon 16 in the FVIII gene were initially generated by Kazazian and colleagues[344]. HemA mice backcrossed into C57BI/6 and BALB/c background were generously provided by Professor David Lillycrap (Queen's University, Kingston, Canada) and were maintained under SPF facilities at the Instituto de Medicina Molecular. The T/B monoclonal mice (T-Bmc, 17/9 DO11.10.RAG1^{-/-}) bear monoclonal populations of T and B lymphocytes specific for chicken ovalbumin (OVA) 323–339 and HA of influenza virus, respectively[345]. These mice were kept under SPF conditions at the Skirball Institute Central Animal Facility, New York University Medical Center. All procedures involving animals were approved by the Direção Geral de Veterinária (Lisbon) or New York University School of Medicine Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (New York).

Animals were exposed to 1U hFVIII (Kogenate, Bayer, Germany), or to 20 µg OVA (Sigma, St Louis, USA) previously run through a DetoxyGel column (Pierce, Rockford, USA). In some experiments the antigens were adsorbed in 2.0 mg of endotoxin-free aluminum hydroxide (Alu-gel-S, Serva, Heidelberg, Germany). In experiments involving alum the antigens were administered i.p. We confirmed that induction of inhibitors was similar through the i.p. or i.v. route.

Monoclonal antibodies. Non-depleting anti-CD4 (YTS177.9)[153], the isotype control (anti-canine CD4; YKIX302), anti-CD25 (PC61), anti-IL-10R (1B1.1), and anti-TGF β (1D11) MAbs were produced in house using Integra CL1000 flasks (IBS, Chur, Switzerland), and purified from culture supernatants by 50% ammonium sulfate precipitation, dialyzed against PBS, and the purity checked by native and SDS gel electrophoresis. YTS177.9 and YKIX302 hybridomas were generously provided by Professor Herman Waldmann (Oxford, UK).

Quantification of immunoglobulins and cytokines. Serum titers of hFVIII-specific, OVA-specific, and HA-specific IgG1 were measured by ELISA using the following: IgG1-HRP (SouthernBiotech, Birmingham, USA) with anti-hFVIII IgG1 standard (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), anti-OVA IgG1 standard (Serotec, Oxford, UK) and anti-HA IgG1 standard (Sigma, St Louis, USA). The ELISA assay for IL-10 measurement was performed using a kit (Peprotech, London, UK) and according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Flow cytometry. Cells were stained with CD25-AlexaFluor488 (PC61; produced and conjugated in house), CD25-PE-Cy7 (PC61.5; eBioscience), Foxp3-APC (FJK-16s; eBioscience), CD3-PE-Cy7 (145-2C11; eBioscience), CD4-PerCp (RM4-5; BD Pharmigen), and the DO11.10 TCR-specific KJ1-26

MAb conjugated with PE (BD Pharmigen) in PBS containing 0,01% NaN3, 2% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco) and 10 μ g/ml Fc receptor blocking (2.4G2; produced and purified in house). Six color analyses were performed using a LSR Fortessa or a FACSCanto (BD Bioscience) with dual laser (488nm and 633nm) excitation. The analysis gate was set on the forward and side scatters to eliminate cell debris and dead cells.

Bethesda assay. Inhibitory FVIII Abs were measured using the Bethesda assay and reported as Bethesda units/mL as previously described[346]. Briefly, mouse plasma was serially diluted in dilution buffer (Technochrom® FVIII:C, Technoclone, Austria) such that the residual FVIII:C for each sample was between 25% and 75%, mixed 1:1 with pooled normal human plasma (Factor VIII Inhibitor reagent Kit- Bethesda Units), and incubated for 2 hours at 37°C. The remaining FVIII activity was quantified using a chromogenic assay (Technochrom). For all samples, to reduce error in the assay and inconsistency between samples, the reported inhibitor titer in BU/mL was calculated from the dilution of plasma that yielded a residual FVIII:C of approximately 50%. By definition 1 BU/mL is defined as the dilution of plasma containing FVIII inhibitory activity that results in 50% inhibition of FVIII activity (FVIII:C).

Statistical analysis. Statistical significance was determined using the two-tailed non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test and the Spearman test for correlation analysis. Statistical analysis was performed using Prism 4.0 (GraphPad, San Diego, USA) and values of *P*<0.05 were deemed significant (*, *P*<0.05; **, *P*<0.01; ***, *P*<0.001).

Results

hFVIII alum increases the tolerogenicity of anti-CD4 MAb.

Alum has been used as an adjuvant in the formulation of human vaccines since 1926, having been administered to millions of humans to boost immunization[347, 348]. In order to exclude a putative strain influence in the outcome we treated BALB/c and C57BI/6 mice with hFVIII or hFVIII-alum together with a non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb at the indicated time points (Figure 1a). Serum levels of anti-hFVIII IgG1 were measured following additional administrations of hFVIII. Our results confirmed that anti-CD4 treatment only has a moderate impact in preventing the generation of inhibitor antibodies to hFVIII (Figure 1b, c). However, when hFVIII-alum was used at the time of anti-CD4 treatment the concentration of hFVIII-specific antibodies remained significantly reduced even following multiple administrations of hFVIII up to 110 days following the initial treatment. Note that hFVIII-alum is, as anticipated, highly immunogenic due to the adjuvant properties of alum, leading to very high levels of anti-hFVIII immunoglobulins when used in the absence of anti-CD4.

Next we investigated whether the route of administration of hFVIIIalum could influence the tolerance induction. C57BI/6 mice were therefore exposed to hFVIII-alum i.p. (as described above), or through the intramuscular or subcutaneous route. In addition, administration of anti-CD4 and hFVIII was performed i.v. (**Figure 1d**). We found that tolerance could be induced regardless of the route of administration of hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4.

The "depot effect" has been regarded as a possible mechanism by which alum exerts its adjuvanticity[349]. According to this effect, adsorption of hFVIII in Alum would confer a slow release and consequently an increased half-life of hFVIII *in vivo* thus providing stable and long-term antigen presentation. This hypothesis is especially relevant as it has been described that sustained release of peptides, by an implanted osmotic pump, can lead to immune tolerance[350]. We addressed this issue by repeatedly injecting hFVIII every other day for two weeks in presence of anti-CD4 MAb. We found that animals exposed to multiple administrations of hFVIII+anti-CD4 still produced higher titers of anti-hFVIII IgG1 than animals treated with hFVIII-alum+anti-CD4 (**Figure 1e**). Our data show alum is potentiating the tolerogenicity of anti-CD4 MAb by a mechanism independent of the depot effect.



Figure 1. *hFVIII-alum increases the tolerogenicity of anti-CD4 Mab.* (A) C57BI/6 and Balb/c mice were treated with 1 U hFVIII or HFVIII-alum and 2 x 1 mg non-depleting anti-CD4 (or isotype control) on the indicated days, followed by subsequent administrations of 1 U hFVIII as represented. The presence of serum

hFVIII-specific Ig was investigated at days 30, 60, and 90 or 110 following last administration of anti-CD4. (B) Serum concentration of hFVIII-specific lgG1 in C57Bl/6 mice (n=6; **: *p*<0.01), and (C) in Balb/c mice (n=6; *: *p*<0.05; **: *p*<0.01). (D) hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4 were administered according to the schedule represented in (A) through different routes (as indicated in the label). One group of mice remained untreated. All mice were then exposed to hFVIII and serum titres of anti-hFVIII were quantified. Animals that received hFVIII-alum together with anti-CD4 remained tolerant regardless the administration route (n=6; p<0.001). (E) Persistent serum levels of hFVIII did not prevent the generation of hFVIII-specific IgG1 in presence of anti-CD4. C57BI/6 mice were treated with anti-CD4 MAbs in the days indicated above. Some mice were treated with 1 U hFVIII every other day for two weeks. We found that animals exposed to multiple administrations of hFVIII still produced higher titers of anti-hFVIII IgG1 than animals treated with hFVIII-alum (n=6; p<0.001). (F) Administration of the non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb (YTS177.9) does not lead to CD4 T cell depletion. DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} mice were treated with 2 x 1 mg YTS177.9 and splenocytes were examined by flow cytometry for evidence of T cell depletion at day 7 (n=5; p, non-significant).

Although the anti-CD4 MAb has a non-depleting isotype, we confirmed it does not lead to direct T cell depletion *in vivo* by treating DO11.10.Rag2^{-/-} mice with anti-CD4. This way we could circumvent the coating of the CD4 molecule, being able to accurately quantify CD4⁺ T cells by staining their transgenic TCR (identified with KJ26.1 MAbs). We found that the frequency of CD4+ splenocytes at day 7 following anti-CD4 treatment remained unchanged (**Figure 1f**).

Tolerance induction requires IL-10 and is independent of Foxp3+ Treg cells.

We and others have shown that transplantation tolerance can be induced with non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb, in a process that is Foxp3⁺ Treg cell-mediated and TGF β -dependent[39, 159, 340, 351, 352]. In some conditions, IL-10 appears to play a role in transplantation tolerance[351,

353]. In order to study the mechanism by which anti-CD4 MAb induces tolerance in hFVIII-alum treated animals, we used MAbs to block TGF- β or IL-10R at the time of treatment. In addition, another group of animals was treated with a depleting anti-CD25 MAb prior to treatment. We found IL-10R-blockade during the initial two weeks had a dramatic effect in preventing tolerance induction (**Figure 2a**). However, only a modest increase in the concentration of anti-hFVIII IgG1 was observed in mice subjected to depletion of CD25⁺T cells or to neutralization of TGF- β .



Figure 2. Tolerance induction requires IL-10 and is independent of $Foxp3^+$ Treg cells. (A) Mice were treated with hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4 as described in Figure 1A. Different groups were also treated with the indicated MAbs. All mice were exposed to 1 U hFVIII on days 30 and 60. Serum concentrations of hFVIII-specific

IgG1 were determined on days 30, 60, and 90 (n=5; **: p<0.01; ***: p<0.001). (B) Representative dot-plots and (C) quantification of splenic Foxp3⁺ T cells from animals treated with anti-CD4 MAb or an isotype control, at day 90 (n=5; p, non-significant). (D) T/B monoclonal mice (T-Bmc) T-Bmc Foxp3-deficient mice (T-Bmc FoxP3sf), were immunized on days 1 and 14 with OVA-HA-alum in the presence of non-depleting anti-CD4 or an isotype control. Serum HA-specific IgG1 was determined on day 24 (n=5; p<0.001). (E) IL-10^{-/-} and IL-10^{+/+} mice were treated with hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4 MAbs as described above. The serum concentration of hFVIII-specific IgG1 was quantified on day 90 (n=6; p<0.001). (A-E) Data are representative of two independent experiments.

These data suggest Foxp3⁺ Treg cells may only have a minor role in mediating tolerance in our model. In fact, no differences were found in percentages or absolute numbers of CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ cells in the spleen of animals treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 when compared to the positive group (hFVIII-alum + isotype) 90 days after the induction of tolerance (**Figure 2b and 2c**).

Given the fact that experimental mice have a polyclonal T cell repertoire, putative changes in the frequency of antigen-specific Treg cells may be beyond the limit of detection. In addition, anti-CD25 depletion with PC61 is known to spare a significant number of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells[354]. We therefore used Foxp3-deficient mice to directly assess if tolerance to a foreign protein could be induced in the absence of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells. Since Foxp3-deficiency leads to severe autoimmunity we had to perform this experiment in mice devoid of autorreactive T cells. We used T/B Foxp3^{sf} monoclonal mice (T-Bmc FoxP3^{sf}), characterized by monoclonal populations of T and B lymphocytes specific, respectively, for chicken ovalbumin 323–339 (OVA) and heme-aglutinin (HA) of influenza virus[345]. As a consequence, we had to use a cross-linked protein of OVA-HA as a model antigen instead of hFVIII. Treatment of T-Bmc mice with OVA-HA-alum and anti-CD4 MAb

Ana Água-Doce

was equally effective in the presence or absence of functional Foxp3 (Figure 2d).

To further confirm the key role of IL-10 in inducing tolerance to hFVIII, we treated IL10^{-/-} mice with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 MAb. We confirmed that it was not possible to prevent generation of anti-hFVIII IgG1 in IL10^{-/-} mice by treatment with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 (**Figure 2e**).

Taken together, our data show that induction of tolerance to hFVIIIalum in the presence of anti-CD4 MAb is IL-10-dependent.

Non-depleting anti-CD4 induces long-term prevention from inhibitor formation in hemophilia A mice.

To determine if treatment with anti-CD4 could prevent the formation of FVIII inhibitors in hemophilia, we used mice deficient in FVIII (hemophilia A mice, HemA). We treated C57Bl/6 HemA mice with hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4 MAb as described in Figure 1a. Our data show that HemA mice treated with anti-CD4 exhibited low serum concentration of anti-hFVIII IgG1 for 90 days, even after multiple exposures to hFVIII (**Figure 3a**). In addition, we used the Bethesda Assay to measure the titer of FVIII inhibitors at day 90. We found that anti-CD4 treatment successfully prevented the formation of inhibitors in HemA mice (**Figure 3b and 3c**). Similar results were obtained with BALB/c HemA mice (**Figure 3d and 3e**). We also found that in addition to hFVIII-specific IgG1, the hFVIII-exposed HemA mice produced high titres of hFVIII-specific IgG2a and IgG2b, unless mice were treated with anti-CD4 MAb (Supplemental Figure 1). While C57Bl/6 HemA mice predominantly produced IgG1 and IgG2a, BALB/c HemA mice produced lower titres of hFVIII-specific IgG2a but higher titres of IgG2b. Our findings on the different isotype preferences by the two strains of HemA mice are consistent with previous reports[355].

We confirmed that tolerance induction could also be achieved in HemA mice when hFVIII-alum was administered s.c. and the anti-CD4 MAb i.v. (Figure 3f and 3g).



Figure 3. Non-depleting anti-CD4 induces long-term protection from inhibitor formation in hemophilia-A mice. (A) HemA mice were treated with 1 U hFVIII or HFVIII-alum and 2 x 1 mg non-depleting anti-CD4 (or isotype control) on the indicated days, followed by subsequent administrations of 1 U hFVIII as represented. The presence of serum hFVIII-specific Ig was investigated at days 30,

60, and 90 following last administration of anti-CD4 . (B) Quantification of serum hFVIII-specific IgG1 from C57BI/6 Hem-A mice at day 30 and at day 90, following multiple exposures to hFVIII (n=8; p<0.001). (C) Quantification of FVIII inhibitors from the serum of C57Bl/6 mice at day 90 (n=8; p<0.01). (D) Serum hFVIII-specific IgG1 from BALB/c Hem-A mice (n=4; p<0.01). (E) Quantification of hFVIII inhibitors from BALB/c Hem-A mice (n=4; p<0.05). (F) C57Bl/6 HemA mice were treated with hFVIII-alum (either i.p. or s.c.) and anti-CD4 (either i.p. or i.v., respectively), on days 1 and 14. One control group remained untreated, while another was treated with hFVIII + isotype control. Subsequent challenges were done by i.v. administration of hFVIII, in a total of 4 injections, given twice weekly starting on day 21. Quantification of the anti-hFVIII IgG1 levels and (G) Bethesda Units, measured one week after the final exposure to hFVIII (n=6; p<0.05). (H) Quantification of IL-10 concentration in supernatants of splenocytes from C57BI/6 Hem-A mice, collected at day 7 following initial treatment with HFVIII-alum + anti-CD4. The splenocytes were stimulated with anti-CD3 for three days (n=3; p<0.05). (A-E) Data are representative of two independent experiments.

We also found that splenocytes collected from HemA mice treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 when stimulated *in vitro* in presence of anti-CD3 were more prone to produce IL-10 than splenocytes from naïve nonmanipulated mice, or mice treated with an isotype control (**Figure 3h**).

Tolerant mice remain immune competent.

Although the anti-CD4 Mab clone has a non-depleting isotype (i.e. it does not directly lead to T cell lysis), we confirmed that mice treated with anti-CD4 remained immune competent. We used C57Bl/6 mice treated with anti-CD4 as described in Figure 1, but using hFVIII-alum or OVA-alum as the "tolerizing antigen" administered at the time of Mab treatment. We waited five weeks to minimize the potential persistence of antigen or anti-CD4. At day 50 and 64, the mice were exposed to the same or to the other antigen (**Figure 4a**). We found that treatment with anti-CD4

Mab prevented subsequent immunization to the same antigen without suppressing immune responses to the other antigen (**Figure 4b and 4c**). In other words, mice "tolerized" with OVA-alum could respond to subsequent immunization with FVIII-alum, but did not respond to OVA-alum. Conversely, mice "tolerized" with FVIII-alum did not respond to a later challenge with FVIII-alum, but were fully competent to produce antibodies following immunization with OVA-alum.



Figure 4. Non-depleting anti-CD4-treated mice remain immune competent. (A) C57BI/6 mice were treated as described previously with anti-CD4, but using FVIIIalum or OVA-alum as the "tolerizing antigen" administered at the time of Mab treatment. Five weeks following the last MAb infusion the mice were exposed to the same or to the other antigen. Control groups were not treated with anti-CD4. (B) Some mice were immunized with hFVIII-alum on days 50 and 64, and serum hFVIII-specific IgG1 was quantified at day 73. We found that unlike mice initially treated with OVA-alum + anti-CD4, mice treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 remained unresponsive to the subsequent immunization with hFVIII-alum (n=4; p<0.05). (C) Other mice were immunized at day 50 and 64 with OVA-alum, and serum OVA-specific IgG1 was quantified on day 73. Animals initially treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 remained competent to respond to immunization with oVA-alum, unlike mice initially treated with OVA-alum + anti-CD4 that remained tolerant to OVA (n=4; p<0.05). Data are representative of two independent experiments.

These results show that treatment with anti-CD4 does not induce global immune suppression, but rather antigen-specific unresponsiveness.

Anti-CD4 MAb is effective in inducing tolerance following sensitization

Unlike autoimmunity or allergy, in hemophilia there is an opportunity to induce tolerance in advance of immune sensitization, as the first exposure to the antigens is controlled by the clinician. However, since many hemophilia patients do not develop inhibitors, ITI strategies are often required when the patient is already sensitized. Previous studies suggested that CD4-blockade may be effective in sensitized hosts[46]. But hFVIII-specific IgG produced at the time of sensitization, given their long half-life, may obscure the eventual effectiveness of tolerance induction at a later time.

To overcome this limitation, and since it is not feasible, in mice, to remove pre-existing FVIII-specific IgG by plasmapheresis, we developed an experimental setting to address the role of CD4-blockade in pre-sensitized cells in the absence of preformed FVIII-specific IgG (**Figure 5a**).

In brief, C57BI/6 mice were immunized with hFVIII-alum at day 1 and 14, and sacrificed at day 30. This immunization protocol leads to high concentration of hFVIII-specific IgG1 (198.0 \pm 14.7 µg/mI). We collected and pooled T and B cells from spleen, pooled lymph nodes, and bone marrow. The lymphocytes were then adoptively transferred i.v. into congenic Rag2^{-/-} or C57BI/6 recipients. The recipient mice were then treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 Mab, and exposed to additional challenges with hFVIII (**Figure 5a**).

Using Rag2^{-/-} recipients we confirmed that the adoptively transferred primed T and B cells were sufficient to produce anti-hFVIII IgG1 (**Figure 5b**).
However, treatment with anti-CD4 was effective in preventing the production of hFVIII-specific IgG1 by those primed cells (**Figure 5b**).



Figure 5. Anti-CD4 Mab is effective in inducing tolerance following sensitization. (A) C57BI/6 mice were sensitized with hFVIII-alum at day 1 and 14, and sacrificed at day 30. Leukocytes from spleen, pooled lymph nodes, and bone marrow were collected and adoptively transferred i.v. into congenic Rag2^{-/-} or C57BI/6 recipients. The recipient mice were then treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 Mab (or an isotype control) on the day of cell transfer and 14 days later (consistent with protocol represented in Figure 1A), and all groups of mice were

subsequently challenged with 3x 1U hFVIII on days 10, 12, and 14 following the last administration of anti-CD4. (B) Quantification of serum hFVIII-specific IgG1 in Rag2^{-/-} recipient mice. Animals that received primed T and B cells were competent to produce anti-hFVIII lgG1 (n=5; p<0.001), but antibody production was abrogated in mice treated with anti-CD4 (n=5; p<0.001; N.D., not detected). (C) Concentration of serum hFVIII-specific lgG1 in C57Bl/6 mice transferred with primed T and B cells. Animals adoptively transferred with primed cells produced higher levels of hFVIII-specific IgG1 than animals that did not received primed cells (n=5; p<0.001). Treatment with anti-CD4 prevented production of hFVIII-specific IgG1 by the primed lymphocytes (n=5; p<0.001; N.D., not detected). Data are representative of two independent experiments. (D) C57BI/6 mice were sensitized with hFVIII on days 1, 5, 10, and 15, and treated with hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4 (either i.p. or s.c.) on days 35 and 50. Control mice received anti-CD4 without hFVIII. One control group had not been previously exposed to hFVIII. All mice received hFVIII i.v. on days 64, 66, 74, 76, 84, and 86. Quantification of anti-hFVIII IgG1 was performed on the indicated days. Mice treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 (regardless of the route of administration) were protected from production of anti-hFVIII IgG1 following subsequent exposure to hFVIII (n=6; p<0.001).

The adoptive cell transfer into C57BI/6 mice showed that the adoptively transferred cells were indeed primed. Our data show that recipients of primed cells displayed a rapid and high magnitude secondary type immune response following exposure to hFVIII, when compared with control mice that did not receive primed cells, and that displayed a primary response (**Figure 5c**). We also observed that when the primed cells were transferred into C57BI/6 mice, treatment with anti-CD4 Mab prevented production of anti-hFVIII IgG1 (**Figure 5c**).

We then investigated whether hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 could protect mice sensitized to hFVIII from further production of FVIII-specific antibodies. We found that animals exposed to hFVIII when subsequently treated with hFVIII-alum (i.p. or s.c.) + anti-CD4 maintained the serum levels of FVIII-specific IgG1 in spite of repeated administrations of hFVIII (**Figure 5d**). The effect was not due to non-specific effects of anti-CD4, as mice treated with anti-CD4 in the absence of hFVIII responded to subsequent exposure to hFVIII with the production of hFVIII-specific lgG1.

These results demonstrate that anti-CD4 Mab treatment is effective in controlling the response to hFVIII in pre-sensitized animals.

Discussion

Our results show that an adjuvant – alum – can enhance the ability of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb to achieve tolerance to hFVIII. These results can appear counterintuitive as usually adjuvants, such as alum, are used to boost immunity namely leading to production of protective antibodies. It is likely that when tolerance is based on CD4-blockade it will be necessary that the majority of antigen-specific T cells will be exposed to the antigen during the time when the CD4-blocking MAb is present, and with optimal co-stimulation. In this regard, our results on the antigen-specificity of tolerance (Figure 4) also confirm that tolerance is imposed on the lymphocytes that are engaged in antigen recognition at the time of CD4blockade: our data show that exposure to hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 can prevent subsequent immune responses targeting hFVIII, while allowing successful immunization to an unrelated antigen (OVA). Similar results were obtained in the converse experiment: when tolerance is induced with OVA-alum + anti-CD4, the animals can produce antibodies targeting hFVIII, following exposure to the clotting factor. We can conclude that the initial exposure to hFVIII-alum is therefore critical to control the FVIII-specific T cell clones, but does not affect T cell clones with other specificities.

Given the previous reports showing a clear role of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in transplantation tolerance induced with anti-CD4[39, 340, 356], it was surprising to find that tolerance induction to proteins in alum could be achieved in the absence of Foxp3 (Figure 2). We have confirmed that indeed tolerance induction to skin grafts, induced following anti-CD4 MAb treatment, is dependent of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells (data not shown). In the same fashion, several animal models of autoimmunity can be successfully

treated with anti-CD4, by a mechanism that appears to be Foxp3dependent[357]. However, the systemic distribution a protein in alum appears to take advantage of an IL-10-dependent and Treg independent mechanism. This observation may explain the apparently contradictory results from transplantation studies using anti-CD4 for tolerance induction: while studies where a skin graft alone is used tolerance appears to be IL-10-independent and Treg dependent[158, 340]; but studies where donor specific transfusion and a skin graft are used appear to rely on both Treg cells and IL-10[351, 353], suggesting that systemic distribution of the antigen may recruit a IL-10-mediated tolerogenic mechanism. It remains to be established the reason for the absolute requirement of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in transplantation tolerance[356], while the same clone of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb leads to Foxp3-independent immune tolerance in hemophilia.

By neutralizing IL-10R *in vivo* during the first two weeks of anti-CD4 treatment we could infer the participation of IL-10 in the mechanism leading to tolerance, but we could also establish the importance of that initial period for tolerance induction (Figure 2). This observation is consistent with the need to impose tolerance in antigen-specific cells during a window of time, after which the immune system regains the ability to respond to foreign antigens, as discussed above. In addition, by showing that repeated administrations of hFVIII (without alum) during those initial two weeks did not lead to long-term tolerance, as we observed when hFVIII-alum was used (Figure 1C), allowed us to exclude that tolerance facilitation by alum could be simply due to the "depot effect" leading to greater half-life of the antigen.

A usual concern in transplantation tolerance experiments is the influence of the genetic background in the results[229]. Some strains, namely C3H and CBA/Ca are known to be more permissive to the induction of transplantation tolerance than other strains like C57BI/6 and BALB/c. In order to evaluate whether tolerance to hFVIII was strain-specific, we confirmed that long-term tolerance to hFVIII could be achieved in C57BI/6 and BALB/c mice, and in mice from those two strains deficient in FVIII (HemA mice). When we used hemophilic mice we could directly document the physiological impact of FVIII inhibitors, not only by their quantification using the Bethesda assay but also by our subjective assessment of bleeding from those mice. Treatment with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 led to long-term protection from the generation of inhibitors in the two strains of hemophilic mice.

Several other MAbs targeting T cell co-receptors (namely anti-CD3) and co-stimulatory molecules have been shown effective in inducing immune tolerance in transplantation, autoimmunity, and allergic diseases[339, 358]. Recently it was reported that antibodies targeting CD3 can induce long-term tolerance to FVIII in hemophilic mice[359]. In addition, MAb targeting ICOS are effective in inducing long term tolerance to hFVIII in mice, following gene therapy[343]. Concerning non-depleting anti-CD4 there is, however, one special case of successful induction of long-term tolerance to foreign proteins in the absence of adjuvant – it is when the foreign protein is an immunoglobulin. In fact in some of the earliest demonstrations that non-depleting anti-CD4 can induce tolerance to foreign antigens, immunoglobulins (Ig) from different animal species were used as the tolerizing antigen[146, 147]. It is likely that the special tolerogenicity of foreign Ig compared with FVIII represents the fact that

antigen presenting cells can capture foreign Ig with specific Fc receptors for efficient presentation.

Given the promising pre-clinical results, anti-CD4 MAb was among the very first MAb to enter clinical trials[329, 330]. The outcome of those early clinical trials was disappointing, which led to the search for alternative tolerance-inducing strategies. In retrospect, however, it is possible that the low efficacy was due to immaturity of the field. In fact, clinical trials in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis were not performed with humanized MAb, and the low efficacy correlated well with the generation of Ig targeting the therapeutic MAb[331]. In addition, a well known clinical trial in asthma a different anti-CD4 MAb was used (keliximab) that caused significant T cell depletion[323]. More recently, pre-clinical studies with a humanized non-depleting anti-CD4 have shown it could induce tolerance in non-human primates to foreign Ig[217]. It is possible that the use of alum as an adjuvant, as we now describe, will allow tolerance induction to hFVIII but also to other therapeutic recombinant proteins, namely in enzyme replacement therapy.

It is well established that the primed immune system is more resistant to tolerance inducing strategies. Nevertheless, most clinical situations would require tolerance induction in an immunized individual. In hemophilia, FVIII inhibitors are only produced in a proportion of patients. Therefore, tolerance induction should only be initiated in the patients that would require this intervention, and those patients can only be identified after the onset of inhibitors. However, the study of tolerance inducing strategies in mice previously immunized to hFVIII has been difficult due to the long half-life of hFVIII-specific IgG – the experimental readout. As a consequence, most studies in mice are restricted to the ability to induce tolerance at the time of the initial exposure to hFVIII – an event that is controlled by the clinician. We developed an experimental system to study the effect of hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 on the primed immune system (Figure 5). Instead of removing pre-existent hFVIII-specific IgG by plasmapheresis – something that we could not do in mice – we transferred primed immune cells to a new host. This way it became possible to confirm that our protocol could prevent *de novo* production of hFVIII-specific antibodies by the primed cells. Such adoptive cell transfer system is unlikely to reproduce in its entirety the characteristics of a primed immune system. However, given the fact that anti-CD4 is able to prevent allergic airways disease in mice pre-sensitized to an allergen (house dust mite), it is likely that following clearance of circulating hFVIII inhibitors treatment with hFVIIIalum + anti-CD4 will prevent subsequent antibody production. Consistent with our data, a report has shown that MAbs targeting ICOS and CD154 can prevent memory plasma cells to respond to FVIII[360].

Taken together our results show that alum, in spite of its common use to boost immune responses, can be effective in enhancing the ability of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb to induce long-term and antigen-specific tolerance to hFVIII in mice. The tolerogenic mechanism relies on IL-10 and is independent of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells. We believe that the use of alum, or other adjuvants, may constitute a strategy that could be applied to different immunogenic therapeutic proteins and other tolerance-inducing MAbs. In this case, our findings may be of interest beyond the field of hemophilia, namely in regard to enzyme replacement therapy.

Supplementary Figures



Supplementary Figure 1. Non-depleting anti-CD4 prevents production of *hFVIII-specific IgG2a and IgG2b in HemA mice*. C57BI/6 HemA (A, C) or BALB/c HemA mice (B, D) were treated with hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4 MAb (or an isotype control) as described in Figure 1A. The serum titres of hFVIII-specific IgG2a (A, B) or IgG2b (C, D) were quantified by ELISA at days 30 and 110 post-initial treatment. (A) The titre of hFVIII-specific IgG2a from C57BI/6 HemA mice, at day 30 and at day 90, following multiple exposures to hFVIII, was significantly reduced in mice treated with anti-CD4 (n=8; p<0.001). (B) In BALB/c HemA mice there was no detectable hFVIII-specific IgG2a at day 30, but at day 90 there was a significant titre in mice treated with the isotype control (n=8; p<0.001). (C) Serum hFVIII-specific IgG2b remained low in C57BI/6 HemA mice throughout the experiment (n=8; non-significant). (D) BALB/c HemA mice displayed a significant increase in the serum titres of hFVIII-specific IgG2b at day 90, that was prevented following treatment with anti-CD4 (n=8; p<0.001).

Induction of Foxp3-independent dominant transplantation tolerance - Boosting immune tolerance by activation of complementary regulatory mechanisms

Introduction

Since the pioneering work of Medawar and colleagues several protocols have been proposed to achieve transplantation tolerance in the adult [352, 361-363]. One way to achieve robust tolerance is based on the induction of hematopoietic chimerism following transplantation of donor hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), leading to a recessive state of tolerance independent of Foxp3⁺ regulatory T (Treg) cells [364]. Other approaches, namely the use of monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) targeting T cell correceptors (CD3 or CD4) or co-stimulation (CD154), could lead to dominant transplantation tolerance in several animal models [142, 162, 365-368]. Such dominant tolerance was found to be associated with the peripheral induction of Foxp3+ Treg cells [340, 369]. In fact, it has been shown that Foxp3-deficient mice cannot be tolerized with protocols leading to dominant tolerance, such as non-depleting anti-CD4 [370].

Many MAbs that can induce dominant transplantation tolerance were also shown able to induce tolerance in autoimmunity, often associated with the induction of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells [371, 372], as well as tolerance to allergens or model antigens [373, 374]. We became interested in the mechanisms leading to tolerance induction to antigens, and how adjuvants may influence the process following our observations that it is possible to induce tolerance to a protein with anti-CD4 in a mouse model of allergic airways disease [374], but difficult to induce tolerance to factor VIII (FVIII) with the same MAb (or with anti-CD154) in a mouse model of hemophilia [341, 342]. In fact, when the same antigen (FVIII) is expressed in tissues following gene therapy it can be readily tolerized [343]

We therefore investigated the mechanisms leading to tolerance to a defined antigen (ovalbumin, OVA) when delivered as part of a skin graft (from OVA-actin transgenic mice) or delivered as OVA-alum i.p. We used OVA-specific TCR transgenic mice in two different genetic backgrounds (OT-II and DO11.10) and the same tolerance-inducing method (non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb).

Given the known association of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells and dominant tolerance, it was surprising to find that unlike tolerance to OVA-expressing skin grafts, the induction of tolerance to OVA-alum under CD4-blockade was Foxp3-independent as it could be induced in Foxp3-deficient mice. In this setting the tolerance induction triggered the reduction of the number of effector T cells, and simultaneously led to a IL-10-dependent tolerance state. It may therefore be possible to take advantage of Foxp3independent tolerance protocols to boost the efficacy of tolerancedependent tolerance induction.

Materials and methods

Animals. C57BI/6, BALB/c, C57BL/6-Tg(ACTB-OVA)916Jen/J (Jackson Laboratories), OT-II.Rag1^{-/-} (Taconic), DO11.10.Rag1^{-/-} (Jackson Laboratories), C57BI/6.IL-10^{-/-}, C57BI/6.Rag2^{-/-}, OT-II, DO11.10 and Wsh/Wsh mice were bred and maintained under specific pathogen-free (SPF) facilities at the Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência. Experimental animals were sex-matched and between 6 and 8 weeks of age. The T/B monoclonal mice (T-Bmc, 17/9 DO11.10.RAG1^{-/-}) bear monoclonal populations of T and B lymphocytes specific for chicken ovalbumin (OVA) 323–339 and HA of influenza virus, respectively [345]. These mice were kept under SPF conditions at the Skirball Institute Central Animal Facility, New York University Medical Center.

Transplantation. Transplantation experiments were conducted by grafting full thickness skin on the lateral flank of recipient mice. Grafts were observed daily and considered rejected when no viable donor skin was present. Procedures were conducted in accordance with guidelines from the Animal Use and Institutional Ethical Committees and approved by Direcção Geral de Veterinaria or New York University School of Medicine Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (New York).

Sensitization. Animals were sensitized, at the times described in the text, by i.p. injection of 10 μ g of ovalbumin (OVA, grade V; Sigma, St Louis, USA) or β -lactoglobulin (Sigma), previously run through a DetoxyGel column (Pierce, Rockford, USA) following manufacturer instructions, and suspended in 2.0 mg of endotoxin-free aluminum hydroxide (Alu-gel-S, Serva, Heidelberg, Germany). Mice were intranasally challenged with 50 μ g

of OVA in pyrogen-free saline and sacrificed 24 hours after the last challenge.

Antibodies. Non-depleting anti-CD4 (YTS177) [153] and the isotype control rat anti-dog CD4 (YKIX302) MAbs were produced in our laboratory using Integra CL1000 flasks (IBS, Chur, Switzerland), and purified from culture supernatants by 50% ammonium sulfate precipitation, dialyzed against PBS, and the purity checked by native and SDS gel electrophoresis. The hybridomas were generously provided by Professor Herman Waldmann (Oxford, UK).

Bronchoalveolar Lavage (BAL). The airways were washed through the trachea by slowly infusing and withdrawing 1 ml of cold PBS 10% BSA (Sigma) three times. Eosinophilia was quantified by flow cytometry using GR-1-FITC (eBiosciences, San Diego, CA, USA), CCR3-APC (BD Pharmingen, San Diego, USA), and MHC-class II-Percp.Cy5.5 (eBiosciences, San Diego, CA, USA), with the eosinophils identified based on the SSC/FSC profile and as the GR1intMHCclass II-CCR3- cells [326].

Histology. Lungs were perfused with 4% formalin solution (Sigma), collected and sectioned. Staining was performed using hematoxilin/eosin, and mucus containing cells were revealed using a periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) stain. Photographs were taken using a Leica DM2500 microscope and a Leica DFC420 camera.

Quantification of immunoglobulins and cytokines. Serum titers of OVAspecific IgG1, IgG2a, and IgE were measured by ELISA using the following kits: IgG1 and IgG2a (SouthernBiotech, Birmingham, USA) with anti-OVA IgG1 standard from Serotec, Oxford, UK; IgE (BD-Pharmingen) with anti-OVA IgE standard from Abcam (Cambridge, UK). Cytokine titers were determined in fresh lung tissue homogenate supernatants. Lung tissue was collected, homogenized in 100 mg/ml in HBSS (Gibco, Carlsbad, USA), centrifuged at 800g for 10 min and the supernatant collected. The ELISA assays were performed according to manufacturer's instructions using the following kits: IL-13(Peprotech, London, UK); IL-4 and IL-5 (BD-Pharmingen).

CFSE staining and adoptive cell transfers. Single cell suspensions from spleen and LN from DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} mice were ressuspended at 5×10^7 cells/ml and stained with 5 μ M of Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA). The cells were washed, ressuspended in saline and injected i.v., in the tail vein of BALB/c mice at a total of 3.5×10^7 cells per animal.

Flow cytometry. Cells were stained for flow cytometric analysis with CD25-AlexaFluor488 (PC61; produced and conjugated in house), CD25-PE-Cy7 (PC61.5; eBioscience), CD3-PE-Cy7 (145-2C11; eBioscience), CD8-APC-AlexaFluor750 (53-6.7;), CD4-PerCp (RM4-5; BD Pharmigen), the DO11.10 TCR-specific KJ1-26 MAb conjugated with PE or APC (BD Pharmigen) and V β 5.1/5.2 TCR-FITC (MR9-4; eBioscience) plus Vα2 TCR-eFluor 450 (B20.1; eBioscience) were used to determine the TCR transgenic populations in the OT-II mice. Cells were then washed and fixed using Foxp3 Staining Set (eBioscience). The cells were stained for intracellular cytokines and Foxp3 with Foxp3-APC (FJK-16s; eBioscience), IFN-γ-FITC (XMG1.2; eBioscience), IL-13-PE (eBio13A; eBioscience), IL-4-FITC (BVD6-24G2; eBioscience) and IL-5-APC (TRF K5; BD Pharmigen). Apoptotic cells were identified with Annexin V-biotin (BD Pharmigen) and Streptavidin-APC-Cy7 (eBioscience) labeled in Annexin V Binding Buffer (BD Pharmigen) according to manufacturer protocol. Propidium iodide solution was added right before

the cells were analyzed. Four and six color analyses were performed using a LSR Fortessa (BD Bioscience). The analysis gate was set on the forward and side scatters to eliminate cell debris and dead cells.

Statistical analysis. Statistical significance was determined using the two-tailed non-parametric Mann-Whitney test and the log rank method. Statistical analysis was performed using Prism 4.0 (GraphPad, San Diego, USA) and P values <0.05 were deemed significant (*, P<0.05; **, P<0.01; ***, P<0.001).

Results

CD4-blockade can induce immune tolerance to OVA in TCRtransgenic mice.

We have previously shown that long-term antigen-specific tolerance to allergens (house dust mite) can be achieved in mice [374]. The cellular and molecular mechanism underlying the tolerance state remained, however, to be elucidated. In order to follow the fate of antigen-specific cells as tolerance is established we used TCR-transgenic mice. We first investigated in DO11.10 mice whether tolerance to a model antigen (OVA) could still be induced when most of the T cell repertoire is directed towards that antigen. We found that CD4-blockade could prevent allergic airways disease induced with OVA in OVA-specific TCR-transgenic mice (Figure 1). DO11.10 mice treated with non-depleting anti-CD4 were protected from peri-bronchiolar inflammatory infiltrates and hyperplasia of goblet cells (Figure 1A) as well as airways eosinophilia (Figure 1B). Furthermore the titers of OVA-specific IgG1 and IgE were significantly reduced in anti-CD4-treated mice (Figure 1D, E). We also found that CD4-blockade prevented an increase in the concentration of Th2-type cytokines (IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13) compared to animals treated with an isotype control (Figure 1F). We confirmed that these results are reproducible in a distinct genetic background using OT-II mice, a second strain of OVA-specific TCR-transgenic animals (Supplemental Figure 1). Note that the isotype of the anti-CD4 MAb is non-depleting as we have shown, for instance, by showing that it does not lead to alteration of the number of CD4 T cells *in vivo* that are not engaged in an immune response at the time of antibody treatment [372].



Figure 1. Tolerance induction with non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb is robust enough to prevent allergic airways disease in TCR transgenic mice. (A) OVA-specific female DO11.10 mice were sensitized with 20 µg OVA-alum i.p. and challenged with 50 µg OVA in saline i.n. on the indicated days. Some animals were treated with 1 mg anti-CD4 or an isotype control. Naive animals, not subjected to any intervention, were also studied as a control group. (B) Histological sections of lung tissue were stained with haematoxylin/eosin (left) and PAS (right). Airways from anti-CD4 treated mice show a reduction in the inflammatory infiltrate and an absence of goblet cell hyperplasia. Scale bar: 100 µm (25 µm in the inset). (C) Mice treated with anti-CD4 have a reduced number of eosinophils in the BAL (n=6, P<0.01). (D) The serum levels of OVA-specific lgG1 and (E) lgE are significantly reduced in anti-CD4 treated mice (n=6, P<0.001). (F) The concentration of Th2type cytokines (IL-4, IL-13 and IL-13) in lung homogenates were markedly diminished in anti-CD4 treated mice (n=6, **P<0.01 or ***P<0.001). (A-F) Data are representative of two independent experiments. Overall, these results show that CD4-blockade is able to prevent allergic airways disease, even in TCR-transgenic mice where most T cells are specific to the antigen driving the pathology.

Immune tolerance to OVA is Foxp3-independent

Given the high frequency of OVA-specific T cells, and the ability to identify these cells, it was possible to monitor changes in the frequency of OVA-specific T cells with different functional characteristics. Mice treated with anti-CD4 MAb showed a reduced frequency of Th2-type OVA-specific T cells in the mediastinal lymph nodes (MLN) (Figure 2A). In addition, these animals did not show an increased number of Th1 IFN- γ^+ cells (Figure 2A). We also found that the frequency of OVA-specific Foxp3⁺ Treg cells did not change with the tolerogenic treatment (Figure 2B). Furthermore, DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} mice, devoid of thymic derived Foxp3⁺ Treg cells [4], subjected to the same tolerance induction protocol did not develop detectable Foxp3⁺ T cells in the spleen or LNs (Figure 2C).

Previous studies in transplantation have implicated the de novo generation of Foxp3+ Treg cells, in a TGF- β -dependent process, in tolerance induced with anti-CD4 or co-stimulation blockade [340, 369]. Furthermore, mast cells were shown to be critical for the establishment of such transplantation tolerance [375].

We used mast cell deficient Wsh/Wsh mice, with a mutant allele at the W (c-kit) locus, to investigate whether mast cells were required for tolerance induction [376, 377]. The sensitization protocol was slightly modified in order to maximize airways inflammation in the C57BI/6 genetic

background, with three injections of 10 µg OVA-alum on days 1, 7, and 14. The animals received three i.p. injections of MAb on days 0, 2, and 14. We observed that mast cell deficient mice treated with anti-CD4 are protected from airways allergic inflammation to the same extent as littermates with normal numbers of mast cells (Figure 2D).



Figure 2. *CD4-blockade leads to reduction of Th2 cells without concomitant Treg expansion*. (A) OVA-specific T cells in MLN containing IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 from animals treated with anti-CD4 MAb were reduced to numbers similar to mice not

exposed to OVA (n=6, **P<0.01), while the number of IFN- v^+ OVA-specific T cells did not increase. (B) The frequency of OVA-specific Foxp 3^{+} Treg cells remained unchanged in anti-CD4 treated mice. (C) There is no induction of Foxp3⁺ cells in DO11.10 Rag^{-/-} animals treated with anti-CD4 MAb (D) Tolerance to OVA can be induced in mast cell deficient mice. We quantified BAL eosinophils from mast celldeficient Wsh/Wsh mice and wild-type (WT) littermates sensitized in the presence of anti-CD4 or an isotype control (as described in Figure 1A). Protection from airways eosinophilia following CD4-blockade was similar in both groups of mice (n=4, *** P<0.001). (E) BALB/c mice, treated as described in Figure 1A, were also injected with 1 mg of a neutralizing anti-TGF-B MAb on days -1, 2, 7, 13, 15. Neutralizing MAbs did not abrogate the protective effect of CD4-blockade (n=6. *P<0.05). (F) Eosinophils in the BAL of T-Bmc Foxp3sf mice and T-Bmc Foxp3sufficient littermates sensitized with OVA-HA-alum and challenged with OVA-HA i.n. according to the protocol described in Figure 1A. CD4-blockade prevented BAL eosinophilia in Foxp3-deficient mice, as well as in Foxp3 sufficient controls (n=8, P<0.001). (G) We also confirmed that Foxp3 deficient mice treated with anti-CD4 had low levels of serum IgE (n=8, P<0.001). (H) Furthermore, the antigen-specific T cells (TCR transgenic) from Foxp3-deficient mice exposed to CD4-blockade did not polarize towards an IL-4, IL-5 or IFN-y producing phenotype (n=8, P<0.001). (A-H) Data are representative of two independent experiments.

We also neutralized TGF- β (using the MAb 1D11) in BALB/c mice during tolerance induction. This neutralization did not hamper protection from allergic airways disease (Figure 2E).

In order to definitely exclude a contribution for Foxp3⁺ Treg cells from tolerance induction with anti-CD4 we used T-Bmc.Rag^{-/-} mice deficient in Foxp3 (T-Bmc Foxp3^{sf}) [326]. These mice bear OVA-specific TCR transgenic T cells and HA-specific BCR knock-in B cells. They do not develop an autoimmune condition in the absence of Foxp3 since all their lymphocytes are monoclonal and non-self reactive. These mice were sensitized with OVA-HA-alum i.p., and latter exposed to OVA-HA i.n. Foxp3-deficient animals treated with anti-CD4 displayed similar protection from allergic airways disease as Foxp3 sufficient littermates (Figure 2F). The Foxp3

deficient animals were also prevented from generating IgE and did not display an increase in Th2 cells in MedLN (Figure 2G, H).

Tolerance induction to OVA-expressing skin grafts in TCR-transgenic mice with CD4-blockade is Foxp3-dependent

Given that our data on tolerance induction is independent of Foxp3 in OVA-specific TCR transgenic mice, is in apparent contradiction with previous reports showing transplantation tolerance in TCR-transgenic mice is Foxp3 dependent [340, 369], we assessed whether in OVA-specific TCR-transgenic mice tolerance could be induced to OVA-expressing skin grafts. We transplanted OT-II.Rag^{-/-} mice with skin from OVA-actin transgenic mice. The animals were treated with 1 mg anti-CD4 (or isotype control) on day 0 and 2 after transplantation. We found CD4-blockade induced long-term skin graft survival (Figure 3A), with these mice showing a population of induced Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in draining LN and spleen (Figure 3B). To prove the Foxp3-dependency of transplantation tolerance we repeated the experiment with Foxp3-deficient OT-II.Rag^{-/-}.Foxp3^{sc} mice. We found that animals lacking functional Foxp3 could not be tolerized and readily rejected the skin grafts (Figure 3C).



Figure 3. Acceptance of OVA-expressing skin grafts by TCR-transgenic mice following CD4-blockade is Foxp3-dependent. (A) OT-II.Rag^{-/-} mice were transplanted with skin grafts from OVA-actin transgenic mice in the presence of anti-CD4 MAb or an isotype control. Treatment with anti-CD4 led to long term acceptance of skin grafts in most animals (**■**, n=6, median survival time (MST)>100 versus • MST=10d in the isotype control group; ****P*<0.001). (B) We observed the emergence of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in the animals tolerized to OVA-expressing skin grafts (n=6, *P*<0.05). (C) The same experimental protocol in Foxp3-deficient OT-II.Rag^{-/-}.Scurfy mice failed to prolong graft survival (**■**, n=4, MST=13d). Transplant rejection occurred at the same time as control OT-II.Rag^{-/-} (\circ , n=4, MST=12d) or OT-II.Rag^{-/-}.Scurfy mice (•, n=4, MST=13d) treated with an isotype control. (A-C) Data are representative of two independent experiments.

Tolerance induction with OVA-alum + anti-CD4 has a recessive and dominant component

To investigate the impact of anti-CD4 treatment in T cell proliferation and survival, CFSE-labeled OVA-specific T cells from DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} mice were adoptively transferred into BALB/c mice. The host animals were sensitized with OVA-alum i.p. in the presence or absence of anti-CD4 treatment. Lung, mediastinal LN (MLN), mesenteric LN, and spleen T cells were isolated at day 4 and 7 following treatment and analyzed by flow cytometry.

Consistent with a recent report on T cell response to OVA-alum administered i.p. [378], MLN displayed the highest number of T cells responding to the antigen. An observation of the CFSE dilution profile in OVA-specific T cells isolated from MLN may suggest that anti-CD4 treatment prevents T cell proliferation, as the undivided cells are a greater proportion of the TCR-transgenic population unlike in mice injected with OVA alone (Figure 4A). But if anti-CD4 would exclusively target T cell proliferation one would expect the absolute number of TCR transgenic cells recovered from the undivided CFSE gate to be similar in mice treated with anti-CD4 and animals not exposed to OVA where cells do not divide at all. The enumeration of undivided and divided TCR transgenic cells from the different experimental groups does not support the hypothesis of inhibition of proliferation (Figure 4B). In fact, the number of undivided cells from anti-CD4 treated animals was remarkably similar to animals treated with OVA alone, where extensive proliferation does occur, and significantly lower than animals not treated with OVA. The difference between OVA and OVA + anti-CD4 treated groups is not in the undivided T cells but rather on the accumulation of T cells that underwent cell divisions. Given these data, either the anti-CD4 treatment is targeting the deletion of undivided cells or inducing the cell death of T cells entering cell cycle.

The analysis of the TCR transgenic cells positive for the apoptosis marker annexin V showed that the frequency of apoptotic cells was similar between undivided cells from all experimental groups (Figure 4C). Only the cells undergoing cell divisions from anti-CD4 treated mice had a significant increase in the frequency of apoptotic cells. As a consequence, besides a possible effect on T cell proliferation, anti-CD4 treatment preferentially induces the apoptosis of activated cells.



Figure 4. Tolerance induction with anti-CD4 leads to reduction of effector T cells and emergence of an anergic and regulatory T cell population. Splenic and LN T cells from DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} mice were stained with CFSE and injected i.v. into sexmatched BALB/c hosts. Recipient mice were then treated with OVA-alum i.p. in presence or absence of anti-CD4. Control animals were not exposed to OVA. (A) Analysis of MLN at day 4. Dot plots were gated on CD3⁺ T cells. The numbers represent the frequency of T cells within the TCR transgenic cells. (B) Absolute number of DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} cells recovered from MLN contained in each of the CFSE

regions displayed in (A). The difference in cell frequency between undivided cells from mice not injected with OVA is significantly higher than T cells from mice treated with OVA or OVA+anti-CD4 (n=5, *P<0.05). (C) Frequency of apoptotic cells (labelled with annexin V) within cells that did not divide or cells that have divided. The frequency of apoptotic cells is significantly higher within the T cells undergoing cell divisions from anti-CD4 treated animals (n=5, P<0.05). (D, E) In vitro proliferation of CFSE labelled OVA-specific T cells from DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} mice (naive, or sensitized with OVA with or without anti-CD4) following three day culture in presence of DCs from BALB/c mice and OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ peptide. OVA-specific T cells from mice tolerized with anti-CD4 show impaired proliferative ability (n=6, ***P<0.001). (F. G) Proliferation of CFSE-labelled T cells from naive OT-II.Rag^{-/-} mice co-cultured for three days with T cells sorted from naïve, isotype, or anti-CD4 treated DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} mice. Stimulation was provided by DCs from (BALB/c x C57BI/6) F1 mice loaded with OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ peptide. The OVA-specific T cells sorted from mice tolerized to OVA, but not from other mice, were able to prevent proliferation of effector OT-II cells (n=6, **P<0.01).

However, some antigen-specific cells can still be isolated from tolerant mice, particularly when tolerance is induced in TCR-transgenic mice. We therefore investigated the *in vitro* properties of OVA-specific T cells from DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} mice tolerized with the protocol described. By labeling the cells with CFSE and incubating those with OVA loaded bone marrow DCs; we could compare the proliferative ability of the OVA-specific T cells isolated from naive mice, mice sensitized with OVA-alum, or animals treated with anti-CD4 at the time of OVA-alum sensitization. We found that cells from tolerized mice proliferated less than T cells from the other two groups with a significant arrest in a non proliferative state (Figure 4D, E).

To investigate whether these cells are suppressive, we labeled OVAspecific T cells from naive OT-II mice with CFSE, and incubated these responder cells with OVA-specific cells from DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} mice (naive, sensitized with OVA-alum, or tolerized with OVA-alum + anti-CD4). The antigen presenting cells were OVA-loaded DCs from (BALB/c x C57Bl/6) F_1 mice, able to present OVA-peptides both in the context of H-2^b and H-2^d (therefore excluding a possible competition effect of both T cell populations for the same MHC molecules). We found that T cells from tolerant mice moderately suppress the proliferation of responder OT-II cells (Figure 4F, G).

Taken together, these data show that CD4-blockade induces a significant reduction of effector T cell numbers by apoptosis and, simultaneously, the surviving T cells display moderate anergic and suppressive properties.

IL-10 is critical for tolerance induction

We then investigated whether the dominant component of the tolerance state was IL-10 dependent. For that we compared tolerance induction to OVA-expressing skin grafts or to OVA-alum in WT and IL-10-deficient hosts.

In transplantation experiments we found that transplantation tolerance could be readily achieved in WT mice but not in IL-10-/- mice treated with anti-CD4 (Figure 5A).

Similarly, when IL-10^{-/-} mice were sensitized with OVA-alum i.p. in presence of anti-CD4 they did not become protected from allergic airways disease as it was manifest by airways eosinophilia (Figure 5B).



Figure 5. Induction of immune tolerance with anti-CD4 is IL-10-dependent. (A) IL-10^{-/-} mice and WT controls were transplanted with skin grafts from OVA-actin transgenic mice in the presence of anti-CD4 MAb. The grafts were rejected in anti-CD4-treated IL-10^{-/-} mice (\blacksquare , n=5, MST=13d) at the same time as in untreated WT (\Box , n=6, MST=12d) or untreated IL-10^{-/-} mice (\bullet , n=5, MST=13d). (B) Allergic airways disease was induced in IL-10^{-/-} mice and WT controls, some animals were treated with non-depleting anti-CD4 as described in Figure 1A. We used BAL eosinophilia as a surrogate marker of allergic airways disease. We found that CD4-blockade could prevent airways eosinophilia in WT but not in IL-10^{-/-} mice (n=6, ****P*<0.001).

Tolerance induction to OVA-alum can lead to OVA-expressing skin graft acceptance

Given the different requirement of Foxp3 expression when tolerance was induced to an OVA-expressing skin graft or to OVA-alum administered i.p. we investigated whether transplant acceptance or protection from allergic airways disease required a specific type of tolerance induction. First, we induced tolerance to OVA-expressing skin graft in C57BI/6 mice, as described above. Then, at day 30 transplanted mice treated with anti-CD4 (all with surviving skin grafts) or treated with an isotype control (all rejected) were sensitized with OVA-alum i.p. and subsequently challenged with OVA i.n. as represented in Figure 6A. The challenge with OVA-alum did not lead to graft rejection and the tolerant mice were protected from airways eosinophilia to the same extent as mice treated with anti-CD4 at the time of OVA-alum sensitization (Figure 6C).

We then performed the converse experiment: C57BI/6 mice were tolerized to OVA-alum or the unrelated antigen β -lactoglobulin (β -Lg)-alum by concomitant treatment with anti-CD4 MAb (Figure 6D). At day 30 following the last administration of the antigen all mice were transplanted with OVA-expressing skin grafts. We found that mice tolerized to OVAalum i.p. accepted the OVA expressing skin grafts. On the contrary, mice treated with anti-CD4 in presence of an unrelated antigen (β -Lg) readily rejected the OVA-expressing skin grafts.

These data show that the tolerance state is antigen specific (as mice tolerized β -Lg do not support survival of grafts bearing a different antigen), and also show that tolerant mice remain competent to mount immune responses to unrelated antigens.



Figure 6. Tolerance induction to OVA-alum can lead to subsequent skin graft acceptance. (A) C57BI/6 mice received skin grafts from OVA-actin transgenic mice in the presence of anti-CD4 MAb. On day 30 after transplantation the mice were sensitized with OVA-alum i.p. and challenged with OVA i.n. according to the scheme. (B) Mice tolerant to OVA-expressing skin grafts did not reject the transplants following sensitization with OVA-alum at day 30 and 44 (n=6, MST=12d vs. MST>60d, ***P<0.001). (C) Mice tolerant to an OVA-expressing skin graft were resistant to the induction of allergic airways disease with the same antigen, to the same extent as mice treated with anti-CD4 at the time of OVA-alum exposure. On the contrary, those animals that had rejected the skin graft had more exacerbated BAL eosinophilia (n=6, MST=12d, ***P<0.001). (D) C57BI/6 mice were tolerized to OVA-alum or β -LG-alum by concomitant administration of anti-CD4. On the day 30 following last MAb infusion these animals were transplanted with skin grafts from OVA-actin transgenic mice. (E) Tolerance induction with OVA-alum and anti-CD4 30 days prior to transplantation was sufficient for long-term graft acceptance in the absence of additional treatment (■, n=6, MST>60, P<0.01). However, mice tolerized to an unrelated third-party antigen (β -LG) rejected their grafts at the same time as animals that did not receive anti-CD4 (\bullet and \blacktriangle , n=6, MST=14d).

Discussion

Our data show that the same tolerance-inducing agent (non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb) can trigger different mechanisms leading to dominant tolerance depending on the context by which the antigen is presented to the immune system. Using TCR transgenic mice it was possible to demonstrate that tolerance to an antigen in a skin graft requires the peripheral induction of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells, while the delivery of the same antigen through the i.p. route with an adjuvant (alum) triggers a Foxp3-independent tolerance mechanism that relies on IL-10 and apoptosis of effector cells.

Our data demonstrates the critical role of the context in which an antigen is perceived by the immune system for therapeutic induction of tolerance. In fact, it has been paradoxical that the same reagents (such as non-depleting anti-CD4 or anti-154) can readily induce transplantation tolerance to multiple alloantigens [162, 366], including major antigens [162, 366], fail to achieve long-term tolerance to single proteins in the same mouse strains [341, 342]. However, the same antigen (FVIII) that is not tolerized when administered i.v. in the absence of adjuvants [341, 342], appears to be easier to tolerize when expressed in tissues following transduction with viral vectors [343]. Our previous findings showing that robust dominant tolerance can be induced to allergens (house dust mite) in alum [374] raised the hypothesis that it is necessary some adjuvanticity to achieve tolerance with MAbs that target T cell co-receptors or costimulation. Such adjuvanticity can be provided by tissue inflammation (in transplantation or viral transduction) or with the use of an adjuvant like alum.

When we investigated the mechanisms leading to immune tolerance induced with OVA-alum administration under CD4-blockade it came as a surprise that the tolerance state was Foxp3-independent. In fact, most studies using anti-CD4 (or MAbs targeting other T cell molecules) have shown that tolerance was a consequence of peripheral Foxp3⁺ Treg induction and could not be induced in the absence of functional Foxp3 [340, 370]. Importantly, the tolerance state achieved is long term, as mice tolerized with OVA-alum + anti-CD4 accept indefinitely OVA-expressing skin grafts at a later time as shown in Figure 6. In addition the tolerance state is antigen specific and not due to persistence of the toleranceinducing MAbs, because mice tolerized with β -LG-alum + anti-CD4 reject OVA-expressing skin grafts. These data also demonstrate that tolerant animals remain immunecompetent to mount immune responses towards unrelated antigens.

By performing adoptive cell transfers of OVA-specific T cells into WT mice, we could follow the fate of antigen-specific cells as tolerance is induced. We found that CD4-blockade at the time of exposure to the antigen as an effect not only restricted to inhibition of proliferation but also favors apoptosis of the cells as they enter cell cycle. We have recently investigated the impact CD4-blockade, *in vitro*, at the time of activation where we found that the impact on the rate of cell proliferation and apoptosis is small, but with the assistance of mathematical models it was possible to demonstrate that such small effects over time lead to a major difference in the final outcome (Caridade et al, submitted). Previous studies with co-stimulation blockade had also shown that activation under those tolerogenic conditions lead to apoptosis of effector cells [280, 364, 372], but in that case together with the induction of Treg cells [159, 343].

We now found that the impact of apoptosis on the antigen specific T cells is not complete, with several cells surviving deletion. When we assessed those surviving antigen-specific cells we found that they have an anergic and immunosuppressive behavior in spite of lack of Foxp3 expression.

We found that IL-10, unlike Foxp3, is key for the induction of immune tolerance. The implication of IL-10 in transplantation tolerance has been controversial with several studies able to demonstrate long-term transplantation tolerance in the absence of IL-10 [158, 340, 379]. The majority of studies that have shown a strong IL-10 requirement for transplantation tolerance have used donor blood transfusion as part of the tolerance inducing regimen [351, 353, 380]. It is possible that the systemic delivery of antigens mimics the boosting of an IL-10 dependent mechanism (in addition to the recessive mechanisms associated to apoptosis and inhibition of proliferation) that we described for OVA-alum. However, we found that in transplantation tolerance of OVA-expressing skin grafts IL-10, in addition to Foxp3, is essential even in the absence of donor blood transfusion.

Given the fact that dominant transplantation tolerance can be extended to additional antigens present in a new transplanted tissue by a mechanism that was termed *linked suppression* [343], it may be possible to use immune dominant alloantigens to boost tolerance to tissues through a Foxp3-independent mechanism. But more important is the realization that effective tolerance to proteins, such as in allergic diseases or protein replacement therapies (namely in hemophilia or lysossomal storage diseases), may involve robust tolerance mechanisms that are independent of Foxp3.

Supplementary Figures



Supplementary Figure 1. Tolerance induction with OVA-alum can improve subsequent skin graft acceptance in Foxp3 deficient mice. (A) OT-II Rag^{-/-} Foxp3 sufficient and insufficient mice were trated with OVA-alum in the presence of anti-CD4. On day 30 after treatment, mice received skin grafts from OVA-actin transgenic mice in the presence of anti-CD4 MAb according to the scheme. (B) Foxp3 sufficient mice treated with OVA-alum were tolerant to OVA-expressing skin grafts and did not reject the transplants (n=6, MST=12d vs. MST>60d, ***P<0.001) Foxp3 insufficient mice showed a delayed rejection with some grafts surviving long term (n=3, MST=32). (C) Foxp3 sufficient mice induced low frequency of Foxp3⁺ T cells (n=6, MST=12d, ***P<0.001). (D) Ilustrative dot plots of CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells within the OT-II T cell gate.



Supplementary Figure 2. Tolerance induction with non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb is robust enough to prevent allergic airways disease in TCR transgenic mice. (A) OVA-specific female OT-II were sensitized with 20 μ g OVA-alum i.p. and challenged with 50 μ g OVA in saline i.n. as in Figure 1. Some animals were treated with 1 mg anti-CD4 or an isotype control. Naive animals, not subjected to any intervention, were also studied as a control group. Mice treated with anti-CD4 have a reduced number of eosinophils in the BAL (n=6, *P*<0.01). The serum levels of OVA-specific IgG1 and (E) IgE are significantly reduced in anti-CD4 treated mice (n=6, *P*<0.001, ***P*<0.01 or ****P*<0.001). Data are representative of two independent experiments.



Supplementary Figure 3. Tolerance induction with anti-CD4 leads to reduction of effector T cells and emergence of an anergic and regulatory T cell population. Splenic and LN T cells from OT-II.Rag^{-/-} mice were stained with CFSE and injected i.v. into sex-matched BALB/c hosts. Recipient mice were then treated with OVA-alum i.p. in presence or absence of anti-CD4. Control animals were not exposed to OVA. (A) Analysis of MLN at day 4. Dot plots were gated on CD3⁺ T cells. The numbers represent the frequency of T cells within the TCR transgenic cells. (B) Absolute number of OT-II.Rag^{-/-} cells recovered from MLN contained in each of the CFSE regions displayed in (A). The difference in cell frequency between undivided cells from mice not injected with OVA is significantly higher than T cells from mice treated with annexin V) within cells that did not divide or cells that have divided. The frequency of apoptotic cells is significantly higher within the T cells undergoing cell divisions from anti-CD4 treated animals (n=5, *P*<0.05).
Discussion

The use of monoclonal antibodies targeting specific molecules has become an emerging therapy for immune mediated pathologies. Monoclonal antibodies have been used to neutralize inflammatory mediators [381], to deplete cells [382], to skew the immune responses [196], namely by reprogramming the immune system towards tolerance [383]. Antibodies targeting the immune synapse have been described to induce putative Tregs that can suppress effector responses [34, 159] thus tipping the balance towards a tolerant state of the immune system.

This thesis focuses on CD4 blockade, which has been shown to be very effective in preventing transplant rejection and autoimmunity [357, 384] through the induction of a regulatory specific population of Foxp3⁺ T cells [148, 159]. In addition the tolerogenic effect of CD4 blockade molecule was shown effective in preventing immune responses to soluble proteins, therefore having a beneficial effect on pathogenic Th2 responses, namely in allergic diseases. The mechanism associated with type of tolerance induction, however, seems to be distinct from the tolerant state induced in the context of autoimmunity or transplantation.

Airways inflammation induced by HDM or OVA in mice allowed us to show that CD4 blockade is effective in inhibiting airways hyperreactivity and remodeling, as well as in abrogating Th2 inflammation. Moreover, and for the first time, we were able to show that anti-CD4 treatment, in this animal model of allergic pathology, was not only exerting an antiinflammatory role but also, and most importantly, creating a state of antigen-specific tolerance. As a consequence, subsequent sensitization and challenges with the same antigen do not result in inflammation, while the immune system remained competent to respond to third-party antigens. A plethora of studies where co-stimulatory and co-activator blocking agents were used did not distinguish the impact of the therapeutic agent on the onset of inflammation from its potential tolerogenic role [178, 179, 193, 196]. The antigen-specific nature of therapeutically induced tolerance is not easy to demonstrate without crisscross type assays, given potential differences in the "immunogenicity" of different antigens. Therefore, it is necessary to show that the immune system tolerized to a given X protein can respond to a different Y one, but conversely it is possible to induce tolerance to Y, with the tolerant immune system capable to respond to X. This demonstration is of paramount importance to distinguish a state of immune tolerance from non-specific immune suppression. In the present studies we have shown that CD4 T helper cell responses remained unaffected, while other studies have previously shown that CD4 blockade does not impact on the CD8 T cell compartment [385]. We took particular care to separate in time the tolerization and sensitization stages as to avoid any residual presence of the anti-CD4 MAb. Another crucial finding was that primed cells are still susceptible to the tolerizing effect of anti-CD4. Previous studies have shown that non-depleting anti-CD4 preferentially eliminated naive CD4⁺ T cells rather than memory and effector CD4⁺ T cells [386]. Furthermore, induction of transplantation tolerance in primed mice required the combined action of anti-CD4 and anti-CD8 MAbs [155]. It could be argued that while in transplantation CD8 T cells participate as effector cells [387], in a Th2-mediated pathology (such as allergic asthma) CD8 T cells do not represent a significant obstacle for tolerance induction [388], thus making the tolerogenic role of CD4-blockade sufficient even in pre-sensitized mice. Possibly, the recently described Tc9 cells, CD8 T cells expressing IL-9, that appear able to contribute to the severity of Th2dependent airway inflammation [389], do not represent a major obstacle for tolerance induction through CD4 blockade. In addition it is likely that

allergens induce lower frequencies of effector T cells than alloantigens, thus making an immune system primed following transplantation harder to tolerize than when priming is achieved with a model antigen (such as OVA or FVIII) or an allergen (such as HDM).

It was possible to observe that eosinophilia and airway hyperreactivity in anti-CD4-treated previously sensitized mice was reduced. It is hard to quantify the effects of CD4-blockade in the de novo production of immunoglobulins given the pre-existent high titers of IgE and IgG1 induced at the time of initial sensitization. This could be seen as an opportunity to further study the possible beneficial effects of anti-CD4 in chronic asthma models.

Further studying the advantage of CD4 blockade in tolerance to soluble proteins we demonstrated that in a mouse model of hemophilia it is possible to induce tolerance to the coagulation factor used in the therapy of this disease. Again, the induced tolerance was antigen specific and primed cells remained susceptible to regulation. Trying to take one step further, we devised a method of having primed cells without the presence of immunoglobulins masking the permissive state and it was then possible to confirm that anti-CD4 can have an impact even in pre-sensitized cells.

Cardinally our data points to an enhancing effect of the adjuvant alum in the ability of anti-CD4 to induce tolerance. Adjuvants are mainly known for their immunogenic role [390], thus seeming unwise to have such a compound synergizing towards creating tolerance. Alum in particular has many features that could explain its co-action with anti-CD4: it is known to increase the half-life of antigens; it is known its inability to augment cellmediated immune responses, especially cytotoxic T-cell responses [391]; and it can modify antigen presentation through inflammasomes [392]; among other roles that have not yet been characterized. We addressed several of these characteristics of alum.

We increased the persistence of hFVIII through the administration of several shots of the protein during the tolerance induction period. We found that the presence of the adjuvant proved to be crucial for long term tolerance and could not be emulated by the simple prolongation of the presence of the antigen. Albeit alum certainly increases the antigen halflife in vivo, this supposed depot-effect has been recently guestioned, as it has been shown that the removal of alum deposits following immunization has no effect in reducing the humoral response [393]. We are still addressing any possible role for inflammasomes, using caspase-1- and NALP-3-deficientmice. Preliminary data obtained in our laboratory suggest that neither NALP-3 nor caspase-1 integrity are required for the facilitation of tolerance induction following administration of alum (data not shown). Alum, however, causes an accelerated influx of neutrophils and GR1⁺ IL4⁺ eosinophils [393-395] at the site of injection which can readily skew CD4 T cells towards a Th2 response and prime B cells. Instead of direct effects on the lymphocytes themselves, adjuvants seem to enhance T and B cell responses by directly engaging components of the innate immune system [396-398]. As such, different adjuvants can influence the type of effector CD4 T cells response, with some adjuvants promoting Th1 responses while others favor a Th2 polarization [399] and therefore influencing the isotype of antibodies produced by the B cells [400]. Naturally this notion implies that in vaccines the choice of the right adjuvant can represent an advantage regarding the nature of the protective memory cells generated. But it could also mean that the type of adjuvant could help directing the type of tolerance mechanisms recruited at the time tolerance is induced with anti-CD4. Therefore, for Th2-mediated diseases the use of alum is beneficial, as we found out, while it could be possible that adjuvants such as CFA or poly-IC might have a greater beneficial role at inducing tolerance in Th1-mediated immune diseases. This could be an area for further investigation, especially since the beneficial effect of adjuvants for tolerance induction may not be restricted solely to anti-CD4.

Prior studies have shown a clear role of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in transplantation tolerance induced with anti-CD4 [39, 340, 356]. Unexpectedly, we found that tolerance induction to soluble proteins was independent of Foxp3. Systemic delivery of a protein in alum appears to induce a state of immune tolerance dependent on IL-10 and not on Foxp3⁺ Tregs. These findings question the reason for the absolute requirement of $Foxp3^{+}$ Treg cells in transplantation tolerance [356], as the same clone of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb leads to Foxp3-independent immune tolerance in hemophilia, and possibly in allergy. These results could explain the apparently contradictory observations from transplantation studies using anti-CD4 for tolerance induction: while some studies where a skin graft alone was used in the tolerance-inducing protocol appeared to be IL-10-independent and Treg dependent [158, 340]; other studies where donor specific transfusion was administered in advance of skin transplantation appeared to rely on both Treg cells and IL-10 [351, 353]. Our data show that a protocol for tolerance induction that relies on IL-10 is sufficient to induce a state of tolerance robust enough to allow acceptance of a skin graft expressing the very same protein the subject was tolerized to.

One could speculate that the cytokine/ inflammatory environment in which tolerance is induced with an agent like anti-CD4 can influence the type of regulatory mechanisms (namely the nature of induced regulatory cells) that are generated. This issue, however, remains to be clarified. In any case the anatomic distribution of the same antigen – provided as part of a skin transplant or delivered systemically – can induce different mechanisms that have in common the maintenance of long term dominant tolerance.

It has been shown that Tregs can produce IL-10 in vivo [401, 402]. Indeed both Foxp3⁺ or Foxp3⁻ thymic precursors can give rise to IL-10 producing cells [403]. Only Foxp3⁻ thymic precursors can give rise to all types of subsets (Foxp3⁺IL-10⁺, Foxp3⁺IL-10⁻, Foxp3⁻IL-10⁺) through a mechanism that is TGF- β dependent and IL-10 independent [403]. Foxp3⁺IL-10⁻ Treg cells tend to accumulate in the secondary lymphoid organs, lung and liver, while Foxp3⁺IL-10⁺ and Foxp3⁻IL-10⁺, are mostly found in Peyer's patches, small and large intestine [402, 403]. Nevertheless in pathological situations such as asthma Foxp3⁻IL-10⁺ CD4 T cells with a regulatory function can be found in the lung [73]. The best described regulatory type 1 cells (Tr1). These cells are develop from CD4⁺CD25⁻T cells under the influence of tolerogenic dendritic cells [404, 405] and exert their regulatory function by the extensive release of IL-10 [406].

Our observations that IL-10 deficient mice fail to maintain long term tolerance to systemically-administered proteins and that we cannot find evidence for an increase in the frequency of Foxp3⁺ Tregs, suggest it is possible to induce tolerance in the absence of Foxp3 when the antigen is administered together with alum and anti-CD4. Indeed we confirmed this

hypothesis using Foxp3-deficient mice. Importantly, CD4⁺ T cells exposed to CD4-blockade in presence of the antigen become endowed with regulatory properties (in spite of lacking Foxp3 expression). These Foxp3regulatory cells are able to mediate dominant tolerance. We could not conclusively show that these Foxp3- regulatory cells are Tr1 cells, although this possibility appears as a likely hypothesis.

We confirmed that indeed tolerance induction to skin grafts, with anti-CD4 MAb treatment is dependent on Foxp3⁺ Treg cells. In the same fashion, several animal models of autoimmunity can be successfully treated with anti-CD4, by a mechanism that appears to be Foxp3dependent [357]. On the other hand, we confirmed in transgenic models that tolerization with delivery of proteins in alum together with anti-CD4 had no input of putative Foxp3⁺ Tregs. In fact we were able to establish that there is a combination of a recessive mechanism where specific effector cells are eliminated (but only when antigen, alum and anti-CD4 are present) diminishing drastically the effector CD4⁺ population (also known as AICD), while apparently a dominant mechanism outputs a T cell population that effectively suppresses the proliferation of naïve, antigen specific, T cells. Recessive mechanisms like AICD have been known to keep the balance between effector and regulatory mechanisms in immune tolerance [407]. Treatment with anti-CD3 MAbs, which have been used to prevent graft rejection [408, 409] and in clinical trials for the prevention of autoimmune diabetes [410], was shown to transiently deplete CD4⁺Foxp3⁻ [275, 411] while $CD4^{+}Foxp3^{+}$ Treg cells show more effector T cells resistance to this depletion [411] leading to an increase in frequency of regulatory cells. Also, in a GVHD model blockade of CD40-CD154 and CD80/CD86-CD28 interactions was shown to lead to peripheral elimination of host-reactive T cells [312, 412, 413]. In autoimmune encephalomyelitis

(EAE) anti-CD4 was also described to induce specific T cell depletion [384]. The deletion mechanism however remains unknown. Typically T cell death is induced by cell surface death receptors like Fas, or mitochondrial molecules such as Bim, Bad and Bax [414-417]. FcR-non-binding anti-CD3 MAb was reported to induce effector T cell death in a Fas, Bcl-2 and caspase-3 independent fashion [411]. We have also investigated the mechanism behind the specific deletion induced by anti-CD4 MAb through the evaluation of its impact in tolerance generation in Fas-deficient or Lckdriven Bcl-xl transgenic mice. We saw no attenuating impact in the tolerance induction in these mice models using anti-CD4 MAb (data not shown). However these results still need further confirmation and are very preliminary to draw any strong conclusion. Lastly we also analyzed the possible role for caspase-3, which is downstream of both intrinsic and extrinsic apoptosis pathway [417]. We found it was possible to induce tolerance to OVA-alum in a caspase-3 deficient mouse model. As before these results are too preliminary and remain to be further investigated. It seems there is enough evidence that the use of tolerogenic MAbs involves a mechanism of specific deletion of effector T cells, where, in some cases, there is a demonstrated association with a shift in the frequency of regulatory cells [409, 411]. It will be important to clarify the mechanism behind this T cell deletion that seems to be independent of the most obvious candidates (Fas, Bcl family and caspase-3). Activation-induced cell death in the periphery is associated with high intensity of TCR signaling [418], lack of cytokines such as IL-2 [419] or IL-12 [420] or impaired signaling at the immune synapse [421]. In vitro studies show that anti-CD4 induces a suboptimal activation [56] that renders CD4⁺ T cells more susceptible to the effects of TGF- β in inducing Foxp3⁺ Tregs [45, 56]. On the other hand CD4⁺ T cells are described to need full interaction with MHC class II molecules for the survival of resting CD4+ T cells in peripheral lymphoid organs [422] and that lack of CD4 expression on T cells increases their susceptibility to apoptosis leading to diminished survival [423]. In light of these facts it could be argued that CD4 blockade might be favoring the deletion of effector CD4⁺ T cells, with cells in different stages of differentiation displaying distinct susceptibilities to apoptosis. It will be important to clarify what are the characteristics of T cell subsets that render them more susceptible or resistant to apoptosis, namely whether anti-CD4 indiscriminately deletes T cells or if (like anti-CD3) shows a particular preference in depleting recently activated T cells and spares Helios⁺ Tregs [411].

In recent decades there was a remarkable increase in the understanding of the mechanisms that underlie immune system function. This has become an opportunity for the development of rational therapies for immune mediated diseases. The use of biological drugs, namely monoclonal antibodies, that can have a direct targeting of key molecules involved in the differentiation and behavior of immune cells has become common treatments in many diseases [328], The full potential of MAbs in inducing immune tolerance and their effect on primed cells remains largely an unaddressed medical need.

The work of this thesis focuses on the induction of immune tolerance created by the use of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb. It also presents the need of adequate adjuvants as potential tolerance facilitators. The findings in this work also propose the notion that the inflammatory environment can indeed lead to the induction of different regulatory mechanisms.

References

- 1. Lederberg, J., *Genes and antibodies.* Science, 1959. **129**(3364): p. 1649-53.
- 2. Shortman, K., D. Vremec, and M. Egerton, *The kinetics of T cell antigen receptor expression by subgroups of CD4+8+ thymocytes: delineation of CD4+8+3(2+) thymocytes as post-selection intermediates leading to mature T cells.* J Exp Med, 1991. **173**(2): p. 323-32.
- 3. Huesmann, M., et al., *Kinetics and efficacy of positive selection in the thymus of normal and T cell receptor transgenic mice.* Cell, 1991. **66**(3): p. 533-40.
- 4. Germain, R.N. and D.H. Margulies, *The biochemistry and cell biology of antigen processing and presentation*. Annu Rev Immunol, 1993. **11**: p. 403-50.
- 5. Negishi, I., et al., *Essential role for ZAP-70 in both positive and negative selection of thymocytes.* Nature, 1995. **376**(6539): p. 435-8.
- 6. Siggs, O.M., et al., *Opposing functions of the T cell receptor kinase* ZAP-70 in immunity and tolerance differentially titrate in response to nucleotide substitutions. Immunity, 2007. **27**(6): p. 912-26.
- 7. Sakaguchi, N., et al., *Altered thymic T-cell selection due to a mutation of the ZAP-70 gene causes autoimmune arthritis in mice.* Nature, 2003. **426**(6965): p. 454-60.
- 8. Hsu, L.Y., et al., *A hypomorphic allele of ZAP-70 reveals a distinct thymic threshold for autoimmune disease versus autoimmune reactivity.* J Exp Med, 2009. **206**(11): p. 2527-41.
- 9. Bill, J. and E. Palmer, *Positive selection of CD4+ T cells mediated by MHC class II-bearing stromal cell in the thymic cortex.* Nature, 1989. **341**(6243): p. 649-51.
- 10. Hanahan, D., *Peripheral-antigen-expressing cells in thymic medulla: factors in self-tolerance and autoimmunity.* Curr Opin Immunol, 1998. **10**(6): p. 656-62.
- Derbinski, J., et al., Promiscuous gene expression in thymic epithelial cells is regulated at multiple levels. J Exp Med, 2005.
 202(1): p. 33-45.
- 12. Liston, A., et al., *Aire regulates negative selection of organ-specific T cells*. Nat Immunol, 2003. **4**(4): p. 350-4.
- 13. Anderson, M.S., et al., *The cellular mechanism of Aire control of T cell tolerance.* Immunity, 2005. **23**(2): p. 227-39.

- 14. Liston, A., et al., *Gene dosage--limiting role of Aire in thymic expression, clonal deletion, and organ-specific autoimmunity.* J Exp Med, 2004. **200**(8): p. 1015-26.
- 15. Gershon, R.K., S. Liebhaber, and S. Ryu, *T-cell regulation of T-cell responses to antigen.* Immunology, 1974. **26**(5): p. 909-23.
- 16. Sakaguchi, S., et al., *Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25).* Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various *autoimmune diseases.* J Immunol, 1995. **155**(3): p. 1151-64.
- 17. Stritesky, G.L., S.C. Jameson, and K.A. Hogquist, *Selection of self-reactive T cells in the thymus*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2012. **30**: p. 95-114.
- 18. Salomon, B., et al., *B7/CD28 costimulation is essential for the homeostasis of the CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells that control autoimmune diabetes.* Immunity, 2000. **12**(4): p. 431-40.
- 19. Lohr, J., et al., *Role of B7 in T cell tolerance.* J Immunol, 2004. **173**(8): p. 5028-35.
- 20. Tang, Q., et al., *Cutting edge: CD28 controls peripheral homeostasis* of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol, 2003. **171**(7): p. 3348-52.
- 21. Wirnsberger, G., M. Hinterberger, and L. Klein, *Regulatory T-cell differentiation versus clonal deletion of autoreactive thymocytes.* Immunol Cell Biol, 2011. **89**(1): p. 45-53.
- 22. Zheng, Y., et al., *Combined deficiency of p50 and cRel in CD4+ T cells reveals an essential requirement for nuclear factor kappaB in regulating mature T cell survival and in vivo function.* J Exp Med, 2003. **197**(7): p. 861-74.
- 23. Ruan, Q., et al., *Development of Foxp3(+) regulatory t cells is driven by the c-Rel enhanceosome*. Immunity, 2009. **31**(6): p. 932-40.
- 24. Malek, T.R., et al., *CD4 regulatory T cells prevent lethal autoimmunity in IL-2Rbeta-deficient mice. Implications for the nonredundant function of IL-2.* Immunity, 2002. **17**(2): p. 167-78.
- 25. Fontenot, J.D., et al., *A function for interleukin 2 in Foxp3-expressing regulatory T cells.* Nat Immunol, 2005. **6**(11): p. 1142-51.
- 26. Burchill, M.A., et al., *IL-2 receptor beta-dependent STAT5 activation is required for the development of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells.* J Immunol, 2007. **178**(1): p. 280-90.
- 27. Lio, C.W. and C.S. Hsieh, *A two-step process for thymic regulatory T cell development*. Immunity, 2008. **28**(1): p. 100-11.

28.	Burchill,	, M.A	., et al., <i>Linke</i>	d T	cell r	receptor an	nd cy	rtokin	ne signaling
	govern	the	development	of	the	regulatory	/ Τ	cell	repertoire.
	Immunity, 2008. 28 (1): p. 112-21.								

- Hori, S., T. Nomura, and S. Sakaguchi, *Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3*. Science, 2003. 299(5609): p. 1057-61.
- Sekiya, T., et al., Nr4a receptors are essential for thymic regulatory T cell development and immune homeostasis. Nat Immunol, 2013. 14(3): p. 230-7.
- 31. Floess, S., et al., *Epigenetic control of the foxp3 locus in regulatory T cells.* PLoS Biol, 2007. **5**(2): p. e38.
- 32. Douwes, J., et al., *Importance of allergy in asthma: an epidemiologic perspective.* Curr Allergy Asthma Rep, 2011. **11**(5): p. 434-44.
- Rudensky, A.Y., *Regulatory T cells and Foxp3.* Immunol Rev, 2011.
 241(1): p. 260-8.
- Sakaguchi, S., K. Wing, and M. Miyara, *Regulatory T cells a brief history and perspective.* Eur J Immunol, 2007. **37 Suppl 1**: p. S116-23.
- 35. Valencia, X. and P.E. Lipsky, *CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in autoimmune diseases.* Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol, 2007. **3**(11): p. 619-26.
- 36. Ling, E.M., et al., *Relation of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cell* suppression of allergen-driven T-cell activation to atopic status and expression of allergic disease. Lancet, 2004. **363**(9409): p. 608-15.
- 37. Waldmann, H., et al., *Regulatory T cells in transplantation*. Semin Immunol, 2006. **18**(2): p. 111-9.
- Graca, L., et al., Dominant transplantation tolerance. Opinion. Curr Opin Immunol, 2003. 15(5): p. 499-506.
- 39. Wood, K.J., A. Bushell, and J. Hester, *Regulatory immune cells in transplantation*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2012. **12**(6): p. 417-30.
- 40. Cottrez, F., et al., *T regulatory cells 1 inhibit a Th2-specific response in vivo.* J Immunol, 2000. **165**(9): p. 4848-53.
- 41. Navarro, S., et al., *The oral administration of bacterial extracts prevents asthma via the recruitment of regulatory T cells to the airways.* Mucosal Immunol, 2011. **4**(1): p. 53-65.
- 42. Suto, A., et al., *Role of CD4(+) CD25(+) regulatory T cells in T helper* 2 cell-mediated allergic inflammation in the airways. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2001. **164**(4): p. 680-7.
- 43. Bennett, C.L., et al., *The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3.* Nat Genet, 2001. **27**(1): p. 20-1.

- 44. Curotto de Lafaille, M.A. and J.J. Lafaille, *Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor?* Immunity, 2009. **30**(5): p. 626-35.
- 45. Chen, W., et al., *Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells* to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. J Exp Med, 2003. **198**(12): p. 1875-86.
- 46. Agua-Doce, A. and L. Graca, *Prevention of house dust mite induced allergic airways disease in mice through immune tolerance.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(7): p. e22320.
- 47. Strickland, D.H., et al., *Reversal of airway hyperresponsiveness by induction of airway mucosal CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells.* J Exp Med, 2006. **203**(12): p. 2649-60.
- 48. Kearley, J., et al., *Resolution of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity after in vivo transfer of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells is interleukin 10 dependent.* J Exp Med, 2005. **202**(11): p. 1539-47.
- 49. Lewkowich, I.P., et al., *CD4+CD25+ T cells protect against experimentally induced asthma and alter pulmonary dendritic cell phenotype and function.* J Exp Med, 2005. **202**(11): p. 1549-61.
- 50. Scherf, W., S. Burdach, and G. Hansen, *Reduced expression of transforming growth factor beta 1 exacerbates pathology in an experimental asthma model.* Eur J Immunol, 2005. **35**(1): p. 198-206.
- 51. Nakao, A., et al., *Blockade of transforming growth factor beta/Smad signaling in T cells by overexpression of Smad7 enhances antigen-induced airway inflammation and airway reactivity.* J Exp Med, 2000. **192**(2): p. 151-8.
- 52. Hansen, G., et al., *CD4(+) T* helper cells engineered to produce latent *TGF-beta1* reverse allergen-induced airway hyperreactivity and inflammation. J Clin Invest, 2000. **105**(1): p. 61-70.
- 53. Joetham, A., et al., *Naturally occurring lung CD4(+)CD25(+) T cell regulation of airway allergic responses depends on IL-10 induction of TGF-beta.* J Immunol, 2007. **178**(3): p. 1433-42.
- 54. Kretschmer, K., et al., *Inducing and expanding regulatory T cell populations by foreign antigen.* Nat Immunol, 2005. **6**(12): p. 1219-27.
- 55. Ostroukhova, M., et al., *Tolerance induced by inhaled antigen involves CD4(+) T cells expressing membrane-bound TGF-beta and FOXP3.* J Clin Invest, 2004. **114**(1): p. 28-38.
- 56. Oliveira, V.G., et al., *Sub-optimal CD4+ T-cell activation triggers autonomous TGF-beta-dependent conversion to Foxp3+ regulatory T cells.* Eur J Immunol, 2011. **41**(5): p. 1249-55.

- 57. Gorelik, L., P.E. Fields, and R.A. Flavell, *Cutting edge: TGF-beta inhibits Th type 2 development through inhibition of GATA-3 expression.* J Immunol, 2000. **165**(9): p. 4773-7.
- 58. Heath, V.L., et al., *TGF-beta1 down-regulates Th2 development and results in decreased IL-4-induced STAT6 activation and GATA-3 expression.* Eur J Immunol, 2000. **30**(9): p. 2639-49.
- Chen, C.H., et al., Transforming growth factor beta blocks Tec kinase phosphorylation, Ca2+ influx, and NFATc translocation causing inhibition of T cell differentiation. J Exp Med, 2003. 197(12): p. 1689-99.
- 60. van Vlasselaer, P., J. Punnonen, and J.E. de Vries, *Transforming growth factor-beta directs IgA switching in human B cells.* J Immunol, 1992. **148**(7): p. 2062-7.
- 61. Gereke, M., et al., *Alveolar type II epithelial cells present antigen to CD4(+) T cells and induce Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2009. **179**(5): p. 344-55.
- Mucida, D., et al., *Reciprocal TH17 and regulatory T cell differentiation mediated by retinoic acid.* Science, 2007. **317**(5835): p. 256-60.
- 63. Goswami, S., et al., *Divergent functions for airway epithelial matrix metalloproteinase 7 and retinoic acid in experimental asthma*. Nat Immunol, 2009. **10**(5): p. 496-503.
- 64. Takaki, H., et al., *STAT6 Inhibits TGF-beta1-mediated Foxp3 induction through direct binding to the Foxp3 promoter, which is reverted by retinoic acid receptor.* J Biol Chem, 2008. **283**(22): p. 14955-62.
- 65. Veldhoen, M., et al., *Transforming growth factor-beta 'reprograms' the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9producing subset.* Nat Immunol, 2008. **9**(12): p. 1341-6.
- Korn, T., et al., *IL-6 controls Th17 immunity in vivo by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T cells into Foxp3+ regulatory T cells.*Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. **105**(47): p. 18460-5.
- Veldhoen, M., et al., Signals mediated by transforming growth factor-beta initiate autoimmune encephalomyelitis, but chronic inflammation is needed to sustain disease. Nat Immunol, 2006. 7(11): p. 1151-6.
- Makinde, T., R.F. Murphy, and D.K. Agrawal, *The regulatory role of TGF-beta in airway remodeling in asthma*. Immunol Cell Biol, 2007.
 85(5): p. 348-56.
- 69. Rubtsov, Y.P., et al., *Regulatory T cell-derived interleukin-10 limits inflammation at environmental interfaces.* Immunity, 2008. **28**(4): p. 546-58.

- 70. Akdis, C.A., et al., *Role of interleukin 10 in specific immunotherapy*. J Clin Invest, 1998. **102**(1): p. 98-106.
- 71. Akbari, O., et al., *Antigen-specific regulatory T cells develop via the ICOS-ICOS-ligand pathway and inhibit allergen-induced airway hyperreactivity.* Nat Med, 2002. **8**(9): p. 1024-32.
- 72. O'Garra, A., et al., *Strategies for use of IL-10 or its antagonists in human disease.* Immunol Rev, 2008. **223**: p. 114-31.
- 73. Nabe, T., et al., *Regulatory role of antigen-induced interleukin-10, produced by CD4(+) T cells, in airway neutrophilia in a murine model for asthma.* Eur J Pharmacol, 2012. **677**(1-3): p. 154-62.
- 74. Lloyd, C.M. and C.M. Hawrylowicz, *Regulatory T cells in asthma*. Immunity, 2009. **31**(3): p. 438-49.
- 75. Levings, M.K. and M.G. Roncarolo, *T-regulatory 1 cells: a novel* subset of CD4 T cells with immunoregulatory properties. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2000. **106**(1 Pt 2): p. S109-12.
- 76. Battaglia, M. and M.G. Roncarolo, *Immune intervention with T regulatory cells: past lessons and future perspectives for type 1 diabetes.* Semin Immunol, 2011. **23**(3): p. 182-94.
- 77. Grunig, G., et al., Interleukin-10 is a natural suppressor of cytokine production and inflammation in a murine model of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis. J Exp Med, 1997. **185**(6): p. 1089-99.
- 78. Zuany-Amorim, C., et al., *Interleukin-10 inhibits antigen-induced cellular recruitment into the airways of sensitized mice.* J Clin Invest, 1995. **95**(6): p. 2644-51.
- 79. Hummelshoj, L., L.P. Ryder, and L.K. Poulsen, *The role of the interleukin-10 subfamily members in immunoglobulin production by human B cells.* Scand J Immunol, 2006. **64**(1): p. 40-7.
- 80. Till, S.J., et al., *Mechanisms of immunotherapy*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2004. **113**(6): p. 1025-34; quiz 1035.
- 81. Akdis, M. and C.A. Akdis, *Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2007. **119**(4): p. 780-91.
- Meiler, F., et al., *In vivo switch to IL-10-secreting T regulatory cells in high dose allergen exposure.* J Exp Med, 2008. 205(12): p. 2887-98.
- Thornton, A.M., et al., *Expression of Helios, an Ikaros transcription factor family member, differentiates thymic-derived from peripherally induced Foxp3+ T regulatory cells.* J Immunol, 2010. 184(7): p. 3433-41.
- 84. Haribhai, D., et al., A central role for induced regulatory T cells in tolerance induction in experimental colitis. J Immunol, 2009. 182(6): p. 3461-8.

- 85. Polansky, J.K., et al., DNA methylation controls Foxp3 gene expression. Eur J Immunol, 2008. **38**(6): p. 1654-63.
- Miyao, T., et al., Plasticity of Foxp3(+) T cells reflects promiscuous Foxp3 expression in conventional T cells but not reprogramming of regulatory T cells. Immunity, 2012. 36(2): p. 262-75.
- 87. Zheng, Y., et al., *Role of conserved non-coding DNA elements in the Foxp3 gene in regulatory T-cell fate.* Nature, 2010. **463**(7282): p. 808-12.
- 88. Tone, Y., et al., *Smad3 and NFAT cooperate to induce Foxp3 expression through its enhancer.* Nat Immunol, 2008. **9**(2): p. 194-202.
- 89. Liu, Y., et al., *A critical function for TGF-beta signaling in the development of natural CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells.* Nat Immunol, 2008. **9**(6): p. 632-40.
- 90. Kitoh, A., et al., *Indispensable role of the Runx1-Cbfbeta transcription complex for in vivo-suppressive function of FoxP3+ regulatory T cells.* Immunity, 2009. **31**(4): p. 609-20.
- 91. Wang, Y., M.A. Su, and Y.Y. Wan, *An essential role of the transcription factor GATA-3 for the function of regulatory T cells.* Immunity, 2011. **35**(3): p. 337-48.
- 92. Hintzen, G., et al., Induction of tolerance to innocuous inhaled antigen relies on a CCR7-dependent dendritic cell-mediated antigen transport to the bronchial lymph node. J Immunol, 2006. **177**(10): p. 7346-54.
- 93. Akbari, O., et al., *PD-L1 and PD-L2 modulate airway inflammation and iNKT-cell-dependent airway hyperreactivity in opposing directions*. Mucosal Immunol, 2010. **3**(1): p. 81-91.
- 94. Moore, T.V., et al., *Inducible costimulator controls migration of T cells to the lungs via down-regulation of CCR7 and CD62L.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2011. **45**(4): p. 843-50.
- 95. Sather, B.D., et al., *Altering the distribution of Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells results in tissue-specific inflammatory disease*. J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(6): p. 1335-47.
- 96. Imai, T., et al., Selective recruitment of CCR4-bearing Th2 cells toward antigen-presenting cells by the CC chemokines thymus and activation-regulated chemokine and macrophage-derived chemokine. Int Immunol, 1999. **11**(1): p. 81-8.
- 97. Hall, B.M., et al., *Distinct regulatory CD4+T cell subsets; differences between naive and antigen specific T regulatory cells.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2011. **23**(5): p. 641-7.
- 98. Linterman, M.A., et al., *Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells control the germinal center response*. Nat Med, 2011. **17**(8): p. 975-82.

- 99. Koch, M.A., et al., *The transcription factor T-bet controls regulatory T cell homeostasis and function during type 1 inflammation*. Nat Immunol, 2009. **10**(6): p. 595-602.
- 100. Bettelli, E., et al., *Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells.* Nature, 2006. **441**(7090): p. 235-8.
- 101. Zhou, L., et al., *TGF-beta-induced Foxp3 inhibits T(H)17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat function.* Nature, 2008. **453**(7192): p. 236-40.
- 102. Haynes, N.M., et al., *Role of CXCR5 and CCR7 in follicular Th cell positioning and appearance of a programmed cell death gene-1high germinal center-associated subpopulation.* J Immunol, 2007. **179**(8): p. 5099-108.
- 103. Yu, D., et al., *The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment*. Immunity, 2009. **31**(3): p. 457-68.
- 104. Nurieva, R.I., et al., *Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells.* Science, 2009. **325**(5943): p. 1001-5.
- 105. Nurieva, R.I., et al., *Generation of T follicular helper cells is mediated by interleukin-21 but independent of T helper 1, 2, or 17 cell lineages.* Immunity, 2008. **29**(1): p. 138-49.
- 106. Breitfeld, D., et al., *Follicular B helper T cells express CXC chemokine receptor 5, localize to B cell follicles, and support immunoglobulin production.* J Exp Med, 2000. **192**(11): p. 1545-52.
- 107. Schaerli, P., et al., *CXC chemokine receptor 5 expression defines follicular homing T cells with B cell helper function.* J Exp Med, 2000. **192**(11): p. 1553-62.
- 108. Wollenberg, I., et al., *Regulation of the germinal center reaction by Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells.* J Immunol, 2011. **187**(9): p. 4553-60.
- 109. Chung, Y., et al., *Follicular regulatory T cells expressing Foxp3 and Bcl-6 suppress germinal center reactions.* Nat Med, 2011. **17**(8): p. 983-8.
- 110. Lim, H.W., P. Hillsamer, and C.H. Kim, *Regulatory T cells can* migrate to follicles upon *T cell activation and suppress GC-Th cells* and *GC-Th cell-driven B cell responses*. J Clin Invest, 2004. **114**(11): p. 1640-9.
- 111. Chang, P.P., et al., *Identification of Bcl-6-dependent follicular helper NKT cells that provide cognate help for B cell responses.* Nat Immunol, 2012. **13**(1): p. 35-43.
- 112. King, I.L., et al., *Invariant natural killer T cells direct B cell responses* to cognate lipid antigen in an IL-21-dependent manner. Nat Immunol, 2012. **13**(1): p. 44-50.

- 113. Akbari, O., et al., *Essential role of NKT cells producing IL-4 and IL-13 in the development of allergen-induced airway hyperreactivity*. Nat Med, 2003. **9**(5): p. 582-8.
- 114. Lisbonne, M., et al., Cutting edge: invariant V alpha 14 NKT cells are required for allergen-induced airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in an experimental asthma model. J Immunol, 2003.
 171(4): p. 1637-41.
- 115. Michel, M.L., et al., *Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1(neg) iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia.* J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(5): p. 995-1001.
- 116. Coquet, J.M., et al., *Diverse cytokine production by NKT cell subsets* and identification of an IL-17-producing CD4-NK1.1- NKT cell population. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. **105**(32): p. 11287-92.
- 117. Monteiro, M., et al., *Identification of regulatory Foxp3+ invariant NKT cells induced by TGF-beta.* J Immunol, 2010. **185**(4): p. 2157-63.
- 118. Mars, L.T., et al., *Invariant NKT cells inhibit development of the Th17 lineage.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009. **106**(15): p. 6238-43.
- 119. Moreira-Teixeira, L., et al., *Rapamycin combined with TGF-beta converts human invariant NKT cells into suppressive Foxp3+ regulatory cells.* J Immunol, 2012. **188**(2): p. 624-31.
- 120. Konkel, J.E. and W. Chen, *Balancing acts: the role of TGF-beta in the mucosal immune system.* Trends Mol Med, 2011. **17**(11): p. 668-76.
- 121. Verhasselt, V., et al., *Breast milk-mediated transfer of an antigen induces tolerance and protection from allergic asthma*. Nat Med, 2008. **14**(2): p. 170-5.
- 122. Atarashi, K., et al., Induction of colonic regulatory T cells by indigenous Clostridium species. Science, 2011. 331(6015): p. 337-41.
- 123. Benson, M.J., et al., *All-trans retinoic acid mediates enhanced T reg cell growth, differentiation, and gut homing in the face of high levels of co-stimulation.* J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(8): p. 1765-74.
- Coombes, J.L., et al., A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGFbeta and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism. J Exp Med, 2007.
 204(8): p. 1757-64.
- 125. Bruce, D., et al., *Converging pathways lead to overproduction of IL-17 in the absence of vitamin D signaling.* Int Immunol, 2011. **23**(8): p. 519-28.
- 126. Barrat, F.J., et al., In vitro generation of interleukin 10-producing regulatory CD4(+) T cells is induced by immunosuppressive drugs

and inhibited by T helper type 1 (Th1)- and Th2-inducing cytokines. J Exp Med, 2002. **195**(5): p. 603-16.

- 127. Penna, G., et al., *Expression of the inhibitory receptor ILT3 on dendritic cells is dispensable for induction of CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3.* Blood, 2005. **106**(10): p. 3490-7.
- 128. Urry, Z., et al., Ligation of TLR9 induced on human IL-10-secreting Tregs by 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 abrogates regulatory function. J Clin Invest, 2009. **119**(2): p. 387-98.
- 129. Mahon, B.D., et al., *The targets of vitamin D depend on the differentiation and activation status of CD4 positive T cells.* J Cell Biochem, 2003. **89**(5): p. 922-32.
- 130. Noh, G. and J.H. Lee, *Oral tolerance induction for human food allergy.* Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets, 2012. **11**(2): p. 131-42.
- 131. Akdis, C.A. and M. Akdis, *Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2011. **127**(1): p. 18-27; quiz 28-9.
- 132. Fujita, H., et al., *Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy*. Clin Transl Allergy, 2012. **2**(1): p. 2.
- 133. Akdis, M., K. Blaser, and C.A. Akdis, *T regulatory cells in allergy: novel concepts in the pathogenesis, prevention, and treatment of allergic diseases.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2005. **116**(5): p. 961-8; quiz 969.
- 134. Palomares, O., et al., *Role of Treg in immune regulation of allergic diseases*. Eur J Immunol, 2010. **40**(5): p. 1232-40.
- 135. Jutel, M., et al., *IL-10 and TGF-beta cooperate in the regulatory T cell response to mucosal allergens in normal immunity and specific immunotherapy.* Eur J Immunol, 2003. **33**(5): p. 1205-14.
- 136. Carballido, J.M., et al., *T cell epitope specificity in human allergic and nonallergic subjects to bee venom phospholipase A2.* J Immunol, 1993. **150**(8 Pt 1): p. 3582-91.
- 137. Platts-Mills, T.A., et al., *Decreased prevalence of asthma among children with high exposure to cat allergen: relevance of the modified Th2 response*. Mediators Inflamm, 2001. **10**(6): p. 288-91.
- 138. Kim, J.M. and A. Rudensky, *The role of the transcription factor Foxp3 in the development of regulatory T cells.* Immunol Rev, 2006.
 212: p. 86-98.
- Graca, L., et al., Dominant tolerance: activation thresholds for peripheral generation of regulatory T cells. Trends Immunol, 2005. 26(3): p. 130-5.

- 140. Lin, C.Y., et al., Dominant transplantation tolerance impairs CD8+ T cell function but not expansion. Nat Immunol, 2002. 3(12): p. 1208-13.
- 141. Graca, L., et al., *Donor-specific transplantation tolerance: the paradoxical behavior of CD4+CD25+ T cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(27): p. 10122-6.
- 142. Qin, S., et al., "Infectious" transplantation tolerance. Science, 1993. **259**(5097): p. 974-7.
- 143. Green, D., *Factor VIII inhibitors: a 50-year perspective.* Haemophilia, 2011. **17**(6): p. 831-8.
- 144. Emi Aikawa, N., et al., *Immunogenicity of Anti-TNF-alpha agents in autoimmune diseases*. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol, 2010. **38**(2-3): p. 82-9.
- 145. Billingham, R.E., L. Brent, and P.B. Medawar, *Actively acquired tolerance of foreign cells.* Nature, 1953. **172**(4379): p. 603-6.
- 146. Benjamin, R.J. and H. Waldmann, *Induction of tolerance by monoclonal antibody therapy*. Nature, 1986. **320**(6061): p. 449-51.
- 147. Gutstein, N.L., et al., Induction of immune tolerance by administration of monoclonal antibody to L3T4. J Immunol, 1986.
 137(4): p. 1127-32.
- 148. Graca, L., et al., *Antibody-induced transplantation tolerance: the role of dominant regulation.* Immunol Res, 2003. **28**(3): p. 181-91.
- 149. Brostoff, S.W. and D.W. Mason, *Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: successful treatment in vivo with a monoclonal antibody that recognizes T helper cells.* J Immunol, 1984. **133**(4): p. 1938-42.
- 150. Zheng, X.X., et al., *The balance of deletion and regulation in allograft tolerance*. Immunol Rev, 2003. **196**: p. 75-84.
- Carteron, N.L., D. Wofsy, and W.E. Seaman, Induction of immune tolerance during administration of monoclonal antibody to L3T4 does not depend on depletion of L3T4+ cells. J Immunol, 1988.
 140(3): p. 713-6.
- 152. Benjamin, R.J., et al., *Mechanisms of monoclonal antibody-facilitated tolerance induction: a possible role for the CD4 (L3T4) and CD11a (LFA-1) molecules in self-non-self discrimination.* Eur J Immunol, 1988. **18**(7): p. 1079-88.
- 153. Qin, S.X., et al., *Induction of tolerance in peripheral T cells with monoclonal antibodies*. Eur J Immunol, 1990. **20**(12): p. 2737-45.
- 154. Qin, S., et al., CD4 monoclonal antibody pairs for immunosuppression and tolerance induction. Eur J Immunol, 1987.
 17(8): p. 1159-65.

- 155. Marshall, S.E., et al., *Tolerance and suppression in a primed immune system*. Transplantation, 1996. **62**(11): p. 1614-21.
- Chen, Z., et al., *Tolerance in the mouse to major histocompatibility complex-mismatched heart allografts, and to rat heart xenografts, using monoclonal antibodies to CD4 and CD8*. Eur J Immunol, 1992.
 22(3): p. 805-10.
- 157. Onodera, K., et al., Induction of "infectious" tolerance to MHCincompatible cardiac allografts in CD4 monoclonal antibodytreated sensitized rat recipients. J Immunol, 1996. **157**(5): p. 1944-50.
- 158. Graca, L., et al., *Both CD4(+)CD25(+) and CD4(+)CD25(-) regulatory cells mediate dominant transplantation tolerance.* J Immunol, 2002. **168**(11): p. 5558-65.
- Graca, L., S.P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann, *Identification of regulatory T cells in tolerated allografts.* J Exp Med, 2002. **195**(12): p. 1641-6.
- Scully, R., et al., Mechanisms in CD4 antibody-mediated transplantation tolerance: kinetics of induction, antigen dependency and role of regulatory T cells. Eur J Immunol, 1994.
 24(10): p. 2383-92.
- 161. Chen, Z.K., et al., Amplification of natural regulatory immune mechanisms for transplantation tolerance. Transplantation, 1996.
 62(9): p. 1200-6.
- 162. Graca, L., et al., *Cutting edge: anti-CD154 therapeutic antibodies induce infectious transplantation tolerance.* J Immunol, 2000.
 165(9): p. 4783-6.
- 163. Davies, J.D., et al., *T cell suppression in transplantation tolerance through linked recognition.* J Immunol, 1996. **156**(10): p. 3602-7.
- 164. Honey, K., S.P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann, *CD40 ligand blockade induces CD4+ T cell tolerance and linked suppression.* J Immunol, 1999. **163**(9): p. 4805-10.
- 165. Trambley, J., et al., *Asialo GM1(+) CD8(+) T cells play a critical role in costimulation blockade-resistant allograft rejection.* J Clin Invest, 1999. **104**(12): p. 1715-22.
- 166. Chatenoud, L., Monoclonal antibody-based strategies in autoimmunity and transplantation. Methods Mol Med, 2005. 109: p. 297-328.
- 167. Chatenoud, L., *CD3-specific antibody-induced active tolerance: from bench to bedside.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2003. **3**(2): p. 123-32.
- 168. Casale, T.B. and J.R. Stokes, *Immunomodulators for allergic respiratory disorders.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2008. **121**(2): p. 288-96; quiz 297-8.

- 169. Nguyen, T.H. and T.B. Casale, *Immune modulation for treatment of allergic disease*. Immunol Rev, 2011. **242**(1): p. 258-71.
- 170. Oliphant, C.J., J.L. Barlow, and A.N. McKenzie, *Insights into the initiation of type 2 immune responses*. Immunology, 2011. **134**(4): p. 378-85.
- 171. Miyajima, I., et al., Systemic anaphylaxis in the mouse can be mediated largely through IgG1 and Fc gammaRIII. Assessment of the cardiopulmonary changes, mast cell degranulation, and death associated with active or IgE- or IgG1-dependent passive anaphylaxis. J Clin Invest, 1997. **99**(5): p. 901-14.
- 172. Oshiba, A., et al., *Passive transfer of immediate hypersensitivity* and airway hyperresponsiveness by allergen-specific immunoglobulin (Ig) E and IgG1 in mice. J Clin Invest, 1996. **97**(6): p. 1398-408.
- 173. Gessner, J.E., et al., *The IgG Fc receptor family*. Ann Hematol, 1998. **76**(6): p. 231-48.
- 174. O'Mahony, L., M. Akdis, and C.A. Akdis, *Regulation of the immune response and inflammation by histamine and histamine receptors.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2011. **128**(6): p. 1153-62.
- 175. Wilson, M.S., et al., *Suppression of murine allergic airway disease by IL-2:anti-IL-2 monoclonal antibody-induced regulatory T cells.* J Immunol, 2008. **181**(10): p. 6942-54.
- 176. Duarte, J., M. Caridade, and L. Graca, *CD4-Blockade Can Induce Protection from Peanut-Induced Anaphylaxis.* Front Immunol, 2011. **2**: p. 56.
- 177. Tang, A., et al., Suppression of murine allergic contact dermatitis by CTLA4Ig. Tolerance induction of Th2 responses requires additional blockade of CD40-ligand. J Immunol, 1996. **157**(1): p. 117-25.
- 178. Seshasayee, D., et al., *In vivo blockade of OX40 ligand inhibits thymic stromal lymphopoietin driven atopic inflammation.* J Clin Invest, 2007. **117**(12): p. 3868-78.
- 179. Linhart, B., et al., *Costimulation blockade inhibits allergic sensitization but does not affect established allergy in a murine model of grass pollen allergy*. J Immunol, 2007. **178**(6): p. 3924-31.
- Taylor, P.A., et al., Tolerance induction of alloreactive T cells via ex vivo blockade of the CD40:CD40L costimulatory pathway results in the generation of a potent immune regulatory cell. Blood, 2002.
 99(12): p. 4601-9.
- 181. Corry, D.B., et al., Interleukin 4, but not interleukin 5 or eosinophils, is required in a murine model of acute airway hyperreactivity. J Exp Med, 1996. 183(1): p. 109-17.

- 182. Sher, A., et al., *Ablation of eosinophil and IgE responses with anti-IL-5 or anti-IL-4 antibodies fails to affect immunity against Schistosoma mansoni in the mouse.* J Immunol, 1990. **145**(11): p. 3911-6.
- 183. Leckie, M.J., et al., *Effects of an interleukin-5 blocking monoclonal antibody on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response.* Lancet, 2000. **356**(9248): p. 2144-8.
- 184. Yang, G., et al., *Therapeutic dosing with anti-interleukin-13 monoclonal antibody inhibits asthma progression in mice.* J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 2005. **313**(1): p. 8-15.
- 185. Bree, A., et al., *IL-13 blockade reduces lung inflammation after Ascaris suum challenge in cynomolgus monkeys.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2007. **119**(5): p. 1251-7.
- 186. Ballantyne, S.J., et al., *Blocking IL-25 prevents airway hyperresponsiveness in allergic asthma*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2007. **120**(6): p. 1324-31.
- 187. Liu, X., et al., *Anti-IL-33 antibody treatment inhibits airway inflammation in a murine model of allergic asthma.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2009. **386**(1): p. 181-5.
- Shi, L., et al., Local blockade of TSLP receptor alleviated allergic disease by regulating airway dendritic cells. Clin Immunol, 2008. 129(2): p. 202-10.
- 189. Iwamoto, I. and A. Nakao, *Induction of Th2 cell tolerance to a soluble antigen by blockade of the LFA-1-dependent pathway prevents allergic inflammation.* Immunol Res, 1995. **14**(4): p. 263-70.
- 190. Ohmura, T., et al., *Suppression of atopic-like dermatitis by treatment with antibody to lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 in NC/Nga mouse.* Eur J Pharmacol, 2004. **504**(1-2): p. 113-7.
- 191. Cernadas, M., et al., CD23 and allergic pulmonary inflammation: potential role as an inhibitor. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 1999. 20(1): p. 1-8.
- 192. Poole, J.A., et al., *Anti-CD23 monoclonal antibody, lumiliximab, inhibited allergen-induced responses in antigen-presenting cells and T cells from atopic subjects.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2005. **116**(4): p. 780-8.
- 193. Gwinn, W.M., et al., Novel approach to inhibit asthma-mediated lung inflammation using anti-CD147 intervention. J Immunol, 2006.
 177(7): p. 4870-9.

194.	Shen, H.H., et al., CCR3 monoclonal antibody inhibits airway eosinophilic inflammation and mucus overproduction in a mouse
	<i>model of astrima</i> . Acta Pharmacol Sin, 2006. 27 (12): p. 1594-9.
195.	Encinas, J.A., et al., Anti-T-cell Ig and mucin domain-containing protein 1 antibody decreases TH2 airway inflammation in a mouse model of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2005. 116 (6): p. 1343-9.
196.	Kearley, J., S.J. McMillan, and C.M. Lloyd, <i>Th2-driven, allergen-</i> <i>induced airway inflammation is reduced after treatment with anti-</i> <i>Tim-3 antibody in vivo.</i> J Exp Med. 2007. 204 (6): p. 1289-94.
197.	Deveci, F., et al., Evaluation of the anti-inflammatory effect of infliximab in a mouse model of acute asthma. Respirology, 2008. 13 (4): p. 488-97.
198.	Cho, Y.S., et al., 4-1 BB stimulation inhibits allergen-specific immunoglobulin <i>E</i> production and airway hyper-reactivity but partially suppresses bronchial eosinophilic inflammation in a mouse asthma model. Clin Exp Allergy, 2006, 36 (3): p. 377-85.
199.	Polte, T., et al., <i>CD137 ligand prevents the development of T-helper type 2 cell-mediated allergic asthma by interferon-gamma-producing CD8+ T cells.</i> Clin Exp Allergy, 2007. 37 (9): p. 1374-85.
200.	Polte, T., et al., <i>CD137-mediated immunotherapy for allergic asthma.</i> J Clin Invest, 2006. 116 (4): p. 1025-36.
201.	Tumas, D.B., et al., <i>Anti-IgE efficacy in murine asthma models is dependent on the method of allergen sensitization.</i> J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2001. 107 (6): p. 1025-33.
202.	Lanier, B., et al., <i>Omalizumab for the treatment of exacerbations in children with inadequately controlled allergic (IgE-mediated) asthma.</i> J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2009. 124 (6): p. 1210-6.
203.	Bilsborough, J., et al., <i>TACI-Ig prevents the development of airway hyperresponsiveness in a murine model of asthma</i> . Clin Exp Allergy, 2008. 38 (12): p. 1959-68.
204.	Eiwegger, T. and C.A. Akdis, <i>IL-33 links tissue cells, dendritic cells and Th2 cell development in a mouse model of asthma.</i> Eur J Immunol, 2011. 41 (6): p. 1535-8.
205.	Besnard, A.G., et al., <i>IL-33-activated dendritic cells are critical for allergic airway inflammation</i> . Eur J Immunol, 2011. 41 (6): p. 1675-86.
206.	Davies, J.D., S.P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann, <i>Strain variation in susceptibility to monoclonal antibody-induced transplantation tolerance</i> . Transplantation, 1997. 63 (11): p. 1570-3.
207.	Williams, M.A., et al., <i>Genetic characterization of strain differences</i> <i>in the ability to mediate CD40/CD28-independent rejection of skin</i> <i>allografts</i> . J Immunol, 2000. 165 (12): p. 6849-57.

- 208. Guo, Z., et al., Immunotherapy with nondepleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies but not CD28 antagonists protects islet graft in spontaneously diabetic nod mice from autoimmune destruction and allogeneic and xenogeneic graft rejection. Transplantation, 2001. **71**(11): p. 1656-65.
- 209. Welsh, R.M., et al., *Virus-induced abrogation of transplantation tolerance induced by donor-specific transfusion and anti-CD154 antibody*. J Virol, 2000. **74**(5): p. 2210-8.
- 210. Williams, M.A., et al., *Cutting edge: persistent viral infection prevents tolerance induction and escapes immune control following CD28/CD40 blockade-based regimen.* J Immunol, 2002. **169**(10): p. 5387-91.
- 211. Adams, A.B., et al., *Conventional immunosuppression is compatible with costimulation blockade-based, mixed chimerism tolerance induction.* Am J Transplant, 2003. **3**(7): p. 895-901.
- 212. Adams, A.B., T.C. Pearson, and C.P. Larsen, *Heterologous immunity: an overlooked barrier to tolerance.* Immunol Rev, 2003. **196**: p. 147-60.
- 213. Bushell, A., et al., *The generation of CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells that prevent allograft rejection does not compromise immunity to a viral pathogen.* J Immunol, 2005. **174**(6): p. 3290-7.
- 214. Chavin, K.D., et al., *Anti-CD2 and anti-CD3 monoclonal antibodies synergize to prolong allograft survival with decreased side effects.* Transplantation, 1993. **55**(4): p. 901-8.
- 215. Nicolls, M.R., et al., *Induction of long-term specific tolerance to allografts in rats by therapy with an anti-CD3-like monoclonal antibody.* Transplantation, 1993. **55**(3): p. 459-68.
- 216. Chavin, K.D., et al., *Combined anti-CD2 and anti-CD3 receptor monoclonal antibodies induce donor-specific tolerance in a cardiac transplant model.* J Immunol, 1993. **151**(12): p. 7249-59.
- 217. Winsor-Hines, D., et al., *Induction of immunological tolerance/hyporesponsiveness in baboons with a nondepleting CD4 antibody*. J Immunol, 2004. **173**(7): p. 4715-23.
- 218. Lenschow, D.J., et al., *Long-term survival of xenogeneic pancreatic islet grafts induced by CTLA4lg.* Science, 1992. **257**(5071): p. 789-92.
- 219. Basadonna, G.P., et al., *Antibody-mediated targeting of CD45 isoforms: a novel immunotherapeutic strategy.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. **95**(7): p. 3821-6.
- 220. Lazarovits, A.I., et al., *Prevention and reversal of renal allograft rejection by antibody against CD45RB.* Nature, 1996. **380**(6576): p. 717-20.

- Shoda, L.K., et al., A comprehensive review of interventions in the NOD mouse and implications for translation. Immunity, 2005.
 23(2): p. 115-26.
- 222. Curry, A.J., et al., OX40 (CD134) blockade inhibits the costimulatory cascade and promotes heart allograft survival. Transplantation, 2004. **78**(6): p. 807-14.
- 223. Wu, Z., et al., *Homeostatic proliferation is a barrier to transplantation tolerance*. Nat Med, 2004. **10**(1): p. 87-92.
- 224. Parker, D.C., et al., Survival of mouse pancreatic islet allografts in recipients treated with allogeneic small lymphocytes and antibody to CD40 ligand. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. **92**(21): p. 9560-4.
- 225. Korganow, A.S., et al., *From systemic T cell self-reactivity to organspecific autoimmune disease via immunoglobulins*. Immunity, 1999. **10**(4): p. 451-61.
- 226. Larsen, C.P., et al., Long-term acceptance of skin and cardiac allografts after blocking CD40 and CD28 pathways. Nature, 1996. **381**(6581): p. 434-8.
- Isobe, M., et al., Specific acceptance of cardiac allograft after treatment with antibodies to ICAM-1 and LFA-1. Science, 1992.
 255(5048): p. 1125-7.
- 228. Zheng, X.X., et al., *Favorably tipping the balance between cytopathic and regulatory T cells to create transplantation tolerance.* Immunity, 2003. **19**(4): p. 503-14.
- van Maurik, A., K.J. Wood, and N.D. Jones, Impact of both donor and recipient strains on cardiac allograft survival after blockade of the CD40-CD154 costimulatory pathway. Transplantation, 2002. 74(5): p. 740-3.
- 230. Jones, N.D., et al., *Differential susceptibility of heart, skin, and islet allografts to T cell-mediated rejection.* J Immunol, 2001. **166**(4): p. 2824-30.
- 231. Guo, L., et al., *Evaluation of a rat model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with human MBP as antigen.* Cell Mol Immunol, 2004. **1**(5): p. 387-91.
- 232. Qian, S., et al., *Murine liver allograft transplantation: tolerance and donor cell chimerism.* Hepatology, 1994. **19**(4): p. 916-24.
- 233. Markees, T.G., et al., NOD mice have a generalized defect in their response to transplantation tolerance induction. Diabetes, 1999.
 48(5): p. 967-74.
- 234. Newell, K.A., et al., *Cutting edge: blockade of the CD28/B7 costimulatory pathway inhibits intestinal allograft rejection mediated by CD4+ but not CD8+ T cells.* J Immunol, 1999. **163**(5): p. 2358-62.

- 235. Pearson, T.C., et al., *The assessment of transplantation tolerance induced by anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody in the murine model.* Transplantation, 1993. **55**(2): p. 361-7.
- 236. Pearson, T.C., et al., *Transplantation tolerance induced by CTLA4-Ig.* Transplantation, 1994. **57**(12): p. 1701-6.
- 237. Cavazzana-Calvo, M., et al., *Prevention of bone marrow and cardiac graft rejection in an H-2 haplotype disparate mouse combination by an anti-LFA-1 antibody*. Transplantation, 1995. **59**(11): p. 1576-82.
- 238. Isobe, M., et al., Acceptance of primary skin graft after treatment with anti-intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and anti-leukocyte function-associated antigen-1 monoclonal antibodies in mice. Transplantation, 1996. **62**(3): p. 411-3.
- 239. Wells, A.D., et al., *Requirement for T-cell apoptosis in the induction of peripheral transplantation tolerance.* Nat Med, 1999. **5**(11): p. 1303-7.
- 240. Kirk, A.D., et al., *Treatment with humanized monoclonal antibody against CD154 prevents acute renal allograft rejection in nonhuman primates.* Nat Med, 1999. **5**(6): p. 686-93.
- 241. Smiley, S.T., et al., *Differential effects of cyclosporine A, methylprednisolone, mycophenolate, and rapamycin on CD154 induction and requirement for NFkappaB: implications for tolerance induction.* Transplantation, 2000. **70**(3): p. 415-9.
- 242. Brinkmann, V. and K.R. Lynch, *FTY720: targeting G-protein-coupled receptors for sphingosine 1-phosphate in transplantation and autoimmunity.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2002. **14**(5): p. 569-75.
- 243. Yoshitomi, H., et al., *A role for fungal {beta}-glucans and their receptor Dectin-1 in the induction of autoimmune arthritis in genetically susceptible mice.* J Exp Med, 2005. **201**(6): p. 949-60.
- 244. Marleau, A.M. and N. Sarvetnick, *T cell homeostasis in tolerance and immunity.* J Leukoc Biol, 2005. **78**(3): p. 575-84.
- 245. Goldrath, A.W., L.Y. Bogatzki, and M.J. Bevan, *Naive T cells* transiently acquire a memory-like phenotype during homeostasisdriven proliferation. J Exp Med, 2000. **192**(4): p. 557-64.
- 246. Rossini, A.A., et al., *Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus hypothesis of autoimmunity*. Autoimmunity, 1991. **8**(3): p. 221-35.
- 247. Fitzpatrick, F., et al., *Influence of castration, alone or combined with thymectomy, on the development of diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse.* Endocrinology, 1991. **129**(3): p. 1382-90.
- 248. Like, A.A., et al., *Spontaneous diabetes mellitus: reversal and prevention in the BB/W rat with antiserum to rat lymphocytes.* Science, 1979. **206**(4425): p. 1421-3.

- 249. Mordes, J.P., et al., *LEW.1WR1 rats develop autoimmune diabetes spontaneously and in response to environmental perturbation*. Diabetes, 2005. **54**(9): p. 2727-33.
- Andrews, B.S., et al., Spontaneous murine lupus-like syndromes. Clinical and immunopathological manifestations in several strains. J Exp Med, 1978. 148(5): p. 1198-215.
- 251. Furukawa, F. and T. Yoshimasu, *Animal models of spontaneous and drug-induced cutaneous lupus erythematosus*. Autoimmun Rev, 2005. **4**(6): p. 345-50.
- 252. Kouskoff, V., et al., Organ-specific disease provoked by systemic autoimmunity. Cell, 1996. **87**(5): p. 811-22.
- 253. Lafaille, J.J., et al., *High incidence of spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis in immunodeficient anti-myelin basic protein T cell receptor transgenic mice*. Cell, 1994. **78**(3): p. 399-408.
- 254. Holmdahl, R., et al., *Characterization of the antibody response in mice with type II collagen-induced arthritis, using monoclonal anti-type II collagen antibodies.* Arthritis Rheum, 1986. **29**(3): p. 400-10.
- 255. Wooley, P.H., et al., *Type II collagen-induced arthritis in mice. I. Major histocompatibility complex (I region) linkage and antibody correlates.* J Exp Med, 1981. **154**(3): p. 688-700.
- 256. Trentham, D.E., A.S. Townes, and A.H. Kang, *Autoimmunity to type II collagen an experimental model of arthritis.* J Exp Med, 1977. **146**(3): p. 857-68.
- 257. Croxford, J.L., et al., *Local gene therapy with CTLA4immunoglobulin fusion protein in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis*. Eur J Immunol, 1998. **28**(12): p. 3904-16.
- 258. Nohara, C., et al., Amelioration of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with anti-OX40 ligand monoclonal antibody: a critical role for OX40 ligand in migration, but not development, of pathogenic T cells. J Immunol, 2001. **166**(3): p. 2108-15.
- 259. Carayanniotis, G., S.R. Masters, and R.J. Noelle, *Suppression of murine thyroiditis via blockade of the CD40-CD40L interaction.* Immunology, 1997. **90**(3): p. 421-6.
- 260. Barlow, A.K. and A.A. Like, *Anti-CD2 monoclonal antibodies prevent spontaneous and adoptive transfer of diabetes in the BB/Wor rat.* Am J Pathol, 1992. **141**(5): p. 1043-51.
- 261. Yokoi, N., et al., *Cblb is a major susceptibility gene for rat type 1 diabetes mellitus.* Nat Genet, 2002. **31**(4): p. 391-4.
- Lenzen, S., et al., The LEW.1AR1/Ztm-iddm rat: a new model of spontaneous insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia, 2001. 44(9): p. 1189-96.

- 263. Nakamura, H., et al., *Experimental autoimmune uveitis induced by immunization with retinal pigment epithelium-specific 65-kDa protein peptides.* Curr Eye Res, 2005. **30**(8): p. 673-80.
- 264. Stanislaus, R., et al., *N-acetyl-L-cysteine ameliorates the inflammatory disease process in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in Lewis rats.* J Autoimmune Dis, 2005. **2**(1): p. 4.
- 265. Fijak, M., et al., *Identification of immunodominant autoantigens in rat autoimmune orchitis.* J Pathol, 2005. **207**(2): p. 127-38.
- 266. von Budingen, H.C., et al., *Immune responses against the myelin/oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in experimental autoimmune demyelination.* J Clin Immunol, 2001. **21**(3): p. 155-70.
- 267. Sun, Y., et al., *Administration of agonistic anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibody leads to the amelioration of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* J Immunol, 2002. **168**(3): p. 1457-65.
- 268. Lafaille, J.J., et al., *Myelin basic protein-specific T helper 2 (Th2) cells cause experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in immunodeficient hosts rather than protect them from the disease.* J Exp Med, 1997. **186**(2): p. 307-12.
- 269. Olivares-Villagomez, D., Y. Wang, and J.J. Lafaille, *Regulatory CD4(+) T* cells expressing endogenous *T* cell receptor chains protect myelin basic protein-specific transgenic mice from spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Exp Med, 1998. **188**(10): p. 1883-94.
- 270. Hori, S., et al., Specificity requirements for selection and effector functions of CD25+4+ regulatory T cells in anti-myelin basic protein T cell receptor transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002.
 99(12): p. 8213-8.
- 271. Feldmann, M. and R.N. Maini, *Anti-TNF alpha therapy of rheumatoid arthritis: what have we learned?* Annu Rev Immunol, 2001. **19**: p. 163-96.
- 272. Coles, A.J., et al., Pulsed monoclonal antibody treatment and autoimmune thyroid disease in multiple sclerosis. Lancet, 1999.
 354(9191): p. 1691-5.
- 273. Edwards, J.C., et al., *Efficacy of B-cell-targeted therapy with rituximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis.* N Engl J Med, 2004.
 350(25): p. 2572-81.
- 274. Chatenoud, L., et al., *Anti-CD3 antibody induces long-term remission of overt autoimmunity in nonobese diabetic mice.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. **91**(1): p. 123-7.
- 275. Chatenoud, L., J. Primo, and J.F. Bach, *CD3 antibody-induced dominant self tolerance in overtly diabetic NOD mice.* J Immunol, 1997. **158**(6): p. 2947-54.

- 276. von Herrath, M.G., et al., *Nonmitogenic CD3 antibody reverses* virally induced (rat insulin promoter-lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus) autoimmune diabetes without impeding viral clearance. J Immunol, 2002. **168**(2): p. 933-41.
- 277. Hughes, C., et al., Induction of T helper cell hyporesponsiveness in an experimental model of autoimmunity by using nonmitogenic anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody. J Immunol, 1994. **153**(7): p. 3319-25.
- 278. Smith, J.A., et al., *Nonmitogenic anti-CD3 monoclonal antibodies deliver a partial T cell receptor signal and induce clonal anergy.* J Exp Med, 1997. **185**(8): p. 1413-22.
- 279. Hahn, H.J., et al., *Anti-CD4 therapy in recent-onset IDDM*. Diabetes Metab Rev, 1993. **9**(4): p. 323-8.
- 280. Phillips, J.M., et al., *Nondepleting anti-CD4 has an immediate action on diabetogenic effector cells, halting their destruction of pancreatic beta cells.* J Immunol, 2000. **165**(4): p. 1949-55.
- 281. Makhlouf, L., et al., *Depleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody cures new-onset diabetes, prevents recurrent autoimmune diabetes, and delays allograft rejection in nonobese diabetic mice.* Transplantation, 2004. **77**(7): p. 990-7.
- 282. Mottram, P.L., et al., Long-term survival of segmental pancreas isografts in NOD/Lt mice treated with anti-CD4 and anti-CD8 monoclonal antibodies. Diabetes, 1998. **47**(9): p. 1399-405.
- 283. Williams, R.O., A. Whyte, and H. Waldmann, *Resistance to collagen-induced arthritis in DBA/1 mice by intraperitoneal administration of soluble type II collagen involves both CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes.* Autoimmunity, 1989. **4**(4): p. 237-45.
- 284. Williams, R.O., et al., Synergy between anti-CD4 and anti-tumor necrosis factor in the amelioration of established collagen-induced arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. **91**(7): p. 2762-6.
- 285. Mauri, C., et al., *Treatment of a newly established transgenic model* of chronic arthritis with nondepleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody. J Immunol, 1997. **159**(10): p. 5032-41.
- 286. Inomata, T., et al., Anti-CD2 monoclonal antibodies prevent the induction of experimental autoimmune myocarditis. Jpn Heart J, 2000. 41(4): p. 507-17.
- 287. Jung, S., K. Toyka, and H.P. Hartung, *Suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in Lewis rats by antibodies against CD2*. Eur J Immunol, 1995. **25**(5): p. 1391-8.
- 288. Adachi, Y., et al., *Effects of administration of monoclonal antibodies (anti-CD4 or anti-CD8) on the development of*

autoimmune diseases in (NZW x BXSB)F1 mice. Immunobiology, 1998. **198**(4): p. 451-64.

- 289. Maini, R.N., et al., *Monoclonal anti-TNF alpha antibody as a probe of pathogenesis and therapy of rheumatoid disease.* Immunol Rev, 1995. **144**: p. 195-223.
- 290. Lin, H., et al., Long-term acceptance of major histocompatibility complex mismatched cardiac allografts induced by CTLA4Ig plus donor-specific transfusion. J Exp Med, 1993. **178**(5): p. 1801-6.
- 291. Chakrabarty, S., et al., *Critical roles of CD30/CD30L interactions in murine autoimmune diabetes.* Clin Exp Immunol, 2003. **133**(3): p. 318-25.
- 292. Kalled, S.L., A.H. Cutler, and L.C. Burkly, *Apoptosis and altered dendritic cell homeostasis in lupus nephritis are limited by anti-CD154 treatment*. J Immunol, 2001. **167**(3): p. 1740-7.
- 293. Finck, B.K., P.S. Linsley, and D. Wofsy, *Treatment of murine lupus* with CTLA4Ig. Science, 1994. **265**(5176): p. 1225-7.
- 294. Mihara, M., et al., *CTLA4Ig inhibits T cell-dependent B-cell maturation in murine systemic lupus erythematosus.* J Clin Invest, 2000. **106**(1): p. 91-101.
- 295. Daikh, D.I. and D. Wofsy, *Cutting edge: reversal of murine lupus nephritis with CTLA4Ig and cyclophosphamide.* J Immunol, 2001. **166**(5): p. 2913-6.
- 296. Wang, X., et al., *Mechanism of action of combined short-term CTLA4Ig and anti-CD40 ligand in murine systemic lupus erythematosus.* J Immunol, 2002. **168**(4): p. 2046-53.
- 297. Chu, E.B., et al., Intervention of CD4+ cell subset shifts and autoimmunity in the BXSB mouse by murine CTLA4Ig. J Immunol, 1996. **156**(3): p. 1262-8.
- 298. Boon, L., et al., Prevention of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the common marmoset (Callithrix jacchus) using a chimeric antagonist monoclonal antibody against human CD40 is associated with altered B cell responses. J Immunol, 2001. 167(5): p. 2942-9.
- 299. Sharp, C., et al., *CD40 ligand in pathogenesis of autoimmune ovarian disease of day 3-thymectomized mice: implication for CD40 ligand antibody therapy.* J Immunol, 2003. **170**(4): p. 1667-74.
- 300. Namba, K., et al., Amelioration of experimental autoimmune uveoretinitis by pretreatment with a pathogenic peptide in liposome and anti-CD40 ligand monoclonal antibody. J Immunol, 2000. **165**(6): p. 2962-9.
- 301. Early, G.S., W. Zhao, and C.M. Burns, *Anti-CD40 ligand antibody treatment prevents the development of lupus-like nephritis in a*
subset of New Zealand black x New Zealand white mice. Response correlates with the absence of an anti-antibody response. J Immunol, 1996. **157**(7): p. 3159-64.

- Zandman-Goddard, G. and Y. Shoenfeld, Novel approaches to therapy for systemic lupus erythematosus. Eur J Intern Med, 2000. 11(3): p. 130-134.
- 303. Quezada, S.A., et al., *Distinct mechanisms of action of anti-CD154 in early versus late treatment of murine lupus nephritis.* Arthritis Rheum, 2003. **48**(9): p. 2541-54.
- 304. t Hart, B.A., et al., *Treatment with chimeric anti-human CD40* antibody suppresses *MRI-detectable inflammation and* enlargement of pre-existing brain lesions in common marmosets affected by MOG-induced EAE. J Neuroimmunol, 2005. **163**(1-2): p. 31-9.
- 305. Foell, J.L., et al., Engagement of the CD137 (4-1BB) costimulatory molecule inhibits and reverses the autoimmune process in collageninduced arthritis and establishes lasting disease resistance. Immunology, 2004. **113**(1): p. 89-98.
- 306. Foell, J., et al., *CD137 costimulatory T cell receptor engagement reverses acute disease in lupus-prone NZB x NZW F1 mice.* J Clin Invest, 2003. **111**(10): p. 1505-18.
- 307. Malmstrom, V., et al., CD134L expression on dendritic cells in the mesenteric lymph nodes drives colitis in T cell-restored SCID mice. J Immunol, 2001. 166(11): p. 6972-81.
- 308. Lee, J., et al., Administration of agonistic anti-4-1BB monoclonal antibody leads to the amelioration of inflammatory bowel disease. Immunol Lett, 2005. **101**(2): p. 210-6.
- 309. Moriyama, H., et al., *Induction of tolerance in murine autoimmune diabetes by transient blockade of leukocyte function-associated antigen-1/intercellular adhesion molecule-1 pathway.* J Immunol, 1996. **157**(8): p. 3737-43.
- 310. Wekerle, T. and M. Sykes, *Mixed chimerism and transplantation tolerance*. Annu Rev Med, 2001. **52**: p. 353-70.
- 311. Ciubotariu, R., et al., *Specific suppression of human CD4+ Th cell responses to pig MHC antigens by CD8+CD28- regulatory T cells.* J Immunol, 1998. **161**(10): p. 5193-202.
- 312. Kurtz, J., et al., *Mechanisms of early peripheral CD4 T-cell tolerance induction by anti-CD154 monoclonal antibody and allogeneic bone marrow transplantation: evidence for anergy and deletion but not regulatory cells.* Blood, 2004. **103**(11): p. 4336-43.

- 313. Kenyon, N.S., et al., *Long-term survival and function of intrahepatic islet allografts in rhesus monkeys treated with humanized anti-CD154.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1999. **96**(14): p. 8132-7.
- 314. Keymeulen, B., et al., *Insulin needs after CD3-antibody therapy in new-onset type 1 diabetes.* N Engl J Med, 2005. **352**(25): p. 2598-608.
- 315. Holgate, S.T. and R. Polosa, *Treatment strategies for allergy and asthma*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(3): p. 218-30.
- 316. Holt, P.G., et al., *Regulation of immunological homeostasis in the respiratory tract.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(2): p. 142-52.
- 317. Curotto de Lafaille, M.A., J.J. Lafaille, and L. Graca, *Mechanisms of tolerance and allergic sensitization in the airways and the lungs.* Curr Opin Immunol. **22**(5): p. 616-22.
- 318. Hammad, H. and B.N. Lambrecht, *Dendritic cells and epithelial cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity in asthma*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(3): p. 193-204.
- 319. Zuany-Amorim, C., et al., *Suppression of airway eosinophilia by killed Mycobacterium vaccae-induced allergen-specific regulatory T-cells.* Nat Med, 2002. **8**(6): p. 625-9.
- 320. Xystrakis, E., et al., *Reversing the defective induction of IL-10-secreting regulatory T cells in glucocorticoid-resistant asthma patients.* J Clin Invest, 2006. **116**(1): p. 146-55.
- 321. Mucida, D., et al., *Oral tolerance in the absence of naturally occurring Tregs.* J Clin Invest, 2005. **115**(7): p. 1923-33.
- 322. Gavett, S.H., et al., *Depletion of murine CD4+ T lymphocytes* prevents antigen-induced airway hyperreactivity and pulmonary eosinophilia. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 1994. **10**(6): p. 587-93.
- 323. Kon, O.M., et al., *Randomised, dose-ranging, placebo-controlled study of chimeric antibody to CD4 (keliximab) in chronic severe asthma*. Lancet, 1998. **352**(9134): p. 1109-13.
- 324. Krinzman, S.J., et al., Inhibition of T cell costimulation abrogates airway hyperresponsiveness in a murine model. J Clin Invest, 1996.
 98(12): p. 2693-9.
- 325. Li, L., et al., *Ability of a nondepleting anti-CD4 antibody to inhibit Th2 responses and allergic lung inflammation is independent of coreceptor function.* J Immunol, 1999. **163**(12): p. 6557-66.
- 326. Curotto de Lafaille, M.A., et al., *Adaptive Foxp3+ regulatory T celldependent and -independent control of allergic inflammation.* Immunity, 2008. **29**(1): p. 114-26.
- 327. Zosky, G.R., et al., The pattern of methacholine responsiveness in mice is dependent on antigen challenge dose. Respir Res, 2004. 5: p. 15.

- 328. Ballow, M., *Biologic immune modifiers: Trials and tribulations--are we there yet?* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2006. **118**(6): p. 1209-15; quiz 1216-7.
- 329. van Oosten, B.W., et al., *Treatment of multiple sclerosis with the monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody cM-T412: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, MR-monitored phase II trial.* Neurology, 1997. **49**(2): p. 351-7.
- 330. Moreland, L.W., et al., *Double-blind*, *placebo-controlled multicenter trial using chimeric monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody*, *cM-T412*, *in rheumatoid arthritis patients receiving concomitant methotrexate*. Arthritis Rheum, 1995. **38**(11): p. 1581-8.
- 331. Horneff, G., et al., *Human anti-mouse antibody response induced by anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis.* Clin Immunol Immunopathol, 1991. **59**(1): p. 89-103.
- 332. Ng, C.M., et al., *Pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics of* nondepleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody (TRX1) in healthy human volunteers. Pharm Res, 2006. **23**(1): p. 95-103.
- 333. Astermark, J., S. Lacroix-Desmazes, and M.T. Reding, *Inhibitor development*. Haemophilia, 2008. **14 Suppl 3**: p. 36-42.
- Lillicrap, D., The role of immunomodulation in the management of factor VIII inhibitors. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program, 2006: p. 421-5.
- 335. Dimichele, D., *Immune tolerance therapy for factor VIII inhibitors: moving from empiricism to an evidence-based approach.* J Thromb Haemost, 2007. **5 Suppl 1**: p. 143-50.
- Fox, R.A., E.J. Neufeld, and C.M. Bennett, *Rituximab for adolescents with haemophilia and high titre inhibitors.* Haemophilia, 2006.
 12(3): p. 218-22.
- 337. Kurth, M.A., et al., *Immune tolerance therapy utilizing factor VIII/von Willebrand factor concentrate in haemophilia A patients with high titre factor VIII inhibitors.* Haemophilia, 2008. **14**(1): p. 50-5.
- 338. Kempton, C.L. and G.C. White, 2nd, *How we treat a hemophilia A patient with a factor VIII inhibitor.* Blood, 2009. **113**(1): p. 11-7.
- 339. Waldmann, H., E. Adams, and S. Cobbold, *Reprogramming the immune system: co-receptor blockade as a paradigm for harnessing tolerance mechanisms.* Immunol Rev, 2008. **223**: p. 361-70.
- 340. Cobbold, S.P., et al., *Induction of foxP3+ regulatory T cells in the periphery of T cell receptor transgenic mice tolerized to transplants.* J Immunol, 2004. **172**(10): p. 6003-10.

- Reipert, B.M., et al., Blockade of CD40/CD40 ligand interactions prevents induction of factor VIII inhibitors in hemophilic mice but does not induce lasting immune tolerance. Thromb Haemost, 2001. 86(6): p. 1345-52.
- 342. Salooja, N., et al., Use of a non-depleting anti-CD4 antibody to modulate the immune response to coagulation factors VIII and IX. Br J Haematol, 2002. **118**(3): p. 839-42.
- 343. Peng, B., et al., *Transient blockade of the inducible costimulator* pathway generates long-term tolerance to factor VIII after nonviral gene transfer into hemophilia A mice. Blood, 2008. **112**(5): p. 1662-72.
- 344. Bi, L., et al., *Targeted disruption of the mouse factor VIII gene produces a model of haemophilia A.* Nat Genet, 1995. **10**(1): p. 119-21.
- 345. Curotto de Lafaille, M.A., et al., *Hyper immunoglobulin E response in mice with monoclonal populations of B and T lymphocytes.* J Exp Med, 2001. **194**(9): p. 1349-59.
- 346. Kasper, C.K., et al., *Proceedings: A more uniform measurement of factor VIII inhibitors*. Thromb Diath Haemorrh, 1975. **34**(2): p. 612.
- 347. Kool, M., K. Fierens, and B.N. Lambrecht, *Alum adjuvant: Some of the Tricks of the oldest adjuvant.* J Med Microbiol, 2011.
- 348. Lindblad, E.B., *Aluminium adjuvants--in retrospect and prospect.* Vaccine, 2004. **22**(27-28): p. 3658-68.
- 349. HogenEsch, H., *Mechanisms of stimulation of the immune response by aluminum adjuvants.* Vaccine, 2002. **20 Suppl 3**: p. S34-9.
- 350. Apostolou, I. and H. von Boehmer, *In vivo instruction of suppressor commitment in naive T cells.* J Exp Med, 2004. **199**(10): p. 1401-8.
- 351. Kingsley, C.I., et al., *CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells prevent graft rejection: CTLA-4- and IL-10-dependent immunoregulation of alloresponses.* J Immunol, 2002. **168**(3): p. 1080-6.
- 352. Regateiro, F.S., et al., *TGF-beta in transplantation tolerance*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2011. **23**(5): p. 660-9.
- 353. Hara, M., et al., *IL-10 is required for regulatory T cells to mediate tolerance to alloantigens in vivo.* J Immunol, 2001. **166**(6): p. 3789-96.
- 354. Couper, K.N., et al., *Incomplete depletion and rapid regeneration of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells following anti-CD25 treatment in malariainfected mice.* J Immunol, 2007. **178**(7): p. 4136-46.
- 355. Qadura, M., et al., *Immunoglobulin isotypes and functional anti-FVIII antibodies in response to FVIII treatment in Balb/c and C57BL/6 haemophilia A mice.* Haemophilia, 2011. **17**(2): p. 288-95.

356.	Kendal, A.R., et al., Sustained suppression by Foxp3+ regulatory 7								
	cells is vital for infectious transplantation tolerance. J Exp Med,								
	2011. 208 (10): p. 2043-53.								

- 357. Duarte, J., et al., *Modulation of IL-17 and Foxp3 expression in the prevention of autoimmune arthritis in mice.* PLoS One, 2010. **5**(5): p. e10558.
- 358. Bach, J.F. and L. Chatenoud, *A historical view from thirty eventful years of immunotherapy in autoimmune diabetes.* Semin Immunol, 2011. **23**(3): p. 174-81.
- 359. Waters, B., et al., Anti-CD3 prevents factor VIII inhibitor development in hemophilia A mice by a regulatory CD4+CD25+- dependent mechanism and by shifting cytokine production to favor a Th1 response. Blood, 2009. **113**(1): p. 193-203.
- 360. Hausl, C., et al., Preventing restimulation of memory B cells in hemophilia A: a potential new strategy for the treatment of antibody-dependent immune disorders. Blood, 2004. **104**(1): p. 115-22.
- Fan, H., et al., Regulatory T cell therapy for the induction of clinical organ transplantation tolerance. Semin Immunol, 2011. 23(6): p. 453-61.
- 362. Wood, K.J., *Regulatory T cells in transplantation*. Transplant Proc, 2011. **43**(6): p. 2135-6.
- 363. Getts, D.R., et al., *Current landscape for T-cell targeting in autoimmunity and transplantation.* Immunotherapy, 2011. **3**(7): p. 853-70.
- Bemelman, F., et al., Bone marrow transplantation induces either clonal deletion or infectious tolerance depending on the dose. J Immunol, 1998. 160(6): p. 2645-8.
- 365. Qin, S.X., et al., *Induction of classical transplantation tolerance in the adult.* J Exp Med, 1989. **169**(3): p. 779-94.
- Cobbold, S.P., G. Martin, and H. Waldmann, *The induction of skin graft tolerance in major histocompatibility complex-mismatched or primed recipients: primed T cells can be tolerized in the periphery with anti-CD4 and anti-CD8 antibodies.* Eur J Immunol, 1990.
 20(12): p. 2747-55.
- Darby, C.R., P.J. Morris, and K.J. Wood, Evidence that long-term cardiac allograft survival induced by anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody does not require depletion of CD4+ T cells. Transplantation, 1992. 54(3): p. 483-90.
- 368. Binder, J., et al., Donor-specific transplantation unresponsiveness in sensitized rats following treatment with a nondepleting anti-CD4

MAb is associated with selective intragraft sparing of Th2-like cells. Transplant Proc, 1995. **27**(1): p. 114-6.

- 369. Oliveira, V.G., et al., *Sub-optimal CD4+ T-cell activation triggers autonomous TGF-beta-dependent conversion to Foxp3+ regulatory T cells.* Eur J Immunol. **41**(5): p. 1249-55.
- 370. Regateiro, F.S., et al., *Foxp3 expression is required for the induction of therapeutic tissue tolerance.* J Immunol. **189**(8): p. 3947-56.
- 371. Duarte, J., et al., *Modulation of IL-17 and Foxp3 expression in the prevention of autoimmune arthritis in mice.* PLoS One. **5**(5): p. e10558.
- 372. Duarte, J., et al., *T cell apoptosis and induction of Foxp3+* regulatory *T cells underlie the therapeutic efficacy of CD4 blockade in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* J Immunol. **189**(4): p. 1680-8.
- Duarte, J., M. Caridade, and L. Graca, CD4-blockade can induce protection from peanut-induced anaphylaxis. Front Immunol. 2: p. 56.
- 374. Agua-Doce, A. and L. Graca, *Prevention of house dust mite induced allergic airways disease in mice through immune tolerance*. PLoS One. **6**(7): p. e22320.
- 375. Lu, L.F., et al., *Mast cells are essential intermediaries in regulatory T-cell tolerance*. Nature, 2006. **442**(7106): p. 997-1002.
- 376. Galli, S.J., S. Nakae, and M. Tsai, *Mast cells in the development of adaptive immune responses.* Nat Immunol, 2005. **6**(2): p. 135-42.
- 377. Yamazaki, M., et al., *C-kit gene is expressed by skin mast cells in embryos but not in puppies of Wsh/Wsh mice: age-dependent abolishment of c-kit gene expression.* Blood, 1994. **83**(12): p. 3509-16.
- 378. Kool, M., et al., *Alum adjuvant boosts adaptive immunity by inducing uric acid and activating inflammatory dendritic cells.* J Exp Med, 2008. **205**(4): p. 869-82.
- 379. Donckier, V., et al., *Early neutralization of IL-4 but not of IL-10 abrogates neonatal induction of transplantation tolerance in mice.* Transplant Proc, 1995. **27**(1): p. 186-7.
- 380. Bacchetta, R., et al., *High levels of interleukin 10 production in vivo are associated with tolerance in SCID patients transplanted with HLA mismatched hematopoietic stem cells.* J Exp Med, 1994. **179**(2): p. 493-502.
- 381. Lee, S.J., J. Chinen, and A. Kavanaugh, Immunomodulator therapy: monoclonal antibodies, fusion proteins, cytokines, and immunoglobulins. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2010. 125(2 Suppl 2): p. S314-23.

382.	Fehr,	Т.	and	Μ.	Sykes,	Tolerance	induction	in	clinical
	<i>transplantation.</i> Transpl Immunol, 2004. 13 (2): p. 117-30.								

- Cobbold, S.P., S.X. Qin, and H. Waldmann, *Reprogramming the immune system for tolerance with monoclonal antibodies*. Semin Immunol, 1990. 2(6): p. 377-87.
- Duarte, J., et al., *T cell apoptosis and induction of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells underlie the therapeutic efficacy of CD4 blockade in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* J Immunol, 2012. 189(4): p. 1680-8.
- 385. Jones, N.D., et al., *Effector and memory CD8+ T cells can be generated in response to alloantigen independently of CD4+ T cell help.* J Immunol, 2006. **176**(4): p. 2316-23.
- 386. Chace, J.H., J.S. Cowdery, and E.H. Field, *Effect of anti-CD4 on CD4 subsets. I. Anti-CD4 preferentially deletes resting, naive CD4 cells and spares activated CD4 cells.* J Immunol, 1994. **152**(2): p. 405-12.
- Mason, D., The roles of T cell subpopulations in allograft rejection. Transplant Proc, 1988. 20(2): p. 239-42.
- 388. Dubois, A., et al., *Regulation of Th2 responses and allergic inflammation through bystander activation of CD8+ T lymphocytes in early life.* J Immunol, 2010. **185**(2): p. 884-91.
- 389. Visekruna, A., et al., *Tc9 cells, a new subset of CD8(+) T cells, support Th2-mediated airway inflammation.* Eur J Immunol, 2012.
- 390. Vogel, F.R., *Adjuvants in perspective*. Dev Biol Stand, 1998. **92**: p. 241-8.
- Kool, M., K. Fierens, and B.N. Lambrecht, *Alum adjuvant: some of the tricks of the oldest adjuvant.* J Med Microbiol, 2012. 61(Pt 7): p. 927-34.
- 392. Eisenbarth, S.C., et al., *Crucial role for the Nalp3 inflammasome in the immunostimulatory properties of aluminium adjuvants.* Nature, 2008. **453**(7198): p. 1122-6.
- 393. McKee, A.S., M.W. Munks, and P. Marrack, *How do adjuvants work? Important considerations for new generation adjuvants.* Immunity, 2007. **27**(5): p. 687-90.
- Jordan, M.B., et al., Promotion of B cell immune responses via an alum-induced myeloid cell population. Science, 2004. 304(5678): p. 1808-10.
- 395. Wang, H.B. and P.F. Weller, *Pivotal advance: eosinophils mediate early alum adjuvant-elicited B cell priming and IgM production.* J Leukoc Biol, 2008. **83**(4): p. 817-21.
- 396. McCartney, S., et al., Distinct and complementary functions of MDA5 and TLR3 in poly(I:C)-mediated activation of mouse NK cells. J Exp Med, 2009. 206(13): p. 2967-76.

- 397. Kamgang, R.K., et al., Using distinct molecular signatures of human monocytes and dendritic cells to predict adjuvant activity and pyrogenicity of TLR agonists. Med Microbiol Immunol, 2008. **197**(4): p. 369-79.
- 398. Heit, A., et al., Antigen co-encapsulated with adjuvants efficiently drive protective T cell immunity. Eur J Immunol, 2007. **37**(8): p. 2063-74.
- 399. Malherbe, L., et al., *Vaccine adjuvants alter TCR-based selection thresholds*. Immunity, 2008. **28**(5): p. 698-709.
- 400. Gloudemans, A.K., et al., *The Mucosal Adjuvant Cholera Toxin B* Instructs Non-Mucosal Dendritic Cells to Promote IgA Production Via Retinoic Acid and TGF-beta. PLoS One, 2013. **8**(3): p. e59822.
- 401. Asseman, C., et al., *An essential role for interleukin 10 in the function of regulatory T cells that inhibit intestinal inflammation.* J Exp Med, 1999. **190**(7): p. 995-1004.
- 402. Liu, H., et al., *CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells cure murine colitis: the role of IL-10, TGF-beta, and CTLA4.* J Immunol, 2003. **171**(10): p. 5012-7.
- 403. Maynard, C.L., et al., *Regulatory T cells expressing interleukin 10 develop from Foxp3+ and Foxp3- precursor cells in the absence of interleukin 10.* Nat Immunol, 2007. **8**(9): p. 931-41.
- 404. Wakkach, A., et al., *Characterization of dendritic cells that induce tolerance and T regulatory 1 cell differentiation in vivo.* Immunity, 2003. **18**(5): p. 605-17.
- 405. Levings, M.K., et al., *Differentiation of Tr1 cells by immature dendritic cells requires IL-10 but not CD25+CD4+ Tr cells.* Blood, 2005. **105**(3): p. 1162-9.
- 406. Groux, H., *Type 1 T-regulatory cells: their role in the control of immune responses.* Transplantation, 2003. **75**(9 Suppl): p. 8S-12S.
- 407. Van Parijs, L., A. Ibraghimov, and A.K. Abbas, *The roles of costimulation and Fas in T cell apoptosis and peripheral tolerance.* Immunity, 1996. **4**(3): p. 321-8.
- 408. Friend, P.J., et al., *Phase I study of an engineered aglycosylated humanized CD3 antibody in renal transplant rejection.* Transplantation, 1999. **68**(11): p. 1632-7.
- 409. Woodle, E.S., et al., *Phase I trial of a humanized, Fc receptor nonbinding OKT3 antibody, huOKT3gamma1(Ala-Ala) in the treatment of acute renal allograft rejection.* Transplantation, 1999.
 68(5): p. 608-16.
- 410. Chatenoud, L. and J.A. Bluestone, *CD3-specific antibodies: a portal to the treatment of autoimmunity.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2007. **7**(8): p. 622-32.

- 411. Penaranda, C., Q. Tang, and J.A. Bluestone, *Anti-CD3 therapy* promotes tolerance by selectively depleting pathogenic cells while preserving regulatory *T* cells. J Immunol, 2011. **187**(4): p. 2015-22.
- 412. Verbinnen, B., et al., *Contribution of regulatory T cells and effector T cell deletion in tolerance induction by costimulation blockade.* J Immunol, 2008. **181**(2): p. 1034-42.
- 413. Phillips, N.E., et al., *Costimulatory blockade induces hyporesponsiveness in T cells that recognize alloantigen via indirect antigen presentation.* Transplantation, 2006. **82**(8): p. 1085-92.
- 414. Green, D.R., *Overview: apoptotic signaling pathways in the immune system.* Immunol Rev, 2003. **193**: p. 5-9.
- 415. Hildeman, D., et al., *Apoptosis and the homeostatic control of immune responses.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2007. **19**(5): p. 516-21.
- 416. Hildeman, D.A., et al., *Activated T cell death in vivo mediated by proapoptotic bcl-2 family member bim.* Immunity, 2002. **16**(6): p. 759-67.
- 417. Budd, R.C., *Activation-induced cell death.* Curr Opin Immunol, 2001. **13**(3): p. 356-62.
- 418. Mixter, P.F., et al., *A model for the origin of TCR-alphabeta+ CD4-CD8- B220+ cells based on high affinity TCR signals.* J Immunol, 1999. **162**(10): p. 5747-56.
- 419. Cantrell, D.A. and K.A. Smith, *The interleukin-2 T-cell system: a new cell growth model.* Science, 1984. **224**(4655): p. 1312-6.
- 420. Marth, T., et al., *Extinction of IL-12 signaling promotes Fasmediated apoptosis of antigen-specific T cells.* J Immunol, 1999. **162**(12): p. 7233-40.
- 421. Termeer, C., et al., *Targeting dendritic cells with CD44 monoclonal* antibodies selectively inhibits the proliferation of naive CD4+ Thelper cells by induction of FAS-independent T-cell apoptosis. Immunology, 2003. **109**(1): p. 32-40.
- 422. Maroto, R., X. Shen, and R. Konig, *Requirement for efficient interactions between CD4 and MHC class II molecules for survival of resting CD4+ T lymphocytes in vivo and for activation-induced cell death.* J Immunol, 1999. **162**(10): p. 5973-80.
- Strong, J., Q. Wang, and N. Killeen, *Impaired survival of T helper cells in the absence of CD4.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. 98(5): p. 2566-71.

Annexes

List of Publications during the thesis

- Agua-Doce A*, Caridade M*, Oliveira VG, BergmanL, Curotto de Lafaille M, Lafaille JJ, Demengeot J, Graca L. Induction of Foxp3indepedent dominant transplantation tolerance *In preparation* * both authors contributed equally for this manuscript
- Agua-Doce A*, Oliveira VG*, Maria Curotto de Lafaille, Juan J. Lafaille, and Luis Graca. Adjuvant facilitates anti-CD4 mediated immune tolerance to recombinant factor VIII in hemophilia through a Foxp3-independent mechanism that relies on IL-10. Accepted in Blood * both authors contributed equally for this manuscript
- Monteiro M, Almeida CF, Agua-Doce A, Graca L. Induced IL-17-Producing Invariant NKT Cells Require Activation in Presence of TGF-β and IL-1β. J Immunol. 2013 Jan 15;190(2):805-11
- 4. **.Agua-Doce A** and Luis Graca. Regulatory T cells and the control of the allergic response. J Allergy 2012;2012:948901
- Duarte J, Carrié N, Oliveira VG, Almeida C, Agua-Doce A, Rodrigues L, Simas JP, Mars LT, Graca L. Tcell apoptosis and induction of foxp3+ regulatory T cells underlie the therapeutic efficacy of CD4 blockade in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. 2012 Aug 15;189(4):1680-8. Epub 2012 Jul 16. PubMed PMID: 22802417.
- Wollenberg I, Agua-Doce A, Hernández A, Almeida C, Oliveira VG, Faro J, Graca L. Regulation of the germinal center reaction by Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2011 Nov 1;187(9):4553 60. Epub 2011 Oct 7. PubMed PMID: 21984700.
- Agua-Doce A, Graca L. Prevention of house dust mite induced allergic airways disease in mice through immune tolerance. PLoS One. 2011;6(7):e22320. Epub 2011 Jul 26. PubMed PMID: 21818308; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC3144234.
- 8. Raposo BR, Rodrigues-Santos P, Carvalheiro H, **Agua-Doce AM**, Carvalho L, Pereira da Silva JA, Graça L, Souto-Carneiro MM.

Monoclonal anti-CD8 therapy induces disease amelioration in the K/BxN mouse model of spontaneous chronic polyarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2010 Oct;62(10):2953 62. PubMed PMID: 20931654.

- Monteiro M, Almeida CF, Caridade M, Ribot JC, Duarte J, Agua-Doce A, Wollenberg I, Silva-Santos B, Graca L. Identification of regulatory Foxp3+ invariant NKT cells induced by TGF-beta. J Immunol. 2010 Aug 15;185(4):2157-63. Epub 2010 Jul 16. PubMed PMID: 20639482.
- Duarte J, Agua-Doce A, Oliveira VG, Fonseca JE, Graca L. Modulation of IL-17 and Foxp3 expression in the prevention of autoimmune arthritis in mice. PLoS One. 2010 May 10;5(5):e10558. PubMed PMID: 20479941; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC28666666.

From bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org at INST GULBENKIAN DE CIENCIA on April 14, 2013. For personal use only.



Prepublished online March 26, 2013; doi:10.1182/blood-2012-09-457135

Adjuvant facilitates tolerance induction to factor VIII in hemophilic mice through a Foxp3-independent mechanism that relies on IL-10

Vanessa G. Oliveira, Ana Agua-Doce, Maria Curotto de Lafaille, Juan J. Lafaille and Luis Graca

Information about reproducing this article in parts or in its entirety may be found online at: http://bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org/site/misc/rights.xhtml#repub_requests

Information about ordering reprints may be found online at: http://bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org/site/misc/rights.xhtml#reprints

Information about subscriptions and ASH membership may be found online at: http://bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org/site/subscriptions/index.xhtml

Advance online articles have been peer reviewed and accepted for publication but have not yet appeared in the paper journal (edited, typeset versions may be posted when available prior to final publication). Advance online articles are citable and establish publication priority; they are indexed by PubMed from initial publication. Citations to Advance online articles must include the digital object identifier (DOIs) and date of initial publication.

Blood (print ISSN 0006-4971, online ISSN 1528-0020), is published weekly by the American Society of Hematology, 2021 L St, NW, Suite 900, Washington DC 20036. Copyright 2011 by The American Society of Hematology; all rights reserved.



Blood First Edition Paper, prepublished online March 26, 2013: DOI 10.1182/blood-2012-09-457135 From bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org at INST GULBENKIAN DE CIENCIA on April 14, 2013. For personal use only.

Adjuvant facilitates tolerance induction to factor VIII in hemophilic mice through a Foxp3-independent mechanism that relies on IL-10

Vanessa G. Oliveira^{1,2} *, Ana Agua-Doce^{1,2} *, Maria Curotto de Lafaille^{3,4}, Juan J. Lafaille³, and Luis Graca^{1,2}

 Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Lisboa, 1649-028 Lisbon, Portugal.

2. Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, Oeiras, Portugal.

3. Skirball Institute of Biomolecular Medicine and Department of Pathology, New York University School of Medicine, New York, NY 10016, USA

4. Present address: Singapore Immunology Network, Agency for Science, Technology and Research, 138648, Singapore.

* VGO and AA-D contributed equally to this work.

Correspondence to:

Dr. Vanessa Oliveira, DPhil or Dr. Luis Graca, MD DPhil

Instituto de Medicina Molecular,

Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Lisboa,

Avenida Prof. Egas Moniz, 1649-025 Lisbon, Portugal.

Phone: +351 217 999467; Fax: +351 217 985142

e-mail: vgoliveira@fm.ul.pt or lgraca@fm.ul.pt

Key Points

- An adjuvant (alum), known to boost immune responses, can be used to facilitate a tolerogenic protocol.
- Non-depleting anti-CD4 can lead to Foxp3+ Treg-independent tolerance that relies on IL-10.

Abstract

Current treatment for hemophilia consists in the administration of recombinant clotting factors, such as factor VIII (FVIII). However, patients with severe hemophilia can mount immune responses targeting therapeutically administered FVIII through inhibitory immunoglobulins that limit treatment efficacy. Induction of immune tolerance to FVIII in hemophilia has been extensively studied but remains an unmet need. We found that nondepleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies (MAb) are effective in inducing long-term tolerance to FVIII in different strains of hemophilic mice. Tolerance induction was facilitated when anti-CD4 MAb were administered together with FVIII adsorbed in an adjuvant (alum). The observed state of tolerance was antigen specific, with mice remaining immune competent to respond to different antigens. Importantly, we found that following immunization with FVIII, the primed cells remained susceptible to tolerance induction. Studies with Foxp3- and IL-10-deficient mice demonstrated that the underlying tolerance mechanism is Foxp3-independent but requires IL-10. Our data show that an adjuvant when administered together with a tolerizing agent, such as non-depleting anti-CD4, can facilitate induction of long-term tolerance to recombinant proteins, possibly not only in hemophilia but also in other diseases that are treated with potentially immunogenic therapeutics.

Introduction

For many patients with severe hemophilia, replacement therapy with recombinant clotting factors represents an immune challenge with non-self proteins thus resulting in an immune response. As a consequence, immunoglobulins targeting infused clotting factors can lead to their inhibition (those immunoglobulins are termed inhibitors)¹. Several approaches for immune tolerance induction (ITI), leading to the control of the production of clotting factor inhibitors, are currently used in hemophilia patients². However, the success of ITI is not absolute and currently, at a time when viral contaminants in therapeutic products are a problem of the past, inhibitors became a major complication for hemophilia treatment. This has led to an increasing interest in developing new protocols for the induction of tolerance to therapeutically administered clotting factors³. Recent clinical trials have explored the putative higher tolerogenicity of factor VIII (FVIII) coupled with von Willebrand Factor (vWF), or B cell depletion with an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (MAb) rituximab^{4,5}. The outcome of those trials has shown, at the most, a modest improvement in ITI efficacy. Consequently, those ITI approaches were not generally adopted and the development of better strategies for ITI remains an unmet medical need⁶.

In recent years several strategies have been developed to promote immune tolerance towards alloantigens. Several studies have demonstrated that non-depleting monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) targeting T cell surface molecules are effective in achieving immune tolerance in transplantation and autoimmunity^{7,8}. There is, however, a contrast between the efficacy in achieving long-term tolerance with MAbs such as CD4 or CD40L administered at the time of transplantation in pre-clinical studies⁹⁻¹¹, with a transient effect observed when the same reagents are used to induce tolerance to human recombinant factor VIII (hFVIII) or factor IX (hFIX) in mice^{12,13}. Remarkably, when the recombinant clotting factors are expressed in tissues, for instance following viral transduction, tolerance induction appears to be easier to achieve¹⁴.

These observations prompted us to investigate whether the difference between both outcomes is a consequence of differences in the way the antigen is presented to T cells for tolerance induction. It is plausible that efficient imposition of tolerance *in vivo*, would require an impact on a large proportion of the antigen-specific T cells, or stronger co-stimulation, something that can only be achieved in the presence of inflammation (namely in transplantation or viral transduction) or when an adjuvant is used.

We found that the most clinically relevant adjuvant – aluminium hydroxide (alum) – facilitates the induction of tolerance to hFVIII in mice. Surprisingly, the mechanism underlying tolerance

induction appears to be different from antibody-induced transplantation tolerance: while nondepleting anti-CD4 induces $Foxp3^+$ regulatory T cells that are indispensable for transplantation tolerance, we were able to induce tolerance to foreign proteins in Foxp3-deficient mice. On the contrary, tolerance induction is critically dependent of IL-10, as it cannot be established in IL-10^{-/-} mice.

Adjuvants can therefore have two opposing roles: they can contribute to boost immune responses and to overcome natural tolerance, but they can be instrumental in facilitating therapeutically induced tolerance when in presence of appropriate tolerance-inducing reagents.

Materials and methods

Animals. BALB/c, C57BI/6, B6.IL-10^{-/-}, B6.Rag2^{-/-}, and DO11.10.Rag2^{-/-}, mice were maintained under specific pathogen-free (SPF) conditions. Hemophilia-A mice (HemA) with a targeted disruption of exon 16 in the FVIII gene¹⁵, backcrossed into C57BI/6 and BALB/c background, were provided by Professor David Lillicrap (Kingston, Canada). T/B monoclonal mice (T-Bmc, 17/9 DO11.10.RAG1^{-/-}) bear monoclonal T and B lymphocytes specific for ovalbumin (OVA) 323–339 and HA of influenza virus, respectively¹⁶. Procedures were approved by Direção Geral de Veterinária (Lisbon).

Animals were exposed to 1U hFVIII (Kogenate, Bayer, Germany), or to 20 µg OVA (Sigma, St Louis, USA) sometimes adsorbed in 2.0 mg endotoxin-free aluminum hydroxide (Alu-gel-S, Serva, Heidelberg, Germany).

Monodonal antibodies. Non-depleting anti-CD4 (YTS177.9)¹⁷, the isotype control (YKIX302), anti-CD25 (PC61), anti-IL-10R (1B1.1), and anti-TGF β (1D11) were produced in house.

Quantification of immunoglobulins and cytokines. hFVIII-specific, OVA-specific, and HA-specific IgG1 were measured by ELISA using IgG1-HRP (SouthernBiotech, Birmingham, USA) with anti-hFVIII IgG1 standard (Abcam, Cambridge, UK), anti-OVA IgG1 standard (Serotec, Oxford, UK) and anti-HA IgG1 standard (Sigma). The ELISA assay for IL-10 measurement was performed using a kit (Peprotech, London, UK).

Flow cytometry. Cells were stained with CD25-PE-Cy7 (PC61.5), Foxp3-APC (FJK-16s), CD3-PE-Cy7 (145-2C11), CD4-PerCp (RM4-5), and DO11.10 TCR-specific KJ1-26-PE. Six color analyses were performed using a LSR-Fortessa (BD Bioscience).

Bethesda assay. Inhibitory FVIII Abs were measured using the Bethesda assay and reported as Bethesda units/mL as previously described¹⁸. Briefly, mouse plasma was serially diluted (Technochrom® FVIII:C, Technoclone, Austria) such that the residual FVIII:C for each sample was between 25% and 75%, mixed 1:1 with pooled normal human plasma (Factor VIII Inhibitor reagent Kit), and incubated for 2 hours at 37°C. The remaining FVIII activity was quantified using a chromogenic assay (Technochrom). To reduce error in the assay and inconsistency between samples, the reported inhibitor titer in BU/mL was calculated from the dilution of plasma that yielded a residual FVIII:C of approximately 50%. By definition 1 BU/mL is defined as the dilution of plasma containing FVIII inhibitory activity that results in 50% inhibition of FVIII activity (FVIII:C).

Statistical analysis. Statistical significance was determined using the two-tailed non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test and values of *P*<0.05 were deemed significant.

Results

hFVIII alum increases the tolerogenicity of anti-CD4 MAb.

Alum has been used as an adjuvant in the formulation of human vaccines since 1926^{19,20}. We treated BALB/c and C57BI/6 mice with hFVIII or hFVIII-alum together with non-depleting anti-CD4 at the indicated time points (**Figure 1a**). Serum anti-hFVIII IgG1 was measured following additional administrations of hFVIII. Our results confirmed that anti-CD4 treatment only has a moderate impact in preventing the generation of inhibitor antibodies to hFVIII (**Figure 1b, c**). However, when hFVIII-alum was used at the time of anti-CD4 treatment the concentration of hFVIII-specific antibodies remained significantly reduced even following multiple administrations of hFVIII, up to 110 days following the initial treatment. Note that hFVIII-alum is, as anticipated, highly immunogenic leading to high levels of anti-hFVIII immunoglobulins when used in the absence of anti-CD4. We also quantified hFVIII-specific IgG2a and IgG2b that remained negligible in both strains (Supplemental Figure 1).

Next we investigated whether the route of hFVIII-alum administration could influence tolerance induction. C57BI/6 mice were exposed to hFVIII-alum i.p. (as described above), intramuscular or subcutaneous. Subsequent administrations of hFVIII were performed i.v. (Figure 1d). We found that tolerance to hFVIII could be induced regardless of the route of administration.

The "depot effect" has been regarded as a possible mechanism by which alum exerts its adjuvanticity²¹. According to this effect, adsorption of hFVIII in Alum would confer a slow

release and consequently an increased half-life of hFVIII *in vivo* thus providing stable and longterm antigen presentation. This hypothesis is especially relevant as it has been described that sustained release of peptides, by an implanted osmotic pump, can lead to immune tolerance²². We addressed this issue by repeatedly injecting hFVIII every other day for two weeks in presence of anti-CD4 MAb. We found that animals exposed to multiple administrations of hFVIII+anti-CD4 still produced higher titers of anti-hFVIII IgG1 than animals treated with hFVIIIalum+anti-CD4 (**Figure 1e**).

Although the anti-CD4 MAb has a non-depleting isotype, we confirmed it does not lead to direct T cell depletion *in vivo* by treating DO11.10.Rag2^{-/-} mice with anti-CD4. This way we could circumvent the coating of the CD4 molecule, being able to accurately quantify $CD4^+$ T cells by staining their transgenic TCR (identified with KJ26.1 MAbs). We found that the frequency of $CD4^+$ splenocytes at day 7 following anti-CD4 treatment remained unchanged (**Figure 1f**).

Tolerance induction requires IL-10 and is independent of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells.

We and others have shown that transplantation tolerance can be induced with non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb, in a process that is Foxp3⁺ Treg cell-mediated and TGF β -dependent^{9,23-26}. In some conditions, IL-10 appears to play a role in transplantation tolerance^{24,27}. In order to study the mechanism by which anti-CD4 MAb induces tolerance in hFVIII-alum treated animals, we used MAbs to block TGF- β or IL-10R at the time of treatment. In addition, another group of animals was treated with depleting anti-CD25 MAb prior to treatment. We found IL-10R-blockade during the initial two weeks had a dramatic effect in preventing tolerance induction (**Figure 2a**). However, only a modest increase of anti-hFVIII lgG1 was observed in mice subjected to depletion of CD25⁺ T cells or to neutralization of TGF- β .

These data suggest Foxp3⁺ Treg cells may only have a minor role in mediating tolerance in our model. In fact, no differences were found in percentages or absolute numbers of CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ cells in the spleen of animals treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 when compared to the positive group (hFVIII-alum + isotype) 90 days after the induction of tolerance (**Figure 2b and 2c**).

As experimental mice have a polyclonal T cell repertoire, putative changes in the frequency of antigen-specific Treg cells may be beyond the limit of detection. In addition, CD25-depletion with PC61 is known to spare a significant number of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells²⁸. We therefore used Foxp3-deficient mice to directly assess if tolerance to a foreign protein could be induced in the

absence of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells. Since Foxp3-deficiency leads to severe autoimmunity we had to perform this experiment in mice devoid of autorreactive T cells. We used T/B Foxp3^{sf} monoclonal mice (T-Bmc FoxP3^{sf}), characterized by monoclonal populations of T and B lymphocytes specific, respectively, for OVA₃₂₃₋₃₃₉ and HA¹⁶. As a consequence, we had to use a cross-linked protein of OVA-HA as a model antigen instead of hFVIII. Treatment of T-Bmc mice with OVA-HA-alum and anti-CD4 was equally effective in the presence or absence of functional Foxp3 (**Figure 2d**).

To further confirm the key role of IL-10 in inducing tolerance to hFVIII, we treated IL10^{-/-} mice with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4. We confirmed it was not possible to prevent generation of anti-hFVIII IgG1 in IL10^{-/-} mice by treatment with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 (**Figure 2e**).

Taken together, our data show that induction of tolerance to hFVIII-alum in the presence of anti-CD4 MAb is IL-10-dependent.

Non-depleting anti-CD4 induces long-term prevention from inhibitor formation in hemophilia A mice.

To determine if treatment with anti-CD4 could prevent the formation of FVIII inhibitors in hemophilia, we used mice deficient in FVIII (hemophilia A mice, HemA). C57BI/6 HemA mice treated with anti-CD4 exhibited low serum concentration of anti-hFVIII IgG1 for 90 days, even after multiple exposures to hFVIII (**Figure 3a-b**). In addition, we used the Bethesda Assay to measure the titer of FVIII inhibitors at day 90. We found that anti-CD4 treatment successfully prevented the formation of inhibitors in HemA mice (**Figure 3c**). Similar results were obtained with BALB/c HemA mice (**Figure 3d-e**). We also found that hFVIII-exposed HemA mice produced high titres of hFVIII-specific IgG2a and IgG2b, unless treated with anti-CD4 MAb (Supplemental Figure 1). Our findings on the different isotype preferences by the two strains of HemA mice are consistent with previous reports²⁹.

We confirmed tolerance induction could also be achieved in HemA mice when hFVIII-alum was administered s.c. and the anti-CD4 MAb i.v. (Figure 3f).

We also found that splenocytes collected from HemA mice treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 when stimulated *in vitro* in presence of anti-CD3 were more prone to produce IL-10 than splenocytes from naïve non-manipulated mice, or mice treated with an isotype control (**Figure 3g**).

Tolerant mice remain immune competent

Although the anti-CD4 Mab clone has a non-depleting isotype (i.e. it does not directly lead to T cell lysis), we confirmed that mice treated with anti-CD4 remained immune competent. We used C57Bl/6 mice treated with anti-CD4 as described in Figure 1, but using hFVIII-alum or OVA-alum as the "tolerizing antigen" administered at the time of Mab treatment. We waited five weeks to minimize the potential persistence of antigen or anti-CD4. At day 50 and 64, the mice were exposed to the same or to the other antigen (**Figure 4a**). We found that treatment with anti-CD4 Mab prevented subsequent immunization to the same antigen without suppressing immune responses to the other antigen (**Figure 4b and 4c**). In other words, mice "tolerized" with OVA-alum could respond to subsequent immunization with FVIII-alum, but did not respond to OVA-alum. Conversely, mice "tolerized" with FVIII-alum did not respond to a later challenge with FVIII-alum, but were fully competent to produce antibodies following immunization with OVA-alum.

These results show that treatment with anti-CD4 does not induce global immune suppression, but rather antigen-specific unresponsiveness.

Anti-CD4 Mab is effective in inducing tolerance following sensitization

Unlike autoimmunity or allergy, in hemophilia there is an opportunity to induce tolerance in advance of immune sensitization, as the first exposure to the antigens is controlled by the clinician. However, since many hemophilia patients do not develop inhibitors, ITI strategies are often required when the patient is already sensitized. Previous studies suggested that CD4-blockade may be effective in sensitized hosts³⁰. But hFVIII-specific IgG produced at the time of sensitization, given their long half-life, may obscure the eventual effectiveness of tolerance induction at a later time.

To overcome this limitation, and since it is not feasible, in mice, to remove pre-existing FVIIIspecific IgG by plasmapheresis, we developed an experimental setting to address the role of CD4-blockade in pre-sensitized cells in the absence of preformed FVIII-specific IgG (**Figure 5a**).

In brief, C57BI/6 mice were immunized with hFVIII-alum at day 1 and 14, and sacrificed at day 30. This immunization protocol leads to high concentration of hFVIII-specific lgG1 (198.0 \pm 14.7 µg/ml). We collected and pooled T and B cells from spleen, pooled lymph nodes, and bone marrow. The lymphocytes were then adoptively transferred i.v. into congenic Rag2^{-/-} or C57BI/6 recipients. The recipient mice were then treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 Mab, and exposed to additional challenges with hFVIII (**Figure 5a**).

Using Rag2^{-/-} recipients we confirmed that the adoptively transferred primed T and B cells were sufficient to produce anti-hFVIII IgG1 (**Figure 5b**). However, treatment with anti-CD4 was effective in preventing the production of hFVIII-specific IgG1 by those primed cells (**Figure 5b**).

The adoptive cell transfer into C57BI/6 mice showed that the adoptively transferred cells were indeed primed. Our data show that recipients of primed cells displayed a rapid and high magnitude secondary type immune response following exposure to hFVIII, when compared with control mice that did not receive primed cells, and that displayed a primary response (Figure 5c). We also observed that when the primed cells were transferred into C57BI/6 mice, treatment with anti-CD4 Mab prevented production of anti-hFVIII IgG1 (Figure 5c).

We then investigated whether hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 could protect mice sensitized to hFVIII from further production of FVIII-specific antibodies. We found that animals exposed to hFVIII when subsequently treated with hFVIII-alum (i.p. or s.c.) + anti-CD4 were protected from an increase in serum levels of FVIII-specific IgG1, in spite of repeated administrations of hFVIII (**Figure 5d**). The effect was not due to non-specific effects of anti-CD4, as mice treated with anti-CD4 in the absence of hFVIII responded to subsequent exposure to hFVIII with production of hFVIII-specific IgG1.

These results demonstrate that anti-CD4 Mab treatment is effective in controlling the response to hFVIII in pre-sensitized animals.

Discussion

Our results show that an adjuvant – alum – can enhance the ability of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb to achieve tolerance to hFVIII. These results can appear counterintuitive as usually adjuvants, such as alum, are used to boost immunity namely leading to production of protective antibodies. It is likely that when tolerance is based on CD4-blockade it will be necessary that the majority of antigen-specific T cells will be exposed to the antigen during the time when the CD4-blocking MAb is present, and with optimal co-stimulation. In this regard, our results on the antigen-specificity of tolerance (Figure 4) also confirm that tolerance is imposed on the lymphocytes that are engaged in antigen recognition at the time of CD4-blockade: our data show that exposure to hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 can prevent subsequent immune responses targeting hFVIII, while allowing successful immunization to an unrelated antigen (OVA). Similar results were obtained in the converse experiment: when tolerance is induced with OVA-alum + anti-CD4, the animals can produce antibodies targeting hFVIII, following exposure to the clotting factor. We can conclude that the initial exposure to hFVIII-

alum is therefore critical to control the FVIII-specific T cell clones, but does not affect T cell clones with other specificities.

Given previous reports showing a clear role of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in transplantation tolerance induced with anti-CD4^{9,26,31}, it was surprising to find that tolerance induction to proteins in alum could be achieved in the absence of Foxp3 (Figure 2). We have confirmed that indeed tolerance induction to skin grafts, induced following anti-CD4 MAb treatment, is dependent of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells (data not shown). In the same fashion, several animal models of autoimmunity can be successfully treated with anti-CD4, by a mechanism that appears to be Foxp3-dependent³². Inhibition of mTOR has been shown to facilitate the induction of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells, and a strategy to improve the efficacy of induction of transplantation tolerance³³. It was also reported that treatment with rapamycin (a mTOR inhibitor) can lead to tolerance to FVIII³⁴.

Our data show that the systemic distribution a protein in alum appears to take advantage of an IL-10-dependent and Treg-independent mechanism. This observation may explain the apparently contradictory results from transplantation studies using anti-CD4 for tolerance induction: while studies where a skin graft alone is used tolerance appears to be IL-10-independent and Treg dependent^{9,35}; but studies where donor specific transfusion and a skin graft are used appear to rely on both Treg cells and IL-10^{24,27}, suggesting that systemic distribution of the antigen may recruit a IL-10-mediated tolerogenic mechanism. It remains to be established the reason for the absolute requirement of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in transplantation tolerance³¹, while the same clone of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb leads to Foxp3-independent immune tolerance in hemophilia.

By neutralizing IL-10R *in vivo* during the first two weeks of anti-CD4 treatment we could infer the participation of IL-10 in the mechanism leading to tolerance, but we could also establish the importance of that initial period for tolerance induction (Figure 2). This observation is consistent with the need to impose tolerance in antigen-specific cells during a window of time, after which the immune system regains the ability to respond to foreign antigens, as discussed above. In addition, by showing that repeated administrations of hFVIII (without alum) during those initial two weeks did not lead to long-term tolerance, as we observed when hFVIII-alum was used (Figure 1C), allowed us to exclude that tolerance facilitation by alum could be simply due to the "depot effect" leading to greater half-life of the antigen.

A usual concern in transplantation tolerance experiments is the influence of the genetic background in the results³⁶. Some strains, namely C3H and CBA/Ca are known to be more

10

permissive to the induction of transplantation tolerance than other strains like C57Bl/6 and BALB/c. In order to evaluate whether tolerance to hFVIII was strain-specific, we confirmed that long-term tolerance to hFVIII could be achieved in C57Bl/6 and BALB/c mice, and in mice from those two strains deficient in FVIII (HemA mice). When we used hemophilic mice we could directly document the physiological impact of FVIII inhibitors, not only by their quantification using the Bethesda assay but also by our subjective assessment of bleeding from those mice. Treatment with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 led to long-term protection from the generation of inhibitors in the two strains of hemophilic mice.

Several other MAbs targeting T cell co-receptors (namely anti-CD3) and co-stimulatory molecules have been shown effective in inducing immune tolerance in transplantation, autoimmunity, and allergic diseases^{8,37}. Recently it was reported that antibodies targeting CD3 can induce long-term tolerance to FVIII in hemophilic mice³⁸. In addition, MAb targeting ICOS are effective in inducing long term tolerance to hFVIII in mice, following gene therapy¹⁴. Targeting B cells with an anti-CD20 IgG1 is another approach that could lead to tolerance to FVIII³⁹. Concerning non-depleting anti-CD4 there is, however, one special case of successful induction of long-term tolerance to foreign proteins in the absence of adjuvant – it is when the foreign protein is an immunoglobulin. In fact in some of the earliest demonstrations that non-depleting anti-CD4 can induce tolerance to foreign antigens, immunoglobulins (Ig) from different animal species were used as the tolerizing antigen^{40,41}. It is likely that the special tolerogenicity of foreign Ig compared with FVIII represents the fact that antigen presenting cells can capture foreign Ig with specific Fc receptors for efficient presentation.

Given the promising pre-clinical results, anti-CD4 MAb was among the very first MAb to enter clinical trials^{42,43}. The outcome of those early clinical trials was disappointing, which led to the search for alternative tolerance-inducing strategies. In retrospect, however, it is possible that the low efficacy was due to immaturity of the field. In fact, clinical trials in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis were not performed with humanized MAb, and the low efficacy correlated well with the generation of Ig targeting the therapeutic MAb⁴⁴. In addition, a well known clinical trial in asthma a different anti-CD4 MAb was used (keliximab) that caused significant T cell depletion⁴⁵. More recently, pre-clinical studies with a humanized non-depleting anti-CD4 have shown it could induce tolerance in non-human primates to foreign Ig⁴⁶. It is possible that the use of alum as an adjuvant, as we now describe, will allow tolerance induction to hFVIII but also to other therapeutic recombinant proteins, namely in enzyme replacement therapy. A potential limitation for the clinical application of this approach

is the perceived risk of inducing further production of FVIII inhibitors with the use of an adjuvant (alum).

It is well established that the primed immune system is more resistant to tolerance inducing strategies. Nevertheless, most clinical situations would require tolerance induction in an immunized individual. In hemophilia, FVIII inhibitors are only produced in a proportion of patients. Therefore, tolerance induction should only be initiated in the patients that would require this intervention, and those patients can only be identified after the onset of inhibitors. However, the study of tolerance inducing strategies in mice previously immunized to hFVIII has been difficult due to the long half-life of hFVIII-specific $\lg G$ – the experimental readout. As a consequence, most studies in mice are restricted to the ability to induce tolerance at the time of the initial exposure to hFVIII - an event that is controlled by the clinician. We developed an experimental system to study the effect of hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 on the primed immune system (Figure 5). Instead of removing pre-existent hFVIII-specific IgG by plasmapheresis - something that we could not do in mice - we transferred primed immune cells to a new host. This way it became possible to confirm that our protocol could prevent de novo production of hFVIII-specific antibodies by the primed cells. Such adoptive cell transfer system is unlikely to reproduce in its entirety the characteristics of a primed immune system. As a consequence, we confirmed that mice exposed to hFVIII (bearing hFVIII-specific IgG1) when treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 were protected from further production of of hFVIIIspecific antibodies following subsequent hFVIII infusions. These findings are consistent with our previous report that anti-CD4 is able to prevent allergic airways disease in mice presensitized to an allergen (house dust mite)³⁰. Furthermore, a report has shown that MAbs targeting ICOS and CD154 can prevent memory plasma cells to respond to FVIII47, and treatment of FVIII-primed mice with B cells expressing the immunodominant FVIII C2 and A2 domains was shown to lead to humoral tolerance⁴⁸.

Taken together our results show that alum, in spite of its common use to boost immune responses, can be effective in enhancing the ability of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb to induce long-term and antigen-specific tolerance to hFVIII in mice. The tolerogenic mechanism relies on IL-10 and is independent of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells. We believe that the use of alum, or other adjuvants, may constitute a strategy that could be applied to different immunogenic therapeutic proteins and other tolerance-inducing MAbs. In this case, our findings may be of interest beyond the field of hemophilia, namely in regard to enzyme replacement therapy.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Jocelyne Demengeot, Ruy M. Ribeiro, and Bruno Silva-Santos for helpful advice; Joana Duarte for assistance in some experiments; David Lillicrap for advise and providing HemA mice; and Herman Waldmann for providing several hybridomas used in our study. Our research was funded by Fundacao para a Ciência e Tecnologia Portugal (PTDC/SAU-OSM/108267/2008 and PTDC/SAU-TOX/114424/2009), Bayer Global Hemophilia Award to VGO, and CSL-Behring Prof. Heimburger Award to LG.

Authorship

V.G.O. and A.A-D designed and performed research, analyzed data, and wrote the paper; M.C.L. and J.J.L. contributed vital new reagents and analyzed data; L.G. designed research, analyzed data, and wrote the paper.

The authors have no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Astermark J, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Reding MT. Inhibitor development. *Haemophilia*. 2008;14 Suppl 3:36-42.
- 2. Lillicrap D. The role of immunomodulation in the management of factor VIII inhibitors. *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program*. 2006:421-425.
- Dimichele D. Immune tolerance therapy for factor VIII inhibitors: moving from empiricism to an evidence-based approach. J Thromb Haemost. 2007;5 Suppl 1:143-150.
- **4.** Fox RA, Neufeld EJ, Bennett CM. Rituximab for adolescents with haemophilia and high titre inhibitors. *Haemophilia*. 2006;12(3):218-222.
- Kurth MA, Dimichele D, Sexauer C, et al. Immune tolerance therapy utilizing factor VIII/von Willebrand factor concentrate in haemophilia A patients with high titre factor VIII inhibitors. *Haemophilia*. 2008;14(1):50-55.
- **6.** Kempton CL, White GC, 2nd. How we treat a hemophilia A patient with a factor VIII inhibitor. *Blood*. 2009;113(1):11-17.
- 7. Graca L, Le Moine A, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H. Antibody-induced transplantation tolerance: the role of dominant regulation. *Immunol Res.* 2003;28(3):181-191.
- Waldmann H, Adams E, Cobbold S. Reprogramming the immune system: co-receptor blockade as a paradigm for harnessing tolerance mechanisms. *Immunol Rev.* 2008;223:361-370.
- Cobbold SP, Castejon R, Adams E, et al. Induction of foxP3+ regulatory T cells in the periphery of T cell receptor transgenic mice tolerized to transplants. J Immunol. 2004;172(10):6003-6010.
- Graca L, Le Moine A, Lin CY, Fairchild PJ, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H. Donor-specific transplantation tolerance: the paradoxical behavior of CD4+CD25+ T cells. *Proc Natl* Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(27):10122-10126.
- **11.** Lin CY, Graca L, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H. Dominant transplantation tolerance impairs CD8+ T cell function but not expansion. *Nat Immunol.* 2002;3(12):1208-1213.
- Reipert BM, Sasgary M, Ahmad RU, Auer W, Turecek PL, Schwarz HP. Blockade of CD40/CD40 ligand interactions prevents induction of factor VIII inhibitors in hemophilic mice but does not induce lasting immune tolerance. *Thromb Haemost*. 2001;86(6):1345-1352.
- **13.** Salooja N, Kemball-Cook G, Tuddenham EG, Dyson J. Use of a non-depleting anti-CD4 antibody to modulate the immune response to coagulation factors VIII and IX. *Br J Haematol.* 2002;118(3):839-842.
- **14.** Peng B, Ye P, Blazar BR, et al. Transient blockade of the inducible costimulator pathway generates long-term tolerance to factor VIII after nonviral gene transfer into hemophilia A mice. *Blood*. 2008;112(5):1662-1672.
- **15.** Bi L, Lawler AM, Antonarakis SE, High KA, Gearhart JD, Kazazian HH, Jr. Targeted disruption of the mouse factor VIII gene produces a model of haemophilia A. *Nat Genet*. 1995;10(1):119-121.
- Curotto de Lafaille MA, Muriglan S, Sunshine MJ, et al. Hyper immunoglobulin E response in mice with monoclonal populations of B and T lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 2001;194(9):1349-1359.
- **17.** Qin SX, Wise M, Cobbold SP, et al. Induction of tolerance in peripheral T cells with monoclonal antibodies. *Eur J Immunol*. 1990;20(12):2737-2745.
- **18.** Kasper CK, Aledort L, Aronson D, et al. Proceedings: A more uniform measurement of factor VIII inhibitors. *Thromb Diath Haemorrh*. 1975;34(2):612.
- **19.** Kool M, Fierens K, Lambrecht BN. Alum adjuvant: Some of the Tricks of the oldest adjuvant. *J Med Microbiol.* 2012;61(Pt 7):927-934.

- **20.** Lindblad EB. Aluminium adjuvants--in retrospect and prospect. *Vaccine.* 2004;22(27-28):3658-3668.
- **21.** HogenEsch H. Mechanisms of stimulation of the immune response by aluminum adjuvants. *Vaccine*. 2002;20 Suppl 3:S34-39.
- **22.** Apostolou I, von Boehmer H. In vivo instruction of suppressor commitment in naive T cells. *J Exp Med*. 2004;199(10):1401-1408.
- **23.** Graca L, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H. Identification of regulatory T cells in tolerated allografts. *J Exp Med.* 2002;195(12):1641-1646.
- 24. Kingsley CI, Karim M, Bushell AR, Wood KJ. CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells prevent graft rejection: CTLA-4- and IL-10-dependent immunoregulation of alloresponses. J Immunol. 2002;168(3):1080-1086.
- **25.** Regateiro FS, Howie D, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H. TGF-beta in transplantation tolerance. *Curr Opin Immunol.* 2011;23(5):660-669.
- 26. Wood KJ, Bushell A, Hester J. Regulatory immune cells in transplantation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2012;12(6):417-430.
- **27.** Hara M, Kingsley Cl, Niimi M, et al. IL-10 is required for regulatory T cells to mediate to lerance to alloantigens in vivo. *J Immunol.* 2001;166(6):3789-3796.
- **28.** Couper KN, Blount DG, de Souza JB, Suffia I, Belkaid Y, Riley EM. Incomplete depletion and rapid regeneration of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells following anti-CD25 treatment in malaria-infected mice. *J Immunol.* 2007;178(7):4136-4146.
- **29.** Qadura M, Waters B, Burnett E, et al. Immunoglobulin isotypes and functional anti-FVIII antibodies in response to FVIII treatment in Balb/c and C57BL/6 haemophilia A mice. *Haemophilia*. 2011;17(2):288-295.
- **30.** Agua-Doce A, Graca L. Prevention of house dust mite induced allergic airways disease in mice through immune tolerance. *PLoS One.* 2011;6(7):e22320.
- Kendal AR, Chen Y, Regateiro FS, et al. Sustained suppression by Foxp3+ regulatory T cells is vital for infectious transplantation tolerance. J Exp Med. 2011;208(10):2043-2053.
- **32.** Duarte J, Agua-Doce A, Oliveira VG, Fonseca JE, Graca L. Modulation of IL-17 and Foxp3 expression in the prevention of autoimmune arthritis in mice. *PLoS One.* 2010;5(5):e10558.
- **33.** Thomson AW, Turnquist HR, Raimondi G. Immunoregulatory functions of mTOR inhibition. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2009;9(5):324-337.
- Moghimi B, Sack BK, Nayak S, Markusic DM, Mah CS, Herzog RW. Induction of tolerance to factor VIII by transient co-administration with rapamycin. J Thromb Haemost. 2011;9(8):1524-1533.
- 35. Graca L, Thompson S, Lin CY, Adams E, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H. Both CD4(+)CD25(+) and CD4(+)CD25(-) regulatory cells mediate dominant transplantation tolerance. J Immunol. 2002;168(11):5558-5565.
- **36.** van Maurik A, Wood KJ, Jones ND. Impact of both donor and recipient strains on cardiac allograft survival after blockade of the CD40-CD154 costimulatory pathway. *Transplantation.* 2002;74(5):740-743.
- **37.** Bach JF, Chatenoud L. A historical view from thirty eventful years of immunotherapy in autoimmune diabetes. *Semin Immunol.* 2011;23(3):174-181.
- Waters B, Qadura M, Burnett E, et al. Anti-CD3 prevents factor VIII inhibitor development in hemophilia A mice by a regulatory CD4+CD25+-dependent mechanism and by shifting cytokine production to favor a Th1 response. *Blood*. 2009;113(1):193-203.
- Zhang AH, Skupsky J, Scott DW. Effect of B-cell depletion using anti-CD20 therapy on inhibitory antibody formation to human FVIII in hemophilia A mice. Blood. 2011;117(7):2223-2226.

- **40.** Benjamin RJ, Waldmann H. Induction of tolerance by monoclonal antibody therapy. *Nature*. 1986;320(6061):449-451.
- **41.** Gutstein NL, Seaman WE, Scott JH, Wofsy D. Induction of immune tolerance by administration of monoclonal antibody to L3T4. *J Immunol.* 1986;137(4):1127-1132.
- 42. Moreland LW, Pratt PW, Mayes MD, et al. Double-blind, placebo-controlled multicenter trial using chimeric monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody, cM-T412, in rheumatoid arthritis patients receiving concomitant methotrexate. Arthritis Rheum. 1995;38(11):1581-1588.
- **43.** van Oosten BW, Lai M, Hodgkinson S, et al. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with the monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody cM-T412: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, MR-monitored phase II trial. *Neurology*. 1997;49(2):351-357.
- **44.** Horneff G, Winkler T, Kalden JR, Emmrich F, Burmester GR. Human anti-mouse antibody response induced by anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol.* 1991;59(1):89-103.
- **45.** Kon OM, Sihra BS, Compton CH, Leonard TB, Kay AB, Barnes NC. Randomised, doseranging, placebo-controlled study of chimeric antibody to CD4 (keliximab) in chronic severe asthma. *Lancet*. 1998;352(9134):1109-1113.
- 46. Winsor-Hines D, Merrill C, O'Mahony M, et al. Induction of immunological tolerance/hyporesponsiveness in baboons with a nondepleting CD4 antibody. J Immunol. 2004;173(7):4715-4723.
- **47.** Hausl C, Ahmad RU, Schwarz HP, et al. Preventing restimulation of memory B cells in hemophilia A: a potential new strategy for the treatment of antibody-dependent immune disorders. *Blood.* 2004;104(1):115-122.
- **48.** Lei TC, Scott DW. Induction of tolerance to factor VIII inhibitors by gene therapy with immunodominant A2 and C2 domains presented by B cells as Ig fusion proteins. *Blood*. 2005;105(12):4865-4870.

Figure Legends

Figure 1. hFVIII-alum increases the tolerogenicity of anti-CD4 Mab. (A) C57B/6 and Balb/c mice were treated with 1 U hFVIII or HFVIII-alum and 2 x 1 mg non-depleting anti-CD4 (or isotype control) on the indicated days, followed by subsequent administrations of 1 U hFVIII as represented. The presence of serum hFVIII-specific Ig was investigated at days 30, 60, and 90 or 110 following last administration of anti-CD4. (B) Serum concentration of hFVIII-specific |gG1 in C57B|/6 mice (n=6; **: p<0.01), and (C) in Balb/c mice (n=6; *: p<0.05; **: p<0.01). (D)hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4 were administered through different routes (as indicated in the figure label) according to the schedule represented in (A). One group of mice was treated with an isotype control. All mice were then exposed to hFVIII i.v. and serum anti-hFVIII IgG1 was quantified. Animals that received hFVIII-alum together with anti-CD4 remained tolerant regardless of the administration route (n=6; p<0.001). (E) Persistent serum levels of hFVIII did not prevent the generation of hFVIII-specific IgG1 in presence of anti-CD4. C57BI/6 mice were treated with anti-CD4 MAbs in the days indicated above. Some mice were treated with 1 U hFVIII every other day for two weeks. We found that animals exposed to multiple administrations of hFVIII still produced higher titers of anti-hFVIII IgG1 than animals treated with hFVIII-alum (n=6: p<0.001). (F) Administration of the non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb (YTS177.9) does not lead to CD4 T cell depletion. DO11.10.Rag^{-/-} mice were treated with 2 x 1 mg YTS177.9 and splenocytes were examined by flow cytometry for evidence of T cell depletion at day 7 (n=5; p, non-significant).

Figure 2. Tolerance induction requires IL-10 and is independent of $Foxp3^*$ Treg cells. (A) Mice were treated with hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4 as described in Figure 1A. Different groups were also treated with the indicated MAbs. All mice were exposed to 1 U hFVIII on days 30 and 60. Serum concentrations of hFVIII-specific lgG1 were determined on days 30, 60, and 90 (n=5; **: p<0.01; ***: p<0.001). (B) Representative dot-plots and (C) quantification of splenic CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells from animals treated with anti-CD4 MAb or an isotype control, at day 90 (n=5; p, non-significant). (D) T/B monoclonal mice (T-Bmc) T-Bmc Foxp3-deficient mice (T-Bmc FoxP3sf), were immunized on days 1 and 14 with OVA-HA-alum in the presence of non-depleting anti-CD4 or an isotype control. Serum HA-specific lgG1 was determined on day 24 (n=5; p<0.001). (E) IL-10^{-/-} and IL-10^{+/+} mice were treated with hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4 MAbs as described above. The serum concentration of hFVIII-specific lgG1 was quantified on day 90 (n=6; p<0.001). (A-E) Data are representative of two independent experiments.

Figure 3. Non-depleting anti-CD4 induces long-term protection from inhibitor formation in hemophilia-A mice. (A) HemA mice were treated with 1 U hFVIII or HFVIII-alum and 2 x 1 mg non-depleting anti-CD4 (or isotype control) on the indicated days, followed by subsequent administrations of 1 U hFVIII as represented. The presence of serum hFVIII-specific Ig was investigated at days 30, 60, and 90 following last administration of anti-CD4, (B) Quantification of serum hFVIII-specific IgG1 from C57BI/6 Hem-A mice at day 30 and at day 90, following multiple exposures to hFVIII (n=8; p<0.001). (C) Quantification of FVIII inhibitors from the serum of C57BI/6 mice at day 90 (n=8; p<0.01). (D) Serum hFVIII-specific lgG1 from BALB/c Hem-A mice (n=4; p<0.01). (E) Quantification of hFVIII inhibitors from BALB/c Hem-A mice (n=4; p<0.05). (F) C57Bl/6 HemA mice were treated on days 1 and 14 with hFVIII-alum (i.p. or s.c.) and anti-CD4 (i.p. or i.v.). A control group remained untreated. Subsequent challenges were done by i.v. administration of hFVIII, in a total of 4 injections, given twice weekly starting on day 21. Quantification of the anti-hFVIII |gG1 |evels and Bethesda Units, measured one week after the final exposure to hFVIII (n=6; p<0.05). (G) Quantification of IL-10 concentration in supernatants of splenocytes from C57Bl/6 Hem-A mice, collected at day 7 following initial treatment with HFVIII-alum + anti-CD4. The splenocytes were stimulated with anti-CD3 for three days (n=3; p < 0.05). Data are representative of two independent experiments.

Figure 4. *Non-depleting anti-CD4-treated mice remain immune competent.* (A) C57Bl/6 mice were treated as described previously with anti-CD4, but using FVIII-alum or OVA-alum as the "tolerizing antigen" administered at the time of Mab treatment. Five weeks following the last MAb infusion the mice were exposed to the same or to the other antigen. Control groups were not treated with anti-CD4. (B) Some mice were immunized with hFVIII-alum on days 50 and 64, and serum hFVIII-specific lgG1 was quantified at day 73. We found that unlike mice initially treated with OVA-alum + anti-CD4, mice treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 remained unresponsive to the subsequent immunization with hFVIII-alum (n=4; p<0.05). (C) Other mice were immunized at day 50 and 64 with OVA-alum, and serum OVA-specific lgG1 was quantified on day 73. Animals initially treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 remained competent to respond to immunization with OVA-alum, unlike mice initially treated with OVA-alum + anti-CD4 remained competent to PVIII-alum + anti-CD4 remained competent to expend to immunization with OVA-alum, unlike mice initially treated with OVA-alum + anti-CD4 remained competent to respond to immunization with OVA-alum, unlike mice initially treated with OVA-alum + anti-CD4 remained competent to experiments.

Figure 5. Anti-CD4 Mab is effective in inducing tolerance following sensitization. (A) C57Bl/6 mice were sensitized with hFVIII-alum at day 1 and 14, and sacrificed at day 30. Leukocytes from spleen, pooled lymph nodes, and bone marrow were collected and adoptively transferred

i.v. into congenic Rag2^{-/-} or C57BI/6 recipients. The recipient mice were then treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 Mab (or an isotype control) on the day of cell transfer and 14 days later (consistent with protocol represented in Figure 1A), and all groups of mice were subsequently challenged with 3x 1U hFVIII on days 10, 12, and 14 following the last administration of anti-CD4. (B) Quantification of serum hFVIII-specific lgG1 in Rag2^{-/-} recipient mice. Animals that received primed T and B cells were competent to produce anti-hFVIII $\lg G1$ (n=5; p<0.001), but antibody production was abrogated in mice treated with anti-CD4 (n=5; p<0.001; N.D., not detected). (C) Concentration of serum hFVIII-specific IgG1 in C57BI/6 mice transferred with primed T and B cells. Animals adoptively transferred with primed cells produced higher levels of hFVIII-specific |gG1| than animals that did not received primed cells (n=5; p<0.001). Treatment with anti-CD4 prevented production of hFVIII-specific |gG1 by the primed lymphocytes (n=5; p<0.001; N.D., not detected). Data are representative of two independent experiments. (D) C57BI/6 mice were sensitized with hFVIII on days 1, 5, 10, and 15, and treated with hFVIII-alum and anti-CD4 (i.p. or s.c.) on days 22 and 36. Control mice received anti-CD4 without hFVIII. One control group had not been previously exposed to hFVIII. All mice received hFVIII i.v. on days 54, 56, 64, 66, 74, and 76. Anti-hFVIII IgG1 was guantified on the indicated days. Mice treated with hFVIII-alum + anti-CD4 (regardless of the route of administration) were protected from production of anti-hFVIII IgG1 following subsequent exposure to hFVIII (n=6; *p*<0.001).

From bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org at INST GULBENKIAN DE CIENCIA on April 14, 2013. For personal use only.



Figure 1

From bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org at INST GULBENKIAN DE CIENCIA on April 14, 2013. For personal use only.



Figure 2
From bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org at INST GULBENKIAN DE CIENCIA on April 14, 2013. For personal use only.



Figure 3

From bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org at INST GULBENKIAN DE CIENCIA on April 14, 2013. For personal use only.



Figure 4

From bloodjournal.hematologylibrary.org at INST GULBENKIAN DE CIENCIA on April 14, 2013. For personal use only.



R&D Systems Travel Grants to IMMUNOLOGY2013"

\$1,000 travel grants will be awarded to 10 immunology researchers R&D Systems Application Deadline: February 28th Apply Now!





Induced IL-17–Producing Invariant NKT Cells Require Activation in Presence of TGF- β and IL-1 β

This information is current as of January 14, 2013.

Marta Monteiro, Catarina F. Almeida, Ana Agua-Doce and Luis Graca

J Immunol 2013; 190:805-811; ; doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201010 http://www.jimmunol.org/content/190/2/805

References	This article cites 43 articles , 24 of which you can access for free at: http://www.jimmunol.org/content/190/2/805.full#ref-list-1
Subscriptions	Information about subscribing to <i>The Journal of Immunology</i> is online at: http://jimmunol.org/subscriptions
Permissions	Submit copyright permission requests at: http://www.aai.org/ji/copyright.html
Email Alerts	Receive free email-alerts when new articles cite this article. Sign up at: http://jimmunol.org/cgi/alerts/etoc



Induced IL-17–Producing Invariant NKT Cells Require Activation in Presence of TGF-β and IL-1β

Marta Monteiro,¹ Catarina F. Almeida,¹ Ana Agua-Doce, and Luis Graca

IL-17 production by innate-like lymphocytes, including $\gamma\delta$ and invariant NKT (iNKT) cells, have been ascribed to specific lineages that are endowed with this functional specialization during thymic differentiation. IL-17–producing iNKT cells have been described as a CD4⁻NK1.1⁻ lineage in mice and CD161⁺ in humans. We found that, in mice, noncommitted iNKT cells can be induced to produce IL-17 when activated in presence of TGF- β and IL-1 β . This peripheral induction of IL-17 expression could be observed in any subset irrespectively of CD4 and NK1.1 expression, the process leading to loss of NK1.1 expression and partial CD4 downmodulation. Furthermore, induced IL-17–producing iNKT cells were sufficient to drive neutrophilic airways inflammation upon intratracheal adoptive cell transfer into congenic mice. Taken together, our data show that similarly to regulatory T cells, which have a natural and peripherally induced subset, IL-17 production by iNKT cells can also be imprinted in natural iNKT17 cells or peripherally induced. *The Journal of Immunology*, 2013, 190: 805–811.

Invariant NKT (iNKT) cells are a subset of unconventional T lymphocytes that rearrange a limited repertoire of $\alpha\beta$ TCR chains allowing the specific recognition of glycolipid Ags presented by CD1d molecules (1). These cells can be found in mice and humans, and display immune regulatory functions that may contribute to either protective or deleterious immune responses in several disease settings, including bacterial, viral, fungal, and protozoan infections, as well as in allergy and autoimmunity (2, 3).

In addition to the TCR, iNKT cells can express other receptors from the T cell lineage, like the CD4 coreceptor, as well as molecules typical of NK cells, such as NK1.1 (1). The differential expression of these particular molecules among iNKT lymphocytes has been widely used to discriminate distinct developmental stages in the thymus and mature iNKT cell subsets in the periphery (4–6). These peripheral iNKT cells exhibit an effector/memory phenotype even in the absence of prior stimulation. Its activated phenotype is acquired during thymic differentiation, leading to the postulation that iNKT cells could be selected and/or expanded by self-agonists in the thymus (7). Upon Ag encounter, iNKT cells rapidly secrete copious amounts of cytokines, influencing the recruitment and activation of several immune cells, including T and B lymphocytes, macrophages, DCs, NK cells, and neutrophils (8–10).

In the past few years, several groups have demonstrated that iNKT cells can also secrete IL-17 (4, 6, 11–14). This cytokine plays a key role in the recruitment, activation, and migration of neutrophils, and can act on a plethora of cell types to induce cy-

Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Lisboa, 1649-025 Lisbon, Portugal; and Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, 2780-156 Oeiras, Portugal

Copyright © 2013 by The American Association of Immunologists, Inc. 0022-1767/13/\$16.00

www.jimmunol.org/cgi/doi/10.4049/jimmunol.1201010

tokine and chemokine secretion (15–19). Effector CD4 T cells that specialize in IL-17 secretion, termed Th17 cells, differentiate in the periphery after activation in presence of TGF- β , IL-6, and IL- 1β produced mainly by innate cells, and rely on IL-23 and IL-21 for maturation and expansion after Th17 commitment (20–22). In contrast, IL-17–secreting iNKT cells are believed to belong to a distinct lineage that develops in the thymus, are more immature than iNKT cells that produce IFN- γ and IL-4, and constitute a subset of recent thymic iNKT cell emigrants (23, 24). However, the possibility that mature, uncommitted iNKT cells can respond to activation under the influence of particular cytokines by secreting IL-17 was never addressed.

We investigated whether mature splenic iNKT cells can secrete IL-17 when activated in the same cytokine context that directs Th17 differentiation in naive conventional CD4 T cells. We performed in vitro assays where we assessed the production of IL-17 by unfractionated iNKT cells or by the distinct iNKT cell subsets defined by CD4 and NK1.1 expression stimulated in presence of TGF-B, IL-6, and IL-1B. Surprisingly, we were able to detect IL-17 expression, both intracellular or in the culture supernatants, of all cultured iNKT cells, including the more mature subsets that express NK1.1, CD4, or both. We adoptively transferred these "induced" IL-17-producing iNKT cells to the trachea of naive recipient mice and, even without any further nasal challenge, they were able to induce airway neutrophilia in the lungs. Our results clearly show that IL-17 secretion by iNKT cells is not restricted to the NK1.1 CD4 lineage committed in the thymus, but can also be acquired in the periphery under specific cytokine contexts in which TGF-B, IL-6, and IL-1B are being simultaneously produced. Such peripheral conversion resembles the mechanism that generates induced regulatory T cells (Tregs) in the periphery and endows iNKT cells with functional power.

Materials and Methods

Mice

C57BL/6J (6–8 wk old) mice were bred and maintained under specified pathogen-free conditions at the Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência. For each experiment, animals were sex and age matched. Experiments were performed according to the guidelines from the National Veterinary Department and Institutional Ethical Comities.

¹M.M. and C.F.A. contributed equally to this work.

Received for publication April 4, 2012. Accepted for publication November 9, 2012.

This work was supported by Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (Portugal) Grants PIC/IC/82895/2007 and PTDC/SAU-TOX/114424/2009 and fellowships (to C.F.A., M.M., and A.A.-D.).

Address correspondence and reprint requests to Dr. Luis Graca, Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculty of Medicine, University of Lisbon, Avenida Prof. Egas Moniz, 1649-025 Lisbon, Portugal. E-mail address: lgraca@fm.ul.pt

Abbreviations used in this article: BAL, bronchoalveolar lavage; DN, double-negative; DP, double-positive; GSL-1, glycosphingolipid 1; iNKT, invariant NKT; Nrp-1, neuropilin-1; SP, single-positive; Treg, regulatory T cell.

In vivo experiments

Mice were anesthetized with ketamine/xylazine, the trachea was surgically exposed, and 50,000 cells were injected. In some experiments, mice received 100 µg neutralizing anti-mouse IL-17 or IFN- γ (clones BioMM17F3 and R4-6A2, respectively, purchased from eBioscience) 24 h before cell transfer. After 2 d, the mice were sacrificed, the trachea was cannulated, the airways were lavaged three times with 1 ml ice-cold PBS, and the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) was collected. The lungs were collected for histological processing and H&E staining.

Flow cytometry and cell sorting

Mouse CD1d tetramers coupled to PE and loaded with PBS57 (an iNKT cell ligand analog to α -galactosylceramide) were supplied by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Tetramer Facility. Fluorochrome-labeled monoclonal Abs specific to mouse TCRB (H57-597), NK1.1 (PK136), CD25 (PC61.5), CD4 (RM4-5), CD3 (145-2C11), CCR3 (83103), Gr-1 (RB68C5), MHCII (M5/114.15.2), IL-17 (eBio 17B7), IFN-y (XMG1.2), and streptavidin were all purchased from eBioscience. Neuropilin-1 (Nrp-1) was detected as described elsewhere (24). For intracellular cytokine detection, cells were incubated for 2 h 30 min with 50 ng/ml 4-a-phorbol 12-mystrate 13-acetate, 500 ng/ml ionomycin, and 10 µg/ml brefeldin A (Sigma). After Ab surface staining, cells were fixed and permeabilized using the Foxp3 staining set (eBioscience), then incubated with unconjugated anti-CD16/32 (clone 2.4G2) rat Ab and with anti-cytokine Abs. Data were acquired in FACSCanto I (Becton Dickinson) and analyzed using FlowJo (Tree Star). For cell sorting, murine iNKT cells were first enriched by magnetic separation, as described elsewhere (25), and samples were sorted on FACSAria I (Becton Dickinson).

In vitro cell cultures

FACS-sorted populations of iNKT or CD4 T cells were cultured in IMDM+ GlutaMAX 5% FBS, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, and 0.01% 2-ME (all from Invitrogen), at 37°C 5% CO₂. For cell stimulation, flat-bottomed 96well plates were coated for 3 h with anti-CD3 (clone 145-2C11, at 2 µg/ ml) and anti-CD28 (clone 37.51, at 5 µg/ml) at 37°C. In some experiments, iNKT cells were stimulated by different concentrations of purified glycosphingolipid 1 (GSL-1; provided by the NIH Tetramer Facility) in the presence of 2 × 10⁴ cells derived from a peritoneal lavage of a naive C57BL/6 mouse as APCs. When indicated, the culture media were supplemented with 1 ng/ml TGF-β (R&D Systems), 20 ng/ml IL-6 (R&D Systems), 10 ng/ml IL-1β (eBioscience), and 10 µg/ml anti–INF-γ (inhouse production). At the end of the culture period, supernatants were collected and cells stained for flow cytometry.

IL-17 detection in the culture supernatants

Quantification of IL-17 in culture supernatants was performed in MaxiSorp plates (Nunc) using the mouse IL-17 immunoassay kit (PeproTech), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism 5. The p values were calculated by nonparametric unpaired t test with Welch's correction (Mann–Whitney U test), and p values <0.05 were deemed significant.

Results

Induction of IL-17 production by iNKT cells in presence of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TGF- β

It has been reported that IL-17–producing iNKT cells can be identified in several organs (4, 23). We confirmed that within the iNKT population isolated from liver, spleen, or thymus of unmanipulated C57BL/6J mice, a small proportion of cells were positive for IL-17 (Fig. 1A, 1B). In agreement with what has been described, these IL-17⁺ iNKT cells were mostly CD4⁻ and NK1.1⁻ (Fig. 1C).

To investigate whether iNKT cell activation in the presence of cytokines known to favor Th17 polarization could influence iNKT cell fate, we stimulated splenic iNKT cells and naive CD4 T cells isolated from naive mice and purified by FACS with plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 in the presence of IL-1 β , IL-6, anti–IFN- γ , and TGF- β . T cell activation in the presence of this cytokine mixture has been described as being able to polarize uncommitted CD4 T cells toward Th17 (26–28). We observed that



FIGURE 1. Expression of IL-17 by murine iNKT cells is induced in presence of IL-1B, IL-6, and TGF-B. (A) Murine iNKT cells from livers, spleens, and thymi of naive C57BL/6J mice (spleen depicted) were indentified as CD1d/PBS57⁺ CD3⁺ cells. Unloaded CD1d tetramer control staining to assess background level was also performed. (B) Freshly isolated iNKT cells from the liver, spleen, and thymus of unmanipulated C57BL/6J mice were stimulated with PMA/ionomycin in presence of brefeldin A for 3 h, and IL-17-producing cells were identified by flow cytometry. (C) CD4 and NK1.1 expression of IL-17⁺ iNKT cells in the periphery. Data are representative of two independent experiments, each with three mice. (D) CD1d/PBS57+CD3+ cells and control CD4+ T cells were purified by FACS and stimulated in triplicate wells by plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 in presence of IL-1β, IL-6, anti-IFN-γ, and TGF-β. Negative controls were deprived of exogenous TGF-B addition. After 4 d of culture, cells were further stimulated as described in (B), and the accumulation of IL-17-secreting cells was assessed by flow cytometry. (E) IL-17 concentration was assessed by ELISA in the culture supernatants after 4 d of culture. Data are representative of at least three experiments in which culture conditions were set in triplicate. n = 3, *p < 0.05. (F) Splenic iNKT cells negatively enriched through magnetic depletion of CD19⁺, CD62L⁺, and CD8⁺ cells were cultured with peritoneal APCs and stimulated with various concentrations of GSL-1 in the presence of IL-6, IL-1β, and, when indicated, TGFβ. IL-17 concentration was measured in the supernatant after 4 d of culture. Data are presented as means of quadruplicate values ± SEM and are representative of two independent experiments.

iNKT cells responded to the polarizing conditions in a similar way as CD4 T cells, with TGF- β being essential for IL-17 expression (Fig. 1D, 1E). In the end of the cultures, IL-17 could be detected by intracellular staining in ~25% of iNKT cells and 10% of CD4 T cells. Furthermore, IL-17 was present in the culture supernatant of both iNKT and CD4 T cell cultures (Fig. 1E).

Because the in vitro system used to induce IL-17 expression in iNKT cells could involve supraphysiological stimulation, we assessed the capacity of iNKT cells to induce IL-17 when stimulated by a microbial glycolipid presented by APCs. iNKT cells for this assay remained untouched and were enriched only from splenocytes by magnetic depletion of CD19⁺ CD62L⁺ and CD8⁺ cells, to avoid any extra stimulation provided by the tetramer used to identify and isolate these cells by FACS. We then stimulated iNKT cells with different concentrations of GSL-1, a microbial Ag found in *Sphingomonas* spp. (29–31), in the presence of the

cytokine mixture used to polarize Th17 cells. After 4 d of culture, IL-17 concentration in the supernatants was measured (Fig. 1F). In conditions where TGF-B was not added, IL-17 production was relatively low and comparable with the counterpart cultures where iNKT cells were stimulated by plate-bound anti-CD3, independent of the concentration of GSL-1 used for stimulation. In contrast, when TGF-B was added in concert with IL-6 and IL-1B, IL-17 concentration in the supernatant was significantly higher and correlated with the concentration of Ag. These results are consistent with our observations using anti-CD3 stimulation and suggest that iNKT cells might be able to induce IL-17 expression in vivo when stimulated by milder TCR stimuli from microbial origin in the appropriate cytokine environment.

We also evaluated the need for each one of the reagents from the polarization mixture in the induction of IL-17 expression by iNKT cells. For that purpose, we cultured splenic iNKT and naive CD4 T cells as described previously, but in the absence of TGF-β, IL-6, IL-1β, or anti–IFN-γ (Fig. 2A, 2B). In contrast with CD4 T cells, in which IL-17 induction absolutely requires cells to be stimulated in the presence of TGF-B, IL-6, IL-1B, and anti-IFN-y simultaneously, our results show that maximum IL-17 upregulation in iNKT cells requires both TGF-B and IL-1B (Fig. 2A, 2C), but is independent from exogenous addition of IL-6 and anti-IFN-y.

These observations indicate that stimulation of iNKT cells in conditions where the cytokines that promote Th17 deviation are present promotes an increased expression of IL-17 by these unconventional T lymphocytes.

All iNKT cell subsets defined by CD4 and NK1.1 expression are able to express IL-17 upon polarization

The identification that IL-17 production by ex vivo-isolated iNKT cells was restricted to a NK1.1⁻CD4⁻ subset, together with the identification of the thymic development of such subset, led to the conclusion that IL-17 production was a characteristic of a thymic-derived iNKT cell lineage committed to this particular function (4, 23). However, modulation of the expression of cell-surface



FIGURE 2. TGF- β and IL-1 β are essential for IL-17 expression by iNKT cells. iNKT and naive CD4 T cells from the spleen of unmanipulated mice were isolated by FACS as described earlier and stimulated for 4 d by plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 in the presence of IL-1B, IL-6, anti-IFN- γ , and TGF- β ("complete" conditions) or in the absence of each one of these reagents. (A and B) IL-17 concentration was measured in the culture supernatants of iNKT (A) and CD4 T cells (B) at the end of the culture period. (C) Intracellular staining for IL-17A and IFN- γ of iNKT cells cultured in different conditions after restimulation with PMA/ionomycin in presence of brefeldin A. This experiment was performed twice with quadruplicates. n = 4, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.0001.

molecules after activation of iNKT cells, namely, NK1.1, has been previously reported (32). This prompted us to investigate whether the potential to acquire IL-17 expression was indeed restricted to the NK1.1⁻CD4⁻ iNKT cell subset, and whether the CD4 and NK1.1 phenotype remains unchanged after Th17 polarization.

For this aim, we purified by FACS the four iNKT subpopulations defined by the expression of NK1.1 and CD4, or naive CD4 T cells from the spleen of unmanipulated C57BL/6J mice (Fig. 3A), and compared their ability to acquire the expression of IL-17 after activation in conditions that favor Th17 polarization of conventional CD4 T lymphocytes. In the absence of TGF-B, activation of iNKT cells induced high IFN-y production, but not IL-17, in both NK1.1⁻CD4⁺ (CD4 single-positive [SP]) and NK1.1⁺CD4⁺ (doublepositive [DP]) iNKT cell subsets (Fig. 3B). In contrast, NK1.1⁺CD4⁻ (NK1.1SP) and NK1.1⁻CD4⁻ (double-negative [DN]) iNKT cell subpopulations exhibited significant expression of IL-17 (6.20 \pm 2.01 and 9.20 \pm 0.80 cells, respectively) even in the absence of TGF- β (Fig. 3B). These observations might be explained by the expansion of pre-existent IL-17+ iNKT cells known to be contained within the $\overline{CD4}$ iNKT cell population (4, 6, 23).

In conditions in which TGF-B was present, however, all iNKT cell subsets displayed a significant frequency of iNKT cells expressing IL-17 after activation (Fig. 3C) and secreted much higher amounts of this cytokine to the culture supernatant than the CD4 Th17-induced cells (Fig. 3D). These results suggest that, regardless of the cell phenotype in terms of NK1.1 or CD4 expression, iNKT cells retain the potential to acquire IL-17-secreting function after activation under proinflammatory conditions where TGF-B, IL-1B, and eventually IL-6 are present.

We also found that after activation in Th17-polarizing conditions, most iNKT cells downmodulated NK1.1, as it has been widely reported after NKT cell activation (32), and to a lower degree CD4 (Fig. 3E). This phenotypic change brings activated iNKT cells to a phenotype closer to what has been described for the natural IL-17-producing iNKT cells committed in the thymus.

Nrp-1⁻ iNKT cells are amenable to induce IL-17 expression

It has been shown that iNKT cells that are educated in the thymus to produce IL-17 can be identified within an Nrp-1⁺ population (24). We therefore investigated whether in vitro induction of IL-17 expression was possible starting from Nrp-1⁻ iNKT cells purified by FACS (Fig. 4). Nrp-1⁻ iNKT cells comprise >90% of total splenic iNKT cells and, therefore, could be easily isolated with a high purity degree (Fig. 4A). After 4 d of culture under Th17promoting conditions, the intracellular expression of IL-17 and IFN-γ were assessed (Fig. 4B, 4C). In the absence of TGF-β, IL-17 expression was undetectable in cultured Nrp-1⁻ iNKT cells. whereas in the presence of this cytokine, around 3% of the cells expressed IL-17. For comparison, we cultured in parallel Nrp-1⁺ iNKT cells under the same conditions. As expected, IL-17 expression in Nrp-1⁺ iNKT cells was drastically higher, with 15% of the cells expressing IL-17 when the culture medium was not supplemented with TGF-B, confirming the existence of a precommitted population of IL-17-secreting iNKT cells (Fig. 4B, 4C). As before, IFN- γ expression was consistently reduced in cultures not supplemented with TGF-B. In summary, these data show that peripheral iNKT cells can induce de novo expression of IL-17 when activated under conditions that promote Th17 deviation in conventional CD4 T cells.

Induced IL-17-producing iNKT cells can drive neutrophilic airways inflammation

Having established that peripheral iNKT cells can be amenable to secrete IL-17 by cytokine polarization, we investigated whether



FIGURE 3. Induction of IL-17 expression in the iNKT cell subsets subdivided on the basis of NK1.1 and CD4 expression. (**A**) Splenic iNKT cells from naive C57BL/6J mice were identified as CD1d/PBS57⁺TCR β^+ cells and further subdivided in subpopulations defined as NK1.1⁻CD4⁺ (*CD4 SP*), NK1.1⁺CD4⁺ (*DP*), NK1.1⁺CD4⁻ (*NK1.1 SP*), and NK1.1⁻CD4⁻ (*DN*). (**B**) The four iNKT cell subsets defined in (A) were purified by FACS, and 50,000 cells of each subpopulation were stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 in the presence of IL-1 β , IL-6, and anti-IFN- γ with or without TGF- β . After 4 d of culture, cells were stimulated for 3 h with PMA/ionomycin in the presence of brefeldin A, and flow cytometric analysis of IFN- γ and IL-17 expression by each iNKT cell subset was performed. (**C**) Average frequency of IL-17⁺ iNKT cells in culture triplicates of the indicated subpopulations. (**D**) Quantification of IL-17 in culture supernatants by ELISA. Bars represent the average of triplicate cultures \pm SEM (p < 0.05). (**E**) Assessment of NK1.1 and CD4 expression at the end of the culture period. Data are representative of three independent experiments, each with triplicates. *p < 0.05.

those induced IL-17⁺ iNKT cells could maintain their function in vivo, leading to inflammation.

number of in vitro–generated Th17 CD4 T cells or activated iNKT cells cultured in medium without TGF- β .

It has been described that IL-17 production can induce inflammatory changes in the airways (6). Thus, we performed intratracheal adoptive cell transfers of 50,000 iNKT cells generated in a 4-d culture period under Th17-polarizing conditions (as described earlier). As control populations, we used an equal We found that animals transferred with IL-17-producing iNKT cells developed peribronchiolar inflammatory infiltrates, something that was also observed in animals transferred with Th17 cells, but not activated iNKT cells (Fig. 5A). The analysis of the cellular content of the BAL indicated a significant recruitment



FIGURE 4. Nrp-1⁻ iNKT cells upregulate IL-17 after culture in the presence of TGF- β , IL-6, and IL-1 β . (**A**) iNKT cells were isolated from the spleen of naive C57BL/6 mice and sorted according to the expression of Nrp-1. (**B**) Purified Nrp-1⁻ and Nrp-1⁺ iNKT cells were cultured in Th17-polarizing conditions as described earlier, and IL-17 expression was assessed by flow cytometry at day 4. (**C**) Frequency of IL-17⁺ cells after 4 d of culture of Nrp-1⁻ and Nrp-1⁺ iNKT cells assessed by flow cytometry. Data are representative of two experiments, each one with triplicates. *p < 0.05, ***p < 0.0001.

of neutrophils into the airways in the experimental group that have received IL-17⁺ iNKT cells that was less pronounced in recipients of Th17 CD4 T cells and undetectable in mice that have received iNKT cells activated without TGF- β (Fig. 5B, 5C). Importantly, the recruitment of neutrophils to the airways was prevented when the mice received an injection of neutralizing anti–IL-17 Ab 24 h before the IL-17⁺ NKT cell transfer (Fig. 5D). In contrast, neutralization of IN- γ had no impact in neutrophils' recruitment. These results confirmed that induction of IL-17⁺ iNKT cells is able to generate a functionally competent population capable of exerting in vivo IL-17–dependent effects comparable with what is observed for Th17 CD4 T cells.

Discussion

In the last 5 y, a growing body of evidence has been raised establishing iNKT cells as one of the several innate sources of IL-17 (6, 11–14, 23). It has been shown that there is an ROR γ (t)-dependent NKT cell subset lacking CD4 and NK1.1 expression that commits to IL-17 secretion in the thymus (23). This finding led to the general assumption that the ability of iNKT lymphocytes



FIGURE 5. The presence of IL-17⁺ iNKT cells generated by cytokine conversion in the airways is sufficient to induce neutrophilia. IL-17⁺ iNKT cells were generated in vitro after stimulation of splenic iNKT cells isolated by FACS by plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 in the presence of IL-1B, IL-6, anti-IFN-y, and TGF-B (iNKT17). iNKT cells cultured in the absence of TGF-B (activated iNKT) and in vitro-generated CD4 Th17 cells (Th17) were used as controls. After 4 d of culture, 50,000 cells or the same volume of $1 \times PBS$ was injected in the trachea of naive mice. Animals were sacrificed 2 d postinjection. (A) Histology sections of the lungs stained with H&E showing peribronchiolar infiltrates in mice transferred with iNKT17 and Th17 cells. Scale bar, 10 µm. (B) Airway neutrophilia was assessed by flow cytometric detection of neutrophils, identified as Gr-1^{hi}CCR3^{-/+}MHCII⁻ cells, in the BAL. (C) Absolute quantification of neutrophils in the BAL. A higher percentage (not shown) and absolute number of neutrophils was observed in mice transferred with iNKT17 cells. Data are representative of two independent experiments with three mice per group. (D) Absolute numbers of neutrophils in the BAL of mice that have received an adoptive transfer of IL-17⁺ iNKT cells in the presence or absence of neutralizing anti–IL-17 and anti–IFN- γ mAbs. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

to secrete IL-17 is restricted to a fixed lineage. In addition, a recent report has demonstrated that IL-17–committed iNKT cells are included in the recent thymic emigrant pool that migrates to the secondary lymphoid organs and is diluted after thymectomy, which suggested that the pool of IL-17–competent iNKT cells present in the lymphoid organs requires continuous thymic output to be maintained (24). Furthermore, because most IL-17–secreting iNKT cells lack NK1.1 expression, it has been postulated that the IL-17 response promoted by NKT cells relies on the activation and expansion of cells from that lineage in the periphery. However, it is well established that NK1.1 expression is profoundly downmodulated after activation, which renders this molecule an unreliable lineage marker in the periphery, in a context of TCR activation.

We have therefore addressed the question of whether the expression of IL-17 by iNKT cells could be an inducible competence when these cells are stimulated under the same conditions promoting the acquisition of a Th17 phenotype by naive conventional CD4 T cells. Indeed, our in vitro studies clearly showed that IL-17 could be readily detected 4 d after initial stimulation of splenic iNKT cells cultured in presence of a cytokine mixture including TGF- β and IL-1 β . The fact that exogenous IL-6 is dispensable for IL-17 expression by iNKT cells is not surprising and has been reported by others (11, 33). However, because splenic iNKT cells have been shown to be able to produce IL-6 in vitro after anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 stimulation (4), the role of this cytokine in induction of de novo IL-17 production remains to be clarified.

Notably, both the frequency of IL-17⁺ cells and the amount of protein secreted to the culture media were significantly higher in iNKT cells when compared with the CD4 Th17-induced controls, which is in accordance with the fact that NKT cells are proficient cytokine producers early after activation. The emergence of IL-17⁺ iNKT cells is unlikely to be due to expansion of IL-17-lineage-committed iNKT cells because few IL-17⁺ cells could be detected in cultures where TGF-B was not added. To exclude this possibility definitely, we adopted two strategies. First, we isolated DP, CD4SP, NK1.1SP, and DN splenic iNKT cell subsets by FACS and assessed induction of IL-17 in each individual population. We observed that IL-17 expression was induced in all iNKT cell subsets cultured under Th17-polarizing conditions, irrespectively of their CD4 and NK1.1 phenotype, with CD4SP and DN populations exhibiting the highest IL-17 expression. Indeed, these two particular subsets, which include the naturally occurring thymusderived IL-17⁺ iNKT population, showed 5-10% of IL-17⁺ iNKT cells in cultures deprived of TGF-B, suggesting that the IL-17⁺ precursors present have expanded. Of note, despite that exogenous TGF-B has not been provided in this experimental condition, the culture medium might contain traces of this cvtokine, and thereby enable some level of TGF-B signal. Nevertheless, the detection of IL-17 in cultures of NK1.1SP and DP subsets, which do not include IL-17-lineage committed cells, clearly demonstrates that it is possible to induce de novo expression of this cytokine in iNKT lymphocytes outside the thymus, under conditions that promote iNKT cell activation and concomitant secretion of TGF-B, IL-6, and IL-1B.

The second strategy to demonstrate that IL-17 might be induced de novo in iNKT cells that had not been committed in the thymus to the NKT-17 lineage consisted of sorting by FACS the iNKT cells lacking the expression of Nrp-1, which are deprived of IL-17-committed cells. Our results show that although Nrp-1 iNKT cells stimulated in vitro in the presence of TGF-B, IL-6 and IL-1ß can indeed upregulate IL-17. However, despite the lower frequency of conversion of Nrp-1⁻ iNKT cells, compared with Nrp-1⁺ iNKT cells, one must consider the fact that in vivo Nrp-1 iNKT cells are at least 10 times more abundant than Nrp-1⁺ cells. Therefore, when unfractionated splenic iNKT cells are stimulated in conditions that promote Th17 deviation, taking into account that IL-17 expression will be induced or triggered in \sim 3 and 40% of iNKT cells from Nrp-1⁻ or Nrp-1⁺ origin, respectively, it is reasonable to assume that >40% of the IL-17⁺ iNKT cells are generated from the Nrp-1⁻ precursors. Thus, the contribution of the Nrp-1⁻ iNKT cell pool for the total number of IL-17⁺ cells is similar to the input from the Nrp-1+ iNKT cell subset, suggesting that peripheral induction of IL-17 in iNKT cells may be relevant in physiological proinflammatory conditions.

Our results also show that induced IL-17⁺ iNKT cells have almost completely downregulated NK1.1 expression from the surface and, to a lesser extent, have downmodulated CD4. However, it is difficult to accurately correlate the expression of IL-17 to NK1.1 and CD4 because the cells were stimulated in presence of a Golgi apparatus and endoplasmic reticulum protein transport inhibitor. Nevertheless, these observations indicate that in vivo NK1.1 expression is not useful to distinguish IL-17⁺ NKT cells of the thymic lineage from their peripherally generated counterparts. The expression of Nrp-1 by thymus-derived IL-17⁺ NKT cells (24) might represent a better strategy to circumvent this limitation.

In Fig. 3B, we show the expression of IFN- γ and IL-17A after culture under Th17-polarizing conditions in iNKT cell subsets defined by NK1.1 and CD4 expression. Irrespective of the presence of TGF- β , IFN- γ^+ cells are always detected in every subset. Most of these IFN- γ^+ cells are IL-17A⁻, but we cannot exclude the presence of a minor population of cells that coexpress both IL-17A and IFN- γ . The existence of a double-producer population of IL-17A and IFN-y has been documented for human CD4 Th17 cells (34-36) and, at least in these cells, correlates with a Th17 subset that coexpresses both CCR6 and CXCR3 chemokine receptors. This subset is distinct from Th17 cells that coexpress CCR6 together with CCR4, which, in turn, secrete IL-17 and IL-22. This dichotomy derives in CD4 Th17 cells from distinct activation contexts, in particular, in response to different types of pathogens: for instance, whereas memory Th17 cells specific for C. albicans are primarily found within the CCR6⁺CCR4⁺ subset, Th17 cells specific for M. tuberculosis are mainly CCR6⁺CXCR3⁺. This reflects a fine-tuned coordination between the differentiation of the appropriate effector functions in response to a given stimulus and the migratory capacity of the effector cells. In the case of iNKT cells that have acquired IL-17 in vitro, it is possible that a similar association between effector molecules and distinct migratory potentials might exist. Indeed, studies of human iNKT cells had already established a correlation between the type of chemokine receptors expressed by V α 24V β 11 T cells and the expression of Th1 and Th2 cytokines, with IL-4 and IFN-y being preferentially expressed by iNKT subsets expressing CCR4 and CXCR3, respectively (37-39). Therefore, when we transferred such heterogeneous population to the trachea of mice, in addition to the clear effect seen in the neutrophil recruitment to the lungs in result of the IL-17 production, other cell populations might as well be affected by other cytokines being produced.

The fact that IL-17⁺ NKT cells might have a central and peripheral origin resembles the scenario observed for Tregs, a specialized population of CD4 T lymphocytes fundamental for the maintenance of immunological self-tolerance (40, 41). Tregs can be generated in the thymus from CD4⁺CD8⁺ DP thymocytes that undergo positive selection and acquire the expression of the transcription factor Foxp3, or in the periphery, from naive CD4 T cell precursors that upregulate Foxp3 in response to activation in presence of locally produced TGF-B (42-45). The first are generally called natural Tregs and the latter induced Tregs, and both are capable of exerting suppression of other cells' functions by similar mechanisms. Our results indicate that a similar dual origin for IL-17⁺ iNKT cells might coexist physiologically. We therefore propose that NKT cells committed to IL-17 secretion in the thymus should be called "natural NKT17" cells, in contrast with the "induced NKT17 cells" generated in the periphery.

Acknowledgments

We thank Bruno Silva-Santos, Dale Godfrey, and Genaro De Libero for helpful suggestions, and the National Institutes of Health Tetramer Core Facility for reagents used in these studies.

Disclosures

The authors have no financial conflicts of interest.

References

- Bendelac, A., P. B. Savage, and L. Teyton. 2007. The biology of NKT cells. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 25: 297–336.
- Nowak, M., and J. Stein-Streilein. 2007. Invariant NKT cells and tolerance. Int. Rev. Immunol. 26: 95–119.

- Tupin, E., Y. Kinjo, and M. Kronenberg. 2007. The unique role of natural killer T cells in the response to microorganisms. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 5: 405–417.
- Coquet, J. M., S. Chakravarti, K. Kyparissoudis, F. W. McNab, L. A. Pitt, B. S. McKenzie, S. P. Berzins, M. J. Smyth, and D. I. Godfrey. 2008. Diverse cytokine production by NKT cell subsets and identification of an IL-17-producing CD4-NK1.1-NKT cell population. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 105: 11287–11292.
- Godfrey, D. I., and S. P. Berzins. 2007. Control points in NKT-cell development. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7: 505–518.
- Michel, M. L., A. C. Keller, C. Paget, M. Fujio, F. Trottein, P. B. Savage, C. H. Wong, E. Schneider, M. Dy, and M. C. Leite-de-Moraes. 2007. Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1(neg) iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia. J. Exp. Med. 204: 995–1001.
- Bezbradica, J. S., L. E. Gordy, A. K. Stanic, S. Dragovic, T. Hill, J. Hawiger, D. Unutmaz, L. Van Kaer, and S. Joyce. 2006. Granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor regulates effector differentiation of invariant natural killer T cells during thymic ontogeny. *Immunity* 25: 487–497.
- Brigl, M., R. V. Tatituri, G. F. Watts, V. Bhowruth, E. A. Leadbetter, N. Barton, N. R. Cohen, F. F. Hsu, G. S. Besra, and M. B. Brenner. 2011. Innate and cytokine-driven signals, rather than microbial antigens, dominate in natural killer T cell activation during microbial infection. J. Exp. Med. 208: 1163–1177.
- Godfrey, D. I., and J. Rossjohn. 2011. New ways to turn on NKT cells. J. Exp. Med. 208: 1121–1125.
- Wingender, G., P. Rogers, G. Batzer, M. S. Lee, D. Bai, B. Pei, A. Khurana, M. Kronenberg, and A. A. Horner. 2011. Invariant NKT cells are required for airway inflammation induced by environmental antigens. *J. Exp. Med.* 208: 1151–1162.
- Rachitskaya, A. V., A. M. Hansen, R. Horai, Z. Li, R. Villasmil, D. Luger, R. B. Nussenblatt, and R. R. Caspi. 2008. Cutting edge: NKT cells constitutively express IL-23 receptor and RORgammat and rapidly produce IL-17 upon receptor ligation in an IL-6-independent fashion. J. Immunol. 180: 5167–5171.
- Cua, D. J., and C. M. Tato. 2010. Innate IL-17-producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10: 479–489.
- Lee, K. A., M. H. Kang, Y. S. Lee, Y. J. Kim, D. H. Kim, H. J. Ko, and C. Y. Kang. 2008. A distinct subset of natural killer T cells produces IL-17, contributing to airway infiltration of neutrophils but not to airway hyperreativity. *Cell. Immunol.* 251: 50–55.
- Yoshiga, Y., D. Goto, S. Segawa, Y. Ohnishi, I. Matsumoto, S. Ito, A. Tsutsumi, M. Taniguchi, and T. Sumida. 2008. Invariant NKT cells produce IL-17 through IL-23-dependent and -independent pathways with potential modulation of Th17 response in collagen-induced arthritis. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 22: 369–374.
- Aggarwal, S., and A. L. Gurney. 2002. IL-17: prototype member of an emerging cytokine family. J. Leukoc. Biol. 71: 1–8.
- Fossiez, F., O. Djossou, P. Chomarat, L. Flores-Romo, S. Ait-Yahia, C. Maat, J. J. Pin, P. Garrone, E. Garcia, S. Saeland, et al. 1996. T cell interleukin-17 induces stromal cells to produce proinflammatory and hematopoietic cytokines. *J. Exp. Med.* 183: 2593–2603.
- Jovanovic, D. V., J. A. Di Battista, J. Martel-Pelletier, F. C. Jolicoeur, Y. He, M. Zhang, F. Mineau, and J. P. Pelletier. 1998. IL-17 stimulates the production and expression of proinflammatory cytokines, IL-beta and TNF-alpha, by human macrophages. J. Immunol. 160: 3513–3521.
- Laan, M., Z. H. Cui, H. Hoshino, J. Lötvall, M. Sjöstrand, D. C. Gruenert, B. E. Skoogh, and A. Lindén. 1999. Neutrophil recruitment by human IL-17 via C-X-C chemokine release in the airways. *J. Immunol.* 162: 2347–2352.
- Witowski, J., K. Pawlaczyk, A. Breborowicz, A. Scheuren, M. Kuzlan-Pawlaczyk, J. Wisniewska, A. Polubinska, H. Friess, G. M. Gahl, U. Frei, and A. Jörres. 2000. IL-17 stimulates intraperitoneal neutrophil infiltration through the release of GRO alpha chemokine from mesothelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 165: 5814–5821.
- Korn, T., E. Bettelli, M. Oukka, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2009. IL-17 and Th17 cells. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27: 485–517.
- Langrish, C. L., Y. Chen, W. M. Blumenschein, J. Mattson, B. Basham, J. D. Sedgwick, T. McClanahan, R. A. Kastelein, and D. J. Cua. 2005. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. J. Exp. Med. 201: 233–240.
- Park, H., Z. Li, X. O. Yang, S. H. Chang, R. Nurieva, Y. H. Wang, Y. Wang, L. Hood, Z. Zhu, Q. Tian, and C. Dong. 2005. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat. Immunol.* 6: 1133–1141.
- Michel, M. L., D. Mendes-da-Cruz, A. C. Keller, M. Lochner, E. Schneider, M. Dy, G. Eberl, and M. C. Leite-de-Moraes. 2008. Critical role of ROR-yt in a new thymic pathway leading to IL-17-producing invariant NKT cell differentiation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105: 19845–19850.
- Milpied, P., B. Massot, A. Renand, S. Diem, A. Herbelin, M. Leite-de-Moraes, M. T. Rubio, and O. Hermine. 2011. IL-17-producing invariant NKT cells in

- Monteiro, M., C. F. Almeida, M. Caridade, J. C. Ribot, J. Duarte, A. Agua-Doce, I. Wollenberg, B. Silva-Santos, and L. Graca. 2010. Identification of regulatory Foxp3+ invariant NKT cells induced by TGF-beta. *J. Immunol.* 185: 2157–2163.
- Bettelli, E., Y. Carrier, W. Gao, T. Korn, T. B. Strom, M. Oukka, H. L. Weiner, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2006. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* 441: 235–238.
- Harrington, L. E., R. D. Hatton, P. R. Mangan, H. Turner, T. L. Murphy, K. M. Murphy, and C. T. Weaver. 2005. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat. Immunol.* 6: 1123–1132.
- Veldhoen, M., R. J. Hocking, C. J. Atkins, R. M. Locksley, and B. Stockinger. 2006. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity* 24: 179–189.
- Kinjo, Y., D. Wu, G. Kim, G. W. Xing, M. A. Poles, D. D. Ho, M. Tsuji, K. Kawahara, C. H. Wong, and M. Kronenberg. 2005. Recognition of bacterial glycosphingolipids by natural killer T cells. *Nature* 434: 520–525.
- Mattner, J., K. L. Debord, N. Ismail, R. D. Goff, C. Cantu, III, D. Zhou, P. Saint-Mezard, V. Wang, Y. Gao, N. Yin, et al. 2005. Exogenous and endogenous glycolipid antigens activate NKT cells during microbial infections. *Nature* 434: 525-529.
- Sriram, V., W. Du, J. Gervay-Hague, and R. R. Brutkiewicz. 2005. Cell wall glycosphingolipids of Sphingomonas paucimobilis are CD1d-specific ligands for NKT cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 35: 1692–1701.
- Chen, H., H. Huang, and W. E. Paul. 1997. NK1.1+ CD4+ T cells lose NK1.1 expression upon in vitro activation. J. Immunol. 158: 5112–5119.
- 33. Doisne, J. M., V. Soulard, C. Bécourt, L. Amniai, P. Henrot, C. Havenar-Daughton, C. Blanchet, L. Zitvogel, B. Ryffel, J. M. Cavaillon, et al. 2011. Cutting edge: crucial role of IL-1 and IL-23 in the innate IL-17 response of peripheral lymph node NK1.1- invariant NKT cells to bacteria. *J. Immunol.* 186: 662–666.
- Acosta-Rodriguez, E. V., G. Napolitani, A. Lanzavecchia, and F. Sallusto. 2007. Interleukins Ibeta and 6 but not transforming growth factor-beta are essential for the differentiation of interleukin 17-producing human T helper cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 8: 942–949.
- Annunziato, F., L. Cosmi, V. Santarlasci, L. Maggi, F. Liotta, B. Mazzinghi, E. Parente, L. Fill, S. Ferri, F. Frosali, et al. 2007. Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J. Exp. Med. 2043: 1849–1861.
- Singh, S. P., H. H. Zhang, J. F. Foley, M. N. Hedrick, and J. M. Farber. 2008. Human T cells that are able to produce IL-17 express the chemokine receptor CCR6. J. Immunol. 180: 214–221.
- Harner, S., E. Noessner, K. Nadas, A. Leumann-Runge, M. Schiemann, F. L. Faber, J. Heinrich, and S. Krauss-Etschmann. 2011. Cord blood Vc24-Vβ11 natural killer T cells display a Th2-chemokine receptor profile and cytokine responses. *PLoS ONE* 6: e15714.
- Thomas, S. Y., R. Hou, J. E. Boyson, T. K. Means, C. Hess, D. P. Olson, J. L. Strominger, M. B. Brenner, J. E. Gumperz, S. B. Wilson, and A. D. Luster. 2003. CDId-restricted NKT cells express a chemokine receptor profile indicative of Th1-type inflammatory homing cells. *J. Immunol.* 171: 2571–2580.
- Kim, C. H., B. Johnston, and E. C. Butcher. 2002. Trafficking machinery of NKT cells: shared and differential chemokine receptor expression among V alpha 24(+)V beta 11(+) NKT cell subsets with distinct cytokine-producing capacity. *Blood* 100: 11–16.
- Rudensky, A. Y. 2011. Regulatory T cells and Foxp3. Immunol. Rev. 241: 260– 268.
- Sakaguchi, S., M. Miyara, C. M. Costantino, and D. A. Hafler. 2010. FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in the human immune system. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10: 490– 500.
- Cobbold, S. P., R. Castejon, E. Adams, D. Zelenika, L. Graca, S. Humm, and H. Waldmann. 2004. Induction of foxP3+ regulatory T cells in the periphery of T cell receptor transgenic mice tolerized to transplants. *J. Immunol.* 172: 6003– 6010.
- Coombes, J. L., K. R. Siddiqui, C. V. Arancibia-Cárcamo, J. Hall, C. M. Sun, Y. Belkaid, and F. Powrie. 2007. A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGF-beta and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism. J. Exp. Med. 204: 1757–1764.
- Fontenot, J. D., J. L. Dooley, A. G. Farr, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2005. Developmental regulation of Foxp3 expression during ontogeny. J. Exp. Med. 202: 901– 906.
- Mucida, D., N. Kutchukhidze, A. Erazo, M. Russo, J. J. Lafaille, and M. A. Curotto de Lafaille. 2005. Oral tolerance in the absence of naturally occurring Tregs. J. Clin. Invest. 115: 1923–1933.

Review Article **Regulatory T Cells and the Control of the Allergic Response**

Ana Agua-Doce^{1, 2} and Luis Graca^{1, 2}

 ¹ Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Cellular Immunology Unit, Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Lisboa, Avenida Professor Egas Moniz, 1649-028 Lisbon, Portugal
 ² Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, Cellular Immunology Unit, 2781-901 Oeiras, Portugal

Correspondence should be addressed to Luis Graca, lgraca@fm.ul.pt

Received 16 June 2012; Accepted 28 August 2012

Academic Editor: Maria Leite-de-Moraes

Copyright © 2012 A. Agua-Doce and L. Graca. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The study of immune regulation and tolerance has been traditionally associated with self/nonself-discrimination. However, the finding that dominant tolerance, a model that puts in evidence the active role of regulatory T cells, can develop to nonself-antigens suggests that the imposition of tolerance can be context dependent. This paper reviews the emerging field of acquired immune tolerance to non-self antigens, with an emphasis on the different subsets of induced regulatory T cells that appear to specialize in specific functional niches. Such regulatory mechanisms are important in preventing the onset of allergic diseases in healthy individuals. In addition, it may be possible to take advantage of these immune regulatory mechanisms for the induction of tolerance in cases where pathological immune responses are generated to allergens occurring in nature, but also to other immunogens such as biological drugs developed for medical therapies.

1. Introduction

For many decades the self/nonself-discrimination by the immune system was assumed to be a consequence of clonal selection of effector T cells. Compelling evidence has, however, imposed a revised view of self/nonself-discrimination: dominant regulatory mechanisms, where regulatory T (Treg) cells play a central role, are essential for maintenance of selftolerance [1]. But recently it is becoming apparent that the importance of dominant regulation goes beyond the discrimination of self and nonself: it also discriminates between harmful and innocuous. In fact, cellular mechanisms, as detailed below, persistently patrol the organism preventing the onset of inflammation, namely, allergic inflammation. The biological significance of this active tolerance-imposing mechanism is well demonstrated by the severity of the allergic and autoimmune syndrome that arises in individuals that lack these ability to tolerate self- and harmless antigens.

Indeed, the organism is constantly exposed to nonpathogenic antigens that, in healthy individuals, are tolerated. It is, however, common (and becoming increasingly frequent) that an overzealous immune system will activate and develop effector responses to such harmless antigens developing allergy and other inflammatory diseases. Over the last decades allergic diseases, including allergic asthma, atopic dermatitis, and food allergy, have become a major health problem in developed countries [2]. Despite the advances in the understanding of the pathophysiology of allergy and in its clinical management, allergic pathology remains a significant burden on the quality of life and economy of western society. Several strategies have been devised to overcome the pathological immune response by inducing immune tolerance. This paper reviews the impact of dominant regulatory mechanisms in the maintenance of tolerance to foreign antigens, including allergens.

A major cellular mechanism in maintaining immune tolerance is the population of natural (or thymic-derived) Foxp3⁺ Treg cells [3, 4]. Indeed these have been clearly implicated as potent inducers of a nonresponsive state in several immune-mediated pathologies like autoimmunity, transplantation, graft-versus-host disease, and allergy [5–9]. It has been shown, in allergy, that regulatory T cells can be transferred conferring specific tolerance to subsequent challenges with the allergen [10, 11]. In addition, depletion of the regulatory T cells can have a detrimental effect in allergic airway hyperreactivity [12]. Importantly Foxp3 deficiency, in mice and human beings, leads to a severe immune disregulation syndrome characterized by allergic and autoimmune manifestations that are rapidly fatal [13]. In addition to the important role of natural Foxp3⁺ Treg cells (nTreg) in preventing autoimmunity, it has become established that Foxp3 expression can be peripherally induced following Tcell activation in presence of TGF- β [14]. These peripherally induced Treg cells (iTreg) are believed to be important for tolerance induction to nonselfantigens, including allergens [14].

2. Induction of Regulatory T Cells

The study of peripheral induction of Treg cells was greatly facilitated with the use of Rag-insufficient TCR-transgenic mice, with the TCR specific for a nonselfantigen. In these mice nTregs cannot be formed in the thymus due to the absence of a selecting thymic antigen. In 2003 it was shown that conventional T cells can be converted into iTreg in *vitro* when activated in presence of TGF- β [15]. In addition those iTreg cells were fully capable of controlling airway hyperreactivity (AHR) in previously sensitized mice [15-19]. It was subsequently found that reducing or blocking the available amount of TGF- β exacerbates AHR [20, 21], while the local delivery of this cytokine or adoptive transfer of T cells engineered to express latent TGF- β rescue mice from antigen sensitization and therefore prevent AHR [22, 23]. Interestingly, suboptimal TCR signaling together with TGF- β greatly enhances iTreg conversion [24], which is in agreement with in vivo data showing that repeated low doses of allergen exposure promotes the emergence of Foxp3⁺ iTregs expressing TGF- β on the membrane [25]. Under suboptimal TCR stimulation, which can be obtained by using a low dose of plate bound anti-CD3 or DCs pulsed with a low dose of agonist peptide or with downmodulation of the TCR with nondepleting anti-CD4, iTreg conversion is promoted in the absence of exogenous TGF- β [26]. Under those conditions Foxp3 expression still requires TGF- β , but the T cells can produce TGF- β and benefit from the presence of this cytokine for conversion to Treg [26].

In addition to the importance of TGF- β for iTreg conversion, some studies showed that TGF- β can directly inhibit GATA3 expression thus impairing Th2 differentiation [27–29]. Because the Th2 response is impaired, the production of IL-4 is diminished, and this has a direct impact on B-cell class switch preventing IgE and favoring IgA production [30].

It is also becoming apparent that the environment influences the outcome of T-cell activation and the decision to induce Foxp3 and regulatory properties. Several reports have shown that the mucosal surfaces have a role in establishing an iTreg population: alveolar epithelial cells have been reported to participate in iTreg induction in a mechanism dependent of MHC class II expression and TGF- β [31]. Both alveolar and gut epithelia have been shown to depend on retinoic acid together with TGF- β to induce tolerance [32, 33]. It was also found that retinoic acid in the presence of TGF- β impaired STAT6 binding to the Foxp3 promoter therefore enhancing histone acetylation and reverting the repressive effect of IL-4 on the Foxp3 promoter [34]. Despite the critical role of TGF- β in iTreg induction and henceforth tolerance, this cytokine can also have some adverse effects since it is instrumental in the differentiation of Th17 and Th9 together with IL-6 and IL-4, respectively [35, 36]. Note that although Treg cells can prevent allergic autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), mice with T cells with a dominant negative receptor for TGF- β 1 do not develop EAE as Th17 cells are not induced [37]. Moreover, TGF- β has also been implicated in tissue remodeling, by induction of collagen expression in fibroblasts, as well as goblet cell proliferation and mucus production [38].

3. Regulatory T Cells and IL-10

Although TGF- β is the major known driver of iTreg differentiation, IL-10 has been shown to be another key player that has been vastly described in protection from allergic diseases [39].

Studies with bee venom-specific immunotherapy have shown that tolerance to the allergen can be induced in a process that is IL-10 mediated [40]. In addition, respiratory exposure tolerance induction to OVA relied on antigen specific CD4⁺ regulatory cells that produced IL-10 [41]. Tolerance was transferrable and abrogated when IL-10 or ICOS ligand was blocked. Interestingly, those regulatory cells shared some features with effector Th2 cells: both populations expressed IL-4 and IL-10 although in different amounts. While the regulatory cells primarily release IL-10, the effectors rely on IL-4 as the main cytokine. It has been suggested that different types of effector cells, including Th2, produce IL-10 at the end of the immune response in a mechanism that is important in limiting their inflammatory behavior [42]. IL-10 producing T cells has been described able to control the late response in allergic asthma by reducing neutrophilia [43]. It has been suggested that Foxp3-negative IL-10 producing T cells can be induced following activation in presence of IL-10 and constitute a population of regulatory cells different from Foxp3⁺ Tregs that are named TR1 [44, 45]. TR1 cells have been identified in mice and humans, and there are currently clinical trials [9, 46]. There are several other lines of evidence demonstrating the crucial role of IL-10 in the prevention of airway inflammation: IL-10-deficient mice have an exacerbated allergic airways response with high levels of proinflammatory cytokines like IL-5 and IFN- γ in the BAL [47]. Furthermore, intranasal administration of rmIL-10, concurrently with OVA, inhibited both airway neutrophilia and eosinophilia [48]. It was also shown that allergen-specific CD4⁺CD25⁺ Tregs can suppress allergic airway disease in vivo through an IL-10-dependent mechanism [18]. In this study, adoptive transfer of Treg cells reduced AHR, Th2 and eosinophil recruitment into the airways, and secretion of Th2-type cytokines. The effect was IL-10 mediated, since neutralizing anti-IL-10R abrogated suppression. In addition, these effects were independent of IL-10 production by the CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory cells themselves [18].

Unlike TGF- β , IL-10 does not directly influence B-cell class switch [49]. However, it is possible that indirectly, by inhibiting the inflammatory response, IL-10 shapes the

humoral outcome. Indeed, it was proposed that IL-10 may favor the ratio of IgG4/IgE ratio [50]. In fact immunotherapy studies show that Th2 responses can be suppressed by IL-10 secreting regulatory cells accompanied by an increase of circulating IgG4 [51, 52].

4. Different Subsets of Regulatory T Cells

Foxp3⁺ Treg cells, despite an apparent phenotypic uniformity and immunosuppressive function, can have different subtypes with distinct genetic signatures. The first major division was identified between nTreg and iTreg, where the first are enriched in Helios, a transcription factor that is primarily expressed in T-lineage cells and early precursors [53, 54]. While nTreg cells have epigenetic mechanisms that stabilize Foxp3 expression allowing them to be a stable differentiated cell lineage, TGF- β induced Tregs lack those mechanisms having incomplete demethylation [55]. Therefore, although iTreg cells have high levels of Foxp3, the expression of Foxp3 is less stable [55-57]. In addition, conserved noncoding DNA sequence (CNS) elements at the Foxp3 locus encode information defining the size, composition, and stability of the Treg cell population [58]. CNS3, which binds c-Rel, has a drastic effect on the frequency of Treg cells generated in the thymus. Contrary to CNS3, CNS1 has no effect on thymic generation of Treg cells but is essential for induction of iTregs [58]. CNS1 contains a TGF- β -NFAT response element, so these results could represent the requirement of TGF- β and NFAT for Treg induction in the periphery [58-60]. Although CNS2-deficient T cells can acquire Foxp3 expression, they fail to maintain Foxp3 expression on their progeny due to the failure on recruitment of Foxp3-Runx1-Cbf- β complexes to CNS2 after demethylation of the CNS2 CpG island [58, 61]. Interestingly CNS1 deficient mice had no lymphoproliferative disorder. However, it can be argued that these animals kept in clean facilities have a minimal exposure to foreign antigens and thus nTreg may be sufficient to maintain homeostasis in such conditions. In effector T cells, GATA-3 is a hallmark of the Th2 cells, but Treg cells can also express GATA-3, that binds both to the Th2 cell locus and to the CNS2 of Foxp3 locus [62]. In fact, there is a dramatic increase of GATA-3 binding to CNS2 compared to conventional T cells, suggesting that GATA-3 regulates CNS2 activity in Treg cells [62].

There is strong evidence that the CCR7-dependent continuous migration of DC from the lung to its draining LNs is required for the transport of inhaled Ag and thereby for the proper composition of APCs in the LN. These processes are essential to induce peripheral tolerance of T cells [63]. The costimulation with ICOS, crucial for regulatory phenotype polarization in allergy [64], promotes the downregulation of CCR7 and CD62L after activation, leading to a reduced return of activated CD4 T cells to the lymph nodes and a more efficient entry into the lungs [65]. Regulatory T cells express CCR4 and CD103 induced by antigen-driven activation in the lymph nodes. In addition, the accumulation of Tregs in the skin and lung airways is impaired in the absence of CCR4 expression [66]. Mice without CCR4 in the Treg compartment develop lymphocytic infiltration and severe inflammatory disease in the skin and lungs [66]. Some studies suggest that CCR4 has a prominent role in effector Th2 homing [67]. Despite their differences it seems both regulatory and effector T cells share the response to homing factors [68, 69].

But GATA-3 is not the only transcription factor characteristic of effector T-cell responses that can be expressed by Foxp3⁺ Treg cells. Under the influence of IFN- γ , Foxp3⁺ Treg cells can express the Th1-defining transcription factor T-bet [70]. T-bet expression by Foxp3⁺ Treg cells induces the expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR3, necessary for these Treg cells to accumulate at the site of type 1 inflammation. T-bet expression was thus required for the homeostasis and function of Treg cells during type-1 inflammation [70].

It is likely that the regulation of different types of immune response requires the participation of specialized subsets of regulatory cells. This way, iTreg cells induced in an environment favorable to Th1 or Th2 type of immune responses require the appropriate chemokine receptors to give them access to the same locations as effector T cells (Figure 1).

Th17 cells that have been implicated in autoimmunity and allergy share with iTreg cells the need for TGF- β to differentiate [71]. The decision of antigen-stimulated cells to differentiate into either Th17 or iTreg depends on the cytokine balance of IL-6, IL-21, and IL-23 that relieve Foxp3-mediated inhibition of RORyt [72]. These results indicate that Foxp3 and RORyt are transcription factors that antagonize each other in the lineage differentiation.

Another subset of T cells, the follicular T helper cells (Tfh), is mostly spatially confined to secondary lymphoid organs, more precisely to the B-cell follicles [73]. Tfh cells express high levels of the transcription factor Bcl-6, that impairs the expression and function of other transcription factors specific for other CD4 subsets: Tbet, GATA3, and RORyt, thereby regulating cytokine production by Tfh cells [74, 75]. Tfh cells differentiate under the influence of ICOS:ICOSL and IL-21 but independently of any other cytokine [76]. In addition, the characteristic anatomical distribution of Tfh cells is dependent of CXCR5 that endows access to the B-cell follicle [73, 77, 78]. We and others have recently found that also this subset of effector T cells has a specialized regulatory counterpart [69, 79, 80]. It was found that Foxp3+ Treg cells can be found within the Bcell follicle [81], sharing many characteristics of Tfh and Treg cells [69, 79, 80]. Importantly, Bcl-6 can be coexpressed with Foxp3 as it seems Foxp3 expression is not inhibited by Bcl-6. These follicular regulatory T cells (Tfr) are immunesuppressive and can control de magnitude of the germinal center response [69, 79, 80]. In addition, they exhibit a CTLA4^{hi}GITR^{hi}IL-10^{hi} phenotype that is the characteristic of activated Tregs [69, 79, 80]. However, the Tfr origin is quite distinct from the other induced Treg cells previously described. Tfr cells do not derive from the commitment of conventional CD4 T cells, but result from acquisition of "follicular" characteristics (viz. Bcl-6 expression) by natural Foxp3⁺ Treg cells [69, 79, 80]. In fact sorted Tfh cells



FIGURE 1: Functional specialization of effector and regulatory T cells. Different types of immune responses carry different cytokine microenvironments that can influence both effector and regulatory T-cell differentiation. In the same way effector T cells when activated in specific cytokine environment acquire specialized functions, induced regulatory cells (iTreg) can also activate the expression of different transcription factors (italics) that endow them access to different anatomic compartments on the basis of the chemokine receptors they express. Follicular regulatory cells (Tfr) represent an exception among peripherally induced Foxp3⁺ cells, as they are derived from natural regulatory cells (nTreg) that acquire Bcl-6 expression, rather than from conventional CD4 T cells.

exposed to optimal conditions to induce Foxp3 expression in conventional T cells (including TGF- β) resist conversion to Tfr [79]. Given the importance of the germinal center response for allergy, it is likely that Tfr cells can play an important role in regulating IgE production.

Besides conventional T cells, also natural killer T (NKT) cells are important players in defining the outcome of immune responses. Notably, invariant NKT (iNKT) cells were found able to help B-cell differentiation, germinalcenter formation, affinity maturation, and immunoglobulin response that was uniquely dependent on iNKT cell-derived IL-21, although the GCs maintain a small size throughout the reaction [82, 83]. This contribution of iNKT cells for humoral responses can be added to their ability to contribute to allergic airways diseases by producing IL-4 and IL-13 [84, 85], or IL-17 [86, 87]. But iNKT cells can also have a regulatory role, namely, in preventing EAE following administration of its TCR agonist [88, 89]. We and others recently described that activation of murine or human iNKT cells in presence of TGF- β induces Foxp3 expression and acquisition of suppressive function [88, 90].

5. Influencing Regulatory T Cells in Allergy

The understanding of the mechanisms involved in regulatory T-cells generation and function may lead to novel strategies to restore immune tolerance where it has been lost. As TGF- β and IL-10 play a crucial role in tolerance induction, several studies on immune tolerance induction took advantage of environments rich in those anti-inflammatory cytokines. To our advantage the mucosa itself is an anatomical location rich in these immune mediators [91].

Airborne antigens can be transferred from the mother to the newborn through milk [92]. Breastfeeding-induced tolerance was found to be mediated by induced Foxp3⁺ Treg cells and dependent on TGF- β [92]. It has been proposed that metallomatrix proteases, derived from commensal bacteria in the gut, can facilitate the conversion of latent TGF- β to its active form, thus favoring iTreg differentiation [93]. In addition, CD103⁺ dendritic cells in the mucosa-draining lymph nodes have been shown effective in promoting conversion of iTregs in the gut, mediated by TGF- β and the synthesis of retinoic acid, a powerful inducer of Foxp3 expression [32, 94, 95]. Furthermore, vitamin D receptor deficient mice were associated with a reduction in tolerogenic CD103⁺ dendritic cells favoring the development of effector type T cells [96]. Vitamin D3 can be used to induce human and mouse naive CD4⁺ T cells to differentiate *in vitro* into regulatory cells that produced only IL-10, but no IL-5 and IFN-*y*, and furthermore retain strong proliferative capacity [97]. Several other studies put vitamin D3 in relevance as acting directly on T cells to induce IL-10⁺ regulatory cells and also influencing levels of TGF- β [98–100]. These data suggest that the mucosa, in particular the gut, has several mechanisms that can favor immune tolerance. Sublingual immunotherapy (SLIT) and oral immunotherapy (OIT) are becoming more relevant as effective tolerance-inducing strategies to treat inhalant as well as food allergies [101].

Allergen specific immunotherapy (SIT) which comprehends SLIT, OIT, and subcutaneous immunotherapy (SCIT) has been in clinical use for around 100 years [102] and consists on the administration of increasing doses of an allergen [103]. It has been shown that both Foxp3⁺ and IL-10 positive regulatory T cells can be induced during the course of SIT protocols [104, 105]. Furthermore, allergen-specific TR1 cells, in healthy individuals, have been suggested to play a key role in preventing pathologic responses [52, 102, 106]. While the presence of IL-10 leads B cells to produce IgG4 in detriment of IgE [107, 108], TGF- β drives B cells to switch to IgA production [106]. Another approach to direct the organism towards a tolerant state arises from the results that suggest that reduced TCR stimulation favors the induction of a regulatory phenotype on the T cells [26, 109, 110]. Blockade of molecules involved in the immune synapse has been suggested as an approach to achieve suboptimal TCR activation [26, 110]. Blockade of CD4 was shown a robust approach to achieve Treg-mediated dominant tolerance in transplantation [111–113]. We recently showed that a nondepleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody can induce in mice robust, antigen-specific tolerance to house dust mite, even in presensitized animals [16]. In addition, a similar strategy was effective to prevent peanut-induced anaphylaxis in mice [114]. Costimulation blockade was also shown effective in preventing allergic sensitization in mice [115]. Based on previous studies of tolerance induction to alloantigens following costimulation blockade, it is likely the mechanism also relies on Treg cells [116, 117]. Regarding the different modalities for costimulation blockade, on one hand CTLA4Ig was shown able to greatly reduce the secretion of IL-4 but not enough to impair Th2 response [118]. On the other hand, treatment with OX40L-blocking mAbs inhibited to some extent allergic immune responses induced by TSLP in the lung and skin, preventing Th2 inflammatory cell infiltration, cytokine secretion, and IgE production in mice and nonhuman primate models of asthma [119].

6. Final Remarks

The realization that active regulatory mechanisms, such as the ones mediated by Treg cells, can prevent pathological immune responses to harmless antigens is changing the way immunotherapy is perceived. In very diverse fields of immunology, ranging from cancer immunotherapy to autoimmunity and allergy, regulatory mechanisms need to be considered when therapeutic interventions are designed to boost or dampen the immune response. The realization that different subsets of regulatory T cells exist may offer the possibility to fine tune such interventions in order to achieve optimal therapeutic benefit with limited immunosuppressive consequences in unrelated immune responses.

At a time when therapeutic interventions rely increasingly on potentially immunogenic drugs, such as recombinant proteins to correct genetic diseases or monoclonal antibodies, where even the human antibodies can be immunogenic due to their unique idiotypes [120, 121], the issue of tolerance induction to nonselfantigens will not be restricted to allergy and transplantation, but a growing concern for drug efficacy.

References

- [1] T. Takahashi, Y. Kuniyasu, M. Toda et al., "Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25⁺CD4⁺ naturally anergic and suppressive T cells: induction of autoimmune disease by breaking their anergic/suppressive state," *International Immunology*, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 1969–1980, 1998.
- [2] J. Douwes, C. Brooks, C. van Dalen, and N. Pearce, "Importance of allergy in asthma: an epidemiologic perspective," *Current Allergy and Asthma Reports*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 434– 444, 2011.
- [3] A. Y. Rudensky, "Regulatory T cells and Foxp3," Immunological Reviews, vol. 241, no. 1, pp. 260–268, 2011.
- [4] S. Sakaguchi, K. Wing, and M. Miyara, "Regulatory T cells—a brief history and perspective," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 37, supplement 1, pp. S116–S123, 2007.
- [5] X. Valencia and P. E. Lipsky, "CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in autoimmune diseases," *Nature Clinical Practice Rheumatology*, vol. 3, no. 11, pp. 619–626, 2007.
- [6] E. M. Ling, T. Smith, X. D. Nguyen et al., "Relation of CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T-cell suppression of allergen-driven T-cell activation to atopic status and expression of allergic disease," *The Lancet*, vol. 363, no. 9409, pp. 608–615, 2004.
- [7] H. Waldmann, T. C. Chen, L. Graca et al., "Regulatory T cells in transplantation," *Seminars in Immunology*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 111–119, 2006.
- [8] L. Graca, A. Le Moine, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann, "Dominant transplantation tolerance: opinion," *Current Opinion in Immunology*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 499–506, 2003.
- [9] K. J. Wood, A. Bushell, and J. Hester, "Regulatory immune cells in transplantation," *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 417–430, 2012.
- [10] F. Cottrez, S. D. Hurst, R. L. Coffman, and H. Groux, "T regulatory cells 1 inhibit a Th2-specific response *in vivo*," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 165, no. 9, pp. 4848–4853, 2000.
- [11] S. Navarro, G. Cossalter, C. Chiavaroli et al., "The oral administration of bacterial extracts prevents asthma via the recruitment of regulatory T cells to the airways," *Mucosal Immunology*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 53–65, 2011.
- [12] A. Suto, H. Nakajima, S. I. Kagami, K. Suzuki, Y. Saito, and I. Iwamoto, "Role of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T cells in T helper 2 cell-mediated allergic inflammation in the airways," *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, vol. 164, no. 4, pp. 680–687, 2001.
- [13] C. L. Bennett, J. Christie, F. Ramsdell et al., "The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked

syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of *Foxp3*," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 20–21, 2001.

- [14] M. A. Curotto de Lafaille and J. J. Lafaille, "Natural and adaptive *Foxp3*⁺ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor?" *Immunity*, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 626–635, 2009.
- [15] W. Chen, W. Jin, N. Hardegen et al., "Conversion of peripheral CD4⁺CD25⁻ naive T cells to CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells by TGF-β induction of transcription factor *Foxp3*," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 198, no. 12, pp. 1875– 1886, 2003.
- [16] A. Agua-Doce and L. Graca, "Prevention of house dust mite induced allergic airways disease in mice through immune tolerance," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 6, no. 7, Article ID e22320, 2011.
- [17] D. H. Strickland, P. A. Stumbles, G. R. Zosky et al., "Reversal of airway hyperresponsiveness by induction of airway mucosal CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 203, no. 12, pp. 2649–2660, 2006.
- [18] J. Kearley, J. E. Barker, D. S. Robinson, and C. M. Lloyd, "Resolution of airway inflammation and hyperreactivity after *in vivo* transfer of CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells is interleukin 10 dependent," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 202, no. 11, pp. 1539–1547, 2005.
- [19] I. P. Lewkowich, N. S. Herman, K. W. Schleifer et al., "CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells protect against experimentally induced asthma and alter pulmonary dendritic cell phenotype and function," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 202, no. 11, pp. 1549–1561, 2005.
- [20] W. Scherf, S. Burdach, and G. Hansen, "Reduced expression of transforming growth factor β1 exacerbates pathology in an experimental asthma model," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 198–206, 2005.
- [21] A. Nakao, S. Miike, M. Hatano et al., "Blockade of transforming growth factor β/Smad signaling in T cells by overexpression of Smad7 enhances antigen-induced airway inflammation and airway reactivity," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 192, no. 2, pp. 151–158, 2000.
- [22] G. Hansen, J. J. McIntire, V. P. Yeung et al., "CD4⁺ T helper cells engineered to produce latent TGF-β1 reverse allergeninduced airway hyperreactivity and inflammation," *Journal* of Clinical Investigation, vol. 105, no. 1, pp. 61–70, 2000.
- [23] A. Joetham, K. Takada, C. Taube et al., "Naturally occurring lung CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cell regulation of airway allergic responses depends on IL-10 induction of TGF- β1," *Journal* of Immunology, vol. 178, no. 3, pp. 1433–1442, 2007.
- [24] K. Kretschmer, I. Apostolou, D. Hawiger, K. Khazaie, M. C. Nussenzweig, and H. von Boehmer, "Inducing and expanding regulatory T cell populations by foreign antigen," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 6, no. 12, pp. 1219–1227, 2005.
- [25] M. Ostroukhova, C. Seguin-Devaux, T. B. Oriss et al., "Tolerance induced by inhaled antigen involves CD4⁺ T cells expressing membrane-bound TGF-β and FOXP3," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 114, no. 1, pp. 28–38, 2004.
- [26] V. G. Oliveira, M. Caridade, R. S. Paiva, J. Demengeot, and L. Graca, "Sub-optimal CD4⁺ T-cell activation triggers autonomous TGF-β-dependent conversion to *Foxp3*+ regulatory T cells," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 1249–1255, 2011.
- [27] L. Gorelik, P. E. Fields, and R. A. Flavell, "Cutting edge: TGF-β inhibits Th type 2 development through inhibition of GATA-3 expression," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 165, no. 9, pp. 4773–4777, 2000.
- [28] V. L. Heath, E.E. Murphy, C. Crain, M.G. Tomlinson, and A. O'Garra, "TGF-β1 down-regulates Th2 development and

results in decreased IL-4-induced STAT6 activation and GATA-3 expression," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 30, no. 9, pp. 2639–2649, 2000.

- [29] C. H. Chen, C. Seguin-Devaux, N. A. Burke et al., "Transforming growth factor β blocks Tec kinase phosphorylation, Ca²⁺ influx, and NFATc translocation causing inhibition of T cell differentiation," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 197, no. 12, pp. 1689–1699, 2003.
- [30] P. van Vlasselaer, J. Punnonen, and J. E. de Vries, "Transforming growth factor-β directs IgA switching in human B cells," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 148, no. 7, pp. 2062–2067, 1992.
- [31] M. Gereke, S. Jung, J. Buer, and D. Bruder, "Alveolar type II epithelial cells present antigen to CD4⁺ T cells and induce Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells," *American Journal of Respiratory* and Critical Care Medicine, vol. 179, no. 5, pp. 344–355, 2009.
- [32] D. Mucida, Y. Park, G. Kim et al., "Reciprocal TH17 and regulatory T cell differentiation mediated by retinoic acid," *Science*, vol. 317, no. 5835, pp. 256–260, 2007.
- [33] S. Goswami, P. Angkasekwinai, M. Shan et al., "Divergent functions for airway epithelial matrix metalloproteinase 7 and retinoic acid in experimental asthma," *Nature Immunol*ogy, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 496–503, 2009.
- [34] H. Takaki, K. Ichiyama, K. Koga et al., "STAT6 inhibits TGFβ1-mediated *Foxp3* induction through direct binding to the *Foxp3* promoter, which is reverted by retinoic acid receptor," *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 283, no. 22, pp. 14955–14962, 2008.
- [35] M. Veldhoen, C. Uyttenhove, J. van Snick et al., "Transforming growth factor-β "reprograms" the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 9, no. 12, pp. 1341–1346, 2008.
- [36] T. Korn, M. Mitsdoerffer, A. L. Croxford et al., "IL-6 controls Th17 immunity *in vivo* by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T cells into *Foxp3⁺* regulatory T cells," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 105, no. 47, pp. 18460–18465, 2008.
- [37] M. Veldhoen, R. J. Hocking, R. A. Flavell, and B. Stockinger, "Signals mediated by transforming growth factor-β initiate autoimmune encephalomyelitis, but chronic inflammation is needed to sustain disease," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 7, no. 11, pp. 1151–1156, 2006.
- [38] T. Makinde, R. F. Murphy, and D. K. Agrawal, "The regulatory role of TGF-β in airway remodeling in asthma," *Immunology and Cell Biology*, vol. 85, no. 5, pp. 348–356, 2007.
- [39] Y. P. Rubtsov, J. P. Rasmussen, E. Y. Chi et al., "Regulatory T cell-derived interleukin-10 limits inflammation at environmental interfaces," *Immunity*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 546–558, 2008.
- [40] C. A. Akdis, T. Blesken, M. Akdis, B. Wüthrich, and K. Blaser, "Role of interleukin 10 in specific immunotherapy," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 102, no. 1, pp. 98–106, 1998.
- [41] O. Akbari, G. J. Freeman, E. H. Meyer et al., "Antigen-specific regulatory T cells develop via the ICOS-ICOS-ligand pathway and inhibit allergen-induced airway hyperreactivity," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 8, no. 9, pp. 1024–1032, 2002.
- [42] A. O'Garra, F. J. Barrat, A. G. Castro, A. Vicari, and C. Hawrylowicz, "Strategies for use of IL-10 or its antagonists in human disease," *Immunological Reviews*, vol. 223, no. 1, pp. 114–131, 2008.
- [43] T. Nabe, A. Ikedo, F. Hosokawa et al., "Regulatory role of antigen-induced interleukin-10, produced by CD4⁺ T cells, in airway neutrophilia in a murine model for asthma,"

European Journal of Pharmacology, vol. 677, no. 1–3, pp. 154–162, 2012.

- [44] C. M. Lloyd and C. M. Hawrylowicz, "Regulatory T cells in asthma," *Immunity*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 438–449, 2009.
- [45] M. K. Levings and M. G. Roncarolo, "T-regulatory 1 cells: a novel subset of CD4⁺ T cells with immunoregulatory properties," *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, vol. 106, no. 1, part 2, pp. S109–S112, 2000.
- [46] M. Battaglia and M. G. Roncarolo, "Immune intervention with T regulatory cells: past lessons and future perspectives for type 1 diabetes," *Seminars in Immunology*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 182–194, 2011.
- [47] G. Grünig, D. B. Corry, M. W. Leach, B. W. P. Seymour, V. P. Kurup, and D. M. Rennick, "Interleukin-10 is natural suppressor of cytokine production and inflammation in a murine model of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 185, no. 6, pp. 1089– 1099, 1997.
- [48] C. Zuany-Amorim, S. Haile, D. Leduc et al., "Interleukin-10 inhibits antigen-induced cellular recruitment into the airways of sensitized mice," *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 2644–2651, 1995.
- [49] L. Hummelshoj, L. P. Ryder, and L. K. Poulsen, "The role of the interleukin-10 subfamily members in immunoglobulin production by human B cells," *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 40–47, 2006.
- [50] S. J. Till, J. N. Francis, K. Nouri-Aria, and S. R. Durham, "Mechanisms of immunotherapy," *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, vol. 113, no. 6, pp. 1025–1034, 2004.
- [51] M. Akdis and C. A. Akdis, "Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy," *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, vol. 119, no. 4, pp. 780–789, 2007.
- [52] F. Meiler, J. Zumkehr, S. Klunker, B. Rückert, C. A. Akdis, and M. Akdis, "*In vivo* switch to IL-10-secreting T regulatory cells in high dose allergen exposure," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 205, no. 12, pp. 2887–2898, 2008.
- [53] A. M. Thornton, P. E. Korty, D. Q. Tran et al., "Expression of Helios, an Ikaros transcription factor family member, differentiates thymic-derived from peripherally induced *Foxp3*⁺ T regulatory cells," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 184, no. 7, pp. 3433–3441, 2010.
- [54] D. Haribhai, W. Lin, B. Edwards et al., "A central role for induced regulatory T cells in tolerance induction in experimental colitis," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 182, no. 6, pp. 3461–3468, 2009.
- [55] S. Floess, J. Freyer, C. Siewert et al., "Epigenetic control of the *Foxp3* locus in regulatory T cells," *PLoS Biology*, vol. 5, no. 2, article e38, 2007.
- [56] J. K. Polansky, K. Kretschmer, J. Freyer et al., "DNA methylation controls *Foxp3* gene expression," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 1654–1663, 2008.
- [57] T. Miyao, S. Floess, R. Setoguchi et al., "Plasticity of *Foxp3*⁺ T cells reflects promiscuous *Foxp3* expression in conventional T cells but not reprogramming of regulatory T cells," *Immunity*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 262–275, 2012.
- [58] Y. Zheng, S. Josefowicz, A. Chaudhry, X. P. Peng, K. Forbush, and A. Y. Rudensky, "Role of conserved non-coding DNA elements in the *Foxp3* gene in regulatory T-cell fate," *Nature*, vol. 463, no. 7282, pp. 808–812, 2010.
- [59] Y. Tone, K. Furuuchi, Y. Kojima, M. L. Tykocinski, M. I. Greene, and M. Tone, "Smad3 and NFAT cooperate to induce *Foxp3* expression through its enhancer," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 194–202, 2008.

- [60] Y. Liu, P. Zhang, J. Li, A. B. Kulkarni, S. Perruche, and W. Chen, "A critical function for TGF-β signaling in the development of natural CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 632–640, 2008.
- [61] A. Kitoh, M. Ono, Y. Naoe et al., "Indispensable role of the Runx1-Cbfβ transcription complex for *in vivo*-suppressive function of *Foxp3*⁺ regulatory T cells," *Immunity*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 609–620, 2009.
- [62] Y. Wang, M. Su, and Y. Wan, "An essential role of the transcription factor GATA-3 for the function of regulatory T cells," *Immunity*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 337–348, 2011.
- [63] G. Hintzen, L. Ohl, M. L. Del Rio et al., "Induction of tolerance to innocuous inhaled antigen relies on a CCR7dependent dendritic cell-mediated antigen transport to the bronchial lymph node," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 177, no. 10, pp. 7346–7354, 2006.
- [64] O. Akbari, P. Stock, A. K. Singh et al., "PD-L1 and PD-L2 modulate airway inflammation and iNKT-cell-dependent airway hyperreactivity in opposing directions," *Mucosal Immunology*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 81–91, 2010.
- [65] T. V. Moore, B. S. Clay, J. L. Cannon, A. Histed, R. A. Shilling, and A. I. Sperling, "Inducible costimulator controls migration of T cells to the lungs via down-regulation of CCR7 and CD62L," *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 843–850, 2011.
- [66] B. D. Sather, P. Treuting, N. Perdue et al., "Altering the distribution of *Foxp3⁺* regulatory T cells results in tissue-specific inflammatory disease," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 204, no. 6, pp. 1335–1347, 2007.
- [67] T. Imai, M. Nagira, S. Takagi et al., "Selective recruitment of CCR4-bearing Th2 cells toward antigen-presenting cells by the CC chemokines thymus and activation-regulated chemokine and macrophage-derived chemokine," *International Immunology*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 81–88, 1999.
- [68] B. M. Hall, N. D. Verma, G. T. Tran, and S. J. Hodgkinson, "Distinct regulatory CD4⁺ T cell subsets; differences between naïve and antigen specific T regulatory cells," *Current Opinion in Immunology*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 641–647, 2011.
- [69] M. A. Linterman, W. Pierson, S. K. Lee et al., "Foxp3⁺ follicular regulatory T cells control the germinal center response," Nature Medicine, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 975–982, 2011.
- [70] M. A. Koch, G. Tucker-Heard, N. R. Perdue, J. R. Killebrew, K. B. Urdahl, and D. J. Campbell, "The transcription factor T-bet controls regulatory T cell homeostasis and function during type 1 inflammation," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 595–602, 2009.
- [71] E. Bettelli, Y. Carrier, W. Gao et al., "Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells," *Nature*, vol. 441, no. 7090, pp. 235– 238, 2006.
- [72] L. Zhou, J. E. Lopes, M. M. W. Chong et al., "TGF-β-induced *Foxp3* inhibits TH17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORyt function," *Nature*, vol. 453, no. 7192, pp. 236–240, 2008.
- [73] N. M. Haynes, C. D. C. Allen, R. Lesley, K. M. Ansel, N. Killeen, and J. G. Cyster, "Role of CXCR5 and CCR7 in follicular Th cell positioning and appearance of a programmed cell death gene-1High germinal center-associated subpopulation," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 179, no. 8, pp. 5099–5108, 2007.
- [74] D. Yu, S. Rao, L. M. Tsai et al., "The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment," *Immunity*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 457–468, 2009.

- [75] R. I. Nurieva, Y. Chung, G. J. Martinez et al., "Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells," *Science*, vol. 325, no. 5943, pp. 1001–1005, 2009.
- [76] R. I. Nurieva, Y. Chung, D. Hwang et al., "Generation of T follicular helper cells is mediated by interleukin-21 but independent of T helper 1, 2, or 17 cell lineages," *Immunity*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 138–149, 2008.
- [77] D. Breitfeld, L. Ohl, E. Kremmer et al., "Follicular B helper T cells express CXC chemokine receptor 5, localize to B cell follicles, and support immunoglobulin production," *Journal* of Experimental Medicine, vol. 192, no. 11, pp. 1545–1552, 2000.
- [78] P. Schaerli, K. Willimann, A. B. Lang, M. Lipp, P. Loetscher, and B. Moser, "CXC chemokine receptor 5 expression defines follicular homing T cells with B cell helper function," *Journal* of Experimental Medicine, vol. 192, no. 11, pp. 1553–1562, 2000.
- [79] I. Wollenberg, A. Agua-Doce, A. Hernández et al., "Regulation of the germinal center reaction by *Foxp3*⁺ follicular regulatory T cells," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 187, no. 9, pp. 4553–4560, 2011.
- [80] Y. Chung, S. Tanaka, F. Chu et al., "Follicular regulatory T cells expressing *Foxp3* and Bcl-6 suppress germinal center reactions," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 983–988, 2011.
- [81] H. W. Lim, P. Hillsamer, and C. H. Kim, "Regulatory T cells can migrate to follicles upon T cell activation and suppress GC-Th cells and GC-Th cell-driven B cell responses," *Journal* of Clinical Investigation, vol. 114, no. 11, pp. 1640–1649, 2004.
- [82] P. P. Chang, P. Barral, J. Fitch et al., "Identification of Bcl-6dependent follicular helper NKT cells that provide cognate help for B cell responses," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 35–43, 2012.
- [83] I. L. King, A. Fortier, M. Tighe et al., "Invariant natural killer T cells direct B cell responses to cognate lipid antigen in an IL-21-dependent manner," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 44–50, 2012.
- [84] O. Akbari, P. Stock, E. Meyer et al., "Essential role of NKT cells producing IL-4 and IL-13 in the development of allergen-induced airway hyperreactivity," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 582–588, 2003.
- [85] M. Lisbonne, S. Diem, A. de Castro Keller et al., "Cutting edge: invariant $V\alpha 14$ NKT cells are required for allergeninduced airway inflammation and hyperreactivity in an experimental asthma model," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 171, no. 4, pp. 1637–1641, 2003.
- [86] M. L. Michel, A. C. Keller, C. Paget et al., "Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1neg iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 204, no. 5, pp. 995–1001, 2007.
- [87] J. M. Coquet, S. Chakravarti, K. Kyparissoudis et al., "Diverse cytokine production by NKT cell subsets and identification of an IL-17-producing CD4⁻NK1.1⁻ NKT cell population," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 105, no. 32, pp. 11287–11292, 2008.
- [88] M. Monteiro, C. F. Almeida, M. Caridade et al., "Identification of regulatory *Foxp3⁺* invariant NKT cells induced by TGF-β," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 185, no. 4, pp. 2157– 2163, 2010.
- [89] L. T. Mars, L. Araujo, P. Kerschen et al., "Invariant NKT cells inhibit development of the Th17 lineage," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 106, no. 15, pp. 6238–6243, 2009.

- [90] L. Moreira-Teixeira, M. Resende, O. Devergne et al., "Rapamycin combined with TGF-β converts human invariant NKT Cells into suppressive *Foxp3⁺* regulatory cells," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 188, no. 2, pp. 624–631, 2012.
- [91] J. E. Konkel and W. Chen, "Balancing acts: the role of TGF-β in the mucosal immune system," *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, vol. 17, no. 11, pp. 668–676, 2011.
- [92] V. Verhasselt, V. Milcent, J. Cazareth et al., "Breast milkmediated transfer of an antigen induces tolerance and protection from allergic asthma," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 170–175, 2008.
- [93] K. Atarashi, T. Tanoue, T. Shima et al., "Induction of colonic regulatory T cells by indigenous *Clostridium* species," *Science*, vol. 331, no. 6015, pp. 337–341, 2011.
- [94] M. J. Benson, K. Pino-Lagos, M. Rosemblatt, and R. J. Noelle, "All-trans retinoic acid mediates enhanced T reg cell growth, differentiation, and gut homing in the face of high levels of co-stimulation," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 204, no. 8, pp. 1765–1774, 2007.
- [95] J. L. Coombes, K. R. R. Siddiqui, C. V. Arancibia-Cárcamo et al., "A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103⁺ DCs induces *Foxp3*⁺ regulatory T cells via a TGFβ -and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism," *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 204, no. 8, pp. 1757–1764, 2007.
- [96] D. Bruce, S. Yu, J. H. Ooi, and M. T. Cantorna, "Converging pathways lead to overproduction of IL-17 in the absence of vitamin D signaling," *International Immunology*, vol. 23, no. 8, pp. 519–528, 2011.
- [97] F. J. Barrat, D. J. Cua, A. Boonstra et al., "In vitro generation of interleukin 10-producing regulatory CD4⁺ T cells is induced by immunosuppressive drugs and inhibited by T helper type 1 (Th1)- and Th2-inducing cytokines," Journal of Experimental Medicine, vol. 195, no. 5, pp. 603–616, 2002.
- [98] G. Penna, A. Roncari, S. Amuchastegui et al., "Expression of the inhibitory receptor ILT3 on dendritic cells is dispensable for induction of CD4⁺Foxp³⁺ regulatory T cells by 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3," *Blood*, vol. 106, no. 10, pp. 3490– 3497, 2005.
- [99] Z. Urry, E. Xystrakis, D. F. Richards et al., "Ligation of TLR9 induced on human IL-10-secreting Tregs by 1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 abrogates regulatory function," *Journal* of Clinical Investigation, vol. 119, no. 2, pp. 387–398, 2009.
- [100] B. D. Mahon, A. Wittke, V. Weaver, and M. T. Cantorna, "The targets of vitamin D depend on the differentiation and activation status of CD4 positive T cells," *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, vol. 89, no. 5, pp. 922–932, 2003.
- [101] G. Noh and J. H. Lee, "Oral tolerance induction for human food allergy," *Inflammation and Allergy—Drug Targets*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 131–142, 2012.
- [102] C. A. Akdis and M. Akdis, "Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy," *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, vol. 127, no. 1, pp. 18–27, 2011.
- [103] H. Fujita, M.B. Soyka, M. Akdis, and C.A. Akdis, "Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy," *Clinical and Translational Allergy*, vol. 2, no. 1, article 2, 2012.
- [104] M. Akdis, K. Blaser, and C. A. Akdis, "T regulatory cells in allergy: novel concepts in the pathogenesis, prevention, and treatment of allergic diseases," *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, vol. 116, no. 5, pp. 961–969, 2005.
- [105] O. Palomares, G. Yaman, A. K. Azkur, T. Akkoc, M. Akdis, and C. A. Akdis, "Role of Treg in immune regulation of allergic diseases," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 1232–1240, 2010.

Journal of Allergy

- [106] M. Jutel, M. Akdis, F. Budak et al., "IL-10 and TGF-β cooperate in the regulatory T cell response to mucosal allergens in normal immunity and specific immunotherapy," *European Journal of Immunology*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 1205– 1214, 2003.
- [107] J. M. Carballido, N. Carballido-Perrig, M. K. Kagi et al., "T cell epitope specificity in human allergic and nonallergic subjects to bee venom phospholipase A2," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 150, no. 8 I, pp. 3582–3591, 1993.
- [108] T. A. E. Platts-Mills, J. W. Vaughan, K. Blumenthal, J. A. Woodfolk, and R. B. Sporik, "Decreased prevalence of asthma among children with high exposure to cat allergen: relevance of the modified Th2 response," *Mediators of Inflammation*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 288–291, 2001.
- [109] J. M. Kim and A. Rudensky, "The role of the transcription factor Foxp3 in the development of regulatory T cells," *Immunological Reviews*, vol. 212, pp. 86–98, 2006.
- [110] L. Graca, T. C. Chen, A. L. Moine, S. P. Cobbold, D. Howie, and H. Waldmann, "Dominant tolerance: activation thresholds for peripheral generation of regulatory T cells," *Trends in Immunology*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 130–135, 2005.
- [111] C. Y. Lin, L. Graca, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann, "Dominant transplantation tolerance impairs CD8⁺ T cell function but not expansion," *Nature Immunology*, vol. 3, no. 12, pp. 1208–1213, 2002.
- [112] L. Graca, A. Le Moine, C. Y. Lin, P. J. Fairchild, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann, "Donor-specific transplantation tolerance: the paradoxical behavior of CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 101, no. 27, pp. 10122–10126, 2004.
- [113] S. Qin, S. P. Cobbold, H. Pope et al., "Infectious' transplantation tolerance," *Science*, vol. 259, no. 5097, pp. 974–977, 1993.
- [114] J. Duarte, M. Caridade, and L. Graca, "CD4-blockade can induce protection from peanut-induced anaphylaxis," *Frontiers in Immunology*, vol. 2, article 56, 2011.
- [115] B. Linhart, S. Bigenzahn, A. Hartl et al., "Costimulation blockade inhibits allergic sensitization but does not affect established allergy in a murine model of grass pollen allergy," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 178, no. 6, pp. 3924–3931, 2007.
- [116] P. A. Taylor, T. M. Friedman, R. Korngold, R. J. Noelle, and B. R. Blazar, "Tolerance induction of alloreactive T cells via *ex vivo* blockade of the CD40:CD40L costimulatory pathway results in the generation of a potent immune regulatory cell," *Blood*, vol. 99, no. 12, pp. 4601–4609, 2002.
- [117] L. Graca, K. Honey, E. Adams, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann, "Cutting edge: anti-CD154 therapeutic antibodies induce infectious transplantation tolerance," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 165, no. 9, pp. 4783–4786, 2000.
- [118] A. Tang, T. A. Judge, B. J. Nickoloff, and L. A. Turka, "Suppression of murine allergic contact dermatitis by CTLA4Ig: tolerance induction of Th2 responses requires additional blockade of CD40-ligand," *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 157, no. 1, pp. 117–125, 1996.
- [119] D. Seshasayee, W. P. Lee, M. Zhou et al., "In vivo blockade of OX40 ligand inhibits thymic stromal lymphopoietin driven atopic inflammation," Journal of Clinical Investigation, vol. 117, no. 12, pp. 3868–3878, 2007.
- [120] D. Green, "Factor VIII inhibitors: a 50-year perspective," *Haemophilia*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 831–838, 2011.
- [121] N. Emi Aikawa, J. F. de Carvalho, C. Artur Almeida Silva, and E. Bonfá, "Immunogenicity of anti-TNF-α agents in autoimmune diseases," *Clinical Reviews in Allergy and Immunology*, vol. 38, no. 2-3, pp. 82–89, 2010.

R&D Systems Travel Grants to IMMUNOLOGY2013"

\$1,000 travel grants will be awarded to 10 immunology researchers R&D Systems Application Deadline: February 28th Apply Now!





This information is current as of January 14, 2013.

T Cell Apoptosis and Induction of Foxp3⁺ Regulatory T Cells Underlie the Therapeutic Efficacy of CD4 Blockade in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis

Joana Duarte, Nadège Carrié, Vanessa G. Oliveira, Catarina Almeida, Ana Agua-Doce, Lénia Rodrigues, J. Pedro Simas, Lennart T. Mars and Luis Graca

J Immunol 2012; 189:1680-1688; Prepublished online 16 July 2012; doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201269 http://www.jimmunol.org/content/189/4/1680

Supplementary http://www.jimmunol.org/content/suppl/2012/07/16/jimmunol.120126 Material 9.DC1.html

- **References** This article **cites 68 articles**, 23 of which you can access for free at: http://www.jimmunol.org/content/189/4/1680.full#ref-list-1
- **Subscriptions** Information about subscribing to *The Journal of Immunology* is online at: http://jimmunol.org/subscriptions
 - **Permissions** Submit copyright permission requests at: http://www.aai.org/ji/copyright.html
- **Email Alerts** Receive free email-alerts when new articles cite this article. Sign up at: http://jimmunol.org/cgi/alerts/etoc



T Cell Apoptosis and Induction of Foxp3⁺ Regulatory T Cells Underlie the Therapeutic Efficacy of CD4 Blockade in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis

Joana Duarte,^{*,†} Nadège Carrié,^{‡,§} Vanessa G. Oliveira,^{*,†} Catarina Almeida,^{*,†} Ana Agua-Doce,^{*,†} Lénia Rodrigues,^{*,†} J. Pedro Simas,^{*,†} Lennart T. Mars,^{‡,§} and Luis Graca^{*,†}

The pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis requires the participation of effector neuroantigen-specific T cells. Thus, T cell targeting has been proposed as a promising therapeutic strategy. However, the mechanism underlying effective disease prevention following T cell targeting remains incompletely known. We found, using several TCR-transgenic strains, that CD4 blockade is effective in preventing experimental autoimmune encephalopathy and in treating mice after the disease onset. The mechanism does not rely on direct T cell depletion, but the anti-CD4 mAb prevents the proliferation of naive neuroantigen-specific T cells, as well as acquisition of effector Th1 and Th17 phenotypes. Simultaneously, the mAb favors peripheral conversion of Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells. Pre-existing effector cells, or neuroantigen-specific cells that undergo cell division despite the presence of anti-CD4, are committed to apoptosis. Therefore, protection from experimental autoimmune encephalopathy relies on a combination of dominant mechanisms grounded on regulatory T cell induction and recessive mechanisms based on apoptosis of neuropathogenic cells. We anticipate that the same mechanisms may be implicated in other T cell-mediated autoimmune diseases that can be treated or prevented with Abs targeting T cell molecules, such as CD4 or CD3. *The Journal of Immunology*, 2012, 189: 1680–1688.

ultiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory disease of the CNS leading to progressive demyelination that is the leading cause of neurologic disability among young adults (1, 2). Genetic risk factors indicate that the heritable risk of developing MS is associated with allelic variants of predominantly immune-related genes (3-7). The strongest association is conferred by the human leukocyte/Ag locus (8). The inflammatory response present within the demyelinating lesions mainly comprises CD4 and CD8 T cells as well as macrophages (9). The commonly held view is that this response is autoreactive, targeting CNS-derived Ags (10). The pathogenicity of this response is modeled in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), a paralytic demyelinating disease that is induced in susceptible animals after immunization with myelin Ags, such as myelin basic protein (MBP) or myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) (11). By using these models, myelin-reactive B cells and CD8⁺

and CD4⁺ T cells have been identified as effector cells able to drive CNS demyelination. Furthermore, functionally distinct CD4 T cell subsets (Th1 and Th17) are now recognized to cause CNS tissue damage with distinct pathological features (10). Their pathogenicity is essentially mediated by the production of GM-CSF (12–14). Conversely, regulatory T cells (Treg) have been shown to limit the pathology or to prevent its onset (15–17).

Given the important role of T cells in the pathogenesis of MS, several therapeutic strategies have been proposed that rely on T cell targeting, namely T cell depletion, achieved with alemtuzumab, an anti-CD52 mAb (18), but also strategies that block α_4 integrin function (19–22), as well as T cell retention by FTY720 (23, 24). CD4 blockade, however, with nondepleting mAbs (that do not lead to direct cell lysis) offer the opportunity to specifically target Ag-specific cells engaged in T cell activation at the time of mAb treatment, rather than having a nonspecific effect. Other mAbs targeting molecules involved in T cell activation (such as CD3 or CD154) can also lead to long-term immune tolerance in preclinical models (25–28). Of note, anti-CD3 therapy generated promising results in phase I/II clinical trials, delaying onset of type I diabetes and treating psoriatic arthritis (29–31).

We have taken interest in nondepleting anti-CD4 mAb because of its established capacity to induce T cell tolerance without imposing systemic immune-suppression (32–41). The efficacy of nondepleting anti-CD4 in transplantation stems from its ability to impose a state of persistent T cell unresponsiveness, even when the mAbs have long disappeared from the circulation, that can spread to naive T cells through what was termed "infectious tolerance" (42, 43).

Promising results in EAE following anti-CD4 treatment (32, 44–46) justified some of the earliest clinical trials of mAbs in MS in the early 1990s (47). However, the immaturity of the field at that time led to discouraging results, namely due to the immunogenicity of the mAb (it was not humanized) and to adverse

^{*}Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Lisboa, 1649-028 Lisbon, Portugal; [†]Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, 2780-056 Oeiras, Portugal; [‡]INSERM Unité 1043/Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique Unité Mixte de Recherche 5282, Centre de Physiopathologie Toulouse-Purpan, Toulouse F-31300, France; and [§]Université Toulouse III, Toulouse F-31000, France

Received for publication May 4, 2012. Accepted for publication June 15, 2012.

This work was supported in part by Fundacao para a Ciencia e Tecnologia Portugal Grants PTDC/SAU-MII/64279/2006 and SUDOE Immunonet SOE1/P1/E014, as well as by INSERM.

Address correspondence and reprint requests to Dr. Luis Graca, Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Lisboa, Avenida Prof. Egas Moniz, 1649-028 Lisbon, Portugal. E-mail address: Igraca@fm.ul.pt

The online version of this article contains supplemental material.

Abbreviations used in this article: EAE, experimental autoimmune encephalopathy; MBP, myelin basic protein; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; MS, multiple sclerosis; MuHV, murid herpesvirus; TR⁻, TCR-transgenic Rag1^{-/-}; Treg, regulatory T cell.

Copyright © 2012 by The American Association of Immunologists, Inc. 0022-1767/12/\$16.00

effects due to T cell depletion (48).The mechanisms underlying the putative tolerogenic effect of anti-CD4 treatment in neuroinflammation were never fully characterized.

In this study, we evaluate the mechanisms underlying the protective effect of CD4 blockade in EAE. Using models of spontaneous and active EAE, we show that a nondepleting isotype of anti-CD4 mAb can prevent and treat EAE without leading to CD4 T cell depletion. Treated mice remained immunocompetent against viral infection.

We found that the underlying mechanism of CD4 blockade is distinct in naive and preactivated cells. Whereas CD4 blockade on activated cells favored their commitment to apoptosis, CD4 blockade during the priming of naive cells halted proliferation and effector differentiation and promoted the emergence of Foxp3⁺ Tregs.

It is a combination of halting the effector function of preactivated cells together with the recruitment of naive cells into the regulatory pool that allows CD4 blockade to be effective in TCR-transgenic mice, even after the onset of the disease. As such, our data provide insight into the cellular mechanisms that are deployed to achieve EAE protection with putative tolerogenic mAbs.

Materials and Methods

Animals

C57BL/6 (B6; H-2^b), MBP-specific TCR-transgenic Rag I^{-/-} (TR⁻) mice (H-2th) (49), and 2D2 MOG-specific TCR-transgenic mice (H-2^b) (50) were bred and maintained under specific pathogen-free conditions and used sex matched between 8 and 10 wk age. All experimental protocols were approved by the Local Ethics Committee and are in compliance with European Union guidelines.

EAE induction

For active EAE, B6 mice were s.c. immunized with 100 μ g MOG₃₅₋₅₅ peptide (MEVGWYRSPFSRVVHLYRNGK) (Biopolymers Laboratory, Harvard Medical School) emulsified in CFA solution (4 mg/ml mycobacteria in IFA). On the day of immunization and 2 d after, mice received 200 ng pertussis toxin (List Biological Laboratories) in 100 μ l PBS i.v. For 2D2 Th1 transfer, purified CD4⁺ T cells from 2D2 mice at 0.5 × 10⁶ cells/ml were stimulated in vitro with 20 μ g/ml NF-M₁₅₋₃₅ (RRVTETRSSFSRVSGSPSSGF) peptide in the presence of IL-12 (20 ng/ml), IL-2 (1 ng/ml), and irradiated syngeneic splenocytes (5–10 × 10⁶). On day 6, viable cells were restimulated with APCs and 20 μ g/ml NF-M₁₅₋₃₅ in the presence of IL-12 (20 ng/ml) and IL-2 (1 ng/ml). On day 9, 14 × 10⁶ Th1 cells were injected into lightly irradiated (300 rads) syngeneic recipients. Disease severity was scored daily on a five-point scale: 1, tail atony; 2, hind limb weakness; 3, hind limb paralysis; 4, quadriplegia; 5, moribund.

Abs

Nondepleting anti-CD4 (YTS177) and isotype control (YKIX302) mAbs were produced in our laboratory using Integra CL1000 flasks (IBS Integra Biosciences, Chur, Switzerland), purified by 50% ammonium sulfate precipitation, dialyzed against PBS, and purity was checked by native and SDS gel electrophoresis. Hybridomas were generously provided by Prof. Herman Waldmann (Oxford, U.K.).

Preparation of CNS mononuclear cells

Mice were perfused through the left cardiac ventricle with cold PBS. The brain and spinal cord were dissected. CNS tissue was cut into pieces and digested with collagenase type VIII (0.2 mg/ml; Sigma-Aldrich) in HBSS at 37°C for 30 min. Mononuclear cells were isolated by passing the tissue through a 70- μ m cell strainer, followed by a 30% Percoll (Sigma-Aldrich) gradient and 20 min centrifugation at 2500 rpm. Mononuclear cells were recovered from the pellet, resuspended, and used for further analysis.

Flow cytometry

Single-cell suspensions were stained with CD25-Alexa Fluor 488 and PE-Cy7 (PC61.5), CD4-PE and PerCp-Cy5.5 (RM4-5), CD8-allophycocyanin-Cy7 (53-6.7), Thy1.2-allophycocyanin-Cy7 (53-2.1), anti-MBP TCR clonotype biotin (3H12) (51), TCR V β 11 (RR3-15), TCR V α 3.2 FITC (RR3-16), CD45.1 A700 and biotin (A20; all from eBioscience), and CD3-PerCp-Cy5.5 (145-2C11; BioLegend). Apoptotic cells were identified with 7-aminoactinomycin D and annexin V-allophycocyanin labeled in annexin V binding buffer (eBioscience). To prevent unspecific Ab capture by the Fc receptors, cells were incubated with anti-CD16/32 (clone 2.4G2) prior to staining. Samples were acquired on a FACSCanto or LSRII and analyzed with FlowJo.

CFSE labeling

Cells were resuspended at 1×10^6 cells/ml incubated at 37°C for 10 min in the presence of 5 μM CFSE. To stop the staining, cold complete medium was added.

Intracellular stainings

For intracellular cytokine staining, cells were isolated as described and stimulated for 4 h in complete culture medium containing 50 ng/ml PMA, 500 ng/ml ionomycin, and 10 μ g/ml brefeldin A (Sigma-Aldrich). After staining of surface markers, cells were treated with a fixation and permeabilization kit (eBioscience) and stained with IFN- γ (XMG1.2), IL-17A (ebio 17B7), and Foxp3 (FJK165) Abs from BD Biosciences and eBioscience according to the manufacturers' recommendations.

In vitro Th17 polarization

MBP-specific CD4⁺ T cells were sorted by magnetic separation with CD4 (L3T4) microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) from healthy 30-d-old TR⁻ mice. Cell purities were between 92 and 96%. The T cells were cultured for 5 d with bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (52) and 10 μ g/ml MBP peptide (MedProbe, Oslo, Norway) in IMDM/5% FBS with 1 ng/ml TGF- β (R&D Systems), 20 ng/ml IL-6 (R&D Systems), 10 ng/ml IL-1 β (eBioscience), and 10 μ g/ml anti–INF- γ (R46A2) with or without 10 μ g/ml anti–CD4 (YTS177). At the end of the culture, cells were harvested and processed for flow cytometry.

Cytokine production assays

Splenocytes (1 \times 10⁶) were plated in 96-well flat-bottom plates and cultured in complete medium (RPMI 1640 with GlutaMAX, supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% HEPES, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, 1% sodium pyruvate, 0.1% 2-ME; Invitrogen) with 20 µg/ml peptide (MBP or MOG₃₅₋₅₅). Supernatants were recovered after 72 h and cytokines were quantified by sandwich ELISA for IL-10, IFN- γ (PrepoTech, London, U.K.), or IL-17 (R&D Systems).

Adoptive transfer of naive T cells

CD4*CD62L*CD25⁻ T cells were purified from CD45.1 congenic 2D2 mice in two steps using microbeads (MACS; Miltenyi Biotec): first by negative selection using mAbs to CD8 (YTS169), B220 (RA3-6B2), Mac1 (CI:A3-1), and CD25 (7D4); followed by positive selection with anti-CD62L-coated beads, providing 80% CD4⁺ T cells, of which 95% were CD62L*CD44^{to} expressing the transgenic 2D2 TCR. Cells (1 × 10⁵) were adoptively transferred into syngeneic B6 mice the day before immunization.

Viral plaque assay

Mice were infected with murid herpesvirus (MuHV)-4 by intranasal inoculation of 10⁶ PFU in 20 µl PBS under halothane anesthesia. At days 7 (peak of lytic infection) and 14 (resolution of lytic infection), lungs were recovered and frozen at -80° C. On the day of the assay, lungs were homogenized in glutamine-free MEM complete media and submitted to 10^{\times} serial dilutions. To each dilution $5 \times 10^{\circ}$ BHK-21 cells were added. Viruses were left to adsorb for 1 h in six-well plates, at 37°C, followed by 4 d incubation after addition of 3 ml media. At day 4 of culture, the cell monolayer was fixed with 4% formaldehyde and stained with 0.1% toluidine blue. Viral plaques were counted with a Stemi SV6 magnifying glass (Zeiss). Virus titers were determined from the average of the number of counted viral plaques in duplicates.

Histology

Animals were perfused postmortem with 2% paraformaldehyde in PBS. Tissues were embedded in paraffin, and tissue sections were stained with H&E.

Statistical analysis

Statistical significance was determined using the two-tailed nonparametric Mann–Whitney U test, and p values of <0.05 were deemed significant (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001).

Results

Nondepleting anti-CD4 mAb prevents EAE

Previous studies primarily focused on the clinical amelioration afforded by CD4 mAb treatment on EAE in Biozzi AB/H (45), PL/J mice (44), and Lewis rats (32). Little is known regarding the underlying mechanisms. To study the impact of nondepleting CD4 mAb on the encephalitogenic T cell response, we chose the most widely used mouse model of EAE that is induced in C57BL/6 mice after immunization with MOG₃₅₋₅₅. Control mAb-treated mice (Fig. 1A) developed EAE on average 12 d after immunization causing hind limb paralysis to most animals (maximum disease score, 3 ± 0.4 ; Supplemental Table I). This paralytic disease was fully prevented when mice were treated with CD4 mAb on days 3 and 2 prior to immunization (Fig. 1, Supplemental Table I). Histological analysis indicated that disease prevention correlated with a reduced accumulation of immune cells in the CNS (Fig. 1B), including CD4⁺ T cells (Fig. 1C). In vitro Ag recall experiments indicate that treatment with CD4 mAb reduces the intensity of the MOG₃₅₋₅₅-specific T cell response. Fourteen days after immunization, splenocytes from control mAb-treated mice produced significantly higher concentrations of IL-17 and IFN-y in response to MOG restimulation in vitro as compared with immunized mice pretreated with CD4 mAb (Fig. 1D).

To test whether the efficacy of the treatment would persist after disease onset we treated mice with a single injection of 1 mg anti-CD4 mAb on the day of disease onset. As shown in Fig. 1E, the isotype control mAb-treated mice progressed from an initial tail atony to full paralysis of the hind limbs. Anti-CD4 mAb treatment halted disease progression, providing full disease remission 1 wk after treatment (Fig. 1E, Supplemental Table I).

Mice treated with nondepleting anti-CD4 mAb remain immunocompetent

To evaluate whether CD4 mAb-treated mice remain immunocompetent after treatment withdrawal, we evaluated the capacity of successfully treated mice to mount an antiviral immune response against a γ -herpesvirus infection. MuHV-4 causes transient pneumonia in B6 mice. This acute viral infection is efficiently cleared from the lungs after ~14 d by a cell-mediated immune response comprising both CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells (53). We validated the implication of the adaptive immune response and the CD4⁺ T cell response by infecting RAG^{-/-} and MHC class II^{-/-} mice, respectively (Fig. 2). The RAG^{-/-} mice succumbed to uninhibited viral infection, causing increased viral titers 7 d postinoculation that proved lethal to all mice before day 14 (Fig. 2A). The role of CD4⁺ T cells was revealed in MHC class II^{-/-} mice where the absence of CD4⁺ T cells increased the dissemination of MuHV as



FIGURE 1. CD4 blockade treats active EAE in C57BL/6 mice. (A) CD4 mAb treatment prevents active EAE. Average clinical score of MOG₃₅₋₅₅immunized mice treated with 1 mg nondepleting anti-CD4 mAb (n = 5; **A**) or isotype control mAb (n = 5; **A**) at 3 and 2 d prior to immunization. The mean clinical score ± SEM is presented for one representative experiment out of three. (B) Parenchymal infiltration of inflammatory cells is prevented following CD4 blockade. H&E staining of transversal sections of the spinal cord 20 d after MOG₃₅₋₅₅ immunization (original magnification ×400). Control mAb (n = 3; middle column) and nondepleting CD4 mAb (n = 3; right column) were injected 3 and 2 d prior to immunization. Aged-matched nonimmunized mice (n = 3; left column) were used as control. (C) CD4 mAb treatment prevents immune invasion of the CNS. Fifteen days after MOG₃₅₋₅₅ immunization, CNS mononuclear cells were obtained by Percoll gradient from mice treated with an isotype control (black bar; n = 5) and anti-CD4 mAb (white bar; n = 5) 3 and 2 d before immunization. Age-matched nonimmunized mice (gray bar; n = 5) were used as control. $CD4^{+}TCR\beta^{+}CD8^{-}T$ cells were quantified by flow cytometry. The data represent the mean number of CD4⁺ T cells per CNS ± SEM and two representative dot plots. (**D**) Anti-CD4 mAb treatment reduces the magnitude of the MOG₃₅₋₅₅-specific T cell response. Ag recall experiments were performed on splenocyte cultures 14 d after MOG₃₅₋₅₅ immunization. The concentration of IFN- γ and IL-17 was measured 72 h after in vitro stimulation with 20 μ g/ml MOG₃₅₋₅₅ (filled bars) or medium alone (open bar). Mice were treated with control mAb (n = 5; middle) and anti-CD4 mAb (n = 5; right) 3 and 2 d prior to immunization. Age-matched nonimmunized mice were used as controls. Data represent mean cytokine concentration \pm SEM. ND, not detected. (E) CD4 mAb therapy ameliorates established EAE. Average clinical score of MOG_{35-55} -immunized mice treated with a single injection of 1 mg nondepleting anti-CD4 mAb (n = 5; \blacktriangle) or isotype control mAb $(n = 5; \blacksquare)$ on the day of disease onset. The data present the mean clinical score \pm SEM after disease onset (day 0) and correspond to one representative experiment out of two. p < 0.05, p < 0.001.



FIGURE 2. Mice treated with nondepleting anti-CD4 mAb remain immunocompetent. (**A**) To confirm the role of CD4⁺ T cells in viral clearance, CD4-deficient MHC class II^{-/-} and Rag1^{-/-} mice were intranasally infected with 10⁴ PFU MuHV-4. The viral load was quantified from lungs collected at days 7 and 14 that correspond to the peak of pneumonia and immune-mediated viral clearance. Rag1^{-/-} mice died before day 14. MHC class II^{-/-} mice did not resolve infection with the same efficacy as did mice treated with anti-CD4 30 d prior to infection (n = 5; *p < 0.05; NA, not applicable). (**B**) C57BL/6 mice were immunized with MOG₃₅₋₅₅ to induce EAE and treated with anti-CD4 mAb (n = 5; *middle*) or control mAb (n = 5; *left*) 3 and 2 d prior to immunization. Age-matched nonimmunized mice (n = 5; *right*) were used as control. Thirty days later the mice were infected as described above. The data show that anti-CD4-treated mice resolve infection with similar efficacy to control groups. Data are representative of two independent experiments.

indicated by higher viral titers 7 and 14 d postinfection (Fig. 2A). This model of viral clearance was used to test the immunocompetence of mice previously treated with anti-CD4 or control mAb 2 and 3 d prior to MOG₃₅₋₅₅ immunization. Thirty days after immunization mice were intranasally infected with MuHV-4 and the lungs were analyzed for virus content 7 and 14 d postinfection. Control B6 mice were infected with MuHV-4 in the absence of prior MOG-CFA immunization or CD4 blockade. As shown in Fig. 2B, mice that were initially treated with CD4 mAb were able to resolve the MuHV-4 virus infection detected at day 7 (Fig. 2B, *top*) by day 14 (*bottom*) with an efficiency equivalent to nonmanipulated control mice.

To further illustrate that nondepleting CD4 mAb treatment tolerizes only to Ags present at the time of treatment, we differentially applied CD4 mAb treatment to mice immunized with OVA and alum (Supplemental Fig. 1). We found that treatment with nondepleting anti-CD4 mAb prior to OVA immunization did not hamper subsequent immune responses to OVA (Supplemental Fig. 1A). In contrast, administration of OVA at the time of anti-CD4 treatment led to the induction of tolerance to this foreign Ag, which manifested as impaired production of OVA-specific IgG1 following subsequent OVA recall (Supplemental Fig. 1B).

CD4 blockade inhibits proliferation and functional polarization of MOG-specific T cells

To study the fate of encephalitogenic T cells at the single-cell level, we transferred a traceable population of naive MOG_{35-55} -specific CD4⁺ T cells into CD45.2 B6 mice prior to EAE induction. These CD62L⁺CD25⁻CD4⁺ T cells were purified from CD45.1 congenic, 2D2 transgenic mice expressing an I-A^b-restricted TCR (V\alpha3.2-V\beta11) specific for MOG_{35-55} (50). As previously published, the transferred MOG-specific T cells differentiate into pathogenic Th1 and Th17 cells and expand 3700-fold by day 9 after immunization with MOG_{35-55} (54). As shown in Fig. 3A, the recipient mice

develop severe EAE that renders mice quadriplegic (maximum disease score, 4.3 ± 0.33) when injected with isotype control mAb at days 0, 2, and 4 after immunization with MOG₃₅₋₅₅. A similar treatment with nondepleting CD4 mAb fully protected the recipient mice from active EAE, as none of the animals developed any clinical signs of EAE (Fig. 3A). This is not because of depletion of the CD4 T cells, as the size of the CD4 T cell compartment was unaltered between isotype control- and nondepleting CD4 mAb-treated mice (Fig. 3B). However, when selectively enumerating the MOG₃₅₋₅₅-specific T cells a statistically significant reduction in the accumulation of 2D2 T cells was observed 9 d after immunization in mice treated with the CD4 mAb (Fig. 3C). This reduction was not associated with increased apoptosis, as the percentage of 2D2 T cells binding annexin V was similar in the isotype

control- and CD4 mAb-treated groups 3 d after immunization with

MOG₃₅₋₅₅ (Fig. 3D).

CD4 blockade inhibited T cell priming of the encephalitogenic T cell response as measured by CFSE dilution of the congenic MOG-specific 2D2 T cells. In the isotype control-treated mice most 2D2 T cells had undergone at least five cell divisions (51%) by day 3. In the CD4 mAb-treated mice this represented only 8% of the 2D2 T cells (Fig. 3E, 3F, Supplemental Fig. 2). The origin of this difference is likely to be bimodal, with less naive 2D2 T cells being activated after CD4 blockade, and second, that 2D2 T cells activated in the presence of CD4 blockade abort their expansion, as suggested by the limited number of cell divisions (Fig. 3E). Abortive T cell activation is characterized by T cell proliferation in the absence of effector differentiation. Consequently, we assessed whether CD4 blockade would prevent the commitment of naive 2D2 T cells to the Th1 and Th17 effector subsets 9 d after immunization. In vitro MOG₃₅₋₅₅ recall demonstrated a sizeable release of IL-17 and IFN-y in lymph node cultures from isotype control-treated mice (Fig. 3G, Supplemental Fig. 2C, 2D). In CD4 mAb-treated mice the Ag recall response was downregulated, as indicated by the significant reduction in the release of effector cytokines (Fig. 3G). This was associated with a similar reduced frequency of 2D2 T cells expressing IFN-y or IL-17 (Fig. 3H, Supplemental Fig. 2C, 2D), indicating that CD4 mAb treatment blocks the differentiation of naive 2D2 T cells into Th1 or Th17 effector cells. All data presented (Fig. 3B-H) were obtained from the draining inguinal lymph nodes.

Lastly, we addressed the contribution of regulatory CD4⁺ T cells to the immunomodulatory impact of nondepleting CD4 mAb treatment. We assessed whether CD4 blockade during active immunization could favor the differentiation of naive T cells into induced Foxp3⁺ Tregs. On day 9 after immunization with MOG_{35–55} in CFA, we found an increased frequency of Foxp3⁺ 2D2 T cells (p < 0.05), whereas the frequency of Foxp3⁺ Tregs within polyclonal T cells remained unchanged (Fig. 31).

Effector T cells are committed to apoptosis under anti-CD4 treatment

To study the mechanism by which nondepleting anti-CD4 mAbs treat established disease, as shown in Fig. 1E, we investigated the in vivo impact of anti-CD4 on terminally differentiated effector T cells. To this end, we passively induced EAE in C57BL/6 mice by adoptively transferring 14×10^6 MOG-specific 2D2 cells that were primed in vitro under Th1 polarization conditions (Fig. 4A) (55). Treating the recipient mice on days 0, 2, and 4 after Th1 transfer with anti-CD4 mAbs prevented the onset of disease in all treated mice (Fig. 4A). To study the fate of the transferred congenic 2D2 cells, we assessed their accumulation in the CNS and cervical lymph nodes 9 d after transfer, just prior to death of control mice (mortality on days 11–13). In the diseased isotype control-treated



FIGURE 3. Anti-CD4 inhibits proliferation and differentiation of MOG-specific T cells. (A) Anti-CD4 mAb treatment prevents active EAE in model with traceable encephalitogenic T cells. Congenic 2D2 cells (1×10^5) were adoptively transferred into B6 mice and active EAE was induced by MOG₃₅₋₅₅ immunization the following day. Mice were treated with anti-CD4 (n = 4) and control mAb (n = 4) on days 0, 2, and 4. The mean clinical score \pm SEM is presented for one representative experiment out of 3. ($\mathbf{B}-\mathbf{F}$) Anti-CD4 mAb treatment inhibits T cell priming. CFSE-labeled naive 2D2 T cells (1×10^6) were adoptively transferred into B6 mice prior to MOG₃₅₋₅₅ immunization. Flow cytometry analysis was performed on day 3 in the draining lymph nodes of mice treated with anti-CD4 mAb (n = 4; open bars) and control mAb (n = 4; filled bars) on days 0 and 2. By flow cytometry it is possible to distinguish the fate of encephalitogenic 2D2 cells (CD45.1⁺) from polyclonal CD4⁺ T cells. (B) Number of the total CD4⁺ T cell compartment among draining lymph node cells. (C) Number of CD45.1*TCR Va3.2*CD4* congenic 2D2 T cells in the draining lymph nodes. (D) Proportion of cells binding annexin V among CD45.1 TCR Va3.2⁺CD4⁺ 2D2 T cells. (E) Representative dot plots showing CFSE dilution of CD45.1⁺TCR Va3.2⁺CD4⁺ 2D2 T cells after control mAb (left panel) or anti-CD4 mAb treatment (right panel). (F) CFSE data expressed as the frequency of 2D2 cells that did not divide or cells that had undergone cell divisions as assessed by CFSE dilution (left plot), and mean number of divisions of 2D2 T cells from mice treated with anti-CD4 (open bar) or a control mAb (filled bar). (G-I) Anti-CD4 mAb treatment inhibits effector T cell differentiation and favors $Foxp3^+$ Treg expansion. Naive 2D2 T cells (1×10^5) were transferred into B6 mice and active EAE was induced by MOG_{35-55} immunization the following day. Mice were treated with anti-CD4 (n = 4) and control mAb (n = 4) on days 0, 2, and 4. Mice were analyzed 9 d after immunization. (G) Splenocyte cultures were restimulated with 100 μ g/ml MOG₃₅₋₅₅ (filled bars) or cultured in the absence of Ag (open bars), and IL-17 release (left) and IFN-y (right) were measured after 72 h by sandwich ELISA. (H) Ex vivo analysis of CD4*CD45.1* 2D2 T cells for intracellular IL-17 (left) and IFN- γ (right) expressed as absolute number of cytokine-positive 2D2 T cells. (I) Histograms representing the frequency of Foxp3⁺ cells within the polyclonal CD4⁺CD45.1⁻ T cells (*left*) and within MOG-specific 2D2 T cells (CD4*CD45.1*, right). The histograms represent cells from mice treated with anti-CD4 (dotted line) or an isotype control (thick line, frequency values in italics). The data represent the mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments. *p < 0.05.

mice an average of 4×10^5 pathogenic 2D2 T cells could be recovered per CNS, whereas in the CD4 mAb-treated group the number of CNS infiltrating 2D2 T cells was significantly reduced (10-fold) (Fig. 4B). The transferred 2D2 T cells were also detectable in the cervical lymph nodes, but the cell numbers did not significantly differ from the control-treated group (Fig. 4C). However, in the CD4 mAb-treated group the fate of the pathogenic 2D2 T cells was significantly altered. As shown in Fig. 4D and 4E, up to 40% of transferred encephalitogenic T cells were undergoing apoptosis as measured by annexin V binding within congenic 2D2 T cells. Taken together, our data suggest that CD4 blockade triggers different mechanisms in naive and fully polarized Ag-specific cells. On naive T cells anti-CD4 mAb treatment prevents T cell priming, whereas on terminally differentiated T cells CD4 blockade predestines pathogenic T cells for apoptosis.

Anti-CD4 mAb treatment prevents fatal EAE in TCRtransgenic mice

MBP-specific TCR-transgenic mice that are Rag1-deficient (TR⁻) spontaneously develop EAE between days 40 and 60 of life (49). All of the TR⁻ mice develop a disabling disease that progresses rapidly, leading to death within 5 d upon the initial clinical manifestations. This model permitted us to assess the efficiency of nondepleting CD4 mAb treatment during spontaneous neuro-inflammation that develops without the need of adjuvant immunization. Treating the TR⁻ mice with two shots of 1 mg anti-CD4 mAb between days 30 and 35 of age protected all mice from EAE (incidence 0%; Supplemental Table I) when compared with isotype control-treated TR⁻ mice, all of which developed fatal EAE (incidence 100%; Fig. 5A). The efficacy of the non-depleting CD4 mAb treatment is such that even delaying treatment after



FIGURE 4. CD4 blockade prevents Th1-induced EAE through induction of apoptosis. (**A**–**D**) MOG-specific 2D2 T cells were polarized toward Th1 phenotype in vitro and transferred (14×10^6 /mouse) into syngeneic B6 mice. (A) Average clinical score of mice treated with anti-CD4 mAb (n = 4; **●**) or control mAb (n = 4; **●**) at the day of Th1 transfer and on days 2 and 4. The mean clinical score ± SEM is presented for one representative experiment out of two. (B–**E**) Nine days after 2D2 Th1 transfer anti-CD4 mAb (n = 4; open bars) or control mAb (n = 4; filled bars) treated mice were sacrificed and the number of CD4*CD45.1*TCR V α 3.2* T cells was determined by flow cytometry among CNS-infiltrating mononuclear cells (B) and in the cervical lymph nodes (C). (D) Proportion of cells binding annexin V among CD45.1*TCR V α 3.2*CD4* 2D2 T cells in the cervical lymph nodes. The data represent time absence of anti-CD4 (*top*) or subjected to CD4-blockade (*bottom*), showing higher frequency of cells binding annexin V in mice treated with anti-CD4 (histograms). *p < 0.05.

onset (clinical score 1) still permitted the progression of disease to be halted (Fig. 5B). In contrast, the isotype control treatment failed to delay the lethal disease progression, resulting in the death of all mice (Fig. 5B).

Similar to the active EAE setting, the overall CD4⁺ T cell number is maintained following anti-CD4 treatment, confirming the nondepleting nature of the mAb (Fig. 5C). Unlike active EAE, we did not find evidence for increased apoptosis on autoantigen-specific T cells from anti-CD4–treated mice (Fig. 5D). Because TR⁻ mice are devoid of natural Tregs, we could conveniently evaluate the induction of Treg differentiation in anti-CD4–treated mice (Fig. 5E) (49). Two injections of 1 mg CD4 mAb in 30- to 35-d-old mice permitted the de novo generation of CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells in cervical lymph nodes (Fig. 5E). The observed low percentage of induced Foxp3⁺ Tregs is consistent with previous reports of Treg-mediated tolerance induced in TCR-transgenic Rag-deficient mice (52, 56).

To study the underlying mechanism, we evaluated whether in vitro stimulation of CD4⁺ MBP-specific TR⁻ cells with MBPloaded dendritic cells in the presence of anti-CD4 would alter the balance between the protective and proinflammatory Treg and Th17 populations. Addition of anti-CD4 to T cell cultures in Th17 polarizing conditions (in the presence of TGF- β and IL-6) led to a decrease in Th17 cells with a simultaneous increase of Treg frequency in a dose-dependent manner (Fig. 5F, 5G). This suggests that, in addition to recessive tolerance, nondepleting CD4 mAbs are able to convey dominant tolerance in animal models of CNS autoimmunity.

Discussion

The availability of different TCR-transgenic animal models of inflammatory demyelinating disease allows the study of mechanisms underlying putative tolerance-inducing regimens that influence different components of the immune system (57). In the last decade several studies have supported a role for T cell-directed therapies in the treatment of MS, where alemtuzumab is perhaps the most prominent example (58). Additionally, depleting (27, 28) and nonmitogenic (26, 59) anti-CD3 mAbs have been shown effective in inducing long-term protection from EAE. We used a nondepleting anti-CD4 mAb and found that CD4 blockade can lead to long-term protection from EAE while triggering different outcomes in naive or preactivated effector T cells.

We found that CD4 blockade was able to prevent the onset of EAE in MOG-CFA-immunized mice, as well as to impair disease progression when anti-CD4 was administered following the onset of clinical manifestations of the disease. Importantly, anti-CD4-treated mice remained fully competent to respond to unrelated Ags (Supplemental Fig. 1) and to mount protective immune responses toward a y- herpesvirus (MuHV-4). However, at the time of anti-CD4 infusion there is a period where exposure to foreign Ags leads to tolerance rather than to protective immunity. Therefore, and depending on the pathogen characteristics, active infection when anti-CD4 is administered may interfere with effective pathogen clearance. In fact, in the early 1990s there were some promising studies with anti-CD4-induced EAE protection (32, 44-46) that led to some of the earliest clinical trials with therapeutic mAbs. However, the clinical development of this anti-CD4 therapy for MS was soon abandoned because of adverse effects related to CD4 T cell depletion (48). Our data show that, similar to what was previously shown in transplantation (60), autoimmune arthritis (61), and allergic diseases (62, 63), the therapeutic effect mediated by anti-CD4 mAb does not require direct T cell depletion.

To follow the fate of pathogenic T cells in vivo we adoptively transferred MOG-specific cells from 2D2 mice. It is well described that in EAE, the CNS suffers a massive infiltration by activated lymphocytes, namely CD4 effector T cells, which break the blood-brain barrier and recruit other proinflammatory cells to the site of inflammation, leading to an increased severity of the disease (64). We found that anti-CD4-treated mice did not show any significant infiltrates in the CNS while presenting a reduction of MOG-specific TCR-transgenic cells in the cervical lymph node



FIGURE 5. Anti-CD4 treatment prevents fatal EAE in TR⁻ mice. (**A**) TR⁻ mice develop fatal spontaneous EAE between days 40 and 60 of life. TR⁻ mice were treated with 2×1 mg anti-CD4 between days 30 and 35 of life. Treated mice were protected from of the onset of EAE, whereas isotype-treated controls developed fatal disease (n = 8; ***p < 0.001). These data are representative of three independent experiments. (**B**) To investigate the impact of anti-CD4 treatment in established disease, TR⁻ mice were treated with anti-CD4 or an isotype control upon the first manifestations of the disease. CD4-treated mice were protected from severe EAE whereas control animals died within days (n = 5; ***p < 0.001). (**C**) Number of CD4⁺ T cells in cervical lymph nodes of anti-CD4-treated and control mice (NS). (**D**) Frequency of apoptotic cells, identified by binding of annexin V and 7-aminoactinomycin D (7AAD), in anti-CD4-treated and control mice (NS). (**E**) Number of CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺ T cells in control and anti-CD4-treated mice, as well as representative dot plots. Mice treated with anti-CD4 showed significantly increased levels of Tregs (n = 4; **p < 0.01). (**F** and **G**) In vitro cultures of TR⁻ T cells stimulated with MBP, under Th17 polarization conditions. (F) Representative dot plots and (G) quantification of Foxp3⁺ (*left*) and IL-17⁺ (*right*) T cells. Addition of anti-CD4 mAb led to a decrease in Th17 commitment and an increase in the frequency of Foxp3⁺ T cells expression in a dose-dependent way (n = 4; *p < 0.05).

(the number of nontransgenic CD4 cells did not change, confirming the nondepleting nature of the mAb used). We also found that CD4 blockade acts by preventing T cell proliferation, as well as preventing the differentiation of effector cells producing proinflammatory cytokines. Our data show that the few encephalitogenic cells that proliferate in mice treated with anti-CD4 are committed to apoptosis, whereas in the control group they acquire IL-17– and IFN- γ –producing phenotypes (Supplemental Fig. 2). The molecular triggers that lead to apoptosis in the proliferating cells exposed to anti-CD4 mAb remain to be established. Additionally, we also found that among the transferred MOGspecific cells there is an expansion of Foxp3⁺ T cells. These presumably induced Tregs can be especially important for the long-term maintenance of the tolerance state.

We then studied the effect of CD4 blockade on preactivated MOG-specific T cells, generally considered difficult to regulate. In fact, it was previously reported that MOG-specific Foxp3⁺ Tregs are able to control naive neurotropic T cells but not activated effector T cells (65). We found that preactivated 2D2 cells do not cause pathology in the presence of CD4 blockade. Our data show that preactivated 2D2 cells under the cover of anti-CD4 fail to accumulate in the CNS, while being committed to apoptosis.

To further investigate the regulation of the balance between Tregs and effector T cells we used Rag1-deficient mice bearing a T cell repertoire exclusively composed of MBP-specific T cells and devoid of Foxp3⁺ Tregs (TR⁻) (49, 51). Despite the number of potentially aggressive cells these animals were protected from the development of EAE following a short course of nondepleting anti-CD4. We found protection from EAE correlated with the emergence of Foxp3⁺ Tregs in the periphery. This is in agreement with several studies that support a role for Tregs in the control of CNS inflammation. In fact, some studies have shown that TR mice can be protected from EAE following adoptive transfer of Tregs from anti-MBP TCR-transgenic Rag1^{+/+} mice (51, 66, 67). Our in vitro studies have confirmed that blocking CD4 during the activation of TCR-transgenic T cells under Th17 polarizing conditions results in a decrease in IL-17-producing cells concomitantly with a greater frequency of Foxp3⁺ cells in an anti-CD4 mAb dose-dependent way. It was indeed previously reported that strategies leading to a reduction of stimulatory signals received by the T cell (namely by reducing the concentration of agonist peptides or using CD4 blockade) can favor Foxp3 upregulation (52, 68). In all RAG^{-/-} TCR-transgenic strains tested, we observed that the T cells that had acquired Foxp3 expression maintained normal levels of transgenic TCR expression.

Taken together, our data show that T cells under distinct stages of functional maturation respond differently to tolerance-inducing protocols. Therefore, it is likely that some reagents able to induce tolerance in naive T cells may be inadequate to effectively control preactivated T cells. Similarly, strategies that suppress terminally differentiated effector cells may be insufficient to induce longterm protection from the disease by promoting the peripheral induction of Tregs. In a similar way to what we have previously reported in an animal model of autoimmune arthritis (61), it appears that the key to long-term tolerance in EAE is the resetting of the abnormal effector Th1-Th17/Treg ratio. Importantly, naive and effector cells appear to be regulated differently: CD4 blockade prevents the proliferation and effector polarization of naive T cells, while favoring Treg conversion; however, activated T cells are predominantly regulated by favoring their commitment to apoptosis.

Overall, our data show that effective tolerance-inducing strategies in autoimmunity will have to induce naive cells to acquire regulatory function important for the long-term maintenance of tolerance, while simultaneously disarming the preactivated effector T cells that may resist Treg-mediated regulation.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Juan J. Lafaille, Jocelyne Demengeot, and Catarina Martins for helpful advice and for providing TR⁻ mice, Miguel Soares and Andreia Cunha for advice regarding CNS-related techniques, Marta Caridade for assistance in some experiments, and Herman Waldmann for nondepleting anti-CD4 hybridomas.

Disclosures

The authors have no financial conflicts of interest.

References

- Compston, A., and A. Coles. 2008. Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* 372: 1502–1517.
 Sospedra, M., and R. Martin. 2005. Immunology of multiple sclerosis. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 23: 683–747.
- Gregory, S. G., S. Schmidt, P. Seth, J. R. Oksenberg, J. Hart, A. Prokop, S. J. Caillier, M. Ban, A. Goris, L. F. Barcellos, et al; Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Group. 2007. Interleukin 7 receptor alpha chain (IL7R) shows allelic and functional association with multiple sclerosis. *Nat. Genet.* 39: 1083–1091.
- Hafler, D. A., A. Compston, S. Sawcer, E. S. Lander, M. J. Daly, P. L. De Jager, P. I. de Bakker, S. B. Gabriel, D. B. Mirel, A. J. Ivinson, et al; International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium. 2007. Risk alleles for multiple sclerosis identified by a genomewide study. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 357: 851–862.
- Jagodic, M., C. Colacios, R. Nohra, A. S. Dejean, A. D. Beyeen, M. Khademi, A. Casemayou, L. Lamouroux, C. Duthoit, O. Papapietro, et al. 2009. A role for VAV1 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 1: 10ra21.
- Lundmark, F., K. Duvefelt, E. Iacobaeus, I. Kockum, E. Wallström, M. Khademi, A. Oturai, L. P. Ryder, J. Saarela, H. F. Harbo, et al. 2007. Variation in interleukin 7 receptor α chain (IL7R) influences risk of multiple sclerosis. *Nat. Genet.* 39: 1108–1113.
- Sawcer, S., G. Hellenthal, M. Pirinen, C. C. Spencer, N. A. Patsopoulos, L. Moutsianas, A. Dilthey, Z. Su, C. Freeman, S. E. Hunt, et al; International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium; Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2. 2011. Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. *Nature* 476: 214–219.
- Jersild, C., A. Svejgaard, and T. Fog. 1972. HL-A antigens and multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* 1: 1240–1241.
- Hauser, S. L., A. K. Bhan, F. Gilles, M. Kemp, C. Kerr, and H. L. Weiner. 1986. Immunohistochemical analysis of the cellular infiltrate in multiple sclerosis lesions. *Ann. Neurol.* 19: 578–587.
- Goverman, J. 2009. Autoimmune T cell responses in the central nervous system. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 9: 393–407.
- Gold, R., C. Linington, and H. Lassmann. 2006. Understanding pathogenesis and therapy of multiple sclerosis via animal models: 70 years of merits and culprits in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis research. *Brain* 129: 1953–1971.
- Codarri, L., G. Gyülvészi, V. Tosevski, L. Hesske, A. Fontana, L. Magnenat, T. Suter, and B. Becher. 2011. RORyt drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Nat. Immunol.* 12: 560–567.
- El-Behi, M., B. Ciric, H. Dai, Y. Yan, M. Cullimore, F. Safavi, G. X. Zhang, B. N. Dittel, and A. Rostami. 2011. The encephalitogenicity of T_H17 cells is dependent on IL-1- and IL-23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. *Nat. Immunol.* 12: 568–575.
- Ponomarev, E. D., L. P. Shriver, K. Maresz, J. Pedras-Vasconcelos, D. Verthelyi, and B. N. Dittel. 2007. GM-CSF production by autoreactive T cells is required for the activation of microglial cells and the onset of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J. Immunol. 178: 39–48.
- Awasthi, A., G. Murugaiyan, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2008. Interplay between effector Th17 and regulatory T cells. J. Clin. Immunol. 28: 660–670.
- Kohm, A. P., P. A. Carpentier, H. A. Anger, and S. D. Miller. 2002. Cutting edge: CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells suppress antigen-specific autoreactive immune responses and central nervous system inflammation during active experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Immunol.* 169: 4712–4716.
- McGeachy, M. J., L. A. Stephens, and S. M. Anderton. 2005. Natural recovery and protection from autoimmune encephalomyelitis: contribution of CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory cells within the central nervous system. J. Immunol. 175: 3025–3032.
- Coles, A. J., D. A. Compston, K. W. Selmaj, S. L. Lake, S. Moran, D. H. Margolin, K. Norris, and P. K. Tandon; CAMMS223 Trial Investigators. 2008. Alemtuzumab vs. interferon β-1a in early multiple sclerosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 359: 1786–1801.

- Miller, D. H., O. A. Khan, W. A. Sheremata, L. D. Blumhardt, G. P. Rice, M. A. Libonati, A. J. Willmer-Hulme, C. M. Dalton, K. A. Miszkiel, and P. W. O'Connor; International Natalizumab Multiple Sclerosis Trial Group. 2003. A controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N. Engl. 1 Med 348: 15–23
- Polman, C. H., P. W. O'Connor, E. Havrdova, M. Hutchinson, L. Kappos, D. H. Miller, J. T. Phillips, F. D. Lublin, G. Giovannoni, A. Wajgt, et al; AFFIRM Investigators. 2006. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 354: 899–910.
- Yednock, T. A., C. Cannon, L. C. Fritz, F. Sanchez-Madrid, L. Steinman, and N. Karin. 1992. Prevention of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by antibodies against α4β1 integrin. *Nature* 356: 63–66.
- Hohlfeld, R., and H. Wekerle. 2005. Drug insight: using monoclonal antibodies to treat multiple sclerosis. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Neurol.* 1: 34–44.
- Cohen, J. A., F. Barkhof, G. Comi, H. P. Hartung, B. O. Khatri, X. Montalban, J. Pelletier, R. Capra, P. Gallo, G. Izquierdo, et al; TRANSFORMS Study Group. 2010. Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 362: 402–415.
- Fujino, M., N. Funeshima, Y. Kitazawa, H. Kimura, H. Amemiya, S. Suzuki, and X. K. Li. 2003. Amelioration of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in Lewis rats by FTY20 treatment. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 305: 70–77.
- Howard, L. M., A. J. Miga, C. L. Vanderlugt, M. C. Dal Canto, J. D. Laman, R. J. Noelle, and S. D. Miller. 1999. Mechanisms of immunotherapeutic intervention by anti-CD40L (CD154) antibody in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. J. Clin. Invest. 103: 281–290.
- Kohm, A. P., J. S. Williams, A. L. Bickford, J. S. McMahon, L. Chatenoud, J. F. Bach, J. A. Bluestone, and S. D. Miller. 2005. Treatment with nonmitogenic anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody induces CD4⁺ T cell unresponsiveness and functional reversal of established experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Immunol.* 174: 4525–4534.
- Ochi, H., M. Abraham, H. Ishikawa, D. Frenkel, K. Yang, A. S. Basso, H. Wu, M. L. Chen, R. Gandhi, A. Miller, et al. 2006. Oral CD3-specific antibody suppresses autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inducing CD4⁺ CD25⁻ LAP⁺ T cells. *Nat. Med.* 12: 627–635.
- Perruche, S., P. Zhang, Y. Liu, P. Saas, J. A. Bluestone, and W. Chen. 2008. CD3-specific antibody-induced immune tolerance involves transforming growth factor-β from phagocytes digesting apoptotic T cells. *Nat. Med.* 14: 528–535.
- Herold, K. C., W. Hagopian, J. A. Auger, E. Poumian-Ruiz, L. Taylor, D. Donaldson, S. E. Gitelman, D. M. Harlan, D. Xu, R. A. Zivin, and J. A. Bluestone. 2002. Anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody in new-onset type 1 diabetes mellitus. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 346: 1692–1698.
- Keymeulen, B., E. Vandemeulebroucke, A. G. Ziegler, C. Mathieu, L. Kaufman, G. Hale, F. Gorus, M. Goldman, M. Walter, S. Candon, et al. 2005. Insulin needs after CD3-antibody therapy in new-onset type 1 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 352: 2598–2608.
- Utset, T. O., J. A. Auger, D. Peace, R. A. Zivin, D. Xu, L. Jolliffe, M. L. Alegre, J. A. Bluestone, and M. R. Clark. 2002. Modified anti-CD3 therapy in psoriatic arthritis: a phase I/II clinical trial. J. Rheumatol. 29: 1907–1913.
- Brostoff, S. W., and D. W. Mason. 1984. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: successful treatment in vivo with a monoclonal antibody that recognizes T helper cells. *J. Immunol.* 133: 1938–1942.
- Graca, L., A. Le Moine, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann. 2003. Antibodyinduced transplantation tolerance: the role of dominant regulation. *Immunol. Res.* 28: 181–191.
- Hutchings, P., L. O'Reilly, N. M. Parish, H. Waldmann, and A. Cooke. 1992. The use of a non-depleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody to re-establish tolerance to beta cells in NOD mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 22: 1913–1918.
- Mauri, C., C. Q. Chu, D. Woodrow, L. Mori, and M. Londei. 1997. Treatment of a newly established transgenic model of chronic arthritis with nondepleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody. *J. Immunol.* 159: 5032–5041.
- Rose, J. W., J. Foley, and N. Carlson. 2008. Monoclonal antibody treatments for multiple sclerosis. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep.* 8: 419–426.
 Chu, E. B., M. V. Hobbs, C. B. Wilson, C. G. Romball, P. S. Linsley, and
- Chu, E. B., M. V. Hobbs, C. B. Wilson, C. G. Romball, P. S. Linsley, and W. O. Weigle. 1996. Intervention of CD4⁺ cell subset shifts and autoimmunity in the BXSB mouse by murine CTLA4Ig. *J. Immunol.* 156: 1262–1268.
- Hutchings, P. R., A. Cooke, K. Dawe, H. Waldmann, and I. M. Roitt. 1993. Active suppression induced by anti-CD4. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 23: 965–968.
- Nabozny, G. H., S. P. Cobbold, H. Waldmann, and Y. C. Kong. 1991. Suppression in murine experimental autoimmune thyroiditis: in vivo inhibition of CD4⁺ T cell-mediated resistance by a nondepleting rat CD4 monoclonal antibody. *Cell. Immunol.* 138: 185–196.
- Rose, L. M., E. C. Alvord, Jr., S. Hruby, S. Jackevicius, R. Petersen, N. Warner, and E. A. Clark. 1987. In vivo administration of anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody prolongs survival in longtailed macaques with experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 45: 405–423.
- Sedgwick, J. D., and D. W. Mason. 1986. The mechanism of inhibition of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in the rat by monoclonal antibody against CD4. J. Neuroimmunol. 13: 217–232.
- Qin, S., S. P. Cobbold, H. Pope, J. Elliott, D. Kioussis, J. Davies, and H. Waldmann. 1993. "Infectious" transplantation tolerance. *Science* 259: 974–977.
- Graca, L., K. Honey, E. Adams, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann. 2000. Cutting edge: anti-CD154 therapeutic antibodies induce infectious transplantation tolerance. J. Immunol. 165: 4783–4786.
- 44. Biasi, G., A. Facchinetti, G. Monastra, S. Mezzalira, S. Sivieri, B. Tavolato, and P. Gallo. 1997. Protection from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE): non-depleting anti-CD4 mAb treatment induces peripheral T-cell tolerance to MBP in PL/J mice. J. Neuroimmunol. 73: 117–123.

- O'Neill, J. K., D. Baker, A. N. Davison, S. J. Allen, C. Butter, H. Waldmann, and J. L. Turk. 1993. Control of immune-mediated disease of the central nervous system with monoclonal (CD4-specific) antibodies. J. Neuroimmunol. 45: 1–14.
- Waldor, M. K., D. Mitchell, T. J. Kipps, L. A. Herzenberg, and L. Steinman. 1987. Importance of immunoglobulin isotype in therapy of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody. J. Immunol. 139: 3660–3664.
- van Oosten, B. W., M. Lai, F. Barkhof, D. H. Miller, I. F. Moseley, A. J. Thompson, S. Hodgkinson, and C. H. Polman. 1996. A phase II trial of anti-CD4 antibodies in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Mult. Scler.* 1: 339–342.
- 48. van Oosten, B. W., M. Lai, S. Hodgkinson, F. Barkhof, D. H. Miller, I. F. Moseley, A. J. Thompson, P. Rudge, A. McDougall, J. G. McLeod, et al. 1997. Treatment of multiple sclerosis with the monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody cM-T412: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, MR-monitored phase II trial. *Neurology* 49: 351–357.
- Lafaille, J. J., K. Nagashima, M. Katsuki, and S. Tonegawa. 1994. High incidence of spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis in immunodeficient anti-myelin basic protein T cell receptor transgenic mice. *Cell* 78: 399–408.
- Bettelli, E., M. Pagany, H. L. Weiner, C. Linington, R. A. Sobel, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2003. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-specific T cell receptor transgenic mice develop spontaneous autoimmune optic neuritis. J. Exp. Med. 197: 1073–1081.
- Olivares-Villagómez, D., Y. Wang, and J. J. Lafaille. 1998. Regulatory CD4⁺ T cells expressing endogenous T cell receptor chains protect myelin basic protein-specific transgenic mice from spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J. Exp. Med. 188: 1883–1894.
- Oliveira, V. G., M. Caridade, R. S. Paiva, J. Demengeot, and L. Graca. 2011. Sub-optimal CD4⁺ T-cell activation triggers autonomous TGF-β-dependent conversion to Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41: 1249–1255.
 Cardin, R. D., J. W. Brooks, S. R. Sarawar, and P. C. Dohertv. 1996. Progressive
- Cardin, R. D., J. W. Brooks, S. R. Sarawar, and P. C. Doherty. 1996. Progressive loss of CD8⁺ T cell-mediated control of a gamma-herpesvirus in the absence of CD4⁺ T cells. J. Exp. Med. 184: 863–871.
- Mars, L. T., L. Araujo, P. Kerschen, S. Diem, E. Bourgeois, L. P. Van, N. Carrié, M. Dy, R. S. Liblau, and A. Herbelin. 2009. Invariant NKT cells inhibit development of the Th17 lineage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 106: 6238–6243.
- 55. Krishnamoorthy, G., A. Saxena, L. T. Mars, H. S. Domingues, R. Mentele, A. Ben-Nun, H. Lassmann, K. Dornmair, F. C. Kurschus, R. S. Liblau, and H. Wekerle. 2009. Myelin-specific T cells also recognize neuronal autoantigen in a transgenic mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *Nat. Med.* 15: 626–632.

- Mucida, D., N. Kutchukhidze, A. Erazo, M. Russo, J. J. Lafaille, and M. A. Curotto de Lafaille. 2005. Oral tolerance in the absence of naturally occurring Tregs. J. Clin. Invest. 115: 1923–1933.
- Scheikl, T., B. Pignolet, L. T. Mars, and R. S. Liblau. 2010. Transgenic mouse models of multiple sclerosis. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 67: 4011–4034.
- Jones, J. L., and A. J. Coles. 2010. New treatment strategies in multiple sclerosis. *Exp. Neurol.* 225: 34–39.
- 59. Tran, G. T., N. Carter, X. Y. He, T. S. Spicer, K. M. Plain, M. Nicolls, B. M. Hall, and S. J. Hodgkinson. 2001. Reversal of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis with non-mitogenic, non-depleting anti-CD3 mAb therapy with a preferential effect on T_h1 cells that is augmented by IL-4. *Int. Immunol.* 13: 1109–1120.
- Qin, S. X., S. Cobbold, R. Benjamin, and H. Waldmann. 1989. Induction of classical transplantation tolerance in the adult. J. Exp. Med. 169: 779–794.
- Duarte, J., A. Agua-Doce, V. G. Oliveira, J. E. Forseca, and L. Graca. 2010. Modulation of IL-17 and Foxp3 expression in the prevention of autoimmune arthritis in mice. *PLoS ONE* 5: e10558.
- Agua-Doce, A., and L. Graca. 2011. Prevention of house dust mite induced allergic airways disease in mice through immune tolerance. *PLoS ONE* 6: e22320.
- Duarte, J., M. Caridade, and L. Graca. 2011. CD4 blockade can induce protection from peanut-induced anaphylaxis. *Front. Immunol.* 2: 56.
- Furtado, G. C., M. C. Marcondes, J. A. Latkowski, J. Tsai, A. Wensky, and J. J. Lafaille. 2008. Swift entry of myelin-specific Tlymphocytes into the central nervous system in spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Immunol.* 181: 4648–4655.
- Korn, T., J. Reddy, W. Gao, E. Bettelli, A. Awasthi, T. R. Petersen, B. T. Bäckström, R. A. Sobel, K. W. Wucherpfennig, T. B. Strom, et al. 2007. Myelin-specific regulatory T cells accumulate in the CNS but fail to control autoimmune inflammation. *Nat. Med.* 13: 423–431.
- Hori, S., M. Haury, J. J. Lafaille, J. Demengeot, and A. Coutinho. 2002. Peripheral expansion of thymus-derived regulatory cells in anti-myelin basic protein T cell receptor transgenic mice. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 32: 3729–3735.
- Van de Keere, F., and S. Tonegawa. 1998. CD4⁺ T cells prevent spontaneous experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in anti-myelin basic protein T cell receptor transgenic mice. J. Exp. Med. 188: 1875–1882.
- Graca, L., T. C. Chen, A. Le Moine, S. P. Cobbold, D. Howie, and H. Waldmann. 2005. Dominant tolerance: activation thresholds for peripheral generation of regulatory T cells. *Trends Immunol.* 26: 130–135.

1688

R&D Systems Travel Grants to IMMUNOLOGY2013[™]

\$1,000 travel grants will be awarded to 10 immunology researchers <u>R&D Systems Application Deadline: February 28th</u> Apply Now!





Regulation of the Germinal Center Reaction by Foxp3 ⁺ Follicular Regulatory T Cells

This information is current as of January 14, 2013.

Ivonne Wollenberg, Ana Agua-Doce, Andrea Hernández, Catarina Almeida, Vanessa G. Oliveira, Jose Faro and Luis Graca

J Immunol 2011; 187:4553-4560; Prepublished online 7 October 2011; doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101328 http://www.jimmunol.org/content/187/9/4553

Supplementary Material	http://www.jimmunol.org/content/suppl/2011/10/11/jimmunol.110132 8.DC1.html
References	This article cites 28 articles , 13 of which you can access for free at: http://www.jimmunol.org/content/187/9/4553.full#ref-list-1
Subscriptions	Information about subscribing to <i>The Journal of Immunology</i> is online at: http://jimmunol.org/subscriptions
Permissions	Submit copyright permission requests at: http://www.aai.org/ji/copyright.html
Email Alerts	Receive free email-alerts when new articles cite this article. Sign up at: http://jimmunol.org/cgi/alerts/etoc

The Journal of Immunology is published twice each month by The American Association of Immunologists, Inc., 9650 Rockville Pike, Bethesda, MD 20814-3994. Copyright © 2011 by The American Association of Immunologists, Inc. All rights reserved. Print ISSN: 0022-1767 Online ISSN: 1550-6606.



Regulation of the Germinal Center Reaction by Foxp3⁺ Follicular Regulatory T Cells

Ivonne Wollenberg,*^{,†} Ana Agua-Doce,^{*,†} Andrea Hernández,[‡] Catarina Almeida,^{*,†} Vanessa G. Oliveira,^{*,†} Jose Faro,^{†,‡,1} and Luis Graca^{*,†,1}

Follicular helper T (T_{FH}) cells participate in humoral responses providing selection signals to germinal center B cells. Recently, expression of CXCR5, PD-1, and the transcription factor Bcl-6 has allowed the identification of T_{FH} cells. We found that a proportion of follicular T cells, with phenotypic characteristics of T_{FH} cells and expressing Foxp3, are recruited during the course of a germinal center (GC) reaction. These Foxp3⁺ cells derive from natural regulatory T cells. To establish the in vivo physiologic importance of Foxp3⁺ follicular T cells, we used CXCR5-deficient Foxp3⁺ cells, which do not have access to the follicular region. Adoptive cell transfers of CXCR5-deficient Foxp3⁺ cells have shown that Foxp3⁺ follicular T cells are important regulators of the GC reaction following immunization with a thymus-dependent Ag. Our in vivo data show that Foxp3⁺ follicular T cells can limit the magnitude of the GC reaction and also the amount of secreted Ag-specific IgM, IgG1, IgG2b, and IgA. Therefore, Foxp3⁺ follicular regulatory T cells appear to combine characteristics of T_{FH} and regulatory T cells for the control of humoral immune responses. *The Journal of Immunology*, 2011, 187: 4553–4560.

G erminal centers (GCs) are temporary structures in secondary lymphoid organs in which Ag-specific B cells undergo extensive proliferation, class-switch recombination and somatic hypermutation (SHM), a unique process whereby they can acquire higher affinity for the Ag (1). Across several cell divisions, high-affinity GC cells are selected and differentiate eventually into either memory cells or long-lived plasma cells, providing the basis of a process called "affinity maturation of serum Abs". Long-term humoral immunity, as it is achieved in many prophylactic vaccines, is provided by those plasma cells and memory B cells and is a critical component to protect the body during subsequent infection (2).

In the last 15 y, an important body of information concerning the role of so-called follicular helper T (T_{FH}) cells in the GC reaction (GCR) has been obtained. This particular subpopulation of CD4⁺

The online version of this article contains supplemental material.

Copyright © 2011 by The American Association of Immunologists, Inc. 0022-1767/11/\$16.00

www.jimmunol.org/cgi/doi/10.4049/jimmunol.1101328

T cells is characterized by expressing high membrane levels of CXCR5 (the receptor of the follicular chemokine CXCL13, essential for follicular homing) and programmed death 1 [PD-1; a key molecule for B cell survival and selection, presumably through interaction with PD-ligand 2 (3)] and high levels of the transcription factor Bcl-6 (4, 5). Productive interactions between GC B cells and T_{EH} cells are mediated by cognate interactions through TCR and MHC class II-peptide interactions, CD40-CD40L, and ICOS-ICOS ligand (6). When CD40-CD40L interactions are prevented, the ongoing GCR stops and GCs dissolve within 24 h (6). Mice that are deficient in ICOS or ICOS ligand also have impaired GC formation and isotype switching (7). Triggering of the SHM process in GC B cells is also dependent on CD40-CD40L interactions (8). Immunized mice that lack T_{FH} cells show reduced numbers of germinal center B cells, as well as a reduction of Ag specific Ab (4). Besides direct B-T_{FH} contact, T_{FH} cells also contribute to the GCR through soluble mediators like IL-4 and IL-21 (9, 10). A recent report claimed distinct subpopulations of blood CXCR5⁺ T cells can be found in humans producing cytokines characteristic of Th1, Th2, and Th17 responses (11).

Deregulation of proliferation, mutation, and differentiation in GCs can lead to detrimental outcomes, including oncogenesis and immunodeficiency (12, 13). Moreover, it has been shown that mutant B cells with self-specificity can be supported in GCs and contribute to autoimmunity (14). Therefore, regulation of the quality and quantity of plasma cells and memory B cell populations in GCs is important to prevent immunopathology.

How this regulation is achieved remains poorly understood. A potential mechanism for this could be the presence within the polyclonal follicular T cell population in GCs of some regulatory T cells with specificity for ubiquitous self-antigens. In agreement with that, theoretical modeling points to processes related to T cell proliferation as being the dominant steps in the GC dynamics (15). We thus propose the hypothesis that there are regulatory mechanisms affecting Ag-specific T_{FH} cells to prevent overly intense GCRs and/or production of autoantibodies. A possible basis for

^{*}Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Lisboa, P1649-028 Lisbon, Portugal; 'Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciencia, 2781-901 Oeiras, Portugal; and *Departamento de Bioquimica, Xenética, e Inmunoloxía, Universidade de Vigo, 36310 Vigo, Spain

¹J.F. and L.G. are joint senior authors.

Received for publication May 6, 2011. Accepted for publication August 22, 2011.

This work was supported by Sudoe Grant Immunonet-SOE1/1P1/E014 and Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (Portugal) Grant PTDC/SAU-IMU/120225/2010 (to L.G.), Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación (Spain) Grants SAF2007-63152 and HP2008-0018 (to J.F.), and People International Research Staff Exchange Scheme Grant GA-2008-230665 (7th Framework Program, European Union) (to J.F.).

I.W., A.A.-D., A.H., C.A., and V.G.O. performed the experiments; I.W., A.A.-D., A.H., C.A., J.F., and L.G. analyzed the results; I.W. made the figures; and I.W., J.F., and L.G. designed the research and wrote the article.

Address correspondence and reprint requests to Dr. Luis Graca or Dr. Jose Faro, Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade Medicina de Lisboa, Avenue Professor Egas Moniz, P1649-028 Lisbon, Portugal (L.G.) or Departamento de Bioquimica, Xenética, e Inmunoloxía, Universidade de Vigo, Edificio de Ciencias Experimentáis, Campus As Lagoas-Marcosende, 36310 Vigo, Spain (J.F.). E-mail addresses: Igraca@fm.ul.pt (L.G.) and Jfaro@uvigo.es (J.F.)

Abbreviations used in this article: GC, germinal center; GCR, germinal center reaction; LN, lymph node; NA, numerical aperture; PD-1, programmed death 1; PNA, peanut agglutinin; T_{FH} , follicular helper T; T_{FFG} , follicular regulatory T cell; Treg, regulatory T cell.

some of the required GC regulation would be the involvement of Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells (Tregs) during the GCR.

Currently, little is known about Tregs in connection with GCs. Some Tregs are known to express high levels of CXCR5 and to display positive chemotaxis toward a CXCL13 gradient in vitro (16). Furthermore, CD25⁺ T cells (presumably Tregs) were already shown to be present in the GCs of human tonsils and to suppress in vitro T cell activation and Ig production by B cells (16). In contrast, it was shown that within Peyer patches, Tregs can originate T_{FH} cells (17).

In this report, we show that in murine lymph nodes Tregs participate in the GCR, contributing to both the dynamics and the amplitude of the GCR. In addition, we show that those follicular Tregs have an effect on Ab production during a T-dependent immune response.

Materials and Methods

Mice and immunization

BALB/c, C57BL/6, CXCR5^{-/-}, OT2.Rag2^{-/-} mice (TCR transgenic, OVA-specific), Foxp3^{gfp} knock-in mice (generously provided by A.Y. Rudensky, Howard Hughes Medical Institute and Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY), and TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice (B6;129S2-*Tcra*^{im1Mom}/J, backcrossed to C57BL/6 background, from S. Tonegawa, RIKEN-MIT Center for Neural Circuit Genetics and RIKEN Brain Science Institute, Cambridge, MA) were maintained in specific pathogen-free facilities. Procedures were conducted in accordance with guidelines from the Animal User and Institutional Ethical Committees.

Unless otherwise stated in the text, animals were immunized i.p. with 20 µg OVA (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) previously run through a DetoxyGel column (Pierce, Rockford, IL) in 2 mg endotoxin-free aluminum hydroxide (alum; Alu-gel-S; Serva, Heidelberg, Germany).

Adoptive transfer

For adoptive cell transfers, single-cell suspensions from a pool of spleen and LNs were sorted based on expression of CD4, CXCR5, PD-1, CD25, and GFP (cells from $Foxp3^{gfp}$ reporter mice) in a FACSAria (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ), with doublet exclusion in all experiments. Unless stated otherwise in the text, 1×10^4 cells of the indicated cell population

were injected intravenously into TCR- $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice. In all transfer experiments, mice were immunized with OVA-alum 1 d after adoptive transfer.

Flow cytometry

Single-cell suspensions of draining LNs were analyzed by flow cytometry using mAb targeting: PD-1 (J43), CD4 (L3T4), Thy1.2 (53-2.1), Foxp3 (FJK-16s), Bcl6 (GI191E), GITR (DTA-1), CD103 (2E7), CD69 (H1.2F3), CD25 (all from eBioscience), and anti-CXCR5 (2G8) and anti-Rat IgG2a (R35-95) (BD Bioscience, San Diego, CA). Foxp3 staining was performed using the Foxp3 Staining Set (eBioscience) following the manufacturer's instructions.

In vitro conversion

Sorted populations of 5×10^4 CD4 T cells were incubated for 3 d with 3 µg/ml plate-bound anti-CD3 (145-2C11; eBiosciences), 2 µg/ml soluble anti-CD28 (eBiosciences), and 5 ng/ml TGF- β (R&D Systems).

Suppression assay

Sorted populations of Foxp3^{gfp+} T cells were cocultured in Terasaki plates (Greiner, Frickenhausen, Germany) with γ -irradiated APCs, and Foxp3^{gfp-} effector cells (1:3:1 ratio). Cultures were supplemented with 2.5 µg/ml soluble anti-CD3 for 3 d, with the addition of 1 µCi ³H-thymidine (Amersham, Sunnyvale, CA) in the last 12 h.

Confocal microscopy

Cryosections fixed in acetone (20 µm; Sigma) and vibratome sections from PFA-fixed tissue (50 µm; Sigma) were obtained from draining LNs. For Foxp3 staining sections were permeabilized with the Fix/Perm buffer from the Foxp3 staining Set (eBioscience). Samples were stained with the following primary Abs: rabbit anti-CD3, anti-Ki67, anti-GFP, anti-OVA; and rat anti-CD3 (Abcam), anti-IgM-TxRd (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL), anti-KJ-FITC (Caltag, Carlsbad, CA), anti-CD4-alexa647 (Serotech), peanut agglutinin (PNA)-FITC and PNA-bio (Vector, Burlingame, CA). We used the following as secondary Abs: anti-FITC-alexa488, anti-rabbit Igalexa488, anti-rabbit Ig-alexa647, anti-rat Ig-alexa633 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA); and avidin-rhodamine (Vector) and streptavidin-DyLight488 from ThermoScientific (Rockford, IL). Images were acquired using an LSM710 confocal microscope (Zeiss, Jena, Germany) equipped with a ×5 (0.16 numerical aperture [NA]; Zeiss), ×10 (0.30 NA; Zeiss), ×20 (0.80 NA; Zeiss) and a ×40 (1.30 NA; Zeiss) objective. Image analysis was performed using the LSM image browser.



FIGURE 1. Kinetics of GCR and GC T cells. BALB/c mice were immunized with 20 μ g OVA-alum i.p. and sacrificed at the indicated time points, when cryosections of mesenteric lymph nodes were analyzed to follow the GCR. *A*, Average GC volume. GCs were identified by PNA staining and quantified by confocal microscopy. The volume (in cubic micrometers) was calculated from the Z-stack, multiplying the area by the depth of the GC. *B*, Representative stainings from nonimmunized mice, and mice sacrificed on days 4, 12, and 16 after immunization. Scale bar, 500 μ m. *C*, Total number of T cells, and (*D*) density of GC T cells during a GCR as analyzed by confocal microscopy. GC T cells were identified as CD3⁺ cells within the PNA area. *E*, Representative staining from an LN on day 12 after immunization. Data are representative of two independent experiments. Scale bar, 50 μ m. ***p < 0.001 (Mann-Whitney nonparametric, two-tailed test).

Quantification of GC volume

The area of the ellipse circumscribing the GC was measured by the LSM image browser software. The volume was then calculated from the Z-stack, multiplying the area by the depth of the GC, and represented in cubic micrometers (i.e., a volume of $100,000 \ \mu\text{m}^3$ is obtained in a structure of $100 \times 100 \ \mu\text{m}$ and with a depth of $10 \ \mu\text{m}$).

ELISA assay

Isotype-specific Ab titers in the serum were determined by ELISA on 96well plates (BD Falcon) coated with 50 μ g OVA (grade V; Sigma) in carbonate buffer (pH = 9.6) plus N₃Na 0.01%. Nonspecific binding was blocked with 1% BSA (AMRESCO, Solon, OH) in PBS plus Tween-20 0.05%. Sera were diluted 1:50 or 1:100 in PBST, and 3-fold serial dilutions of serum samples were incubated. Negative controls (normal mouse serum diluted 1:100) were included in all assays. The plates were washed, and 50 μ l isotype-specific goat anti-mouse-HRP conjugates (Southern Biotech) was added. ELISAs were developed with ABTS (2,2'-azinobis [3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid]-diammonium salt) substrate (Sigma-Aldrich). The OD at 405 nm was determined after 4, 5, and 6 min with an automatic ELISA plate reader (Envision Multilabel Reader 2104, Perkin Elmer) and the highest values were recorded.

Statistical analysis

Statistical significance was determined using the two-tailed nonparametric Mann–Whitney U test, and p < 0.05 was deemed significant (in the figures, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001).

Results

Codevelopment of the GCR and GC T cells

To analyze GC T cells, BALB/c mice were immunized with OVA to trigger a GCR and sacrificed at days 0, 4, 12, and 16 to evaluate the initiation, peak, and decline of the GCR. Mesenteric LNs were



FIGURE 2. Foxp3⁺ T cells can be found within the GC and represent a subpopulation of follicular T cells. BALB/c mice were immunized with 20 μ g OVA-alum i.p. and sacrificed at the indicated time points. *A*, Cryosections of LN were stained with PNA and anti-Foxp3 to identify Foxp3⁺ cells within the GC. Scale bar, 20 μ m. *B*, The density of Foxp3⁺ T cells within the GC during the course of a GCR was quantified by confocal microscopy. The density corresponds to the total number of Foxp3⁺ T cells within the PNA⁺ area divided by the measured GC volume. *C*, CD4⁺ lymphocytes from LNs of mice immunized with OVA-alum 12 d before were studied by flow cytometry. T_{FH} cells were defined as being CXCR5⁺PD1⁺ as defined by the represented gate. The conventional extrafollicular T cells (non-T_{FH}) were defined as the CXCR5⁻PD-1⁻ cells. T_{FH} cells had higher expression of Bcl-6 (*top right*). When we studied the T cells within the T_{FH} gate (*middle row*) and non-T_{FH} gate (*bottom row*), we found that both populations had a proportion of cells expressing Foxp3. We compared the expression of the indicated molecules within the Foxp3⁺ and Foxp3⁻ populations of T_{FH} and non-T_{FH} cells. *D*, Follicular Foxp3⁺ T cells (CD4⁺CXCR5⁺PD1⁺Foxp3⁺) and nonfollicular conventional Tregs (CD4⁺CXCR5⁻PD-1⁻Foxp3⁺) were sorted from the spleen and LNs of Foxp3^{efp} reporter mice. Tregs (2 × 10³) were cocultured in triplicate with γ -irradiated APCs and Foxp3^{efp} effector cells (1:3:1 ratio). Cultures were supplemented with 2.5 μ g/ml soluble anti-CD3 Ab for 3 d, and ³H-thymidine was added in the last 12 h. Data are representative of two independent experiments. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 (Mann–Whitey nonparametric, two-tailed test).

collected, and 20- μ m sections were stained with PNA and anti-CD3 to identify GCs and T cells. After immunization, the GCR peaked at ~day 12 or a few days before, as measured by the average GC volume using confocal microscopy (Fig. 1A, 1B).

The quantification of total T cells within the GCs revealed that the kinetics of T cell numbers parallels that of the global GCR (Fig. 1*C*). However, we calculated the density of T cells within the GC (i.e., number of T cells per unit of GC volume) because GC volume increases during GCR. We found that the T cell density was highest at day 4 after immunization (Fig. 1*D*), although the real peak is probably a few days later.

Follicular T cells contain a Foxp3⁺ subset of suppressor cells

Given the observed changes in the density of T cells within the GC during a GCR, we investigated the putative presence of an active regulatory mechanism. Although Tregs were previously observed in germinal centers (16, 18), the precise nature of follicular Tregs, their relationship with extrafollicular counterparts, and their in vivo functional significance has remained unknown. We therefore investigated whether follicular Tregs represent a significant subpopulation of the T cells found in the GC.

As illustrated in Fig. 2A, $Foxp3^+$ cells were readily detectable in the GCs of mesenteric LNs. Interestingly, we found that the density of $Foxp3^+$ T cells peaked at day 12 after immunization (Fig. 2B), at the time when the density of T cells was reduced (Fig. 1D) and the contraction phase of the GCs was initiated. We confirmed these data using $Foxp3^{gfp}$ knock-in mice (in which Foxp3 and GFP are fused together), showing a perfect overlap of Foxp3 staining and GFP expression (Supplemental Fig. 1A). By analyzing nonconsecutive sections from the same LN, we also established the reliability of the quantitative approach that we used (Supplemental Fig. 1B). To further characterize the GC Foxp3⁺ cells that we observed by confocal microscopy, we analyzed follicular T cells of mesenteric LNs by flow cytometry. We confirmed the existence of a Foxp3⁺ subpopulation within follicular T cells (Fig. 2*C*). We found that follicular Foxp3⁺ T cells share several markers with conventional Tregs, such as high levels of CD25, GITR, or CD103, but also retain the expression of molecules characteristic of T_{FH} cells, such as CXCR5 and PD-1, and the lineage-specific transcription factor Bcl-6 (Fig. 2*C*). Furthermore, we found that FACS-sorted follicular Foxp3⁺ T cells (sorted based on CD4, PD-1, CXCR5, and Foxp3^{ffp} expression) had similar immune suppressive potential as nonfollicular Foxp3⁺ T cells (Fig. 2*D*).

As a result, $Foxp3^+$ T cells found in GCs and B cell follicles appear to represent a subpopulation of follicular T cells, bearing a distinctive phenotype from the extrafollicular conventional Tregs. Importantly, Bcl-6 was recently identified as the master transcription factor for the T_{FH} lineage, by turning on a widespread gene repressor program acting on key transcriptional regulators of other Th cell lineages, namely Tbet (Th1) and RORyt (Th17), as well as a large number of miRNAs (4, 5, 19). It is important to note, however, that a repressive function toward the Treg lineage, or its key regulator Foxp3, was not found.

Increased density of $Foxp3^+$ GC T cells correlates with their increased proliferation as the GCR develops

We next assessed the proliferative behavior of GC Foxp3⁺ T cells by quantifying the number of cells positive for the proliferation marker Ki67. As shown in Fig. 3, the frequency of proliferating (Ki67⁺) Foxp3⁺ cells within the GC is greater than the frequency of proliferating Foxp3⁺ cells outside the GC. In addition, there is a significant increase of proliferation at day 12 after immunization—a time that, as discussed above, correlates with an increase



FIGURE 3. Kinetics of proliferation of T cells and Foxp3⁺ T cells during the GCR. BALB/c mice were immunized with OVA-alum as described in the text. The frequency of proliferating T cells was quantified by confocal microscopy based on Ki67 expression. *A*, Proliferating GC Foxp3⁺ cells and GC T cells were identified as Ki67⁺Foxp3⁺ cells and Ki67⁺CD3⁺ cells, respectively, within the PNA area and are depicted as a percentage of the total Foxp3⁺ or total CD3⁺ cells identified in the GC. *B*, A similar analysis was performed for T cells outside the GC. *C*, Representative stainings of the proliferation of GC T cells. Yellow arrows point to Ki67⁺Foxp3⁺ cells, white arrows to Ki67⁺Foxp3⁺ cells. Data are representative of two independent experiments. Scale bars, 20 μ m (*insets*, 10 μ m). *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 (Mann–Whitney nonparametric, two-tailed test).

in the frequency of $Foxp3^+$ cells within the GC. It is noteworthy that at day 4 after immunization, the proliferation of $Foxp3^+$ cells increases significantly outside the GC. On the contrary, the frequency of proliferating cells within total GC T cells does not change during the GCR.

Foxp3⁺ GC T cells regulate the magnitude of GCR

After observing an increased frequency of Foxp3⁺ GC T cells at day 12 after immunization, we assessed the functional significance of such cells for the regulation of GCR. For this purpose we used TCR- $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice, which lack α/β T cells and Tregs, and reconstituted those mice with OVA-specific CD4 T cells from OT2. Rag2^{-/-} mice (that also lack Foxp3⁺ T cells). The OT2 cells were transferred alone or with sorted Tregs. We took advantage of Foxp3^{gfp+} knock-in reporter mice to isolate a population of Foxp3^{gfp+} Tregs by flow cytometry. The recipient mice were immunized with OVA, and GCR was followed at different time points. We studied GC resolution at day 20, instead of day 16, to have better discrimination concerning a putative impact on the serum titer of switched Igs.

Because $TCR\alpha^{-\prime-}$ mice are known to show an impaired ability to develop GCs owing to their lack of α/β T cells (20), we first wanted to ensure that $TCR\alpha^{-/-}$ mice could develop GCs after adoptive cell transfer of Ag-specific cells. Lymph node sections from TCR- $\alpha^{-\prime-}$ mice transferred with OT2 cells (CD4+ T cells from OT2.Rag2^{-/-} mice) and immunized with OVA-alum were analyzed for the presence of GCs by staining with PNA and anti-IgM. This study revealed the ability of OT2 cells to mount a GCR (Fig. 4A), with kinetics having a relatively high magnitude (Fig. 4B). However, cotransfer of $Foxp3^+$ Tregs together with OT2 cells, significantly reduced the magnitude of the GCR (Fig. 4B). Consistent with this finding, we also found that the adoptive transfer of Foxp3⁺ Tregs had an effect on Ab production, leading to lower serum titers of secreted OVA-specific IgG1, IgM, IgG2b, and IgA (Fig. 4C). The Ab titres were reduced approximately 1 log by day 20, but with mice transferred with Tregs still showing lower serum titres (Fig. 4D).

However, given the known ability of Foxp3⁺ Tregs to suppress T cells responses, it was possible that the observed regulation was acting on the generation of helper T cells during their early stage of activation taking place in the T zone of the LN, and not within the GC. To address this issue we took advantage of CXCR5^{-/-} mice. These mice provided the tool to discriminate between the in vivo physiologic effects of Tregs within and outside the follicle, because Tregs from $CXCR5^{-/-}$ mice have a function similar to wild type Tregs but cannot enter the follicle. Therefore, we repeated the experiment performing an adoptive transfer of OT2 cells into TCR- $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice. Flow cytometry-sorted CD4⁺ $\text{CD25}^{\text{bright}}$ T cells (that we confirmed were predominantly Foxp3⁺) from Foxp3^{gfp} or CXCR5^{-/-} mice were transferred with the OT2 cells. As anticipated, Tregs from CXCR5^{-/-} mice could not be found within the GC, while the effector OT2 cells could still be found in the GC (Fig. 4E, 4F). Moreover, the ratio of effector to regulatory cells observed in the GC of TCR- $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice transferred with T cells was similar to that in wild type conditions (Fig. 4E, 4F), although with a smaller number of cells. The ratio of follicular Tregs to T effector cells is not too different from the ratio observed within conventional extrafollicular populations (i.e., $\sim 10\%$). Remarkably, we were able to show the physiologic role of follicular Foxp3⁺ T cells, because we found that adoptively transferred CXCR5^{-/-} Tregs could not reproduce the phenotype observed with wild type Tregs (Fig. 4G). Only mice transferred with Tregs able to express CXCR5 had detectable Tregs within the GC (Fig. 4*H*), whereas both groups of mice had transferred Tregs in locations outside the follicle.

To address whether follicular Foxp3⁺ T cells derive from nonfollicular precursors, we repeated the adoptive cell transfer described above, but now using nonfollicular (PD-1⁻CXCR5⁻) Tregs sorted from wild type or CXCR5^{-/-} mice. We found that at day 12 after immunization, mice transferred with Tregs from CXCR5^{-/-} donors had greater GCs (Fig. 4/). Furthermore, mice transferred with Tregs deficient in CXCR5 had greater titres of serum Igs (Fig. 4*J*). It should be noted, however, that this defect in regulation of isotype switch and Ab production by CXCR5^{-/-} Tregs was not complete, probably representing a degree of extrafollicular regulation and possibly affecting the availability of T_{FH} cells within the follicel.

Considering these results, it appears that CXCR5 expression by Treg cells is essential to endow them with the ability to control the GCR. As a result, we propose naming this $Foxp3^+$ T cell subset from GCs that express PD-1, CXCR5, and Bcl-6, as regulatory follicular T cells (T_Fregs).

Follicular Foxp3⁺ T cells derive from conventional Treg cells

We then investigated whether $Foxp3^+$ follicular T cells derive from conventional T cells or from natural Tregs that acquire a follicular phenotype. We confirmed, as anticipated, that the thymus does not contain a population of $Foxp3^+$ T cells with follicular characteristics (Fig. 5A), indicating that the follicular $Foxp3^+$ T cells acquire their phenotype in the periphery.

To establish the origin of follicular Foxp3⁺ cells, we adoptively transferred sorted T_{FH} or conventional CD25⁻CD4⁺ T cells from wild type mice, together with PD-1⁻CXCR5⁻Foxp3^{gfp+} natural Tregs into $TCR\alpha^{-\prime-}$ mice, that were subsequently immunized with OVA-alum. Because adoptive transfer of a CD4 population devoid of Tregs leads to inflammatory bowel disease (21), control mice that did not receive Tregs were transferred with OT2 cells, as these TCR-transgenic T cells do not lead to autoimmunity in the absence of Tregs. We found in both cases that the majority of follicular Foxp3⁺ T cells recovered from the TCR- $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice had derived from the transferred Treg population, where GFP was expressed together with Foxp3 (Fig. 5B-D). Intriguingly, that fraction was larger when TFH cells were transferred together with $Foxp3^{gfp+}$ Tregs, suggesting a role for $T_{\rm FH}$ cells in recruiting Foxp3⁺ follicular T cells, perhaps by promoting their proliferation. This issue remains to be further investigated.

Furthermore, we sorted T_{FH} and conventional CD4 T cells that were stimulated in vitro with plate-bound anti-CD3 in the presence of anti-CD28 and TGF- β —conditions that are known to induce Foxp3 expression (22, 23). We found that T_{FH} cells are resistant to conversion toward a Foxp3⁺ phenotype (Fig. 5*E*).

These data suggest that T_{F} regs derive predominantly from natural Tregs, whereas T_{FH} cells are not amenable to TGF- β -dependent conversion into Foxp3⁺ regulatory cells.

Discussion

Owing to the absence of experimental data, there are various mathematical models attempting to explain the regulation and termination of the GCR. One hypothesis suggests an increasing impairment of the engagement of B cell receptors and Ag through either Ag consumption (24) or Ag masking (25). Both of these concepts assume that GC termination is regulated by the amount of Ag presented within the GC by follicular dendritic cells. Another hypothesis suggests GC termination is caused by increased differentiation of GC B cells toward memory and plasma cells because of signals from follicular dendritic cells (15). A third


FIGURE 4. Follicular Foxp3⁺ T cells regulate the magnitude of GCR in vivo. *A*, $TCR\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were adoptively transferred with 10⁴ OVA-specific T cells from OT2.Rag2^{-/-} mice. Some mice also received an equal number of Foxp3^{gfp+} T cells. All mice were immunized with OVA-alum. The micrographs show GCs in mice that did not receive Foxp3⁺ T cells at day 12 after immunization. Scale bars, 200 µm (*left*), 50 µm (*right*). *B*, Quantification of the GC volume from LNs of mice immunized with OVA-alum in the presence or absence of adoptively transferred Foxp3⁺ T cells. GCs were identified as a PNA⁺ region within the follicle marked by IgM. *C* and *D*, Serum titres of OVA-specific Igs of different classes were determined by ELISA at different times after immunization. In the absence of Tregs, the mice produced significantly higher levels of IgM, IgG1, IgG2b, and IgA. *E*, Quantification of total CD4⁺ T cells and (*F*) Foxp3⁺ Treg cells within GCs showing that, following adoptive cell transfers of defined T cell populations into T cell-deficient mice, athrough their ratio was roughly maintained. *G*, TCR- $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were adoptively transferred with OVA-alum as (*Figure legend continues*)



FIGURE 5. Follicular Foxp3⁺ T cells originate from conventional Treg cells. *A*, Among CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ thymocytes, we could not find cells expressing CXCR5 and PD1. *B*, TCR- $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were adoptively transferred with equal numbers of PD-1⁻CXCR5⁻ Foxp3⁺ Tregs sorted from Foxp3^{gfp} knock-in mice and CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells (T_{FH}: PD-1⁺CXCR5⁺ or CD4: PD-1⁻CXCR5⁻) from B6 mice. Control mice were transferred with Foxp3⁻ OT2 cells alone. All mice were immunized with OVA-alum. The dot plots represent follicular CD4⁺ T cells, gated in the PD-1⁺CXCR5⁺ region, analyzed for Foxp3 and GFP expression. Representative data are from four mice per group. *C*, The majority of Foxp3⁺ cells are also GFP⁺, indicating that they are derived from adoptively transferred Tregs (from Foxp3^{gfp} mice). *n* = 4; **p* < 0.01, (Mann–Whitney nonparametric, two-tailed test). *D*, Micrograph showing Foxp3⁺ T cells in the GC of adoptively transferred mice (white arrows). Scale bar, 50 µm (*left*), 20 µm (*right*). *E*, Foxp3^{gfp-T} T_{FH} (sorted as CD4⁺PD-1⁺CXCR5⁺) and non-T_{FH} cells (sorted as CD4⁺PD-1⁻CXCR5⁻) were cultured for 3 d with plate-bound anti-CD3 in the presence or absence of 5 ng/m1 TGF- β . The frequency of cells converted into Foxp3⁺ was analyzed at the end of the culture (*n* = 3, representative of two independent experiments).

hypothesis proposes that signaling from T cells is the responsible for GC termination (15). After observing an increase in $T_{\rm F}$ reg numbers in the GC toward the end of the GCR, we suggest a wider scenario whereby this cell population has a role in controlling the magnitude and duration of the GCR.

The lack of Tregs in our transfer system profoundly modified the outcome of the GCR, as those mice showed larger GCs at day 12, and greater production of different classes of 1g than in the presence of Tregs. Moreover, using Tregs isolated from CXCR5^{-/-} mice, we created a system with Tregs that are unable to gain access to GC follicles. As a result, the data showed that it is specifically the T_Fregs that control the GCR. Although our data do not prove unequivocally a role for T_Fregs in the termination of the GCR, they clearly show that T_Fregs affect the magnitude of this reaction from midterm on. To date, it is not clear whether this regulation operates by controlling effector T_{FH} cells (16), and by that indirectly affecting GC B cells, or if that regulation acts directly on GC B cells or on both T_{FH} and B cells (18).

A second outstanding question concerns the origin of T_F regs. We could not detect Foxp3⁺ cells with a T_{FH} -like phenotype in the thymus. Furthermore, when we transferred OT2 cells into TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice, we could not find in vivo conversion of those Foxp3⁻ cells into T_F regs. When we transferred natural Tregs together with CD4 T cells, some of the natural Tregs (the only ones expressing Foxp3^{grip} in those mice) acquired access to the follicles and phenotypic follicular characteristics. Therefore, we believe it is likely that, in the same way that natural Tregs can originate T_{FH} cells in the PP (17), some natural Tregs can also differentiate toward a T_F reg phenotype in LNs and the spleen. This suggestion has important implications for understanding how the dynamics of T and B cells within GCs is controlled.

GC deregulation or malfunctions are linked to the onset of severe diseases, as cancer and autoimmunity (26). Our data show that follicular T cells include a new regulatory subpopulation, which by controlling the GCR may ultimately have an effect on preventing such pathologies.

described in *A*. The GC volume was quantified as detailed in the text. Data are representative of two independent experiments. *H*, Representative micrographs showing that it was possible to identify Foxp3^{gfp+} T cells within day 12 GCs of mice adoptively transferred with Tregs, but not in mice transferred with CXCR5^{-/-} Tregs, where Tregs remained outside the follicle. Scale bars, 100 µm (*top row*), 20 µm (*bottom two rows*). *I*, TCR- $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice were adoptively transferred with OT2 cells together with nonfollicular (CXCR5⁻PD-1⁻) Tregs sorted from wild type or CXCR5^{-/-} mice and immunized with OVA-alum as described in *A*. The GC volume was quantified at day 12 as detailed in the text. *J*, Serum titers of OVA-specific Igs of different classes were determined by ELISA at day 12 after immunization. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 (Mann–Whitney nonparametric, two-tailed test). n.d., not detected.

Note added in proof. While our manuscript was being reviewed, two publications have reported the identification of follicular Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells and their functional significance in regulating GCR (27, 28). Those reports complement the findings described in this study.

Acknowledgments

We thank David Martins for assistance with image processing and Elodie Mohr and Afonso Almeida for helpful suggestions.

Disclosures

The authors have no financial conflicts of interest.

References

- Berek, C., A. Berger, and M. Apel. 1991. Maturation of the immune response in germinal centers. *Cell* 67: 1121–1129.
- Radbruch, A., G. Muchlinghaus, E. O. Luger, A. Inamine, K. G. Smith, T. Dörner, and F. Hiepe. 2006. Competence and competition: the challenge of becoming a long-lived plasma cell. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 6: 741–750.
- Good-Jacobson, K. L., C. G. Szumilas, L. Chen, A. H. Sharpe, M. M. Tomayko, and M. J. Shlomchik. 2010. PD-1 regulates germinal center B cell survival and the formation and affinity of long-lived plasma cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 11: 535– 542.
- Nurieva, R. I., Y. Chung, G. J. Martinez, X. O. Yang, S. Tanaka, T. D. Matskevitch, Y. H. Wang, and C. Dong. 2009. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. *Science* 325: 1001–1005.
 Johnston, R. J., A. C. Poholek, D. Di'Toro, I. Yusuf, D. Eto, B. Barnett,
- Johnston, R. J., A. C. Poholek, D. DiToro, I. Yusuf, D. Eto, B. Barnett, A. L. Dent, J. Craft, and S. Crotty. 2009. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Science* 325: 1006–1010.
- Kelsoe, G. 1995. In situ studies of the germinal center reaction. Adv. Immunol. 60: 267–288.
- Dong, C., U. A. Temann, and R. A. Flavell. 2001. Cutting edge: critical role of inducible costimulator in germinal center reactions. J. Immunol. 166: 3659– 3662.
- Bergthorsdottir, S., A. Gallagher, S. Jainandunsing, D. Cockayne, J. Sutton, T. Leanderson, and D. Gray. 2001. Signals that initiate somatic hypermutation of B cells in vitro. *J. Immunol.* 166: 2228–2234.
- Reinhardt, R. L., H. E. Liang, and R. M. Locksley. 2009. Cytokine-secreting follicular T cells shape the antibody repertoire. *Nat. Immunol.* 10: 385–393.
- Ozaki, K., R. Spolski, C. G. Feng, C. F. Qi, J. Cheng, A. Sher, H. C. Morse, III, C. Liu, P. L. Schwartzberg, and W. J. Leonard. 2002. A critical role for IL-21 in regulating immunoglobulin production. *Science* 298: 1630–1634.
- Morita, R., N. Schmitt, S. E. Bentebibel, R. Ranganathan, L. Bourdery, G. Zurawski, E. Foucat, M. Dullaers, S. Oh, N. Sabzghabaei, et al. 2011. Human blood CXCR5(+)CD4(+) T cells are counterparts of T follicular cells and contain specific subsets that differentially support antibody secretion. *Immunity* 34: 108– 121.

- Linterman, M. A., R. J. Rigby, R. K. Wong, D. Yu, R. Brink, J. L. Cannons, P. L. Schwartzberg, M. C. Cook, G. D. Walters, and C. G. Vinuesa. 2009. Follicular helper T cells are required for systemic autoimmunity. *J. Exp. Med.* 206: 561–576.
- Crotty, S. 2011. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (TFH). Annu. Rev. Immunol. 29: 621–663.
- Sims, G. P., H. Shiono, N. Willcox, and D. I. Stott. 2001. Somatic hypermutation and selection of B cells in thymic germinal centers responding to acetylcholine receptor in myasthenia gravis. J. Immunol. 167: 1935–1944.
- Moreira, J. S., and J. Faro. 2006. Modelling two possible mechanisms for the regulation of the germinal center dynamics. J. Immunol. 177: 3705–3710.
- Lim, H. W., P. Hillsamer, and C. H. Kim. 2004. Regulatory T cells can migrate to follicles upon T cell activation and suppress GC-Th cells and GC-Th cell-driven B cell responses. J. Clin. Invest. 114: 1640–1649.
- Tsuji, M., N. Komatsu, S. Kawamoto, K. Suzuki, O. Kanagawa, T. Honjo, S. Hori, and S. Fagarasan. 2009. Preferential generation of follicular B helper T cells from Foxp3+ T cells in gut Peyer's patches. *Science* 323: 1488–1492.
- Lim, H. W., P. Hillsamer, A. H. Banham, and C. H. Kim. 2005. Cutting edge: direct suppression of B cells by CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J. Immunol.* 175: 4180–4183.
- Yu, D., S. Rao, L. M. Tsai, S. K. Lee, Y. He, E. L. Sutcliffe, M. Srivastava, M. Linterman, L. Zheng, N. Simpson, et al. 2009. The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* 31: 457–468.
- Lindroth, K., M. Troye-Blomberg, M. Singh, F. Dieli, J. Ivanyi, and C. Fernández. 2002. The humoral response in TCR alpha⁴⁻ mice. Can gammadelta-T cells support the humoral immune response? *Scand. J. Immunol.* 55: 256–263.
- Read, S., V. Malmström, and F. Powrie. 2000. Cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 plays an essential role in the function of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory cells that control intestinal inflammation. J. Exp. Med. 192: 295–302.
- Oliveira, V. G., M. Caridade, R. S. Paiva, J. Demengeot, and L. Graca. 2011. Sub-optimal CD4+ T-cell activation triggers autonomous TGF-β-dependent conversion to Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41: 1249–1255.
- Chen, W., W. Jin, N. Hardegen, K. J. Lei, L. Li, N. Marinos, G. McGrady, and S. M. Wahl. 2003. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. J. Exp. Med. 198: 1875–1886.
- Keşmir, C., and R. J. De Boer. 1999. A mathematical model on germinal center kinetics and termination. J. Immunol. 163: 2463–2469.
- Tarlinton, D. M., and K. G. Smith. 2000. Dissecting affinity maturation: a model explaining selection of antibody-forming cells and memory B cells in the germinal centre. *Immunol. Today* 21: 436–441.
- Vinuesa, C. G., and M. C. Cook. 2001. The molecular basis of lymphoid architecture and B cell responses: implications for immunodeficiency and immunopathology. *Curr. Mol. Med.* 1: 689–725.
- Linterman, M. A., W. Pierson, S. K. Lee, A. Kallies, S. Kawamoto, T. F. Rayner, M. Srivastava, D. P. Divekar, L. Beaton, J. J. Hogan, et al. 2011. Foxp3(+) follicular regulatory T cells control the germinal center response. *Nat. Med.* 17: 975–982.
- Chung, Y., S. Tanaka, F. Chu, R. I. Nurieva, G. J. Martinez, S. Rawal, Y. H. Wang, H. Lim, J. M. Reynolds, X. H. Zhou, et al. 2011. Follicular regulatory T cells expressing Foxp3 and Bcl-6 suppress germinal center reactions. *Nat. Med.* 17: 983–988.



Supplemental Figure 1. *Validation of the quantitative studies.* (A) Cryosections from LNs of Foxp3^{gfp} knock-in mice, previously immunized with OVA-alum, were stained with anti-Foxp3 and anti-GFP antibody to confirm that both molecules allowed the identification of the same cells. Bar: 50 μ m. (B) Balb/c mice were immunized with OVA-alum i.p. and non-consecutive cryosections from the same LN were studied at different time points. The quantified cells were identified as the Foxp3⁺ cells within the PNA area.



Prevention of House Dust Mite Induced Allergic Airways Disease in Mice through Immune Tolerance

Ana Agua-Doce^{1,2}, Luis Graca^{1,2}*

1 Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculty of Medicine, University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal, 2 Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, Oeiras, Portugal

Abstract

Allergic airways disease is a consequence of a Th2 response to an allergen leading to a series of manifestations such as production of allergen-specific IgE, inflammatory infiltrates in the airways, and airway hyper-reactivity (AHR). Several strategies have been reported for tolerance induction to allergens leading to protection from allergic airways disease. We now show that CD4 blockade at the time of house dust mite sensitization induces antigen-specific tolerance in mice. Tolerance induction is robust enough to be effective in pre-sensitized animals, even in those where AHR was pre-established. Tolerant mice are protected from airways eosinophilia, Th2 lung infiltration, and AHR. Furthermore, anti-CD4 treated mice remain immune competent to mount immune responses, including Th2, to unrelated antigens. Our findings, therefore, describe a strategy for tolerance induction potentially applicable to other immunogenic proteins besides allergens.

Citation: Agua-Doce A, Graca L (2011) Prevention of House Dust Mite Induced Allergic Airways Disease in Mice through Immune Tolerance. PLoS ONE 6(7): e22320. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022320

Editor: Jean Kanellopoulos, University Paris Sud, France

Received March 2, 2011; Accepted June 20, 2011; Published July 26, 2011

Copyright: © 2011 Agua-Doce, Graca. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: Funded by Fundacao para a Ciencia e Tecnologia Portugal - PTDC/SAU-MII/64279/2006, and PIC/IC/82895/2007, and Immunonet-SOE1/1P1/E014 from Sudoe, http://alfa.fct.mctes.pt/. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* E-mail: lgraca@fm.ul.pt

Introduction

The control of deleterious immune responses causing diseases, such as allergy, autoimmunity and transplant rejection, has been one of the main objectives of immunologists. Moreover, the global prevalence of this type of diseases has been steadily increasing.

Several strategies have been recently described to induce tolerance to allergens thus preventing allergic airways disease [1,2,3,4]. In brief, they can rely on the induction of dendritic cell (DC) populations or regulatory T cells (Treg) able to control pathologic T cell clones, in a process where IL-10 and TGF- β can participate [1,5,6,7,8,9,10]. In addition, disease prevention may be achieved by skewing the immune response from a Th2 to a Th1 phenotype [11].

In fact, the realization of the critical importance of T cells in the pathogenesis of allergic airways disease was well demonstrated by studies where anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) causing the depletion of this T cell subset could prevent the disease in mice [12]. Such pre-clinical studies with CD4 T cell depletion provided the rationale for clinical trials with depleting anti-CD4 MAbs where the short-term benefit observed was probably associated with transient immune suppression [13]. As a consequence, the interest has shifted towards MAbs capable of blocking molecular interactions but without leading to direct cell lysis.

Some reports have shown prevention of allergic airways disease following the blockade of T cell co-stimulatory or co-receptor molecules with non-depleting MAbs, but it remains unclear whether long-term antigen-specific tolerance is achieved or what are the mechanisms involved [14,15,16,17]. We now describe CD4 blockade at the time of exposure with a model antigen, ovalbumin (OVA), or a clinically relevant allergen, house dust mite (HDM), can induce antigen-specific tolerance and protection from allergic airways disease. The mechanism leading to antigenspecific tolerance without affecting protective immune responses (including Th2-type responses) to additional antigens is independent of a switch between a Th2-type and Th1-type immune response. Since CD4 blockade is achieved with a non-depleting MAb, T cells not activated by the antigen remain unaffected to mount protective immune responses towards unrelated antigens at a later time.

Tolerance induction by CD4 blockade is robust enough to be effective in pre-sensitized animals and even in animals where AHR was previously established. The tolerant mice show protection from allergic manifestations elicited by intranasal exposure to the antigen: they do not develop airways eosinophilia, goblet cell hyperplasia, production of Th2 cytokines in the lung, production of antigen-specific IgE or IgG1, and, importantly, do not develop airway hyperreactivity (AHR) in response to inhaled methacholine (MCh).

Results

Co-receptor blockade with non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb prevents allergic sensitization in mice

Using a well established murine model of allergic airways disease we sought to determine if non-depleting MAbs targeting the T cell co-receptor molecule CD4 were effective in preventing allergic sensitization with HDM or a model antigen (OVA).

BALB/c mice were sensitized with two i.p. injections of OVAalum or HDM-alum on days 1 and 14, and challenged with 50 µg OVA or HDM i.n. on days 20, 21 and 22 (Figure 1A). Experimental groups were treated with 1 mg i.p. of anti-CD4 or an isotype control



Figure 1. Prevention of allergic sensitization with anti-CD4 MAb. (A) Female BALB/c mice were sensitized with 20 μ g OVA-alum or 50 μ g HDM-Alum i, and challenged with 50 μ g OVA or HDM in saline i.n. on the indicated days. Some animals were treated with 1 mg anti-CD4 or an isotype control i, as shown. Naive mice, not subjected to any intervention, were also studied as a control group. (B) Cellular composition of the BAL. Animals treated with anti-CD4 have less eosinophils in the BAL (n=6, *** P < 0.001). (C) Histological sections of lung tissue were stained with hematoxilin/eosin and PAS (inset). Anti-CD4-treated mice have reduced inflammatory infiltrate and goblet cell hyperplasia, to levels similar to naive controls. Bars represent 10 μ m (2.5 μ m in the inset). (D) Quantification of serum OVA- and HDM-specific IgG1 and IgE. Anti-CD4 MAb treated mice show a significant reduction of the Th2-driven immunoglobulins (n = 6, *** P < 0.001 and *** P < 0.001 as indicated). (E) The Th2-cytokines IL-4 and IL-5 were down to basal levels in lung homogenates of anti-CD4 HAbs had reduced airway resistance to increasing doses of inhaled MCh, when compared with sensitized control animals (n = 8). Data (B–F) are representative of at least three independent experiments. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022320.g001

on the days before and after each immunization, and sacrificed 24 hours following the last intranasal challenge.

Mice treated with anti-CD4 had a marked reduction in BAL eosinophils when compared with sensitized animals, to levels similar to naïve animals or animals sensitized in the absence of the antigen (Figure 1B, and Figure S1). The absence of goblet cell hyperplasia and inflammatory infiltrate in the airways of anti-CD4 treated mice was confirmed by histology (Figure 1C). Furthermore, anti-CD4 treatment prevented effective generation of Th2driven OVA- and HDM-specific IgG1 and IgE (Figure 1D). We could not detect Th1-driven antigen-specific IgG2a in any animal (not shown). Animals treated with anti-CD4 showed a marked reduction of IL-4 and IL-5 in lung homogenates to levels similar to naive animals (Figure 1E). Importantly, we found no evidence for Th1 or Th17 deviation (as inferred by levels of IFN γ or IL-17), nor increased levels of the immune-regulatory cytokine IL-10 (not shown). Cytokines in BAL were similar to lung homogenates (not shown).

To study the functional impact of the treatment we assessed AHR in response to increasing doses of inhaled MCh. Our data show that anti-CD4 treatment prevented AHR (Figure 1F and Figure S2).

The tolerance state is maintained following clearance of the MAb

We then studied whether tolerance induction with nondepleting anti-CD4 would protect the animals from subsequent exposure to the same antigens, at a time the therapeutic MAb had been cleared. For this purpose treated mice with anti-CD4 at the time of initial sensitization with OVA or HDM, and the same mice were again immunized with the same antigens 50 days following the initial treatment (Figure 2A).

Sensitization with OVA-alum or HDM-alum did not lead to airways eosinophilia in mice previously exposed to the same antigens under the cover of non-depleting anti-CD4 (Figure 2B and Figure S1). Furthermore, the treated mice also failed to produce antigen-specific IgG1 and IgE to OVA-alum and HDMalum (Figure 2C). And importantly, AHR to increased concentrations of inhaled MCh was also absent in anti-CD4 treated mice (Figure 2D and Figure S2).

We could therefore conclude that a short course of anti-CD4 was leading to long-term effects. Although the MAb we used (clone YTS177) is known to have a non-depleting isotype [18], and we confirmed anti-CD4 treatment was not directly leading to T cell lysis (not shown), we had to confirm the treated mice remained immune competent.

Tolerant mice remain immunocompetent

In order to study the antigen-specificity of tolerance induction, we used a second unrelated antigen: β -lactoglobulin (β -LG). We compared immune responses to OVA and β -LG, since these are two defined antigens with similar characteristics, while HDM is a complex protein extract containing many distinct antigens.

BALB/c mice were treated with non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb together with OVA-alum (tOVA) or β -LG-alum (t β -LG) in order to establish immune tolerance to those antigens (Figure 3A). At day 50 the animals were immunized with the same antigen used at the time of tolerization (day 0) or with the second unrelated antigen. All mice were subsequently challenged i.n. with the same antigen used at day 50. All animals remained protected from mounting airways inflammation in response to the antigen used for tolerization, but fully competent to undergo a Th2 response to the second antigen leading to airways eosinophilia, production of IgE and IgG1, and AHR (Figure 3B–D and Figure S2). These results suggest that CD4-blockade affects specifically the T cells that are being activated at the time of treatment, and sparing non-activated cells, thus leading to antigen specific tolerance where immune responses against different antigens are not suppressed.

Tolerance can be achieved in sensitized mice

To assess whether tolerance can be induced in pre-sensitized mice, BALB/c mice sensitized with OVA or HDM were treated with the same antigen under the cover of anti-CD4 50 days following initial sensitization (Figure 4A). For consistency with previous experiments we maintained the tolerance-inducing regime as two administrations of antigen-alum+anti-CD4 two weeks apart.

We found, both OVA- and HDM-sensitized mice treated with anti-CD4 were prevented from AHR, maintaining normal airway response to increased concentrations of inhaled MCh (Figure 4B and Figure S2). We confirmed the efficient sensitization of all groups of immunized animals by the presence of antigen-specific IgG1 and IgE antibodies in sera (not shown), although the mice had not been exposed to prior airway inflammation. As a consequence, the protection from AHR is effective in spite of high titres of antigen-specific immunoglobulins – possibly representing an impact on the late-phase response, and dissociation between high IgE and AHR.

We then assessed whether tolerance induction in pre-sensitized mice remained antigen-specific. BALB/c mice sensitized with OVA-alum or β-LG-alum were treated with anti-CD4 MAb, 50 days following the initial intervention, in the presence of either the initial (OVA or β -LG) or a different antigen (β -LG or OVA, respectively; Figure 4C). Sensitized mice were protected from airway eosinophilia when treated with anti-CD4 in the presence of the same antigen used for sensitization (OVA >tOVA and β -LG >t β -LG, Figure 4D). The protective effect was, therefore, not due to the persistence of the therapeutic antibody in circulation at the time of intranasal exposure to the antigen since mice immunized with a different antigens not present during anti-CD4 treatment (and therefore with equivalent doses of circulating anti-CD4 at the time of challenge) were not protected (OVA >t\beta-LG and β -LG >tOVA). The observation that animals receiving the antibody treatment together with a different antigen than used for immunization develop inflammatory changes similar to untreated control animals, or animals exposed to alum in the absence of the antigen (Figure S1), are consistent with the antigen-specificity of the tolerance state described above.

Mice exposed to allergic airways disease can be protected from AHR following anti-CD4 treatment

However, it is understood that the onset of inflammation in the airways becomes a significant hurdle for immune modulation leading to tolerance. Therefore, we investigated whether mice sensitized to OVA or HDM and exposed to the antigen i.n. could benefit from subsequent anti-CD4 treatment (Figure 5A). A single i.n. challenge with antigen in sensitized mice was sufficient to induce AHR (Figure S3).

We found that administration of HDM under the cover of nondepleting anti-CD4 30 days following induction of allergic airways disease was effective in preventing AHR following subsequent challenge with the same antigen (Figure 5B). We repeated the same studies with OVA with similar results (Figure 5B and Figure S2).

Discussion

Our data shows that CD4 blockade is effective in inducing antigen-specific tolerance to a clinically relevant allergen (HDM), thus preventing the manifestations of allergic airways disease following intranasal allergen challenge: Th2 and eosinophilic infiltrate of the airways, goblet cell hyperplasia, and AHR. The tolerogenic treatment is not only effective in preventing the disease in naive animals, but also confers considerable protection to mice previously sensitized with the allergen. Although in different experiments we tested mice with different ages, we could not find an age-related difference in their response to induction of allergic airways disease (Figure S4).

It should be noted that the use of tolerogenic MAbs in transplantation, with the same objective of preventing an inflammatory response to non-self antigens, have resulted in a different outcome from what we have observed. In transplantation, tolerance induction in sensitized animals has been difficult to achieve, except when both anti-CD4 and anti-CD8 MAbs are combined [19], with anti-CD8 MAbs probably required to control



PLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

Figure 2. Tolerized mice resist subsequent sensitization and challenge. (A) BALB/c mice were initially sensitized with OVA or HDM under the cover of anti-CD4 as described in Figure 1. Those mice were sensitized with the same antigens on days 50 and 64, and subsequently challenged i.n. (B) Animals trated with anti-CD4 were protected from BAL eosinophilia (n = 6, *** P < 0.01 for OVA; * P < 0.05 for HDM). (C) CD4-blockade prevented production of IgG1 and IgE in subsequent sensitizations (n = 6, *** P < 0.01 and ** P < 0.01 as indicated). (D) Tolerance to OVA or HDM prevented AHR to inhaled MCh (n = 6). Data are representative of three independent experiments.

pre-committed effector T cells. Co-stimulation blockade with anti-CD40L has also been reported as less effective than anti-CD4, requiring depletion of CD8⁺ T cells even in non-sensitized animals [20,21]. The obstacle created by sensitization in relation to tolerance induction is also evidenced by reports showing that heterologous immunity reduces the effectiveness of tolerogenic protocols in transplantation [22]. Our data shows that the anti-CD4 antibody treatment can also be beneficial to already sensitized animals. This may be due to the fact that the T effector cell frequency is significantly lower for allergens than for alloantigens and that the response to allergens is predominantly restricted to the CD4⁺ compartment. It is likely that such different outcome observed in transplantation versus allergy may be due to the induction of different tolerogenic mechanisms. In fact our preliminary data suggests that Foxp3⁺ Treg cells may play a more important role in transplantation tolerance than in tolerance induced to allergens - something that still requires further elucidation.

Our data also suggests it is likely that in sensitized mice the antibody treatment has an impact exclusively on the late response (mediated by Th2 and NKT cells), without preventing the early response mediated by mast cell degranulation in response to their surface IgE cross-linking, as the allergen-specific IgG1 and IgE titres remain high in treated mice. But even without targeting early mast cell degranulation, the MAb treatment is likely to lead to a putative long-term benefit given the importance of the Th2mediated response for the persistence of the inflammatory changes associated with airways remodeling and chronic manifestations of the disease [4]. This issue will require confirmation in chronic models of disease.

The antigen-specificity of Treg cell-mediated tolerance has been a controversial issue [23,24]. We show that effective tolerance induction requires the presence of the appropriate antigen at the time of CD4 blockade leading to antigen-specific tolerance. In these experiments we waited 50 days following initial sensitization to minimize the amount of antigen still present in the animal at the time of the tolerogenic treatment. These data also established that MAbs administered at day 50 (Figure 3) were not contributing significantly to the prevention of the disease by being in circulation at the time of intranasal challenge, since no beneficial effect is observed in animals treated with the same antibody dose together with an irrelevant antigen. Importantly, most previous studies addressing the putative tolerance-inducing potential of monoclonal antibodies, namely anti-CD4 [15], did not address the antigenspecificity of the phenomenon or the immune competence of treated mice.

Several MAbs have been recently used as immune modulators in a wide range of diseases, including allergy [25]. Anti-CD4 MAbs have been evaluated both in pre-clinical non-human primate models of transplantation and autoimmunity, as well as in clinical studies [13,26,27]. Their therapeutic effectiveness was modest, short-term, and likely to be a consequence of transient immunosuppression and not tolerance. With hindsight those unimpressive results are not surprising due to technical details related with dosing and the MAb characteristics. The clinical trials have used mouse or chimeric MAb that elicited immune responses leading to their rapid clearance [28]. In addition, most of those studies, including a clinical trial in human asthma (with the depleting anti-CD4 MAb keliximab) [13], did not take advantage of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAbs. Therefore, and as a consequence of the adverse side effects associated with depleting reagents, it was not possible to attain a neutralizing dose of anti-CD4 know to be the most effective for tolerance induction. At this time, particularly given the promising results with non-depleting anti-CD3 in early onset diabetes patients [29], the past experience of anti-CD4 in human patients should be reassessed in face of



Figure 3. Mice treated with anti-CD4 are competent to respond to unrelated antigens. (A) Mice initially tolerized to OVA or β -LG (as described in previous figures) were sensitized i.p. with a different antigen at days 50 and 64, and challenged i.n. with the same antigen used at day 50. (B) Only animals tolerized to the same antigen used for sensitization at days 50 were protected from BAL eosinophilia (n=6, *** P<0.001). (C) Tolerance induction to OVA did not prevent subsequent production of β -LG-driven IgE or IgG1, conversely, tolerance to β -LG did not hamper the generation of OVA-specific IgG1 or IgE (n = 6, *** P<0.001). (D) AHR in response to MCh was observed in animals tolerized to an antigen different from the one used for subsequent sensitization (tOVA > β -LG and t β -LG >OVA) (n = 8, * P<0.05 at 10 mg/ml MCh). Data are representative of two independent experiments.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022320.g003



Figure 4. Tolerogenic effect of anti-CD4 treatment is antigen-specific and effective in sensitized animals. (A) BALB/c mice sensitized with OVA-alum or HDM-alum were tolerized to the same antigens on days 50 and 64, and challenged i.n. with the same antigens. (B) Sensitized mice subsequently treated with OVA or HDM under the cover of anti-CD4 showed protection from AHR (n=8 for OVA, n=6 to HDM). Data are representative of two independent experiments. (C) Mice were initially sensitized with OVA-alum or β -LG-alum, and tolerized to the same or a different antigen to days 50 and 64. All mice were challenged i.n. with the same antigen used for initial sensitization. (D) Mice treated with a different antigen together with anti-CD4 did not show reduced BAL eosinophilia (OVA >t β -LG and β -LG >tOVA) while treatment with anti-CD4 and the same antigen used for sensitization showed a significant reduction of BAL eosinophilia (OVA>tOVA and β -LG >t β -LG; n=6, *** *P*<0.001). Data are representative of two independent experiments. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022320.q004

current knowledge. On this note, a new non-depleting and lessimmunogenic humanized anti-CD4 MAb has been recently engineered, and its safety evaluated in human volunteers [30]. Our results suggest the specific targeting of CD4 T cells in allergic airways disease can have a potent effect in achieving longterm protection from subsequent inflammatory changes induced



Figure 5. Protection from AHR in animals previously exposed to airways inflammation. (A) Balb/c mice sensitized and challenged i.n. with HDM-alum or OVA-alum were tolerized to the same antigens on days 50 and 64, and challenged i.n. with the same antigens. (B) The animals treated with HDM or OVA under the cover of anti-CD4 were protected from AHR in response to inhaled MCh (n = 6, ** P < 0.01 or *** P < 0.001 as indicated). Data are representative of two independent experiments. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0022320.g005

by the same antigens. It remains to be established whether similar effects can be achieved in chronic allergic airways disease.

Materials and Methods

Experimental animals

BALB/c mice were bred and maintained under specific pathogen-free facilities. Animals were sensitized, at the times described in the text, by i.p. injection of 20 μ g in 2.0 mg of endotoxin-free aluminum hydroxide (Alu-gel-S, Serva, Heidelberg, Germany) of OVA or β -LG (Sigma, St Louis, USA) previously run through a DetoxyGel column (Pierce, Rockford, USA), or HDM extract (Greer, Lenoir, USA). In all experiments animals were age and sex matched.

Ethics Statement

All experiments involving animals were approved by Direccao Geral Veterinaria (approval 018831). Mice were bred and maintained under specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions.

Antibodies and reagents

Non-depleting anti-CD4 (YTS177) [18] and the isotype control (YKIX302) MAbs were produced in our laboratory using Integra CL1000 flasks (IBS, Chur, Switzerland), and purified from culture supernatants by 50% ammonium sulfate precipitation, dialyzed against PBS, and the purity checked by native and SDS gel electrophoresis. The hybridomas were generously provided by Professor Herman Waldmann (Oxford, UK).

Bronchoalveolar Lavage (BAL)

Airways were washed through the trachea with 3 ml of cold PBS 1% BSA (Sigma). The BAL was centrifuged, ressuspended in PBS, and the cells counted with a hemocytometer. Differential cell counts were performed on cytospin samples stained with Giemsa-Wright (Sigma). At least 200 cells from each sample were counted, using blinded slides, to determine the relative frequency of each cell type. In addition, in some experiments cosinophilia was independently confirmed by flow cytometry using GR-1 (eBiosciences, San Diego, CA, USA), CCR3 (BD Pharmingen, San Diego, USA), and MHC-class II MAbs (produced in-house), with eosinophils identified based on the SSC/FSC profile and as the GR1^{int}MHCclass II⁻CCR3⁺ cells [31].

Quantification of immunoglobulins and cytokines

Serum itters of OVA-specific IgG1, IgG2a, and IgE were measured by ELISA using the following: IgG1 and IgG2a (SouthernBiotech, Birmingham, USA) with anti-OVA IgG1 standard from Serotec, Oxford, UK; IgE (BD-Pharmingen) with anti-OVA IgE standard from Abcam (Cambridge, UK). Cytokine titers were determined in fresh BAL and lung homogenates. Cytokine ELISAs were performed using the following kits: IL-4, IL-5 (BD-Pharmingen).

Histology

Lungs were perfused with 4% formalin solution (Sigma), collected and sectioned. Staining was performed using hematoxilin/cosin, and periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) stain. Photographs were taken using a Leica DM2500 microscope and a Leica DFC420 camera.

Respiratory mechanics and methacholine responsiveness

Airway responsiveness was determined 24 hours after last intranasal OVA challenge. Changes in the respiratory input impedance (Zrs) were measured using a modification of the low frequency forced-oscillation technique (LFOT) in mice anesthetized with 10 μ l/g of xylazine (2 mg/ml, Ronpum, Bayer, Germany) and ketamine (40 mg/ml, Merial, Lyon, France), tracheostomized and ventilated (FlexiVent, SciReq, Montreal, Canada). Mice were hyperventilated at 450 breaths/min and Zrs was measured during periods of apnea using a 16 s signal containing 19 prime sinusoidal frequencies as described elsewhere [32]. Calculation of airway resistance (R_{aw}), tissue damping (G) and tissue elastance (H) is obtained from the Zrs spectrum using FlexiVent software (SciReq). AHR was measured by exposure to an aerosol containing increasing doses of MCh (Sigma), following a baseline measurement after the delivery of a saline aerosol.

Statistical analysis

Statistical significance was determined using the two-tailed nonparametric Mann-Whitney test and P values <0.05 were deemed significant (*, P<0.05; **, P<0.01; ***, P<0.001).

Supporting Information

Figure S1 Prevention of allergic sensitization with anti-CD4 MAbs. Female BALB/c mice were sensitized with 20 μ g OVA-alum i.p. and challenged with 50 μ g OVA in saline i.n. on the indicated days. Some animals were treated with 1 mg anti-CD4 or an isotype control i.p. as shown. Naive mice, not subjected to any intervention, were also studied as a control group and compared with mice injected with adjuvant in the absence of antigen at the time of sensitization. (A) Cellular composition of the BAL of mice treated with anti-CD4 at the time of sensitization. (B) Cellular composition of the BAL of mice treated with anti-CD4 at the time of initial sensitization, but subjected to additional sensitization at a subsequent time. (C) Cellular composition of the BAL of sensitized mice treated with anti-CD4. (TTE)

Figure S2 Invasive measurement of respiratory mechanics. Data showing the impact of anti-CD4 treatment in tissue elastance and tissue damping in response to increasing doses of inhaled MCh. These graphs complement the data on airway resistance represented in the main figures 1 to 5. (TIF)

Figure S3 Induction of AHR following i.n. exposure to the antigen. Female BALB/c mice were sensitized with two shots of 20 μ g OVA-alum i.p. 14 days apart, and challenged with 50 μ g OVA in saline i.n. for three consecutive days (day 20–22), or just on day 20. Invasive measurement of respiratory mechanics was performed on the following day in presence of increasing doses of inhaled Mch. Both groups of mice, subjected to a single or three challenges with i.n. antigen, displayed similar levels of AHR (n = 6, ** *P*<0.01, *** *P*<0.001).



Figure S4 Allergic airways disease in mice with different age. Female BALB/c mice were sensitized with 20 μ g OVA-alum i.p. and challenged with 50 μ g OVA in saline i.n. as indicated in Figure 1. Some animals were treated with 1 mg anti-CD4 or an isotype control i.p. at the time of sensitization. Mice with 11 or 20 weeks of age were used. No significant differences between mice of different ages. (TIF)

Acknowledgments

We thank Juan J. Lafaille, Maria A. Curotto de Lafaille, Patrick G. Holt and Phillip Stumbles for suggestions, Herman Waldmann for providing reagents and suggestions, and Graham R. Zosky for help with the lung physiology experiments.

References

- Holgate ST, Polosa R (2008) Treatment strategies for allergy and asthma. Nat Rev Immunol 8: 218–230.
- Holt PG, Strickland DH, Wikstrom ME, Jahnsen FL (2008) Regulation of immunological homeostasis in the respiratory tract. Nat Rev Immunol 8: 142–152.
- Akdis M, Akdis CA (2007) Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 119: 780–791.
- Curotto de Lafaille MA, Lafaille JJ, Graca L (2010) Mechanisms of tolerance and allergic sensitization in the airways and the lungs. Curr Opin Immunol 22: 616–622.
- Hammad H, Lambrecht BN (2008) Dendritic cells and epithelial cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity in asthma. Nat Rev Immunol 8: 193–204.
- Zuany-Amorim C, Sawicka E, Manlius C, Le Moine A, Brunet LR, et al. (2002) Suppression of airway cosinophilia by killed Mycobacterium vaccae-induced allergen-specific regulatory T-cells. Nat Med 8: 625–629.
- Xystrakis E, Kusumakar S, Boswell S, Peek E, Urry Z, et al. (2006) Reversing the defective induction of IL-10-secreting regulatory T cells in glucocorticoidresistant asthma patients. J Clin Invest 116: 146–155.
- Strickland DH, Štumbles PA, Zosky GR, Subrata LS, Thomas JA, et al. (2006) Reversal of airway hyperresponsiveness by induction of airway mucosal CD++CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Exp Med 2032 : 2649–2660.
- Verhasselt V, Milcent V, Cazareth J, Kanda A, Fleury S, et al. (2008) Breast milk-mediated transfer of an antigen induces tolerance and protection from allergic asthma. Nat Med 14: 170–175.
- Mucida D, Kutchukhidze N, Erazo A, Russo M, Lafaille JJ, et al. (2005) Oral tolerance in the absence of naturally occurring Tregs. J Clin Invest 115: 1923–1933.
- Kearley J, McMillan SJ, Lloyd CM (2007) Th2-driven, allergen-induced airway inflammation is reduced after treatment with anti-Tim-3 antibody in vivo. J Exp Mcd 204: 1289–1294.
- Gavett SH, Chen X, Finkelman F, Wills-Karp M (1994) Depletion of murine CD4+ T lymphocytes prevents antigen-induced airway hyperreactivity and pulmonary cosinophilia. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 10: 587–593.
- Kon OM, Sihra BS, Compton CH, Leonard TB, Kay AB, et al. (1998) Randomised, dose-ranging, placebo-controlled study of chimeric antibody to CD4 (keliximab) in chronic severe asthma. Lancet 352: 1109–1113.
- Krinzman SJ, De Sanctis GT, Cernadas M, Mark D, Wang Y, et al. (1996) Inhibition of T cell costimulation abrogates airway hyperresponsiveness in a murine model. J Clin Invest 98: 2693–2699.
 Li L, Crowley M, Nguyen A, Lo D (1999) Ability of a nondepleting anti-CD4
- Li L, Crowley M, Nguyen A, Lo D (1999) Ability of a nondepleting anti-CD4 antibody to inhibit Th2 responses and allergic lung inflammation is independent of coreceptor function. J Immunol 163: 6557–6566.
- Linhart B, Bigenzahn S, Hard A, Lupinek C, Thalhamer J, et al. (2007) Costimulation blockade inhibits allergic sensitization but does not affect established allergy in a murine model of grass pollen allergy. J Immunol 178: 3924–3931.
- Seshasayee D, Lee WP, Zhou M, Shu J, Suto E, et al. (2007) In vivo blockade of OX40 ligand inhibits thymic stromal lymphopoietin driven atopic inflammation. J Clin Invest 117: 3868–3878.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: AA LG. Performed the experiments: AA. Analyzed the data: AA LG. Wrote the paper: AA LG.

- Qin SX, Wise M, Cobbold SP, Leong L, Kong YC, et al. (1990) Induction of tolerance in peripheral T cells with monoclonal antibodies. Eur J Immunol 20: 2737–2745.
- Marshall SE, Cobbold SP, Davies JD, Martin GM, Phillips JM, et al. (1996) Tolerance and suppression in a primed immune system. Transplantation 62: 1614–1621.
- Honey K, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H (1999) CD40 ligand blockade induces CD4+ T cell tolerance and linked suppression. J Immunol 163: 4805–4810.
- Trambley J, Bingaman AW, Lin A, Elwood ET, Waitze SY, et al. (1999) Asialo GM1(4) CD8(4) T cells play a critical role in costimulation blockade-resistant allograft rejection. J Clin Invest 104: 1715–1722.
- Adams AB, Williams MA, Jones TR, Shirasugi N, Durham MM, et al. (2003) Heterologous immunity provides a potent barrier to transplantation tolerance. J Clin Invest 111: 1887–1895.
- Graca L, Le Moine A, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H (2003) Dominant transplantation tolerance. Opinion Curr Opin Immunol 15: 499–506.
- Graca L, Le Moine A, Lin CY, Fairchild PJ, Cobbold SP, et al. (2004) Donorspecific transplantation tolerance: the paradoxical behavior of CD4+CD25+ T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 10122–10126.
- Ballow M (2006) Biologic immune modifiers: Trials and tribulations-are we there yet? J Allergy Clin Immunol 118: 1209–1215; quiz 1216-1207.
- van Oosten BW, Lai M, Hodgkinson S, Barkhof F, Miller DH, et al. (1997) Treatment of multiple sclerosis with the monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody CM-T412: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, MR-monitored phase II trial. Neurology 49: 351–357.
- Moreland LW, Pratt PW, Mayes MD, Postlethwaite A, Weisman MH, et al. (1995) Double-blind, placebo-controlled multicenter trial using chimeric monoclonal anti-CD4 antibody, cM-T412, in rheumatoid arthritis patients receiving concomitant methotresate. Arthritis Rheum 38: 1581–1588.
- Horneff G, Winkler T, Kalden JR, Emmrich F, Burmester GR (1991) Human anti-mouse antibody response induced by anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 59: 89–103.
- Keymeulen B, Vandemeulebroucke E, Ziegler AG, Mathieu C, Kaufman L, et al. (2005) Insulin needs after CD3-antibody therapy in new-onset type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med 352: 2598–2608.
- Ng CM, Stefanich E, Anand BS, Fielder PJ, Vaickus L (2006) Pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics of nondepleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody (TRX1) in healthy human volunters. Pharm Res 23: 95–103.
- Curoto de Lafaille MA, Kutchukhidze N, Shen S, Ding Y, Yee H, et al. (2008) Adaptive Foxp3+ regulatory T cell-dependent and -independent control of allergic inflammation. Immunity 29: 114–126.
- Zosky GR, von Garnier C, Stumbles PA, Holt PG, Sly PD, et al. (2004) The pattern of methacholine responsiveness in mice is dependent on antigen challenge dose. Respir Res 5: 15.

Monoclonal Anti-CD8 Therapy Induces Disease Amelioration in the K/BxN Mouse Model of Spontaneous Chronic Polyarthritis

Bruno R. Raposo,¹ Paulo Rodrigues-Santos,² Helena Carvalheiro,³ Ana M. Água-Doce,⁴ Lina Carvalho,³ José A. Pereira da Silva,⁵ Luis Graça,⁴ and M. Margarida Souto-Carneiro⁶

Objective. CD8+ T cells are part of the T cell pool infiltrating the synovium in rheumatoid arthritis (RA). However, their role in the pathogenesis of RA has not been fully delineated. Using the K/BxN mouse model of spontaneous chronic arthritis, which shares many similarities with RA, we studied the potential of CD8+ T cell depletion with monoclonal antibodies (mAb) to stop and reverse the progression of experimental arthritis.

Methods. CD8+ T cells from the blood and articular infiltrate of K/BxN mice were characterized for cell surface phenotypic markers and for cytokine production. Additionally, mice were treated with specific anti-CD8 mAb (YTS105 and YTS169.4), with and without thymectomy.

Results. CD8+ T cells from the peripheral blood

¹Bruno R. Raposo, Dipl Biochemist: Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, Oeiras, Portugal, and Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sween, ²Paulo Rodrigues-Santos, Dipl Biochemist: University of Coimbra and Center for Histocompatibility of the Center, Coimbra, Portugal; ³Helena Carvalheiro, MSc, Lina Carvalho, MD, PhD: University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal; ⁴Ana M. Água-Doce, Dipl Biochemist, Luis Graça, MD, PhD: Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, Oeiras, and University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal; ⁵José A. Pereira da Silva, MD, PhD: University of Coimbra and University Hospital, Coimbra, Portugal; ⁶M. Margarida Souto-Carneiro, PhD: Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, Oeiras, and University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal.

Mr. Rodrigues-Santos and Ms Carvalheiro contributed equally to this work.

Submitted for publication August 18, 2009; accepted in revised form June 10, 2010.

and joints of K/BxN mice were mainly CD69+ and CD62L–CD27+ T cells expressing proinflammatory cytokines (interferon- γ [IFN γ], tumor necrosis factor α [TNF α], interleukin-17a [IL-17A], and IL-4), and granzyme B. In mice receiving anti-CD8 mAb, the arthritis score improved 5 days after treatment. Recovery of the CD8+ T cells was associated with a new increase in the arthritis score after 20 days. In thymectomized and anti-CD8 mAb–treated mice, the arthritis score improved permanently. Histologic analysis showed an absence of inflammatory infiltrate in the anti-CD8 mAb–treated mice. In anti-CD8 mAb–treated mice, the serologic levels of TNF α , IFN γ , IL-6, and IL-5 normalized. The levels of the disease-related anti–glucose-6-phosphate isomerase antibodies did not change.

Conclusion. These results indicate that synovial activated effector CD8+ T cells locally synthesize proinflammatory cytokines (IFN γ , TNF α , IL-17, IL-6) and granzyme B in the arthritic joint, thus playing a pivotal role in maintaining chronic synovitis in the K/BxN mouse model of arthritis.

Approximately 40% of the T cells infiltrating the rheumatoid synovial membrane are CD8+ T cells (1). However, their importance in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) remains to be fully elucidated.

The primary function of CD8+ T cells is the killing of virus- or cytosolic bacteria–infected cells. Moreover, they seem to play several important roles in autoimmune diseases, either protecting against or enhancing the disease. In experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), an animal model of multiple sclerosis, CD8+ T cells have been shown to be crucial for resistance to a second induction of the disease (2). Recently, a particular subset of CD8+ T cells (CD8+CD122+) was shown to accelerate the recovery of animals with EAE after CD8+ T cells were trans-

Mr. Raposo's work was supported by the Instituto do Emprego e Formação Profissional (grant 266/EP/2006) and the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (grant SFRH/BD/40658/2007). Ms Carvalheiro's work was supported by the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (grant SFRH/BD/60467/2009). Dr. Graça's work was supported by the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (grant POCI/ SAU-MMO/55974/2004). Dr. Souto-Carneiro's work was supported by a Marie Curie Intra-European Fellowship (LIF-025885) and a EULAR Young Investigator Award.

Address correspondence and reprint requests to M. Margarida Souto-Carneiro, PhD, Center for Neurosciences and Cell Biology, University of Coimbra, Largo Marquês de Pombal, 3004-517 Coimbra, Portugal. E-mail: mmargarida.carneiro@gmail.com.

ferred (3). In contrast, insulitis failed to develop in NOD mice treated with anti-CD8 monoclonal antibodies (mAb) (4). This experimental treatment also inhibited the transfer of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM) and the development of spontaneous IDDM (5).

In RA, some patients show CD8+ T cell clonal expansions with a memory phenotype that are correlated with rheumatoid factor (RF) levels (6–10). This is most likely attributable to the important role of CD8+ Tcells in maintaining ectopic germinal center structures in RA synovium (11,12).

In different animal models of collagen-induced arthritis (CIA), the absence of CD8+ T cells resulted in a reduced incidence (13,14) and severity (15) of the disease. However, higher susceptibility was observed when animals were rechallenged (14,15). Additionally, in CD8^{+/-} and CD8^{-/-} mice, a trend toward a delayed onset of CIA was observed, without a significant impact on disease susceptibility (16). More recently, CD8+ T cell clones generated from the arthritic joints of SKG mice transferred to histocompatible athymic nude mice led to joint swelling and synovitis with destruction of cartilage and bone (17).

In order to assess the role of CD8+ T cells in experimental chronic polyarthritis, the clinical phenotype and cytokine production of articular and peripheral blood CD8+ T cells from K/BxN mice were studied. Arthritis in these mice results from the simultaneous expression of the class II major histocompatibility complex A^{g7} molecule and a transgenic T cell receptor (TCR), followed by the production of autoantibodies against glucose-6-phosphate isomerase (GPI) (18-20). Subsequently, we assessed whether treatment with specific anti-CD8 mAb, with and without thymectomy, improved the course of established arthritis in K/BxN mice. Our results showed, for the first time, that K/BxN mouse-activated and effector memory CD8+ T cells are present in the peripheral blood and joints and that they play an important role in arthritis maintenance, because treatment with specific anti-CD8 mAb significantly improved the disease signs. These results document that CD8+ T cells should be regarded as major players in the K/BxN mouse model of experimental arthritis, along with CD4+ T cells and B cells.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice. TCR-transgenic KRN mice were a kind gift from Dr. C. Benoist (Harvard University, Boston, MA) and were maintained on a C57BL/6 background (K/B). Progeny bearing the $V_{\rm g}$ 6-transgenic TCR were identified at 3–4 weeks of age by cytofluorometry of peripheral blood lymphocytes, using phycoerythrin (PE)–labeled anti-CD8 (clone YTS169.4; Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência [IGC] Cell Imaging Unit) and fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)–labeled anti-V_β6 (PharMingen) antibodies. Arthritic mice were obtained by crossing K/B mice with NOD mice (K/BxN). C57BL/6 and NOD mice were provided by the IGC Animal Facility. The mice were bred and maintained under standard conditions, with food and water available ad libitum, in a specific pathogen–free environment. All animal studies were approved by the internal IGC Ethics Committee.

Antibodies and immunization in mice with established arthritis. Depleting anti-CD8 (clone YTS169.4), nondepleting anti-CD8 (clone YTS105), and rat IgG2a isotype control (clone YKIX302) mAb were a kind donation from Prof. H. Waldmann (Oxford University, Oxford, UK). The aim of combining nondepleting YTS105 mAb (21) and depleting YTS169.4 mAb (22) was to reduce the immunogenic potential of the antibodies (and their subsequent neutralization) that could be created after repeated injections. Mice ages 8–10 weeks old with an arthritis score >8 were injected intraperitoneally with either 150 μ g of nondepleting anti-CD8 (n = 20) or anti-dog IgG isotype control (n = 19) on day 0. A second and third dose of 150 μ g of depleting anti-CD8 or anti-dog IgG isotype control antibodies were injected intraperitoneally on days 7 and 16 after the first injection.

Thymectomy and CD8 depletion. Five-week-old K/BxN mice with established arthritis were subjected to total thymectomy (n = 5) or a sham operation (n = 3). Nine days after surgery, the mice were immunized intraperitoneally with 300 μ g of depleting anti-CD8 antibody.

Arthritis scoring. Each swollen fore paw or hind paw was given a score of 1 point, each swollen wrist or ankle was given a score of 1 point, and each swollen finger or toe was given a score of 0.5 point, resulting in a maximum of 17 points per mouse. Scoring was performed every second day for the first 3 weeks and then once weekly for the remaining observation period.

Histochemical analysis. Skinless whole knee joints and front and hind paws were fixed in 5% formalin, decalcified in 5% formic acid, and embedded in paraffin. Sections (10 μ m) were prepared from the tissue blocks and stained with either hematoxylin and eosin (H&E), MNF116 (anticytokeratin antibody), Herovici's stain, or Alcian blue–periodic acid–Schiff and observed on an Olympus IMT-2 microscope. Images were analyzed with ImageJ 1.38x software (National Institutes of Health).

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for GPI. High-affinity Maxisorb 96-well ELISA plates (Nunc) were coated with 10 nM Saccharomyces cerevisiae GPI (Sigma) in potassium phosphate buffer. Plates were blocked with phosphate buffered saline/Tween/1% gelatin. Anti-GPI antibodies in sera were detected with horseradish peroxidaselabeled goat anti-mouse IgG (Southern Biotechnology) followed by incubation with tetramethylbenzidine solution (Sigma). Absorption was measured at an optical density of 450 nm.

Flow cytometric analysis. Peripheral blood samples were collected from the base of the tails of arthritic K/BxN mice on days 0, 7, 14, 21, and 35 after the first treatment with either anti-CD8 or control mAb. Mononuclear cells were isolated through a Ficoll gradient (Amersham) and stained

with anti-mouse mAb as follows: fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled anti-CD3 (clone 145.2C11), PE-labeled anti-CD8 (clone YTS169.4), and allophycocyanin (APC)-labeled anti-CD4 (clone GK1.5-8) (all from the IGC Cell Imaging Unit). To determine the differences in CXCR4 and CXCR5 expression and the frequency of CD8+ T cell subsets, peripheral blood samples were collected from the tails of 8-10week-old untreated arthritic K/BxN mice (n = 9) and their nonarthritic littermates (n = 10). Mononuclear cells were isolated through a Ficoll gradient (Amersham) and stained with anti-mouse mAb, as follows: FITC-labeled anti-CD19 (clone 1D3; IGC Cell Imaging Unit), PE-labeled anti-CXCR4 (eBioscience), peridinin chlorophyll A protein (PerCP)labeled anti-CD4 (eBioscience), APC-labeled anti-CD8 (clone YTS169.4; IGC Cell Imaging Unit), FITC-labeled anti-CD3 (clone 145.2C11; IGC Cell Imaging Unit), PE-labeled anti-CD8 (clone YTS169.4; IGC Cell Imaging Unit), biotinylated anti-CD62 ligand plus streptavidin-PerCP, and APC-labeled anti-CD27 (all from eBioscience). For determination of intracellular cytokine production, saponin-permeabilized peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were stained with APC-labeled anti-CD8 (clone YTS169.4; IGC Cell Imaging Unit), PerCP-Cy5.5-labeled anti-CD3, FITC-labeled anti-TNF α , and PE-labeled anti–IL-6 (all from eBioscience). All samples were analyzed on a 4-color FACSCalibur system (Becton Dickinson), and data were analyzed with FlowJo 7.5.5 software (Tree Star).

Assessment of intracellular cytokine production by reverse transcription–polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). PBMCs and mononuclear cells from articular tissue were collected from untreated arthritic mice (n = 4), and PBMCs were collected from their healthy control littermates (n = 4). CD8+ T cells were isolated by magnetic cell separation using the CD8a+ T Cell Isolation kit (Miltenyi Biotech).

Total RNA from sorted CD8+ T cells was isolated using an RNeasy Micro kit (Qiagen). RNA integrity and quantification were analyzed using a 6000 Nano Chip kit in an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer. RNA was reverse transcribed with a SuperScript III First-Strand Synthesis System for RT-PCR (Invitrogen) using oligo(dT) plus random hexamers according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Relative quantification of gene expression by real-time PCR was performed using a thermocycler LightCycler 480 II (Roche). Normalization for gene expression quantification was performed with geNorm Housekeeping Gene Selection Mouse kit (PrimerDesign) and geNorm software (Ghent University Hospital, Center for Medical Genetics) to select optimal reference genes for this study (23).

Real-time PCRs used specific *Mus musculus* Quanti-Tect Primer Assays (Qiagen) with optimized primers for the genes of interest, *Gzmb* (QT00114590), *Ifn* (QT01038821), *Il10* (QT00106169), *Il17a* (QT00103278), *Il2* (QT00112315), *Il4* (QT00160678), *Tnf* (QT00104006), and the reference genes *Ywhaz* (QT00105350) and *Rn18s* (QT01036875), together with a QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Gene Expression kit (Qiagen), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Reactions were performed with the following thermal profile: 10 minutes at 95°C plus 40 cycles of 15 seconds at 95°C, 30 seconds at 60°C, and 30 seconds at 72°C. Quantitative realtime PCR results were analyzed using LightCycler 480 software (Roche) and quantified using the qBasePlus software package (Biogazelle).

Serum cytokine quantification. Serum samples from arthritic K/BxN mice before (n = 11) and after (n = 11)anti-CD8 treatment and from their nonarthritic control littermates (n = 7) were obtained from whole blood after centrifugation. TNFα, IFNγ, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p70, and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1) titers in the sera were quantified using the cytometric bead arrays, a Mouse Th1/Th2 Cytokine kit and a Mouse Inflammation kit (Becton Dickinson) according to the manufacturer's instructions, and analyzed with BD Cytometric Bead Array Software (Becton Dickinson). IL-17a titers were determined using a Mouse IL-17A ELISA kit (Invitrogen). Test sensitivity thresholds for the different cytokines were as follows: for $TNF\alpha$, 6.3 pg/ml; for IFN_y, 2.5 pg/ml; for IL-2, 5.0 pg/ml; for IL-4, 5.0 pg/ml; for IL-5, 5.0 pg/ml; for IL-6, 5.0 pg/ml; for IL-10, 17.5 pg/ml; for IL-12p70, 10.7 pg/ml; for IL-17a, 5.0 pg/ml; and for MCP-1, 52.7 pg/ml. Mean titers below those thresholds were considered undetectable.

Statistical analysis. Data were checked for normality, in order to decide whether to use the parametric one-way analysis of variance and post hoc Tukey's test or the nonparametric Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Data were analyzed using StatView 5.0 software (Abacus Concepts). *P* values less than 0.05 were considered significant.

RESULTS

Activation of K/BxN mouse CD8+ T cells in the articular infiltrate. In an effort to characterize the CD8+ T cells in K/BxN mice, mononuclear cells were isolated from the peripheral blood and from the articular inflammatory infiltrate and analyzed for the expression of surface markers and cytokine production. In contrast to the circulating CD4+ T cell pool, a significantly higher (P < 0.05) percentage of circulating CD8+ T cells from K/BxN mice expressed the V_β6-transgenic TCR (mean \pm SD 32 \pm 10% and 84 \pm 7% for CD4 and CD8, respectively) at 3 weeks after birth, before any external clinical signs of arthritis could be detected.

The frequencies of CD8+ T cell subsets defined by the expression of CD27 and CD62L in the peripheral blood and articular infiltrate from arthritic K/BxN mice were compared with those in the peripheral blood of healthy mice (Figure 1A). The frequency of CD27-CD62L- short-lived effector CD8+ T cells (T_{se}) was similar in both K/BxN mouse tissue and peripheral blood from healthy mice. However, the peripheral blood of arthritic K/BxN mice presented a significantly (P =0.019) higher frequency of CD27+CD62L- effector memory CD8+ T cells (T_{em}) than the peripheral blood of healthy mice. Moreover, the frequency of this Tem subset was higher, although not reaching statistical significance (P = 0.0791), in the articular infiltrate than in the peripheral blood of K/BxN mice. The frequency of CD27+CD62L+ central memory CD8+ T cells (T_{cm}) was comparable in the peripheral blood of K/BxN mice



Figure 1. CD8+ T cells of K/BxN mice present an activated effector memory phenotype, homing preferentially to the articular tissue where they produce proinflammatory cytokines. A and C, Frequency of CD62L–CD27–, CD62L+CD27+, and CD62L–CD27+ CD8+ T cells (A) and frequency of CD8+CXCR4+ CD8+ T cells in the blood of healthy control mice (open boxes; n = 10), the blood of K/BxN mice (darkly shaded boxes; n = 9), and the articular tissue of arthritic K/BxN mice (lightly shaded boxes; n = 9). Data are presented as box plots, where the boxes represent the 25th to 75th percentiles, the lines within the boxes represent the median, and the lines outside the boxes represent the 10th and 90th percentiles. * = P < 0.05 versus control; ** = P < 0.05 versus K/BxN mouse blood. **B**, Dot plots of CD69 versus CD8 in the blood of a representative healthy control mouse and an arthritic K/BxN mouse. **D**, Relative expression of several cytokine genes in unstimulated CD8+ T cells isolated from the articular tissue (lightly shaded bars; n = 4) and peripheral blood (darkly shaded bars; n = 4) of arthritic K/BxN mice and from control peripheral blood (open bars; n = 4). Bars show the mean and SD. **Inset**, Intracellular production of tumor necrosis factor α (TNF) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) in CD8+ T cells from the articular tissue of a representative K/BxN mouse. * = P < 0.01 versus K/BxN mouse blood and articular tissue; ** = P < 0.05 versus K/BxN mouse blood. IFN γ = interferon- γ ; Gzmb = granzyme B.

and that of healthy mice. However, the frequency of T_{cm} was significantly lower (P = 0.008) in the articular infiltrate of K/BxN mice than in the peripheral blood of K/BxN mice.

In contrast to what was observed in healthy mice, the majority of CD8+ T cells circulating in K/BxN mouse peripheral blood expressed the early activation marker CD69 (Figure 1B), and this increased expression of CD69 was also observed on the surface of CD8+ T cells infiltrating the joints.

To assess whether the expression of chemokine receptors by K/BxN mouse articular CD8+ T cells could contribute to the skewed distribution of the different CD8+ T cell subsets in the articular infiltrate, the frequencies of CD8+ T cells expressing specific chemokine receptors were determined (Figure 1C). Interestingly, the frequency of CD8+CXCR4+ was significantly increased in the articular tissue when compared with the peripheral blood (P = 0.002) of K/BxN mice. Moreover, the peripheral blood of K/BxN mice had a significantly (P = 0.007) decreased frequency of CD8+CXCR4+ T cells when compared with that of controls. In contrast to what has been reported in humans (24), we were not

able to clearly identify a circulating CXCR5-expressing CD8+ T cell population in either the healthy mice or the K/BxN mice (data not shown).

To determine whether CD8+ T cells infiltrating the joints of arthritic K/BxN mice had the potential to actively participate in the inflammatory and joint destruction process by producing proinflammatory cytokines and cytolytic enzymes, we quantified the relative gene expression of several cytokines and granzyme B in unstimulated CD8+ T cells. As depicted in Figure 1D. both articular tissue and peripheral blood CD8+ T cells from arthritic K/BxN mice had similar expression of the genes coding for granzyme B, IFN γ , IL-4, and TNF α , while no expression of these genes was detected in CD8+ T cells isolated from control peripheral blood. Interestingly, more than half of the articular CD8+ T cells producing TNF α also produced IL-6 (inset in Figure 1D). However, expression of the gene coding for IL-17a was significantly higher (P < 0.01) in K/BxN mouse peripheral blood CD8+ T cells than in articular tissue or control peripheral blood. Nevertheless, the CD8+ T cells from the articular tissue still expressed significantly higher levels of Il17a than did the control



Figure 2. Treatment with anti-CD8 monoclonal antibodies (mAb) after polyarthritis is established ameliorates disease signs in K/BxN mice, and disease relapse occurs with CD8+ T cell recovery. A, Evolution of the disease score over 40 days in the control mAb-treated group (squares; n = 19) and the anti-CD8 mAb-treated group (diamonds; n = 20). Mice received an injection of YTS105 (blocking) or mock antibody on day 0 and an injection of YTS169.4 (depleting) or mock antibody on day 7 and 16. Values are the mean \pm SEM. B, Representative dot plots of CD4 versus CD8 in CD3+ peripheral blood T cells on days 0, 7, 14, 21, and 35 after treatment with anti-CD8 mAb or control mAb.

peripheral blood. As expected, the expression of *Il10* was increased in the CD8+ T cells of all 3 tissue types, with the control peripheral blood presenting a significantly higher expression (P < 0.05), while no *Il2* gene expression was detected in any of the CD8+ T cells isolated from the different tissues.

Improvement in macroscopic and microscopic signs of disease by depletion of CD8+ T cells with mAb. To assess the importance of CD8+ T cells in the maintenance of chronic polyarticular inflammation in K/BxN mice, specific mAb that either blocked (YTS105) or depleted (YTS169.4) CD8+ T cells were administered after arthritis was established (arthritis score >9). As shown in Figure 2A, the arthritis scores for the mice treated with anti-CD8 mAb began to improve starting 5 days after the initial treatment, as compared with the groups receiving control mAb. Furthermore, a lower arthritis score was maintained for more than a month thereafter in the anti-CD8–treated group. The increase in the arthritis score in the anti-CD8–treated mice observed from day 21 onward corresponded to a recovery of the CD8+ T cell pool (Figure 2B).

Histologic analysis of the hind paw ankle joints revealed an absence of inflammatory infiltrate accompanied by new bone formation and normal synovial bursae in arthritic K/BxN mice 30 days after receiving



Figure 3. Histologic assessment of articular tissue shows clearance of the inflammatory infiltrate in anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody-treated K/BxN mice. A, Joint section from a healthy control mouse (H&E stained; original magnification \times 10). Inset, Normal synovial bursae (Herovici stained; original magnification \times 200). B, Joint section from a K/BxN mouse before treatment, showing massive inflammation and cartilage/bone destruction (H&E stained; original magnification \times 10). Upper inset, Inflamed hyperplastic synovium (Herovici stained; original magnification \times 100). Lower inset, Chondral sclerosis and fibrous ankylosis (Alcian blue-periodic acid-Schiff stained; original magnification \times 100). C. Joint section from an anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody-treated K/BxN mouse 30 days after treatment, showing complete clearance of the inflammatory infiltrate and normalization of the articular architecture (H&E stained; original magnification \times 10). Inset, Normal synovial bursae (Herovici stained; original magnification \times 100). D, Joint section from a control monoclonal antibodytreated K/BxN mouse 30 days after treatment, showing complete destruction of the joint structure by massive infiltration of inflammatory cells and fibrosis (H&E stained; original magnification \times 10). Inset, Proliferative synovitis with destruction of articular cartilage (Alcian blue-periodic acid-Schiff stained; original magnification × 100)

anti-CD8 mAb (Figure 3C), as opposed to mice receiving control mAb, which presented an inflamed hyperplastic synovium and articular erosions (Figure 3D).

To investigate whether the arthritis improvement after anti-CD8 therapy was associated with changes in the levels of circulating cytokines, the concentrations of IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-17a, MCP-1, TNF α , and IFN γ were measured in the serum of healthy control and K/BxN mice at baseline and 20 days after the initial treatment (Figures 4A–D). Arthritic K/BxN mice that were assessed before treatment had significantly higher (P < 0.02) serologic titers of IL-5, IL-6, and TNF α than healthy controls. Twenty days after anti-CD8 therapy, the serologic levels of all 3 cytokines and IFN γ had significantly dropped (P < 0.04) from their baseline values and were comparable with the ones present in healthy control mice. The serologic levels of all other cytokines did not pass the minimum test threshold. **Prevention of arthritis relapse by complete thymectomy followed by depletion of CD8+ T cells.** In an effort to verify whether a permanent absence of CD8+ T cells could protect K/BxN mice from arthritis relapse, 5–6-week-old K/BxN mice with established polyarthritis (arthritis score >8) underwent total thymectomy followed by the injection of a high dose of depleting (YTS169.4) anti-CD8 mAb 9 days later. Control mice underwent sham operations and received an equal dose of depleting anti-CD8 mAb 9 days later, after which arthritis evolution was monitored for a further 90 days.

Thymectomy alone did not seem to induce a short-term alteration of the course of the disease, since no significant changes in the arthritis score could be observed between day 0 and day 9. Administration of anti-CD8 mAb led to an amelioration of the clinical signs of arthritis in both the thymectomized and control K/BxN mice. However, although the control mice had a relapse of the disease 43 days after having received the depleting anti-CD8 mAb (the longer time before relapse observed in these mice compared with those in Figure 2A is attributable to the higher dose of anti-CD8 mAb they received), the thymectomized mice experienced further arthritis improvement, which lasted until the end of the 90-day followup (Figure 5A). The absence of complete clinical remission in the thymectomized mice (arthritis score 0) is attributable to the effects of residual deformities on the scoring system. In fact, the histologic sections obtained on day 90 from the hind paws of the thymectomized mice showed an absence of inflammatory infiltrate in the synovial membrane and preservation of the articular and bone structure (Figure 5B), as opposed to the expanded inflammatory infiltration and extensive arthrosis observed in the sham-operated controls (Figure 5C).

Effect of disease amelioration on anti-GPI antibody titers. The development and maintenance of polvarthritis in K/BxN mice has been linked to the production of anti-GPI autoantibodies, the serum concentration of which increases with age and disease progression (20). Therefore, we determined the serologic titers of anti-GPI IgG in K/BxN mice at baseline (before mAb treatment or thymectomy was started) and after 30 days of YTS105 followed by YTS169.4 anti-CD8 treatment or control anti-dog IgG treatment. Similar assessments were performed 90 days after thymectomy or sham operation and YTS169.4 treatment in K/BxN mice and age-matched nonarthritic control littermates (treated either with YTS105 followed by YTS169.4 anti-CD8 or control anti-dog IgG), but no significant effects of treatment on the anti-GPI IgG titers were



Figure 4. Treatment with anti-CD8 monoclonal antibodies normalizes the serologic levels of proinflammatory cytokines in K/BxN mice. Titers of tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) (**A**), interferon- γ (IFN γ) (**B**), interleukin-6 (IL-6) (C), and IL-5 (**D**) in the blood of untreated K/BxN mice (lightly shaded boxes; n = 11), the blood of healthy control mice (open boxes; n = 7), and the blood of anti-CD8–treated K/BxN mice (darkly shaded boxes; n = 11) are shown. Data are presented as box plots, where the boxes represent the 25th to 75th percentiles, the lines within the boxes represent the median, and the lines outside the boxes represent the 10th and 90th percentiles.

observed (Figure 6). No significant effects of treatment on anti-GPI IgG titers were observed (Figure 6). Actually, the titers of anti-GPI antibodies increased in the thymectomized mice even though inflammation of the joints subsided. The frequency of circulating CD138+ plasma cells was also not affected by any of the treatments (data not shown).

DISCUSSION

The role of CD8+ T cells in the pathogenesis of RA remains unclear. Nevertheless, several studies in patients with RA that associated the effector functions and the memory CD45RO+ and activated "false" memory CD29+CD45RA+CD45RO- phenotypes of CD8+ T cells with RF production and disease activity point out that the contribution of CD8+ T cells to RA should be reevaluated (6,7,9,10). This is also the case in animal models, because data from the literature on experimental arthritis are few and contradictory. Several

studies on the CIA model of experimental polyarthritis focusing on the involvement of CD8+ T cells in initiating arthritis (13,14,25) revealed that anti-CD8 treatment rendered experimental animals less susceptible (14) or fully resistant (13) to the disease. Another study involving NOD/SCID mice engrafted with human rheumatoid synovium stressed the importance of CD8+ T cells for the maintenance of synovial follicular-like structures (11).

Most studies were carried out in the CIA model and manipulated the CD8+ T cell response before arthritis induction, thus focusing on the potential role of CD8+ cells in the initiation of the disease (13,14,16,25). This is consistent with current paradigms regarding the role of CD8+ cells but was also favored because of the transient nature of CIA, which would render it difficult to distinguish between the ameliorating effect of CD8 blockade and natural disease remission. Therefore, the contribution of CD8+ T cells to the chronicity of polyarthritis has not been addressed.



Figure 5. Thymectomy followed by CD8+ T cell depletion stops arthritis relapse, reduces the inflammatory infiltration of the joint, and preserves bone and articular integrity in K/BxN mice. A, Evolution of the arthritis score for 90 days after CD8+ T cell depletion in sham-operated control mice (squares; n = 3) and thymectomized mice (diamonds; n = 5). Surgery was performed on day -9, and CD8 depletion was performed on day 0. Values are the mean \pm SEM. **B**, Section from the hind paw of a K/BxN mouse 90 days after thymectomy and CD8+ T cell depletion (H&E stained; original magnification × 10). **Inset**, Preserved joint and synovial proliferation without inflammation (MNF116 stained; original magnification \times 100). **C**, Section from the hind paw of a K/BxN mouse 90 days after sham operation and CD8+ T cell depletion (H&E stained; original magnification \times 10). **Inset**, Arthrosis of the joint (Herovici stained; original magnification fication \times 40).

The recent development of murine models of persistent chronic polyarthritis—the SKG (26), the K/BxN (19), and the B10.Q/Ncf1* (27) models—provide new tools for studying CD8+ T cell involvement in arthritis maintenance.

In the present study, we used the K/BxN mouse model of chronic polyarthritis to show that CD8+ T cells circulating in the peripheral blood and infiltrating the joints are responsible for maintaining chronic articular inflammation. An evident decrease in articular swelling and redness a few days after the initial anti-CD8 treatment was confirmed by the absence of histologic signs of inflammatory infiltrates and evidence of de novo ossification. Moreover, normalization of the serologic levels of proinflammatory cytokines, such as $TNF\alpha$, $IFN\gamma$, and IL-6, in the anti-CD8 mAb-treated mice represents evidence that the role of CD8+ T cells in arthritis maintenance is at least partially mediated through selfproduction of these cytokines or by (co)stimulation of production in other cells. Additionally, normalization of the serologic levels of IL-5, a cytokine involved in growth and differentiation of both B cells and eosinophils (28), after anti-CD8 treatment accompanied a reduction in joint inflammation. Further evidence for the involvement of CD8+ T cells in K/BxN mouse polyarthritis was provided by the disease relapse observed in treated mice as soon as the numbers of circulating CD8+ T cells were normalized.

Nevertheless, it was important to establish whether the permanent absence of CD8+ T cells prevented arthritis relapse. Therefore, 5-week-old K/BxN mice with established polyarthritis were thymectomized and subsequently inoculated with a high dose of CD8+ T cell-depleting mAb. Amelioration of the clinical signs of arthritis was evident after 2 weeks, and no relapses were observed in the 90-day followup period. In fact, after those 90 days, normal levels of TCR-transgenic CD4+ T cells were still present in the circulation, and the levels of B cells and plasma cells did not change when compared with those in sham-operated mice. Such observations strengthen the hypothesis that CD8+ T cells, and not only CD4+ T cells and B cells (19), are essential to the maintenance and even the initiation of chronic polyarthritis in K/BxN mice. In contrast to findings with therapies involving CD40 blockade (29), no changes were observed in the serologic levels of anti-GPI autoantibodies after any of the anti-CD8 therapies, suggesting that CD8 blockade stops/reverses ar-



Figure 6. Blockade of CD8 does not reduce the serologic levels of anti-glucose-6-phosphate isomerase (anti-GPI) autoantibodies. Bars show the mean and SD optical density at 450 nm, measured in an anti-GPI enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, for untreated (n = 18), anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody-treated (n = 15), or control monoclonal antibody-treated (n = 5) K/BxN mice and prethymectomized (n = 6) and postthymectomized (n = 6) K/BxN mice as well as either control monoclonal antibody-treated (n = 9) or anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody-treated (n = 9) or anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody-treated (n = 9) or system controls. OD = optical density.

thritis progression without influencing the autoreactive B cell and plasma cell pools.

Even though the CD8+ T cells of K/BxN mice express the transgenic $V_{\beta}6$ TCR, thus rendering them potentially autoreactive (as extensively described for the K/BxN mouse TCR-transgenic CD4+ T cells [19]), they have been poorly studied. A functional and phenotypic characterization of the transgenic CD8+ T cells in this mouse model is especially important in view of its larger and earlier expansion in comparison with CD4+ T cells: the CD8+ T cell pool comprised up to 85% of TCR-transgenic cells 21 days after birth and 2 weeks before arthritis was established.

CD8+ T cells are usually subdivided into particular phenotypes with characteristic effector functions, homing properties, and proliferative capacity. The expansion phase after antigen presentation is dominated by short-lived effector CD8+CD27-CD62L- T cells (T_{se}) capable of producing proinflammatory cytokines (IFN γ , TNF α , IL-2, IL-17) and cytotoxic molecules (perforin, granzyme B). These cells heavily migrate into the peripheral organs (30-32). Upon interaction with CD154 expressed on helper CD4+ T cells (33,34), subsets of effector CD8+ T cells and antigen-primed naive CD8+ T cells, respectively, develop into CD8+CD27+CD62L- effector memory cells (T_{em}) or CD8+CD27+CD62L+ central memory cells (T_{cm}) (31,35–37). While T_{em} accumulate in the peripheral organs and rapidly become effector cells upon reencounter with antigen but have poor expansion and selfrenewal capacity, T_{cm} accumulate in the lymphoid organs and are capable of large expansion upon antigen reencounter and frequent self-renewal (31,37-39). Considering these functional and homing differences, it is not surprising to observe that the K/BxN mouse articular tissue showed an accumulation of the 2 effector subsets, particularly the Tem subset, which are more likely to participate in the local autoantigen-driven tissue destruction.

The presence of TNF α -, IL-6–, IFN γ -, IL-17–, and granzyme B–producing CD8+ T cells in the articular infiltrate and the elevated frequency of CD8+ T cells expressing the homing chemokine CXCR4 suggest that the joint-infiltrating effector CD8+ T cells might be subdivided into 2 main groups. A first group might be actively participating in joint destruction through granzyme B secretion. A second group may be involved in the recruitment and priming of other immune cells into the joint, which are the IL-17a–producing CD8+ T cells that have been described as proinflammatory but with reduced cytotoxic potential (40). Additionally, the elevated presence of both CD69-expressing CD8+ T cells, which are markers of early activation, and T_{em} in the peripheral blood of arthritic K/BxN mice suggests that there is continuous systemic activation, and eventually recruitment, of (pathogenic) CD8+ T cells in the K/BxN mouse model of spontaneous chronic polyarthritis.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We thank Ms M. Pardal for technical support.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors were involved in drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content, and all authors approved the final version to be published. Dr. Souto-Carneiro had full access to all of the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Study conception and design. Raposo, Pereira da Silva, Graça, Souto-Carneiro.

Acquisition of data. Raposo, Rodrigues-Santos, Carvalheiro, Água-Doce, Carvalho, Graça, Souto-Carneiro.

Analysis and interpretation of data. Raposo, Rodrigues-Santos, Carvalheiro, Água-Doce, Carvalho, Pereira da Silva, Graça, Souto-Carneiro.

REFERENCES

- 1. McInnes IB. Leukotrienes, mast cells, and T cells. Arthritis Res Ther 2003;5:288–9.
- Jiang H, Zhang SI, Pernis B. Role of CD8⁺ T cells in murine experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Science 1992;256:1213–5.
- Lee YH, Ishida Y, Rifa'i M, Shi Z, Isobe K, Suzuki H. Essential role of CD8⁺CD122⁺ regulatory T cells in the recovery from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 2008; 180:825–32.
- Wang B, Gonzalez A, Benoist C, Mathis D. The role of CD8⁺ T cells in the initiation of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Eur J Immunol 1996;26:1762–9.
- Parish NM, Bowie L, Zusman Harach S, Phillips JM, Cooke A. Thymus-dependent monoclonal antibody-induced protection from transferred diabetes. Eur J Immunol 1998;28:4362–73.
- Al-Azem I, Fernandez-Madrid F, Long PM, Wooley PH. The immunoregulation of rheumatoid factor by the CD8 T lymphocyte subset in rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 1992;19:1337–41.
- Fitzgerald JE, Ricalton NS, Meyer AC, West SG, Kaplan H, Behrendt C, et al. Analysis of clonal CD8⁺ T cell expansions in normal individuals and patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Immunol 1995;154:3538–47.
- Masuko-Hongo K, Sekine T, Ueda S, Kobata T, Yamamoto K, Nishioka K, et al. Long-term persistent accumulation of CD8⁺ T cells in synovial fluid of rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 1997;56:613–21.
- Neidhart M, Fehr K, Pataki F, Michel BA. The levels of memory (CD45RA⁻, RO⁺) CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ peripheral blood T-lymphocytes correlate with IgM rheumatoid factors in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatol Int 1996;15:201–9.
- Neidhart M, Pataki F, Schonbachler J, Bruhlmann P. Flow cytometric characterisation of the "false naïve" (CD45RA⁺, CD45RO⁻, CD29^{bright+}) peripheral blood T-lymphocytes in health and in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatol Int 1996;16:77–87.
- Kang YM, Zhang X, Wagner UG, Yang H, Beckenbaugh RD, Kurtin PJ, et al. CD8 T cells are required for the formation of ectopic germinal centers in rheumatoid synovitis. J Exp Med 2002;195:1325–36.
- 12. Wagner UG, Kurtin PJ, Wahner A, Brackertz M, Berry DJ,

Goronzy JJ, et al. The role of CD8⁺ CD40L⁺ T cells in the formation of germinal centers in rheumatoid synovitis. J Immunol 1998;161:6390-7.

- Larsson P, Goldschmidt TJ, Klareskog L, Holmdahl R. Oestrogenmediated suppression of collagen-induced arthritis in rats: studies on the role of the thymus and of peripheral CD8⁺ T lymphocytes. Scand J Immunol 1989;30:741–7.
- 14. Tada Y, Ho A, Koh DR, Mak TW. Collagen-induced arthritis in CD4⁻ or CD8⁻ deficient mice: CD8⁺ T cells play a role in initiation and regulate recovery phase of collagen-induced arthritis. J Immunol 1996;156:4520–6.
- Kiely PD, O'Brien D, Oliveira DB. Anti-CD8 treatment reduces the severity of inflammatory arthritis, but not vasculitis, in mercuric chloride-induced autoimmunity. Clin Exp Immunol 1996;106: 280–5.
- Ehinger M, Vestberg M, Johansson AC, Johannesson M, Svensson A, Holmdahl R. Influence of CD4 or CD8 deficiency on collageninduced arthritis. Immunology 2001;103:291–300.
- Wakasa-Morimoto C, Toyosaki-Maeda T, Matsutani T, Yoshida R, Nakamura-Kikuoka S, Maeda-Tanimura M, et al. Arthritis and pneumonitis produced by the same T cell clones from mice with spontaneous autoimmune arthritis. Int Immunol 2008;20:1331–42.
- Korganow AS, Ji H, Mangialaio S, Duchatelle V, Pelanda R, Martin T, et al. From systemic T cell self-reactivity to organspecific autoimmune disease via immunoglobulins. Immunity 1999;10:451–61.
- Kouskoff V, Korganow AS, Duchatelle V, Degott C, Benoist C, Mathis D. Organ-specific disease provoked by systemic autoimmunity. Cell 1996;87:811–22.
- Matsumoto I, Staub A, Benoist C, Mathis D. Arthritis provoked by linked T and B cell recognition of a glycolytic enzyme. Science 1999;286:1732–5.
- Qin SX, Wise M, Cobbold SP, Leong L, Kong YC, Parnes JR, et al. Induction of tolerance in peripheral T cells with monoclonal antibodies. Eur J Immunol 1990;20:2737–45.
- Cobbold SP, Martin G, Qin S, Waldmann H. Monoclonal antibodies to promote marrow engraftment and tissue graft tolerance. Nature 1986;323:164–6.
- Vandesompele J, De Preter K, Pattyn F, Poppe B, Van Roy N, De Paepe A, et al. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. Genome Biol 2002;3:RESEARCH0034.
- Quigley MF, Gonzalez VD, Granath A, Andersson J, Sandberg JK. CXCR5⁺ CCR7⁻ CD8 T cells are early effector memory cells that infiltrate tonsil B cell follicles. Eur J Immunol 2007;37: 3352–62.
- Williams RO, Whyte A, Waldmann H. Resistance to collageninduced arthritis in DBA/1 mice by intraperitoneal administration of soluble type II collagen involves both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes. Autoimmunity 1989;4:237-45.
- 26. Sakaguchi N, Takahashi T, Hata H, Nomura T, Tagami T,

Yamazaki S, et al. Altered thymic T-cell selection due to a mutation of the ZAP-70 gene causes autoimmune arthritis in mice. Nature 2003;426:454-60.

- Gelderman KA, Hultqvist M, Holmberg J, Olofsson P, Holmdahl R. T cell surface redox levels determine T cell reactivity and arthritis susceptibility. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006;103: 12831–6.
- Yokota T, Coffman RL, Hagiwara H, Rennick DM, Takebe Y, Yokota K, et al. Isolation and characterization of lymphokine cDNA clones encoding mouse and human IgA-enhancing factor and eosinophil colony-stimulating factor activities: relationship to interleukin 5. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1987;84:7388–92.
- Kyburz D, Carson DA, Corr M. The role of CD40 ligand and tumor necrosis factor α signaling in the transgenic K/BxN mouse model of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2000;43:2571–7.
- Baars PA, Sierro S, Arens R, Tesselaar K, Hooibrink B, Klenerman P, et al. Properties of murine CD8⁺CD27⁻ T cells. Eur J Immunol 2005;35:3131–41.
- Stemberger C, Neuenhahn M, Buchholz VR, Busch DH. Origin of CD8⁺ effector and memory T cell subsets. Cell Mol Immunol 2007;4:399–405.
- Tajima M, Wakita D, Noguchi D, Chamoto K, Yue Z, Fugo K, et al. IL-6-dependent spontaneous proliferation is required for the induction of colitogenic IL-17-producing CD8⁺ T cells. J Exp Med 2008;205:1019–27.
- Huster KM, Busch V, Schiemann M, Linkemann K, Kerksiek KM, Wagner H, et al. Selective expression of IL-7 receptor on memory T cells identifies early CD40L-dependent generation of distinct CD8⁺ memory T cell subsets. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:5610–5.
- Tanchot C, Rocha B. CD8 and B cell memory: same strategy, same signals. Nat Immunol 2003;4:431–2.
- Hikono H, Kohlmeier JE, Takamura S, Wittmer ST, Roberts AD, Woodland DL. Activation phenotype, rather than central- or effector-memory phenotype, predicts the recall efficacy of memory CD8⁺ T cells. J Exp Med 2007;204:1625–36.
- Jabbari A, Harty JT. Simultaneous assessment of antigen-stimulated cytokine production and memory subset composition of memory CD8 T cells. J Immunol Methods 2006;313:161–8.
- Kaech SM, Tan JT, Wherry EJ, Konieczny BT, Surh CD, Ahmed R. Selective expression of the interleukin 7 receptor identifies effector CD8 T cells that give rise to long-lived memory cells. Nat Immunol 2003;4:1191–8.
- Lefrancois L, Marzo AL. The descent of memory T-cell subsets. Nat Rev Immunol 2006;6:618–23.
- Van Lier RA, ten Berge IJ, Gamadia LE. Human CD8⁺ T-cell differentiation in response to viruses. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3: 931–9.
- Huber M, Heink S, Grothe H, Guralnik A, Reinhard K, Elflein K, et al. A Th17-like developmental process leads to CD8⁺ Tc17 cells with reduced cytotoxic activity. Eur J Immunol 2009;39:1716–25.





This information is current as of January 14, 2013.

Identification of Regulatory Foxp3⁺ Invariant NKT Cells Induced by TGF- β

Marta Monteiro, Catarina F. Almeida, Marta Caridade, Julie C. Ribot, Joana Duarte, Ana Agua-Doce, Ivonne Wollenberg, Bruno Silva-Santos and Luis Graca

J Immunol 2010; 185:2157-2163; Prepublished online 16 July 2010; doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000359 http://www.jimmunol.org/content/185/4/2157

Supplementary Material	http://www.jimmunol.org/content/suppl/2010/07/16/jimmunol.100035 9.DC1.html
References	This article cites 38 articles , 20 of which you can access for free at: http://www.jimmunol.org/content/185/4/2157.full#ref-list-1
Subscriptions	Information about subscribing to <i>The Journal of Immunology</i> is online at: http://jimmunol.org/subscriptions
Permissions	Submit copyright permission requests at: http://www.aai.org/ji/copyright.html
Email Alerts	Receive free email-alerts when new articles cite this article. Sign up at: http://jimmunol.org/cgi/alerts/etoc

The Journal of Immunology is published twice each month by The American Association of Immunologists, Inc., 9650 Rockville Pike, Bethesda, MD 20814-3994. Copyright © 2010 by The American Association of Immunologists, Inc. All rights reserved. Print ISSN: 0022-1767 Online ISSN: 1550-6606.



Identification of Regulatory Foxp3⁺ Invariant NKT Cells Induced by TGF- β

Marta Monteiro, Catarina F. Almeida, Marta Caridade, Julie C. Ribot, Joana Duarte, Ana Agua-Doce, Ivonne Wollenberg, Bruno Silva-Santos, and Luis Graca

Invariant NKT (iNKT) cells were shown to prevent the onset of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice following administration of their specific TCR agonist α -galactosylceramide. We found that this protection was associated with the emergence of a Foxp3⁺ iNKT cell population in cervical lymph nodes. We demonstrate that the differentiation of these cells is critically dependent on TGF- β in both mice and humans. Moreover, in vivo generation of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells was observed in the TGF- β -rich environment of the murine gut. Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells displayed a phenotype similar to that of Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells, and they suppress through a contact-dependent, glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-mediated mechanism. Nevertheless, Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells retain distinctive NKT cell characteristics, such as promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger protein expression and preferential homing to the liver following adoptive transfer, where they stably maintained Foxp3 expression. Our data thus unveil an unexpected capacity of iNKT cells to acquire regulatory functions that may contribute to the establishment of immunological tolerance. *The Journal of Immunology*, 2010, 185: 2157–2163.

A atural killer T cells are innate-like lymphocytes capable of producing cytokines characteristic of Th1, Th2, or Th17 responses (1–3). They were shown to influence adaptive immunity by exacerbating or suppressing a diversity of immune disorders, such as allergy, autoimmunity, or transplantation (4–7). For instance, NKT cell activation following administration of α -galactosylceramide (α -GalCer), an NKT cell-specific agonist, can protect mice from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) manifestations (5, 8).

NKT cells express a TCR and receptors typical of the NK lineage, including NK1.1 and NKG2D (7). The best-studied NKT cell subset, known as type I, classical, or invariant NKT (iNKT) cells, has a semiinvariant TCR comprising an invariant α -chain and a restricted TCR β -chain repertoire. These cells recognize glycolipids presented by CD1d (7) and develop in the thymus, where they undergo a positive selection process mediated by double positive thymocytes acting as CD1d⁺ APCs, instead of classical MHC-expressing thymic epithelial cells (9). Thus, iNKT cells are generally considered a lineage separate from T lymphocytes, characterized molecularly by expression of promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger protein (PLZF) (10). Of note, their unique TCR remains the only distinctive feature

This work was supported by Grants PIC/IC/82895/2007 and PTDC/SAU-MII/64279/ 2006 from the Fundacao para a Ciencia e Tecnologia, Grant Immunonet-SOEI/IPI/ E014 from Sudoe (to L.G.), and Grant YIP 1440 from the European Molecular Biology Organization (to B.S.S.).

Address correspondence and reprint requests to Dr. Luis Graca, Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Lisboa, Avenida Professor Egas Moniz, 1649-025 Lisbon, Portugal. E-mail address: lgraca@fm.ul.pt

The online version of this article contains supplemental material.

Copyright © 2010 by The American Association of Immunologists, Inc. 0022-1767/10/\$16.00

www.jimmunol.org/cgi/doi/10.4049/jimmunol.1000359

enabling iNKT cell unambiguous detection, because they share many surface molecules with T cells, namely, CD3 and CD4 in mice, as well as CD8 in humans (7, 11).

Thus far, iNKT cell subsets identified in vivo can recapitulate in the innate immunity context some of the functions characteristic of conventional CD4 T lymphocytes, such as secretion of Th1, Th2, and Th17-type cytokines (1–3, 12, 13). However, a parallel between regulatory CD4 T cells (regulatory T [Treg] cells) and iNKT lymphocytes has not yet been described. Treg cells are characterized by expression of the transcription factor Foxp3 and potent immunosuppressive properties. They are crucial for the maintenance of an immunological self-tolerance state, modulating the activation, proliferation, and function of effector T cells, thereby preventing pathological immune responses, including allergy and autoimmunity (14). Treg cells develop in the thymus or in particular contexts at the periphery, when activated in the presence of TGF- β (15–18).

We have now identified a population of $Foxp3^+$ iNKT cells in cervical lymph nodes (CLNs) of mice protected from EAE following α -GalCer administration. We further demonstrate that murine and human $Foxp3^+$ iNKT cells can be induced in vitro following activation in the presence of TGF- β . $Foxp3^+$ iNKT cells display Treg cell phenotypic hallmarks, including CD25, glucocorticoidinduced TNFR (GITR), and CTLA-4, while retaining NKT cell characteristics, namely, PLZF expression. Moreover, $Foxp3^+$ iNKT cells can occur in vivo, following activation in the TGF- β -rich mucosal environment. Because of the strong suppressive properties displayed upon Foxp3 upregulation, we termed this new NKT cell subset "Foxp3⁺ NKTreg cell".

Materials and Methods

Mice

C57BL/6J (H-2^b, B6), B6.Cg-Igh^aThy1^aGpi1^a/J (H-2^b, Thy1.1), BALB/ cByJ (H-2^d, BALB/c), and B6.Cg-Tg(Cd4-TGFBR2)16FlvJ (H-2^b, dominant negative [dn] TGFB/RI] obtained from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME); B6.129S6-Rag2^{m1Fwa}N12 (H-2^b, RAG2^{-/-}) obtained from Taconic Farms (Germantown, NY); and *FoxP3^{&fp}* knockin mice (H-2^b) obtained from University of Washington (Seattle, WA) were bred and maintained in specific pathogen-free conditions at the Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, in Oeiras, Portugal. EAE was induced with 200 µg myelin

Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisbon; and Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, Oeiras, Portugal

Received for publication February 3, 2010. Accepted for publication June 4, 2010.

Abbreviations used in this paper: CLN, cervical lymph node; dn, dominant negative; EAE, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis; α-GalCer, α-galactosylceramide; GITR, glucocorticoid-induced TNFR; iNKT, invariant NKT; iNKTerg, invariant regulatory NKT; iTreg, induced regulatory T; MLN, mesenteric lymph node; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; nTreg, natural regulatory T; pLN, pooled lymph node; PLZF, promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger protein; Treg, regulatory T.

oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) peptide (Biopolymers Laboratory, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA) in 200 μ g CFA (Difco/BD Diagnostics, Franklin Lakes, NJ) s.c. and 200 ng pertussis toxin (List Biological Laboratories, Campbell, CA) i.v. on days 0 and 2. Some mice received 4 μ g α -GalCer (Alexis Biochemicals/Enzo Life Sciences, Plymouth Meeting, PA) on days 0 and 4. Disease severity was monitored daily and graded as follows: 1, limp tail; 2, partial hind-leg paralysis; 3, complete hind-leg paralysis; 4, front-leg weakness; and 5, moribund. In gavage experiments, 30 μ g α -GalCer was delivered three times every other day.

Human subjects

Peripheral blood samples were obtained from healthy volunteers of both sexes after informed consent. The procedures were reviewed and approved by the Ethical Board of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal.

Flow cytometry and cell sorting

CD1d-PBS57 tetramers were supplied by the National Institutes of Health Tetramer Core Facility (Atlanta, GA). mAbs against mouse CD4, CD25, CD62L, CD103, CD127, CTLA-4, Foxp3, IFN-y, IL-4, GITR, NK1.1, NKG2D, TCR-B, Thy1.1, Thy1.2; and human CD4, CD25, CD127, CD161, Foxp3, GITR, and TCR VB11 were purchased from eBioscience (San Diego, CA), BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA), Beckman Coulter (Fullerton, CA), or BioLegend (San Diego, CA). For murine NKT cell enrichment, cells were incubated with unconjugated anti-CD16/32 Ab (in-house production) to block nonspecific binding to FcR and labeled with PE-conjugated CD1d-PBS57 tetramers without washing. Anti-PE magnetic beads were added, and the magnetically labeled fraction was isolated in an autoMACS Cell Separator (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA). For human NKT cell enrichment, cells were labeled with biotinylated Abs against CD14, CD19, and CD123, bound to anti-biotin magnetic beads and enriched on an autoMACS Cell Separator, the magnetically labeled fraction being discarded. Intracellular flow cytometry stainings were performed using the Foxp3 Staining Buffer Set (eBioscience) for permeabilization and fixation. Samples were analyzed on a FACSCanto I (BD Biosciences) or sorted on a FACSAria (BD Biosciences), with doublet exclusion in all experiments. Data were analyzed by FlowJo (Tree Star, Ashland, OR).

Cell cultures

Following magnetic enrichment, iNKT cells isolated from mouse spleens were sorted by FACS, and 50,000 cells per well were stimulated with 3 μ g/ml plate-bound anti-CD3 (eBioscience). In some experiments, cultures were supplemented with TGF- β (5 ng/ml; R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN), IL-2 (5 ng/ml; R&D Systems). Human cells were stimulated with 1 μ g/ml plate-bound anti-CD3 (BD Biosciences). In some conditions, cultures were supplemented with TGF- β (10 ng/ml; R&D Systems), IL-2 (20 U/ml; Roche Diagnostic Systems, Indianapolis, IN), anti–IL-12 and anti–CD3 (2 μ g/ml; eBioscience), and anti–CD3 (2 μ g/ml; R&D Systems), and anti-CD2 (2 μ g/ml; eBioscience). Culture medium was RPMI 1640 with GlutaMAX, supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% PhiCillin/streptomycin, 1% sodium pyruvate, and 0.1% 2–ME (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA).

In vitro proliferation and suppression assays

Regulatory cells isolated by FACS from the spleen of naive animals (natural Treg [nTreg] cells) or from polarizing cultures (Foxp3⁺ and Foxp3⁻ iNKT or CD4 T cells) were cocultured in Terasaki plates (Greiner Bio-One, Frick-enhausen, Germany) with mitomycin C (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO)-treated splenocytes and responder cells (4000 naive CD4 T cells isolated from spleen; 1:1 ratio with splenocytes) stimulated with 2.5 μ g/ml soluble anti-CD3 for 4 d, with addition of 1 μ Ci [³H]thymidine (Amersham Biosciences/GE Healthcare, Sunnyvale, CA) in the last 12 h. In some experiments, 200 μ g/ml anti-IL10R or 100 μ g/ml anti-GITR (19) was added. In transwell assays, 100,000 naive CD4 T responder cells labeled with 5 μ M CFSE (Invitrogen) were stimulated with mitomycin C-treated splenocytes (250,000) and 1 μ g/ml soluble anti-CD3.

Confocal microscopy

Sorted Foxp3-GFP⁺ cells were plated on coverslips precoated with poly-Llysine (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated for 1 h at 37°C. Slides were then incubated with CD1d/PBS57-PE tetramer for 1 h at 4°C, washed with icecold PBS, and fixed in PBS 3% paraformaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich) for 15 min at 4°C. Slides were mounted in DAPI Fluoromount G (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL) and analyzed with a laser scanning confocal microscope (LSM 510 META, Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany).

RNA extraction, RT, and PCR

RNA was extracted from 1,000–50,000 cells directly sorted into Buffer RLT with RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA), and cDNA synthesis was performed using random primers (Invitrogen) and Superscript III RT (Invitrogen). Primers (Bonsai Technologies, Orissa, India) were as follows: PLZF fwd: 5'-ccagttacgactagaatgc-3', rev: 5'-ttcccacacacgacagacagaa-3'; Foxp3 fwd: 5'-ccagttaggatcggacagct-3', rev: 5'-ttcccacacacggcgaccattg-3'; EF1A fwd: 5'-acacgtagattccggcaagt-3', rev: 5'-ttcccacaccaggccacttg-3'. PCRs were performed using the Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix and the ABI PRISM 7000 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). All PCR products were run in agarose gel.

Statistical analysis

The p values were calculated by nonparametric unpaired t test with Welch's correction.

Results

Protection from EAE upon α -GalCer treatment leads to the emergence of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells in CLNs

Immunization with α -GalCer had been shown to prevent the onset of EAE in wild-type mice (5, 8) (Fig. 1A). Because this protection is known to be iNKT cell dependent (20) (Supplemental Fig. 1), we evaluated the number and phenotype of iNKT cells at the peak of disease. Surprisingly, we found a population of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells in CLNs (draining the CNS) of mice protected from EAE, which was absent from other anatomical locations and in CLNs of naive animals (Fig. 1B, 1C, Supplemental Fig. 2). In contrast to Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells, the number and frequency of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells remained unchanged in α -GalCer-treated mice, when compared with animals with EAE or naive controls (Fig. 1D).

Foxp3 expression has thus far been noted to be confined to conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells (21–23). Consistent with this, we found no evidence for Foxp3 expression by iNKT cells from liver, spleen, pooled lymph nodes, Peyer's patches, or thymus of naive BALB/c or C57BL/6 mice (Supplemental Fig. 3). This finding strongly suggests that Foxp3 expression is not imprinted during thymic iNKT cell development. Instead, our data indicate that peripheral induction of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells can occur under particular pathophysiological settings, such as EAE.

TGF-B induces de novo expression of Foxp3 in iNKT cells

We investigated the capacity of iNKT cells to express Foxp3 when activated in the presence of TGF-B-a condition known to convert conventional CD4 T cells into Foxp3+ "inducible" Treg cells (14, 16). Sorted iNKT and CD4+CD25-T cells were stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 in the presence of IL-2 and TGF-β. After 3 d, Foxp3 expression was detectable in a significant proportion of both iNKT (29.35% \pm 11.80) and CD4 (53.21% \pm 12.03) T cell cultures (Fig. 2A, 2B). Similar results were obtained with iNKT cells from mice harboring a Foxp3-GFP knockin allele (Foxp3^{gfp} mice) (21) and BALB/c mice (Fig. 2C, Supplemental Fig. 4), and with iNKT cells sorted from the thymus, albeit the latter exhibited a lower conversion efficiency (Fig. 2D). Foxp3^{gfp} iNKT cells were sorted after conversion and individual cells analyzed by confocal microscopy. As shown in Fig. 2E, staining with CD1d tetramer loaded with the PBS57 ligand confirms that these Foxp3-expressing cells bear in their surface the invariant TCR that recognizes glycolipid Ags, a feature exclusively attributed to iNKT cells. Therefore, bona fide iNKT cells were similar to conventional CD4 T cells in their ability to upregulate the Foxp3 transcription factor when stimulated under appropriate conditions. Of note, this property was not shared by other unconventional

FIGURE 1. Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells in α-GalCertreated mice. EAE was induced in C57BL/6 mice (MOG), some of which were treated with α-GalCer (MOG + α-GalCer). A, Mice treated with α-GalCer were protected from EAE. n = 5; p < 0.01. B, Representative data from CLNs of naive and α-GalCertreated mice (gated on iNKT cells, identified as CD1d/PBS57⁺TCRβ⁺ cells). C, Number of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells in CLNs, showing increased Foxp3⁺ iNKT cell numbers in α-GalCer-treated mice. n =5; *p < 0.05. D, The number of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in CLN remained constant. Data are representative of three independent experiments.



(non–MHC-restricted) T cells, such as $\gamma\delta$ T cells, which failed to upregulate Foxp3 upon activation in the presence of TGF- β (M. Monteiro and J. Ribot, unpublished observations).

We analyzed the kinetics of Foxp3 induction and evaluated the stability of Foxp3 expression by iNKT cells in culture for 14 d (Supplemental Fig. 5). We observed that, despite a lower conver-



FIGURE 2. iNKT cells upregulate Foxp3 expression in the presence of TGF-B. A-C, Splenic iNKT cells and CD4+CD25- T cells were sorted and stimulated with or without added TGF-B. A. Gating strategy used for cell sorting of iNKT cells (upper panels) and naive CD4 T cells (lower panels). The gating strategy used for analysis after 3 d of culture is also depicted for iNKT cells and CD4 T cells. B, Foxp3 expression in iNKT cells (upper panels) and control CD4 T cell cultures (lower panels) from C57BL/6 mice. C, Foxp3 expression in splenic iNKT cells from Foxp3gfp knockin mice. D, Foxp3 expression in iNKT cells isolated from thymi of C57BL/6 mice. E, Foxp3 expression by iNKT cells was confirmed at single-cell level by confocal microscopy. Foxp3gfp cells were FACS sorted after 3 d of culture, their invariant TCR was restained with PE-labeled CD1d/PBS57 tetramer (red), and the nucleus was counterstained with DAPI (blue). Foxp3 expression fluoresces in green (original magnification ×630). F and G, Titration of anti-CD3 or TGF- β concentration to address the impact on Foxp3 induction in splenic iNKT cells. F, iNKT cells cultured for 3 d in the presence of 5 ng/ml IL-2 and TGF-B, and stimulated with the indicated concentrations of anti-CD3. G, iNKT cells and CD4⁺ CD25⁻ T cells stimulated with 3 µg/ml anti-CD3 in the presence of 5 ng/ml of IL-2 and different concentrations of TGF-β after 3 d of culture. H, Foxp3 expression in iNKT cells from MLNs of C57BL/6 or dn TGFBRII mice following intragastric delivery of α-GalCer over 1 wk. Results are representative of three independent experiments with three mice per group.

FIGURE 3. Phenotype of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells. A and B, iNKT cells and CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells from the spleen of BALB/c (A) or C57BL/6 (B) mice were FACS sorted and cultured for 3 d in the presence of IL-2 and TGF-β. Histograms represent Foxp3⁺ (gray) and Foxp3⁻ (white) cells within iNKT or CD4 T cell subpopulations after conversion. Results are representative of two independent experiments. C, Quantification of Foxp3 and PLZF transscripts, relative to EF1A expression, from Foxp3-GPF⁺ iNKT cells or CD4 T cells sorted after culture.



sion efficiency of iNKT cells when compared with CD4 T cell controls, iNKT cell numbers increased continuously over 14 d in culture.

We next tested the impact of TCR signal strength, costimulation, and cytokine addition on the conversion of iNKT cells into Foxp3 expressers. Maximal induction of Foxp3 was achieved with 3 μ g/ml plate-bound anti-CD3 and 5 ng/ml TGF- β and IL-2, whereas further addition of IL-15 or IL-7 had little impact (Fig. 2*F*, Supplemental Fig. 4). Of note, titration of TGF- β concentration clearly revealed that this cytokine is essential for the induction of Foxp3 expression in iNKT cells (Fig. 2*G*).

TGF-β is required for expression of Foxp3 in iNKT cells in vivo

Th17 cell differentiation is critical for EAE development and requires a combination of cytokines, including TGF- β (24, 25). Accordingly, TGF-B neutralization at the time of EAE induction was shown to prevent the disease onset (26). Thus, to confirm TGF-β requirement for in vivo generation of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells, we adopted an alternative approach, taking advantage of the TGFβ-rich environment of the gut mucosa. We investigated whether intragastric delivery of α -GalCer could lead to the emergence of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells in mesenteric lymph nodes (MLNs), in the same way oral tolerance leads to de novo induction of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells (27). We observed that α -GalCer delivery led to an accumulation of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells in MLNs (Fig. 2H). Of note, most Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells from MLNs expressed low levels of CD25, something observed with the in vivo peripheral conversion of Treg cells in some conditions. To address whether in vivo generation of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells required TGF-β, we used dn TGFβRII mice (28), whose T and NKT cells are unable to transduce TGF-B signals, and observed no induction of Foxp3 expression in iNKT cells (Fig. 2H). Taken together, our observations suggest Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells do not naturally arise during their development in the thymus, but can be induced in the periphery in environments where TGF-β is present.

$Foxp3^+$ iNKT cells display phenotypic characteristics of Treg cells and NKT cells

Once we established that iNKT lymphocytes could express Foxp3, we examined the phenotype of the converted cells. Many of the phenotypic characteristics of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells were shared with in vitro converted Foxp3⁺ CD4 Treg cells. Both populations were predominantly CD25⁺, CTLA-4⁺, GITR⁺, CD103⁺, and IL-7Ra⁻ (Fig. 3A). However, we also observed some differences between the two populations: Whereas Foxp3⁺ CD4 T cells were heterogeneous for CD62L expression, Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells were homogeneously CD62L^{low}. The absence of CD62L, in association with the high

expression of CD103, suggests that in vivo Foxp3⁺iNKT cells are excluded from lymph nodes and preferentially migrate to peripheral tissues. Interestingly, iNKT cells that had upregulated Foxp3 expression failed to secrete IL-4 and IFN- γ upon restimulation (Supplemental Fig. 6).

We also found that the capacity to induce Foxp3 expression was shared by CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ iNKT cells, as sorted CD4⁻ and CD4⁺ iNKT cells exhibited similar conversion efficiency (Fig. 3*B*) (M. Monteiro and C.F. Almeida, unpublished data). In addition, Foxp3⁺ iNKT lymphocytes were NK1.1⁻, and the majority expressed NKG2D. We also could detect the expression of PLZF, a transcription factor reported to distinguish NKT cells from conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cells (10), in both sorted Foxp3⁺ and Foxp3⁻ iNKT cell subsets (Fig. 3*C*). Together, these observations indicate that induction of Foxp3 expression in iNKT lymphocytes does not corrupt their NKT cell nature.

Foxp3⁺ *iNKT cells migrate to the liver and maintain Foxp3 expression in vivo*

To investigate the in vivo stability of Foxp3 expression in iNKT cells, we injected converted Foxp3-GFP⁺ iNKT cells or control induced Foxp3-GFP⁺ CD4 T (iTreg) cells into $RAG2^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 4) or congenic Thy1.1 hosts (Supplemental Fig. 7). By contrast to iTreg cells, which migrated preferentially to the lymph nodes, but could also be found in the spleen and liver, 21 d after adoptive transfer iNKT cells could be detected only in the latter organ, where 50–80% (in empty hosts) or up to 10% (in wild-type congenic hosts) of iNKT cells maintained Foxp3 expression



FIGURE 4. Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells migrate to the liver. A total of 5×10^4 Foxp3-GFP⁺ iNKT cells or CD4 T cells sorted from polarizing in vitro cultures were injected i.v. into RAG2^{-/-} recipients. Data show Foxp3 and CD25 expression of iNKT cells and CD4 T cells, identified respectively as TCR β intermediate, tetramer positive, and TCR β ⁺CD4⁺ cells inside the lymphocyte gate, in the liver, and in pLNs 21 d after adoptive transfer. iNKT cells were detected only in the liver. Data are representative of two independent experiments. pLNs, pooled lymph nodes.



FIGURE 5. Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells suppress T cell proliferation through a GITR-mediated contact-dependent mechanism. Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells and Foxp3⁻ iNKT cells sorted from the same cultures, iTreg cells (CD4 Foxp3⁺), and nTreg cells were cocultured at different ratios with responder T cells. *A*, Average inhibition of proliferation from three independent experiments (each one with triplicates) normalized to proliferation of responder cells alone, assessed by thymidine incorporation. *B*, Representative experiment at a 2:1 ratio. n = 3; *p < 0.05. *C*, Addition of anti-GITR, but not anti-IL-10R, abrogated the suppressive effect of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells. n = 4; **p < 0.01. *D*, Proliferation of CFSE-labeled responder cells cultured for 72 h at 1:1 ratio with Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells in a transwell assay, in which the two populations were cultured in contact (black histogram) or separated by a transmembrane (gray histogram). Dotted histogram shows proliferation in the absence of regulatory cells. *Upper left* numbers indicate the frequency of responder cells from the three conditions within the indicated gate.

(Fig. 4, Supplemental Fig. 7). In fact, it is becoming apparent that Foxp3 expression by conventional Treg cells is less stable than initially anticipated, especially under lymphopenic conditions (29). Our data indicate that in vivo Foxp3 stability in converted iNKT cells is not inferior to that of iTreg cells, although both populations have distinct homing potentials: Whereas CD4 Treg cells migrate predominantly to secondary lymphoid organs upon adoptive transfer, Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells preferentially home to the liver. We thus suggest that the recruitment of regulatory iNKT cells to peripheral tissues may be important to complement and/or reinforce the local action of Treg cells (30).

Invariant regulatory NKT cells display contact-dependent GITR-mediated suppressive function

To evaluate the regulatory function of Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells, we tested their ability to suppress proliferation of CD4⁺CD25⁻ "responder"

cells. We used iNKT cells derived from Foxp3gfp mice converted in the presence of TGF-B and, as controls, natural (nTreg) and iTreg cells. Titration of regulatory/responder cell ratio revealed that converted Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells can indeed inhibit the proliferation of responder cells with similar efficiency to iTreg cells, and only slightly inferior to the efficiency of nTreg cells (Fig. 5A, 5B). Addition of anti-GITR (19), but not anti-IL-10R, neutralizing Abs to the cultures reversed suppression, indicating that GITR plays a predominant role in the regulatory function of Foxp3+ iNKT lymphocytes (Fig. 5C). In agreement with these results, $Foxp3^+$ iNKT cells showed impaired suppressive effect compared with responder cell proliferation when cultured in a separate transwell (Fig. 5D), which excludes a major contribution for soluble factors to regulation. These results demonstrate that, similarly to conventional Treg cells (31, 32), induction of Foxp3 in iNKT lymphocytes endows these cells with suppressive function exerted through a contact-dependent

FIGURE 6. Foxp3 expression can be induced in human iNKT cells. Human iNKT cells and CD4⁺ T cells from peripheral blood were magnetically enriched and cocultured for 5 d in the presence or absence of a conversion mixture, including or not including TGF-B. A. After culture, iNKT cells were identified by costaining of human CD1d/PBS57 tetramer and anti-TCR-VB11 Ab inside the lymphocyte gate (iNKT). Background of tetramer staining was evaluated with an empty human CD1d tetramer (control). CD4 T cells were gated inside the CD1d/PBS57-negative region (CD4). B, Flow cytometry data showing the coexpression of Foxp3 along with CD25, CD127, GITR, or CD161 in iNKT cell (upper panels) and CD4+ T cell gates (lower panels). Results are representative of three independent experiments from different blood donors with at least three replicate cultures per condition.



mechanism mediated by GITR. This parallel with Foxp3⁺ Treg cells prompted us to name these Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells "Foxp3⁺ invariant regulatory NKT (iNKTreg) cells".

$TGF-\beta$ -mediated induction of Foxp3 expression in human iNKT cells

Finally, we also evaluated whether Foxp3 expression could be induced in human iNKT cells. Given the lower frequency of iNKT lymphocytes in human peripheral blood (31), we enriched total T cells by magnetic separation and cultured these bulk populations in polarizing conditions that included TGF- β and a mixture of neutralizing Abs against IL-12, IFN- γ , and IL-4 (32) (Fig. 6*A*). After 5 d of culture, up to 40% of human iNKT cells had upregulated Foxp3, an efficiency of conversion comparable to that of conventional CD4⁺ T cells (Fig. 6*B*). The converted human Foxp3⁺ NKT cells were CD25⁺, GITR⁺, and predominantly CD161⁺, whereas CD127 was expressed by approximately half of the Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells. Critically, these data establish that the induction of Foxp3 in NKT cells is a conserved phenomenon between rodents and humans.

Discussion

Among hematopoietic cells, Foxp3 expression has been claimed to be restricted to conventional T cells (24–27, 33). We now describe, for the first time, that iNKT and CD4 T lymphocyte populations share a similar competence in responding to a tolerogenic cytokine environment, namely, TGF- β , by expressing Foxp3 and undergoing functional specialization toward a regulatory phenotype. It should be noted, however, that Foxp3 induction upon activation in the presence of TGF- β is not a common feature of all lymphocytes: In particular, we were unable to convert sorted $\gamma\delta$ T cells by CD3 stimulation in the presence of TGF- β (M. Monteiro and J. Ribot, unpublished observations). In addition, this potential appears to be a conserved feature of iNKT cells, as we were able to induce Foxp3 expression in samples from different murine strains and from human beings.

Our results clearly demonstrate that TGF-B is the critical cytokine promoting Foxp3 upregulation in iNKT cells, as described for CD4⁺ T cell conversion into Foxp3⁺ Treg cells (15–18). As a consequence, we took advantage of the TGF-\beta-rich environment of the gut to assess in vivo conversion of Foxp3+ iNKT cells. In fact, it has already been described that oral delivery of an Ag can lead to a state of mucosal tolerance in which Ag-specific T cells are locally converted into Treg cells (27). In this paper, we show that intragastric delivery of α-GalCer induces the emergence of Foxp3⁺ iNK-Treg cells in MLNs. However, this process was impaired in mice with NKT cells unable to integrate the signals delivered through the TGF-BR, thus establishing a crucial role for TGF-B in the in vivo conversion of Foxp3⁺ NKT cells. Therefore, although oral tolerance to proteic Ags, such as OVA, can be achieved in the absence of iNKT cells, as it has been shown using TCR-transgenic RAGdeficient mice (27), our results suggest that iNKT cells in the gut, exposed to glycolipid ligands, can convert into Foxp3+ cells and synergize with local Treg cells in the promotion of tolerance to food Ags.

Most reports have shown that Foxp3⁺ Treg cells suppress immune responses through cell contact-dependent mechanisms (34, 35). Several surface molecules preferentially expressed by Treg cells, such as GITR, have been implicated in their suppressive function (31, 32). We found that NKTreg cells can also suppress naive T cell proliferation by a GITR-dependent, IL-10–independent mechanism. Moreover, iNKTreg cells were unable to suppress responder cell proliferation when physically separated in a transwell, which excludes the additional contribution of soluble regulatory factors.

Although iNKT cells expressing Foxp3 have never been found in naive mice (21), the presence of this population has never been investigated in the context of an immune response. For instance, iNKT cells were reported to play important regulatory roles in the development of anterior chamber-associated immune deviation, transplantation tolerance, and prevention of autoimmunity, such as EAE, as lack of iNKT cells or decreased iNKT cell numbers compromise tolerance. However, in none of these studies was Foxp3 expression assessed in iNKT cells (33). Importantly, iNKT cell surface molecules largely overlap with those expressed by conventional CD4 T lymphocytes, and Foxp3+ iNKT cells downregulate expression of NK1.1, a molecule often used in previous studies to distinguish NKT cells from T lymphocytes. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that without an unambiguous identification with a specific tetramer, Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells could have been erroneously detected as conventional Treg cells. Furthermore, until the development of a conditional knockout mouse lacking Foxp3 exclusively in iNKT cells-for instance, based on a PLZF-driven Cre expression system-it will not be possible to discriminate between the contribution of NKTreg cells and that of Treg cells in immune pathology. Although this topic surely deserves further investigation, the results presented in this paper clearly establish a new type of iNKT cell characterized by Foxp3 expression and immune regulatory properties similar to those of conventional Treg cells, one that might contribute to the maintenance of immune tolerance in the periphery.

Finally, the strong immunosuppressive properties displayed by NKTreg cells raise the possibility of their therapeutic application in the control of immune-mediated diseases, in particular, liver immune-mediated inflammation. Given their invariant specificity, Foxp3⁺ NKTreg cells are assumed to have a general immunosuppressive action. It should be noted, however, that polyclonal Treg cell populations are likely to have, at least in part, a similar non-specific immunosuppressive effect, possibly due to cross-reactivity with self-Ags (36). Indeed, these nonspecific effects can serve as the basis of Treg cell suppression in lymphopenia-driven proliferation and graft-versus-host disease (36–38). Notably, the invariant TCR expressed by Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells might provide an advantageous, universally applicable method for their isolation, conversion, and expansion, regardless of genetic background or pathology.

Acknowledgments

We thank the National Institutes of Health Tetramer Core Facility (Atlanta, GA) for CD1d/PBS57 tetramers, the National Institutes of Health AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program for human IL-2 (from Roche), A.Y. Rudensky (University of Washington, Seattle, WA) for Foxp3^{g/p} knockin mice, and H. Waldmann (University of Oxford, Oxford, U.K.) for anti-GITR hybridoma.

Disclosures

The authors have no financial conflicts of interest.

References

- Kronenberg, M. 2005. Toward an understanding of NKT cell biology: progress and paradoxes. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 23: 877–900.
- Gumperz, J. E., S. Miyake, T. Yamamura, and M. B. Brenner. 2002. Functionally distinct subsets of CD1d-restricted natural killer T cells revealed by CD1d tetramer staining. J. Exp. Med. 195: 625–636.
- Michel, M. L., A. C. Keller, C. Paget, M. Fujio, F. Trottein, P. B. Savage, C. H. Wong, E. Schneider, M. Dy, and M. C. Leite-de-Moraes. 2007. Identification of an IL-17-producing NK1.1(neg) iNKT cell population involved in airway neutrophilia. J. Exp. Med. 204: 995–1001.
- Hong, S., M. T. Wilson, I. Serizawa, L. Wu, N. Singh, O. V. Naidenko, T. Miura, T. Haba, D. C. Scherer, J. Wei, et al. 2001. The natural killer T-cell ligand alphagalactosylceramide prevents autoimmune diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice. *Nat. Med.* 7: 1052–1056.
- Singh, A. K., M. T. Wilson, S. Hong, D. Olivares-Villagómez, C. Du, A. K. Stanic, S. Joyce, S. Sriram, Y. Koezuka, and L. Van Kaer. 2001. Natural killer T cell

activation protects mice against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J. Exp. Med. 194: 1801–1811.

- Kim, E. Y., J. T. Battaile, A. C. Patel, Y. You, E. Agapov, M. H. Grayson, L. A. Benoit, D. E. Byers, Y. Alevy, J. Tucker, et al. 2008. Persistent activation of an innate immune response translates respiratory viral infection into chronic lung disease. *Nat. Med.* 14: 633–640.
- Bendelac, A., P. B. Savage, and L. Teyton. 2007. The biology of NKT cells. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 25: 297–336.
- Mars, L. T., L. Araujo, P. Kerschen, S. Diem, E. Bourgeois, L. P. Van, N. Carrié, M. Dy, R. S. Liblau, and A. Herbelin. 2009. Invariant NKT cells inhibit development of the Th17 lineage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 106: 6238–6243.
- Godfrey, D. I., and S. P. Berzins. 2007. Control points in NKT-cell development. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7: 505–518.
- Savage, A. K., M. G. Constantinides, J. Han, D. Picard, E. Martin, B. Li, O. Lantz, and A. Bendelac. 2008. The transcription factor PLZF directs the effector program of the NKT cell lineage. *Immunity* 29: 391–403.
- Van Kaer, L. 2007. NKT cells: T lymphocytes with innate effector functions. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 19: 354–364.
- Coquet, J. M., S. Chakravarti, K. Kyparissoudis, F. W. McNab, L. A. Pitt, B. S. McKenzie, S. P. Berzins, M. J. Smyth, and D. I. Godfrey. 2008. Diverse cytokine production by NKT cell subsets and identification of an IL-17producing CD4-NK1.1- NKT cell population. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 105: 11287–11292.
- Rachitskaya, A. V., A. M. Hansen, R. Horai, Z. Li, R. Villasmil, D. Luger, R. B. Nussenblatt, and R. R. Caspi. 2008. Cutting edge: NKT cells constitutively express IL-23 receptor and RORgammat and rapidly produce IL-17 upon receptor ligation in an IL-6-independent fashion. *J. Immunol.* 180: 5167–5171.
- Sakaguchi, S., T. Yamaguchi, T. Nomura, and M. Ono. 2008. Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance. *Cell* 133: 775–787.
- Cobbold, S. P., R. Castejon, E. Adams, D. Zelenika, L. Graca, S. Humm, and H. Waldmann. 2004. Induction of foxP3+ regulatory T cells in the periphery of T cell receptor transgenic mice tolerized to transplants. *J. Immunol.* 172: 6003– 6010.
- Chen, W., W. Jin, N. Hardegen, K. J. Lei, L. Li, N. Marinos, G. McGrady, and S. M. Wahl. 2003. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4 +CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. J. Exp. Med. 198: 1875–1886.
- Belghith, M., J. A. Bluestone, S. Barriot, J. Mégret, J. F. Bach, and L. Chatenoud. 2003. TGF-beta-dependent mechanisms mediate restoration of self-tolerance induced by antibodies to CD3 in overt autoimmune diabetes. *Nat. Med.* 9: 1202–1208.
- Ghiringhelli, F., C. Ménard, M. Terme, C. Flament, J. Taieb, N. Chaput, P. E. Puig, S. Novault, B. Escudier, E. Vivier, et al. 2005. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells inhibit natural killer cell functions in a transforming growth factorbeta-dependent manner. J. Exp. Med. 202: 1075–1085.
 Tone, M., Y. Tone, E. Adams, S. F. Yates, M. R. Frewin, S. P. Cobbold, and
- Tone, M., Y. Tone, E. Adams, S. F. Yates, M. R. Frewin, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann. 2003. Mouse glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor ligand is costimulatory for T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 100: 15059–15064.
- Jahng, A. W., I. Maricic, B. Pedersen, N. Burdin, O. Naidenko, M. Kronenberg, Y. Koezuka, and V. Kumar. 2001. Activation of natural killer T cells potentiates or prevents experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Exp. Med.* 194: 1789–1799.
- Fontenot, J. D., J. P. Rasmussen, L. M. Williams, J. L. Dooley, A. G. Farr, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2005. Regulatory T cell lineage specification by the forkhead transcription factor foxp3. *Immunity* 22: 329–341.

- Hori, S., T. Nomura, and S. Sakaguchi. 2003. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science* 299: 1057–1061.
- Kapp, J. A., K. Honjo, L. M. Kapp, X. Xu, A. Cozier, and R. P. Bucy. 2006. TCR transgenic CD8+ T cells activated in the presence of TGFbeta express FoxP3 and mediate linked suppression of primary immune responses and cardiac allograft rejection. *Int. Immunol.* 18: 1549–1562.
- Langrish, C. L., Y. Chen, W. M. Blumenschein, J. Mattson, B. Basham, J. D. Sedgwick, T. McClanahan, R. A. Kastelein, and D. J. Cua. 2005. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. *J. Exp. Med.* 201: 233–240.
- Veldhoen, M., R. J. Hocking, C. J. Atkins, R. M. Locksley, and B. Stockinger. 2006. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity* 24: 179–189.
- Veldhoen, M., R. J. Hocking, R. A. Flavell, and B. Stockinger. 2006. Signals mediated by transforming growth factor-beta initiate autoimmune encephalomyelitis, but chronic inflammation is needed to sustain disease. *Nat. Immunol.* 7: 1151–1156.
- Mucida, D., N. Kutchukhidze, A. Erazo, M. Russo, J. J. Lafaille, and M. A. Curotto de Lafaille. 2005. Oral tolerance in the absence of naturally occurring Treg cells. J. Clin. Invest. 115: 1923–1933.
- Gorelik, L., and R. A. Flavell. 2000. Abrogation of TGFbeta signaling in T cells leads to spontaneous T cell differentiation and autoimmune disease. *Immunity* 12: 171–181.
- Komatsu, N., M. E. Mariotti-Ferrandiz, Y. Wang, B. Malissen, H. Waldmann, and S. Hori. 2009. Heterogeneity of natural Foxp3+ T cells: a committed regulatory T-cell lineage and an uncommitted minor population retaining plasticity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106: 1903–1908.
- Graca, L., S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann. 2002. Identification of regulatory T cells in tolerated allografits. *J. Exp. Med.* 195: 1641–1646.
 Shimizu, J., S. Yamzaki, T. Takahashi, Y. Ishida, and S. Sakaguchi. 2002.
- Shimizu, J., S. Yamazaki, T. Takahashi, Y. Ishida, and S. Sakaguchi. 2002. Stimulation of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells through GITR breaks immunological self-tolerance. *Nat. Immunol.* 3: 135–142.
- McHugh, R. S., M. J. Whitters, C. A. Piccirillo, D. A. Young, E. M. Shevach, M. Collins, and M. C. Byrne. 2002. CD4(+)CD25(+) immunoregulatory T cells: gene expression analysis reveals a functional role for the glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor. *Immunity* 16: 311–323.
- Nowak, M., and J. Stein-Streilein. 2007. Invariant NKT cells and tolerance. Int. Rev. Immunol. 26: 95–119.
- Thornton, A. M., and E. M. Shevach. 1998. CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells suppress polyclonal T cell activation in vitro by inhibiting interleukin 2 production. J. Exp. Med. 188: 287–296.
- Takahashi, T., Y. Kuniyasu, M. Toda, N. Sakaguchi, M. Itoh, M. Iwata, J. Shimizu, and S. Sakaguchi. 1998. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25+CD4+ naturally anergic and suppressive T cells: induction of autoimmune disease by breaking their anergic/suppressive state. *Int. Immunol.* 10: 1969–1980.
- Graca, L., A. Le Moine, C. Y. Lin, P. J. Fairchild, S. P. Cobbold, and H. Waldmann. 2004. Donor-specific transplantation tolerance: the paradoxical behavior of CD4+CD25+ T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 101: 10122–10126.
- Annacker, O., R. Pimenta-Araujo, O. Burlen-Defranoux, T. C. Barbosa, A. Cumano, and A. Bandeira. 2001. CD25+ CD4+ T cells regulate the expansion of peripheral CD4 T cells through the production of IL-10. *J. Immunol.* 166: 3008–3018.
- Edinger, M., P. Hoffmann, J. Ermann, K. Drago, C. G. Fathman, S. Strober, and R. S. Negrin. 2003. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells preserve graft-versus-tumor activity while inhibiting graft-versus-host disease after bone marrow transplantation. *Nat. Med.* 9: 1144–1150.



Supplemental Figure 1

 α -GalCer administration does not prevent EAE manifestations in mice lacking iNKT cells. EAE was induced in C57Bl/6 (B6+MOG) and in β 2-microglobulin deficient mice (β 2m+MOG) mice, some of which were treated with α -GalCer. Administration of α -GalCer prevented the development of EAE in B6 but not in β 2-microglobulin deficient mice, which lack iNKT cells (n=5, *P*<0.01).



Supplemental Figure 2

Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells generated during EAE are only detectable in cervical LNs. EAE was induced in C57Bl/6 mice (MOG), some of which were treated with α -GalCer (MOG+ α -GalCer). Panels show representative flow cytometry data of cells isolated

from different organs 14 days after immunization with MOG, showing iNKT identification with the specific tetramer and anti-CD3 or TCR β , and Foxp3 staining within iNKT and CD4 T cell gates. A control dot plot obtained with an empty CD1d tetramer is also represented. Data are representative of three independent experiments.



Supplemental Figure 3

iNKT cells from naïve C57Bl/6, Balb/c, and Foxp3^{g/p} knockin mice lack Foxp3 expression. Analysis of Foxp3 expression in lymphocytes isolated from the liver, pooled LNs, Peyer's Patches (PP), spleen and thymus of C57Bl/6, Balb/c mice and Foxp3^{g/p} naïve mice. iNKT cells were identified by co-staining with CD1d/PBS57 tetramer and a pan TCR-β antibody inside the lymphocyte gate (upper row). Background staining of iNKT cells was assessed for every organ using an empty CD1d tetramer (shown for liver only). Foxp3 expression was analyzed through intracellular antibody staining or based on GFP fluorescence (in Foxp3^{g/p} mice). Foxp3⁺ cells were only present among the CD1d/PBS57⁻ cells. We confirmed these Foxp3⁺ cells as being CD4⁺ T lymphocytes (right dotplot, shown only for LNs). Results are representative of three mice from two independent experiments.

Supplemental Figure 4



Culture of Balb/c iNKT cells under different cytokine conditions. iNKT cells isolated from the spleen of Balb/c mice were FACS-sorted according to the co-expression of a CD1d/PBS57 tetramer and a pan TCR- β antibody, and stimulated with 3 μ g/mL of plate-bound anti-CD3 for 3 days in the indicated conditions. Results are representative of three independent experiments.


Supplemental Figure 5

Time-course analysis of Foxp3 induction and stability in iNKT cells. iNKT and naïve CD4 T cells isolated form the spleen of naïve C57BL/6 mice were sorted, stimulated *in vitro* in presence of IL-2 and TGF- β and Foxp3 expression analyzed at different time points. *A* Kinetics of Foxp3 upregulation at the indicated time-points in the first 72 hours of culture. The profile of NK1.1 and CD4 expression in Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells is shown in panel *A*, middle row. *B*, Graphs represent kinetics of the number of Foxp3⁺ iNKT or CD4 T cells cultured for 14 days in presence of TGF- β . Culture medium was replaced every 3 days and wells split when cells reached confluence. Data is representative of at least 2 independent experiments performed with triplicates.



Supplemental Figure 6

Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells fail to produce IL-4 and IFN-\gamma. After 3 days of *in vitro* stimulation in presence of IL-2 and TGF- β , iNKT cells were stimulated with PMA/ionomycin and IL-4, IFN- γ and Foxp3 were detected by flow cytometry. The figure shows the co-staining of cytokines and Foxp3, or the respective isotype controls, in both iNKT (left dot plots) and CD4 T cells (right dot plots) cultured in absence (top row) or presence of exogenous TGF- β (second and third rows). Data are representative of two independent experiments performed with triplicate cultures per condition.







C Day21 post transfer

In vivo distribution of adoptively transferred Foxp3⁺ iNKT cells. 1×10^{5} Foxp3-GFP⁺ or Foxp3-GFP⁻ iNKT cells (sorted from the same 5-day cultures) were transferred intravenously into congenic Thy1.1 naïve hosts. At day 7 or 21 after adoptive transfer, mice were sacrificed and cells recovered from different tissues were analyzed by flow cytometry. *A*, Dot plots from the cell-sorting of iNKT cultures, in which Foxp3⁻ and Foxp3⁺ were isolated based on GFP fluorescence. Purity of sortings is also shown. *B*,*C*, Representative FACS data of cells isolated from the indicated organs at day 7 (B) or 21 (C) post-transfer. To identify donor cells, we first excluded background and host cells

through MHC class II and Thy1.1 staining, respectively, inside the lymphocyte gate, gating afterwards on Thy1.2⁺ cells and then in tetramer and CD3 co-expressers. Foxp3 expression was translated by GFP signal. D, Dot plots show the co-staining of Thy1.1 and Thy1.2 of cells isolated from the indicated organs of unmanipulated Thy1.1 control mice gated as in B and C.



Modulation of IL-17 and Foxp3 Expression in the Prevention of Autoimmune Arthritis in Mice

Joana Duarte^{1,2}, Ana Agua-Doce^{1,2}, Vanessa G. Oliveira^{1,2}, João Eurico Fonseca^{1,3}, Luis Graca^{1,2}*

1 Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina, University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal, 2 Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciência, Oeiras, Portugal, 3 Rheumatology Department, Hospital de Santa Maria, Lisbon, Portugal

Abstract

Background: Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA) is a chronic immune mediated disease associated with deregulation of many cell types. It has been reported that different T cell subsets have opposite effects in disease pathogenesis, in particular Th17 and Treg cells.

Methodology and Findings: We investigated whether non-depleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies, which have been reported as pro-tolerogenic, can lead to protection from chronic autoimmune arthritis in SKG mice – a recently described animal model of RA – by influencing the Th17/Treg balance. We found that non-depleting anti-CD4 prevented the onset of chronic autoimmune arthritis in SKG mice. Moreover, treated mice were protected from the induction of arthritis up to 60 days following anti-CD4 treatment, while remaining able to mount CD4-dependent immune responses to unrelated antigens. The antibody treatment also prevented disease progression in arthritic mice, although without leading to remission. Protection from arthritis was associated with an increased ratio of Foxp3, and decreased IL-17 producing T cells in the synovia. *In vitro* assays under Th17-polarizing conditions showed CD4-blockade prevents Th17 polarization, while favoring Foxp3 induction.

Conclusions: Non-depleting anti-CD4 can therefore induce long-term protection from chronic autoimmune arthritis in SKG mice through reciprocal changes in the frequency of Treg and Th17 cells in peripheral tissues, thus shifting the balance towards immune tolerance.

Citation: Duarte J, Agua-Doce A, Oliveira VG, Fonseca JE, Graca L (2010) Modulation of IL-17 and Foxp3 Expression in the Prevention of Autoimmune Arthritis in Mice. PLoS ONE 5(5): e10558. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010558

Editor: Derya Unutmaz, New York University, United States of America

Received February 26, 2010; Accepted April 16, 2010; Published May 10, 2010

Copyright: © 2010 Duarte et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: This work was funded by SUDDE, grant number IMMUNONET-SOE1/1P1/E014, and supported by a research grant from Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT), Portugal (FCT/POCI/SAU-MMO/55974/2004). JD, AA-D, and VGO are funded with scholarships from FCT (SFRH/BD/23631/2005, SFRH/BD/49093/ 2008, and SFRH/BPD/22575/2005). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* E-mail: lgraca@fm.ul.pt

Introduction

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a common chronic autoimmune inflammatory disease characterized by destruction of the synovial joints, leading to progressive disability, increased co-morbidity and premature mortality [1,2]. Both genetic and environmental factors are known to contribute to the development of the disease [3]. RA is characterized by a complex immune mediated response with the participation of many cell types including CD4⁺ T cells [4,5.6]. such as the IL-17 producing Th17 subset, which have been shown to play an important role in the pathogenesis of the disease [7,8,9]. The participation of CD4⁺ T cells in the pathogenesis of RA, namely by influencing other key cellular mediators of the disease (such as B cells or macrophages), has prompted the development of therapeutic strategies targeting this lymphocyte population [10,11,12,13]. Monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) targeting key T cell molecules (such as co-receptor and co-stimulation) have been suggested as drugs capable of achieving long-term protection from the disease, with the potential of leading to immune tolerance, following a short treatment [14]. Indeed long-term transplantation tolerance can be induced in mice following CD4 or co-stimulation blockade [15,16,17].

The most commonly used mouse models for autoimmune arthritis – such as collagen-induced arthritis – have been instrumental in the development of new therapies, such as the blockade of key cytokines, such as TNF. However, arthritis in these mice is self-limited and, as such, pre-clinical studies of putative tolerogenic regimens aiming for long-term effects have been hampered by the lack of suitable animal models of chronic autoimmune arthritis that are not TCR transgenic.

SKG mice, harboring a mutation in ZAP-70 rendering T cells more resistant to activation and thus interfering with appropriate negative selection in the thymus, have been recently described as developing chronic autoimmune arthritis with several characteristics resembling RA [18]. Arthritis in SKG mice has a centripetal course starting with small finger joints, eventually leading to histological changes and bone destruction similar to RA [19]. The incidence and severity of the disease is greater in females, with most mice developing rheumatoid factor (RF), and some animals displaying extra-articular lesions similar to rheumatoid nodules and pneumonitis [18]. Although CD4⁺ T cells, and its Th17 subset, are important in the pathogenesis of arthritis in SKG mice, other cell populations, such as B cells, participate in the disease as suggested by the production of RF in these animals [18]. Our data reports the long-term protection from chronic autoimmune arthritis following a short course of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb in SKG mice, associated with decreased IL-17 and increased Foxp3 expression in the synovial tissue. Furthermore, the non-depleting nature of the therapeutic MAb preserves the immune competence of treated mice.

Methods

Ethics Statement

All experiments involving animals were approved by the Animal User and Ethical Committees at the Instituto Gulbenkian de Ciencia, according with directives from Direccao Geral Veterinaria (PORT 1005/92). Mice were bred and maintained under specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions.

Mice

BALB/c, DO11.10.RAG1^{-/-}, and SKG mice (generously provided by Professor Shimon Sakaguchi, Kyoto, Japan). Experimental animals were between 8–10 weeks of age and sex matched.

Autoimmune arthritis induction and anti-CD4 treatment

BALB/c and SKG mice were injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) with a single shot of 3mg curdlan per mouse. Treated mice were injected with 1 mg anti-CD4 on days 0 (the day of curdlan injection), 2 and 4. Mice treated at disease onset, were injected with 3 shots of 1 mg anti-CD4 every other day, from the day they have reached a clinical score of 0.5.

Clinical assessment of arthritis

Joint swelling was monitored in blinded cages by two independent observers and scored as described elsewhere [18]: 0, no joint swelling; 0.1, swelling of one finger joint; 0.5, mild swelling of wrist, ankle, or base of tail; and 1.0, severe swelling of wrist, ankle or base of tail. Scores for all joints were totaled for each mouse (with a maximum score of 5 corresponding to severe swelling of the four paws and base of tail).

Antibodies and reagents

Curdlan (Wako, Japan) and Zymosan-A (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) were dissolved in sterile PBS at 15 mg/ml and 20 mg/ml, respectively. Non-depleting anti-CD4 (YTS177) and the isotype control anti-dog CD4 (YKIX302) MAbs were produced in our laboratory using Integra CL1000 flasks (IBS, Chur, Switzerland), purified by 50% ammonium sulfate precipitation, dialyzed against PBS, and purity checked by native and SDS gel electrophoresis. The hybridomas were generously provided by Professor Herman Waldmann (Oxford, UK).

Cytokine analysis

Evaluation of serum cytokines was performed using the mouse inflammation cytometric bead array (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA), with beads specific for IL-6, TNF, IFN- γ , monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), and IL-10. IL-17 was quantified by ELISA using a kit from R&D Systems. Cytokine concentrations were measured in duplicates, and compared with standard curves, according to manufacturer instructions.

Quantification of rheumatoid factors

Serum levels of rheumatoid factor were measured by ELISA as previously described [18], using 5 μ g/ml mouse IgG to coat the plates, and 1 μ g/ml anti-mouse-IgM-HRP for detection (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, USA).

Determination of ovalbumin-specific immune responses

On day 30 following anti-CD4 treatment, or treatment with an isotype control, the mice were immunized with two injections two weeks apart, of 20 μ g ovalbumin (OVA, grade V; Sigma, St Louis, USA), in 2.0 mg of endotoxin-free aluminum hydroxide (alum, Alu-gel-S, Serva, Heidelberg, Germany), and sacrificed one week after the last immunization. Non-immunized (naïve) mice were maintained as negative controls. The serum concentration of OVA-specific immunoglobulins was determined by ELISA using an OVA-specific IgG1 kit (SouthernBiotech, Birmingham, USA) with anti-OVA IgG1 standard from Serotec (Oxford, UK).

Histology

Ankle and metatarso-phalangical (MTP) joints were collected and cryopreserved in OCT (Sakura, NL). Cryosections were stained with hematoxilin-cosin according to standard procedures.

Flow cytometry

Cells were stained for flow cytometric analysis with the following fluorochrome-labeled monoclonal antibodies: CD3 (145-2C11), CD4 (RM4-5), CD25 (PC61.5), and Foxp3 (FJK-16s) from eBiosciences or BD Biosciences. Intracellular cytokines were investigated in lymphocytes activated for three hours in PMAionomycin in the presence of Brefeldin-A. Monoclonal antibodies specific for IFN- γ (XMG1.2), IL-17A (eBio17B7), and IL-10 (JES5-16E3) were used (all from eBiosciences).

Th17-polarization assays

OVA-specific CD4⁺ T cells from DO11.10.RAG1^{-/-} mice were purified by magnetic separation with CD4 (L3T4) microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Germany). Cell purities were between 92–96%. The T cells were cultured for 5 days with bone marrow derived DCs, 0.1 μ M OVA peptide (New England Peptide LLC, USA), and 10 μ g/ml anti-CD4 (YTS177) in IMDM 5% FBS (Invitrogen), 1% Pen/Strep (GibCo), 0.1% β-Mercaptoethanol (GibCo), 1 ng/ml TGF-β (R&D systems), 20 ng/ml IL-6 (R&D systems), 10 ng/ml IL-1β (Ebiosciences), and 10 μ g/ml anti-INF γ (R46A2). At the end of the culture the cells were harvested, and processed for flow cytometry.

RNA extraction and real time PCR

Total RNA was extracted from synovial tissue, dissected from ankle joints, using lysis buffer, and following the tissue RNA kit instructions (Omega bio-tek, USA). Foxp3 and IL-17 were quantified by real time PCR, performed on the ABI Prism[®] 7000 sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems, USA). The relative mRNA levels of the target genes were normalized against CD3. CD3, Foxp3 and IL-17 primers are described elsewhere [20,21,22].

Statistics

Statistical significance was determined using the two-tailed non-parametric Student's t test (Mann-Whitney U). P values ${<}0.05$ were deemed significant.

Results

SKG mice develop chronic autoimmune arthritis upon systemic curdlan immunization

Although initial reports have suggested that SKG mice develop chronic autoimmune arthritis spontaneously [18], it was later confirmed that disease induction requires exposure to yeast wall extract (zymosan) or purified β -glucans, like curdlan or laminarin, acting through the pattern recognition receptor Dectin-1 [23]. We confirmed that a single intraperitoneal injection of 2 mg Zymosan (not shown) or 3 mg Curdlan is sufficient to induce chronic disease in SKG mice, but not in wild-type controls (Figure 1A). Both male and female mice developed arthritis, although the disease was more severe in females (Figure 1B). Based on these data we decided to use curdlan in female SKG mice in subsequent experiments.

Non-depleting anti-CD4 treatment prevents the onset of autoimmune arthritis

To assess whether non-depleting anti-CD4 MAbs, suggested in previous studies as having tolerogenic potential, can lead to longterm beneficial effects in chronic autoimmune arthritis, female SKG mice were treated with non-depleting anti-CD4 together with curdlan. Anti-CD4 treatment was effective in preventing the development of autoimmune arthritis (n = 5, P<0.001, Figure 2A). Since arthritic SKG mice are known to produce high titres of RF (IgM anti-IgG), we quantified serum RF. We found that serum RF were below the limit of detection in all mice treated with anti-CD4 (Figure 2B).

Furthermore, animals treated with anti-CD4 not only remained without clinical manifestations of the disease, but their joints were free from inflammatory cell infiltrates. Indeed, histological sections of ankle and MTP joints from anti-CD4 treated mice showed normal joint tissues, without inflammatory infiltration or bone erosions, compared to the curdlan induced arthritic mice (Figure 2C).

We also evaluated the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines in arthritic mice compared to anti-CD4 treated animals. We observed a significant decrease in the concentration of IL-6, TNF, MCP-1 and IFN- γ in sera from anti-CD4 treated mice, suggesting that a treatment targeting T cells can have an impact on additional cell types producing those cytokines (Figure 2D). It should be noted that IL-6, which has been associated with Th17 differentiation, is known to be critical for the pathogenesis of chronic autoimmune arthritis in SKG mice [24], and was not detectable in any of the anti-CD4 treated animals. Despite the reported association of IL-17 with arthritis in SKG mice, this cytokine was not detected in sera from arthritic animals, remaining below detection level in all groups (Figure 2E). This observation is in accordance with the proposed local effect of this inflammatory mediator.

Previous studies have suggested a protective role for IL-10 in this murine model of autoimmune arthritis [25]. However, we did not find any significant difference in the serum levels of IL-10,



Figure 1. SKG mice develop chronic autoimmune arthritis upon induction with curdlan. (A) Arthritis incidence in female SKG and BALB/c mice after a single i.p. injection of 3 mg curdlan (n = 6). Curdlan was able to induce chronic arthritis in SKG but not in BALB/c mice. Each point represents the median per group. (B) Clinical score of 5 month-old male (M) and female (F) SKG mice 90 days following disease induction with curdlan. Data are from two independent experiments. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010558.q001

between arthritic and anti-CD4 treated mice (n = 10, P > 0.05, Figure 2E).

Non-depleting anti-CD4 alters the balance of Treg/Th17 cells in the synovial tissue and draining LNs

It has been reported that the anti-CD4 MAb used in our study (YTS177) has a non-depleting isotype [26]. We confirmed the non-depleting nature of the MAb as neither the splenic frequency (Figure 3A and B) nor the total number (not shown) of CD4⁺ T cells were reduced in animals treated with anti-CD4.

Transplantation tolerance achieved with non-depleting anti-CD4 has been associated with the induction of Treg cells, both in the spleen and within tolerated transplants [27,28,29]. We investigated if changes in Treg frequency could be seen in the spleen of anti-CD4 treated mice. We found that there was no change in T cell subpopulations of anti-CD4-treated animals, namely Foxp3⁺ Treg cells, with a similar frequency of these cells in mice exposed to curdlan in the presence or absence of anti-CD4 treatment (Figure 3A and B). In addition, the frequency of IL-17, IFN- γ or IL-10-producing T cells, identified by intracellular cytokine staining, remained constant in all groups of animals, and below 2% of the CD4⁺ T cells (not shown).

As our data show that anti-CD4 treatment can prevent joint inflammation, even though T cell subpopulations in secondary lymphoid organs appear to be unaffected, we investigated whether anti-CD4 treatment was leading to alterations in the T cell subpopulations within the synovial tissue of protected animals. Given the technical limitations for the direct enumeration of individual T cells from mouse synovial tissue, we used the expression of Foxp3 and IL-17 mRNA as surrogate markers for the relative frequency of, respectively, Tregs and Th17 cells. For this purpose Foxp3 and IL-17 mRNA expression was measured by quantitative real time PCR and normalized to CD3 expression (thus controlling for different numbers of infiltrating T cells in different samples, as the arthritic synovium contains greater numbers of T cells). This method, of using CD3 expression for normalization of different numbers of infiltrating T cells in tissues with few lymphocytes has been established for other tissues with small numbers of T cells, such as skin grafts in mice [22]. We observed that while IL-17 expression among synovial T cells (i.e. IL-17/CD3 mRNA ratio) was reduced in mice treated with anti-CD4 and consequently protected from inflammatory manifestations of the disease, the expression of Foxp3 among synovial T cells was increased in the same conditions (n=4, P<0.05,Figure 3C). Thus, the Foxp3/Th17 ratio in the synovial tissue is substantially shifted following anti-CD4 treatment. In addition, the analysis of popliteal LNs, draining affected joints, showed a reduction in the frequency of IL-17⁺ T cells in anti-CD4-treated mice (n = 8, P < 0.05) while the frequency of Foxp3⁺ cells remained similar in both groups of animals (Figure 3D).

CD4-blockade prevents *in-vitro* Th17 polarization while favoring Foxp3 expression

Although non-depleting anti-CD4 has been widely studied for the induction of transplantation tolerance its exact mechanism of action has not been fully characterized. In experiments performed with TCR-transgenic mice devoid of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells, it was previously shown that CD4-blockade could directly lead to peripheral conversion of T cells towards Foxp3⁺ Treg cells thus achieving transplantation tolerance [22]. However, it was never assessed whether CD4-blockade could directly interfere with Th17 polarization, or whether a reduction in Th17 cells (as we observed *in vivo*) would be secondary to Treg-mediated suppression.



Figure 2. Non-depleting anti-CD4 MAb prevents the onset of autoimmune arthritis. (A) Female SKG mice were immunized with 3mg curdian i.p. together with 1 mg non-depleting anti-CD4 or an isotype control. The MAb was administered again on days 2 and 4. Anti-CD4 treated mice were protected from the development of autoimmune arthritis (n = 6, P<0.001). Data, represented as mean ± SEM, are from two independent experiments. (B) Serum concentration of rheumatoid factor (RF) was measured by ELISA. Mice treated with anti-CD4 showed significantly lower levels of RF (n = 6, P<0.001) (C) Histological sections stained with eosin-hematoxilin from the ankle and metatarso-phalangical joints from SKG mice in the absence and in the presence of anti-CD4 treatment, 90 days following curdian immunization. (D) Serum concentration of IL-6, IFN- γ , TNF and MCP-1 in naive SKG mice exposed to curdian, or curlan and anti-CD4. Naive SKG mice were age matched and did not develop arthritis in the absence of curdian immunization (no induction). The serum levels of IL-6 (P<0.05), IFN- γ (P<0.01) and MCP-1 (P<0.01) were significantly lower in anti-CD4 treated mice compared with animals injected with curldan in the absence of tolerizing MAbs. Differences in TNF concentration did not reach statistical significance. (E) The serum concentration of IL-10 and IL-11 in SKG mice exposed to curdian, or curlan and anti-CD4 remained similar in the different experimental groups. Culture supernatants from Th17 cell culture were used as positive control.



Figure 3. Anti-CD4 MAb influences the local balance of Th17/Treg cells. (A) Frequency of splenic CD4⁺ T cells or CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ Treg cells from SKG mice exposed to curdlan, or curdlan + anti-CD4 treatment. No significant difference was observed between the two populations of animals. (B) Representative dot plots showing the frequency of splenic CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells from SKG mice exposed to curdlan, or curdlan + anti-CD4 treatment. No significant difference was observed, as represented in panel A. (C) Foxp3 and IL-17 mRNA expression from the synovial membrane of SKG mice exposed to curdlan, or curdlan + anti-CD4 (mRNA expression levels were normalized to CD3 expression). (D) Frequency of Foxp3⁺ and IL-17⁺ T cells within draining LNs of SKG mice exposed to curdlan, or curdlan, or curdlan, or curdlan + anti-CD4 (mRNA expression levels were normalized to CD3 expression). (D) Frequency of Foxp3⁺ and IL-17⁺ T cells within draining LNs of SKG mice exposed to curdlan, or curdlan + anti-CD4 (mRNA expression levels were normalized to CD3 expression). (D) Frequency of Foxp3⁺ and IL-17⁺ T cells within draining LNs of SKG mice exposed to curdlan, or curdlan + anti-CD4.

To address this issue we investigated whether CD4-blockade could prevent *in vitro* Th17 polarization. We used OVA-specific TCR-transgenic CD4⁺T cells sorted from DO11.10.RAG⁻⁷ mice. We stimulated these cells *in vitro*, for five days, in the presence of DCs loaded with the appropriate peptide and under culture conditions promoting optimal Th17 polarization (in presence of TGF- β , IL-6, IL-1 β , and anti-IFN- γ)[30]. We observed that addition of anti-CD4 led to a significant reduction of Th17 cells (n = 6, *P*<0.05, Figure 4). In spite of the presence of cytokines that promote Th17 polarization (cytokines that are known to prevent Foxp3 induction) the addition of anti-CD4 resulted in a significant increase in the frequency of Foxp3⁺ T cells (n = 6, *P*<0.05, Figure 4).

Non-depleting anti-CD4 induces long- term protection from autoimmune arthritis

To assess whether protection from arthritis induced with anti-CD4 treatment had a long-term effect, SKG mice initially injected with curdlan and non-depleting anti-CD4 were challenged with curdlan 60 days following the initial treatment. Animals exposed to curdlan in the presence of the putative tolerogenic anti-CD4 MAb at day 0 were protected from the induction of arthritis following curdlan administration at day 60, unlike the age-matched controls that did not receive any treatment at day 0 (n=6, P<0.05, Figure 5A).

However, it should be noted, that some anti-CD4 treated mice developed mild manifestations of arthritis following curdlan challenge at day 60, although without progressing to the severe manifestations of the disease observed in control groups.



Figure 4. CD4-blockade prevents Th17 polarization. (A) Sorted TCR-transgenic cells were stimulated *in vitro* with peptide-loaded DCs under culture conditions known to preferentially polarize Th17 cells, with the addition of recombinant TGF- β , IL- β , and anti-IFN- γ . After 5 days of culture we observed a significant reduction of IL- 17^+ cells in the presence of anti-CD4 (n = 6, P<0.05). In contrast, anti-CD4 addition led to an increased frequency of Foxp3⁺ T cells (n = 6, P<0.05). (B) Representative dot plots from the two different culture conditions. An independent experiment was performed with a peptide dose of 0.3 μ M with similar results.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0010558.g004

Non-depleting anti-CD4 prevents progression of established autoimmune arthritis

Given the fact that non-depleting anti-CD4 treatment prevents the onset of autoimmune arthritis, we tested the effectiveness of a similar course of anti-CD4 for the treatment of established arthritis in SKG mice. Female SKG mice were immunized with curdlan and when the clinical score reached 0.5 the arthritic mice were randomly included in a group treated with anti-CD4 MAb or a control group. Mice treated with non-depleting anti-CD4 showed a long-term benefit with slower disease progression and less severe clinical scores (n = 5, P < 0.05, Figure 5B). However, remission was only achieved in a minority of the treated animals.

Anti-CD4 treated mice remain immunocompetent

A concern of immunomodulatory or tolerogenic therapeutic strategies is their long-term impact on the overall immune response. We therefore assessed the immune competence of anti-CD4-treated BALB/c mice (same genetic background as the SKG mice, but without the ZAP70 point mutation) to mount CD4⁺ T cell-dependent immune responses towards an unrelated antigen. For this purpose, mice treated with anti-CD4 were sensitized with 20 µg OVA-alum 30 days following anti-CD4 treatment. The quantification of OVA-specific immunoglobulins in the serum was determined one week following sensitization. Our data show that the concentration of OVA-specific immunoglobulins was similar in immunized mice, regardless of previous anti-CD4 treatment, and considerable higher than in naive controls (n = 5, P < 0.05,Figure 5C). Moreover, we confirmed the same results in SKG mice, subjected to the same protocol (n = 2, not shown). Of note, if OVA was administered at the time of anti-CD4 treatment in BALB/c mice, the animals became unable to produce OVAspecific immunoglobulins following subsequent OVA immunization (n = 6, P < 0.05, Figure 5D), thus proving that OVA-specific IgG production is CD4-dependent, and that tolerance is only imposed over the antigens present at the time of tolerance induction.

Discussion

Our data show that a short course of non-depleting anti-CD4 can lead to long-term protection from the development of autoimmune arthritis, in a murine model of chronic disease. We have shown that our non-depleting antibody (clone YTS177) is not affecting T cells in the spleen, but seems to be preventing autoimmune arthritis, acting locally at the site of inflammation. It is likely that by targeting CD4⁺ T cells, the pathogenic cycle of events leading to synovial inflammation and progressive joint destruction is abrogated, as other cellular players are not recruited towards the articular tissue to cause inflammation. This impact of CD4-blockade on other cell types is well illustrated by the marked decrease of pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by dendritic cells (DCs) and macrophages in anti-CD4 treated animals. In addition, given Th17 cells have been described as involved in the production of autoantibodies in experimental autoimmune arthritis [31,32], our observation that anti-CD4-treated mice do not produce RF is in line with the hypothesis that by maintaining pathogenic T cell clones under control the B cells will not receive the necessary stimuli for the production of autoantibodies. We cannot exclude, at this time, a direct effect of non-depleting anti-CD4 MAbs on innate cells expressing CD4, namely natural killer T (NKT) cells that have been reported as being able to provide "help" to B cells, and to influence autoimmune arthritis [33].

In our experiments, we found a limited efficacy for tolerance induction once the animals became overtly arthritic. Although we



Figure 5. Long-term protective effect of non-depleting anti-CD4 treatment does not affect immune competence. (A) Female SKG mice were injected with 3 mg curdlan i.p. on day 0 and anti-CD4 on days 0, 2, and 4. Animals treated with anti-CD4 displayed long term protection from arthritis (n = 5, P < 0.05). On day 60, anti-CD4 treated mice and age matched SKG were challenged with 3 mg curdlan i.p. Mice previously treated with anti-CD4 remained protected from the development of autoimmune arthritis (n = 5, P < 0.05). (B) Female SKG mice were injected with 3 mg curdlan i.p. and, when the clinical score reached 0.5, some of the animals initiated treatment with three i.p. administrations of 1 mg anti-CD4 on alternate days. Control animals rapidly progressed to severe arthritis unlike the anti-CD4 treated mice (n = 6, P < 0.05). (C) Mice were treated with non-depleting anti-CD4 and compared with untreated (PBS...,OVA) and non-immunized controls (PBS...,PBS). Mice treated with anti-CD4 MAbs were competent to produce OVA-specific IgG1 to titres similar to untreated controls, and considerably higher than the non-immunized mice (n = 6, P < 0.05). (D) OVA-specific IgG1 in mice where OVA was initially administered at the time of anti-CD4 treatment (tOVA...OVA), compared with animals that were not initially treated with anti-CD4 (PBS...,OVA). Mice treated with anti-CD4 treatment (tOVA...OVA), became tolerant to the subsequent OVA immunization (n = 6, P < 0.05).

do not have a complete explanation for this observation, it is possible that such resistance to tolerance induction may be due to the participation of other cell types, besides $CD4^+$ T cells, at that late time. In fact, in transplantation it is known that in presensitized animals a population of Asialo GM1⁺ CD8⁺ T cells can create a barrier for tolerance induction with MAbs [34]. Thus, it may be possible to enhance the efficacy of tolerance induction in overt arthritis with reagents targeting other cell types, namely CD8⁺ T cells and B cells.

It remains to be established whether the long-term protection from arthritis afforded following anti-CD4 treatment, even after a new curdlan challenge at a later time, can be explained by the development of regulatory mechanisms that have been described in other animal models of anti-CD4 induced immune tolerance [28,35]. In fact, it is now established that CD4⁺ T cell activation in the presence of TGF- β and IL-6 favors T cell conversion towards arthritogenic Th17 cells, while activation in the same environment devoid of IL-6 shifts the differentiation from Th17 towards Foxp3⁺ Treg cells [30]. SKG autoimmune arthritis development is known to be dependent on Th17 [36].

Our data suggests that protection from arthritis induced with anti-CD4 is associated with an overall decrease of infiltrating T cells in synovial tissue and, within those T cells in the synovium, with an increase in the frequency of synovial Foxp3⁺ Treg cells. As a consequence, the tissue is endowed with local changes that are likely to prevent the onset of arthritis directly within the local environment where inflammation would occur, even following a later exposure to curdlan at a time (day 60) where anti-CD4 MAbs are no longer present. Moreover, the reciprocal decrease of IL-17 expression at the same time that the expression of Foxp3 increases, in the joints of anti-CD4 treated mice, supports the hypothesis that indeed the balance between Treg and Th17 can determine the decision between prevention or onset of autoimmune arthritis. The observation that IL-6 decreases in the serum of anti-CD4 treated mice is also in agreement with this hypothesis. It should be noted, however, that the number of T cells is markedly reduced in the synovium of treated mice, as can be seen in the histological sections (and confirmed with greater CD3 expression in the synovia by RT-PCR - thus the need to use CD3, rather than a housekeeping gene, to normalize our gene expression studies). It was recently reported that IL-17A can be produced by mast cells in rheumatoid arthritis synovia [37]. Although we did not investigate this possible source of IL-17, the overall quantification of IL-17 transcripts was significantly reduced in anti-CD4 treated animals, where T cells were also less abundant. As a consequence, the shift in the Treg/Th17 balance in the synovial tissue is likely to be also influenced by tissue accessibility to different types of effector T cells.

We have also shown that CD4-blockade can directly inhibit T cell polarization towards an IL-17-producing Th17 phenotype, even when the most appropriate cytokine environment is provided. In addition, our data show that even in the presence

of those cytokines known to inhibit Foxp3 induction (namely IL-6), CD4-blockade can facilitate the peripheral conversion of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells. Taken together, our data complements previous studies on the mechanism of tolerance induction in transplantation with anti-CD4 (where peripheral induction of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells have been shown critical), by demonstrating that CD4-blockade can also lead to a direct inhibition of Th17 polarization – a critical factor for the arthritis pathogenesis, namely in SKG mice [36].

Given the essential role of CD4⁺ T cells in the pathogenesis of RA, both directly and by recruiting and activating other participating cell types (such as B cells, DCs and macrophages), the therapeutic targeting of $CD4^+$ lymphocytes has been extensively pursued [38]. Depleting and non-depleting anti-CD4 MAbs have been tested in several animal models of autoimmune arthritis [39,40,41,42], and in clinical trials with RA patients [43,44,45]. In spite of promising results in pre-clinical studies, the therapeutic effectiveness of anti-CD4 in clinical trials was modest and short-term, possibly due to transient immunosuppression and not tolerance. In retrospect, those unimpressive results are not too surprising due to technical details related with dosing and MAb characteristics. In fact the immunogenicity of the mouse or chimeric MAb used was well documented as leading to their rapid clearance and consequent loss of efficient CD4 blockade [46]. The reduction of the number of CD4+ T cells was also associated with a concern of possible increased susceptibility to infection.

Our data show that non-depleting anti-CD4 can be effective in preventing chronic autoimmune arthritis while preserving immune competence, as treated mice remain able to mount a CD4dependent immune response against a different antigen (OVA).

References

- Chehata JC, Hassell AB, Clarke SA, Mattey DL, Jones MA, et al. (2001) Mortality in rheumatoid arthritis: relationship to single and composite measures of disease activity. Rheumatology (Oxford) 40: 447–452.
- Gabriel SE, Growson CS, Kremers HM, Doran MF, Turesson C, et al. (2003) Survival in rheumatoid arthritis: a population-based analysis of trends over 40 years. Arthritis Rheum 48: 54–58.
- Firestein GS (2003) Evolving concepts of rheumatoid arthritis. Nature 423: 356–361.
- Banerice S, Webber C, Poole AR (1992) The induction of arthritis in mice by the cartilage proteoglycan aggrecan: roles of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Cell Immunol 144: 347–357.
- Breedveld FC, Dynesius-Trentham R, de Sousa M, Trentham DE (1989) Collagen arthritis in the rat is initiated by CD4+ T cells and can be amplified by iron. Cell Immunol 121: 1–12.
- Van Boxel JA, Paget SA (1975) Predominantly T-cell infiltrate in rheumatoid synovial membranes. N Engl J Med 293: 517–520.
- Chabaud M, Durand JM, Buchs N, Fossiez F, Page G, et al. (1999) Human interleukin-17: A T cell-derived proinflammatory cytokine produced by the rheumatoid synovium. Arthritis Rheum 42: 963–970.
- Kotake S, Udagawa N, Takahashi N, Matsuzaki K, Itoh K, et al. (1999) IL-17 in synovial fluids from patients with rheumatoid arthritis is a potent stimulator of osteoclastogenesis. J Clin Invest 103: 1345–1352.
- Ziolkowska M, Koc A, Luszczykiewicz G, Ksiezopolska-Pietrzak K, Klimczak E, et al. (2000) High levels of IL-17 in rheumatoid arthritis patients: IL-15 triggers in vitro IL-17 production via cyclosporin A-sensitive mechanism. J Immunol 164: 2832–2838.
- Choy EH, Connolly DJ, Rapson N, Jeal S, Brown JC, et al. (2000) Pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic and clinical effects of a humanized IgG1 anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody in the peripheral blood and synovial fluid of rheumatoid arthritis patients. Rheumatology (Oxford) 39: 1139–1146.
- Graca L, Waldmann H (2006) Reprogramming the immune system using antibodies. Methods Mol Biol 333: 247–268.
- Mason U, Aldrich J, Breedveld F, Davis CB, Elliott M, et al. (2002) CD4 coating, but not CD4 depletion, is a predictor of efficacy with primatized monoclonal anti-CD4 treatment of active rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 29: 220–229.
- Schulze-Koops H, Burkhardt H, Kalden JR (1999) What we have learned from trials of immunomodulatory agents in rheumatoid arthritis: Future directions. Drugs Today (Barc) 35: 327–351.
- Isaacs JD (2007) T cell immunomodulation-the Holy Grail of the rapeutic tolerance. Curr Opin Pharmacol 7: 418–425.

OVA immunization is a well established protocol for the induction of CD4-dependent production of OVA-specific immunoglobulins. Moreover, administration of anti-CD4 together with OVA prevents the effectiveness of subsequent immunizations with the same antigen. Taken together, these data suggest that anti-CD4 prevents immune responses towards antigens present at the time of treatment, without hampering immune responses to unrelated antigens introduced in the organism at a later time, therefore preserving immunocompetence. It should be noted that these types of studies, on the long-term immunocompetence of treated mice have been difficult to perform in animal models that, unlike SKG mice, do not develop a chronic form of arthritis.

In summary, we show that therapeutic strategies leading to synovial accumulation of Treg cells and reduction of Th17 are capable of protecting from the onset of autoimmune arthritis, as well as to prevent long-term disease progression, without leading to overall immune suppression.

Acknowledgments

We thank Margarida Souto Carneiro and Marta Monteiro for helpful suggestions. We are grateful to Professor Shimon Sakaguchi (Kyoto, Japan) for providing the SKG mice, and to Professor Herman Waldmann (Oxford, UK) for providing reagents used in this study.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: JD JEF LG. Performed the experiments: JD AAD VO. Analyzed the data: JD AAD VO JEF LG. Wrote the paper: JD JEF LG.

- Graca L, Honey K, Adams E, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H (2000) Cutting edge: anti-CD154 therapeutic antibodies induce infectious transplantation tolerance. I Immunol 165: 4783–4786.
- Graca L, Le Moine A, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H (2003) Antibody-induced transplantation tolerance: the role of dominant regulation. Immunol Res 28: 181–191.
- Karim M, Bushell AR, Wood KJ (2002) Regulatory T cells in transplantation. Curr Opin Immunol 14: 584–591.
- Sakaguchi N, Takahashi T, Hata H, Nomura T, Tagami T, et al. (2003) Altered thymic T-cell selection due to a mutation of the ZAP-70 gene causes autoimmune arthritis in mice. Nature 426: 454–460.
- Cactano-Lopes J, Henriques R, Canhao H, Duarte J, Amaral PM, et al. (2009) Chronic arthritis directly induces quantitative and qualitative bone disturbances leading to compromised biomechanical properties. Clin Exp Rheumatol 27: 475–482.
- Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S (2003) Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. Science 299: 1057–1061.
- Wu Q, Martin RJ, Rino JG, Breed R, Torres RM, et al. (2007) IL-23-dependent IL-17 production is essential in neutrophil recruitment and activity in mouse lung defense against respiratory Mycoplasma pneumoniae infection. Microbes Infect 9: 78–86.
- Cobbold SP, Castejon R, Adams E, Zelenika D, Graca L, et al. (2004) Induction of foxP3+ regulatory T cells in the periphery of T cell receptor transgenic mice tolerized to transplants. J Immunol 172: 6003–6010.
- Yoshitomi H, Sakaguchi N, Kobayashi K, Brown GD, Tagami T, et al. (2005) A role for fungal {beta}-glucans and their receptor Dectin-1 in the induction of autoimmune arthritis in genetically susceptible mice. J Exp Med 201: 949–960.
- Hirota K, Yoshitomi H, Hashimoto M, Maeda S, Teradaira S, et al. (2007) Preferential recruitment of CCR6-expressing Th17 cells to inflamed joints via CCL20 in rheumatoid arthritis and its animal model. J Exp Med 204: 2803–2812.
- Hata H, Sakaguchi N, Yoshitomi H, Ivakura Y, Sekikawa K, et al. (2004) Distinct contribution of IL-6, TNF-alpha, IL-1, and IL-10 to T cell-mediated spontaneous autoimmune arthritis in mice. J Clin Invest 114: 582–588.
- Qin SX, Cobbold S, Benjamin R, Waldmann H (1989) Induction of classical transplantation tolerance in the adult. J Exp Med 169: 779–794.
- Graca L, Thompson S, Lin CY, Adams E, Cobbold SP, et al. (2002) Both CD4(+)CD25(+) and CD4(+)CD25(-) regulatory cells mediate dominant transplantation tolerance. J Immunol 168: 5558–5565.
- Graca L, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H (2002) Identification of regulatory T cells in tolerated allografts. J Exp Med 195: 1641–1646.

Th17/Treg Balance in Arthritis

- 29. Kingsley CI, Karim M, Bushell AR, Wood KJ (2002) CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells prevent graft rejection: CTLA-4- and IL-10-dependent immunoregulation of alloresponses. J Immunol 168: 1080-1086.
- Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B (2006) 30 TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. Immunity 24: 179-189.
- 31. Hsu HC, Yang P, Wang J, Wu Q, Myers R, et al. (2008) Interleukin 17producing T helper cells and interleukin 17 orchestrate autoreactive germinal center development in autoimmune BXD2 mice. Nat Immunol 9: 166–175.
- 32. Jacobs JP, Wu HJ, Benoist C, Mathis D (2009) IL-17-producing T cells can augment autoantibody-induced arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 21789-21794
- Coppieters K, Dewint P, Van Beneden K, Jacques P, Seeuws S, et al. (2007) NKT cells: manipulable managers of joint inflammation. Rheumatology (Oxford) 46: 565-571.
- Trambley J, Bingaman AW, Lin A, Elwood ET, Waitze SY, et al. (1999) Asialo GM1(+) CD8(+) T cells play a critical role in costimulation blockade-resistant 34 allograft rejection. J Clin Invest 104: 1715-1722.
- 35. Graca L, Le Moine A, Lin CY, Fairchild PJ, Cobbold SP, et al. (2004) Donorspecific transplantation tolerance: the paradoxical behavior of CD4+CD25+ T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 10122–10126.
- 36. Hirota K, Hashimoto M, Yoshitomi H, Tanaka S, Nomura T, et al. (2007) T cell self-reactivity forms a cytokine milieu for spontaneous development of IL-17+ Th cells that cause autoimmune arthritis. J Exp Med 204: 41–47.
 Hueber AJ, Asquith DL, Miller AM, Reilly J, Kerr S, et al. Mast cells express IL-
- 17A in rheumatoid arthritis synovium J Immunol 184: 3336-3340.

- 38. Isaacs JD (2008) Therapeutic T-cell manipulation in rheumatoid arthritis: past, present and future. Rheumatology (Oxford) 47: 1461-1468.
- Chu CQ, Londei M (1996) Induction of Th2 cytokines and control of collagen-39 induced arthritis by nondepleting anti-CD4 Abs. J Immunol 157: 2685-2689.
- 40. Mauri C, Chu CQ, Woodrow D, Mori L, Londei M (1997) Treatment of a newly established transgenic model of chronic arthritis with nondepleting anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody. J Immunol 159: 5032-5041.
- 41. Ranges GE, Fortin S, Barger MT, Sriram S, Cooper SM (1988) In vivo modulation of murine collagen induced arthritis. Int Rev Immunol 4: 83-90. 42. Ranges GE, Sriram S, Cooper SM (1985) Prevention of type II collagen-induced
- rthritis by in vivo treatment with anti-L3T4. J Exp Med 162: 1105-1110. Herzog C, Walker C, Pichler W, Aeschlimann A, Wassmer P, et al. (1987) Monoclonal anti-CD4 in arthritis. Lancet 2: 1461–1462.
- 44. Horneff G, Burmester GR, Emmrich F, Kalden JR (1991) Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with an anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody. Arthritis Rheum
- 34: 129-140 45. Reiter C, Kakavand B, Rieber EP, Schattenkirchner M, Riethmuller G, et al. (1991) Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with monoclonal CD4 antibody M-T151. Clinical results and immunopharmacologic effects in an open study, including repeated administration. Arthritis Rheum 34: 525-536.
- 46. Horneff G, Winkler T, Kalden JR, Emmrich F, Burmester GR (1991) Human anti-mouse antibody response induced by anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 59 89-103